


Peoples’ values vary.
Society offers more choices.

Beyond these huge changes,
we want to create a new world, 

where people accept one another, 
and where each of us can make our dreams a reality.

For that to happen, we must overcome some hurdles such as:
– Outdated conventional thinking.

– Preconceptions.
If there are boundaries that keep us apart, 

let us eliminate them and connect.
With communication increasingly integrated into our lives, 

our capabilities should dramatically increase.

We have the technology. 
We have the mindset.
We have the partners.

Together, we can surely make it happen,
while enhancing the power to connect in line with the times.

Let’ s enjoy the thrill of creating things.
Let’ s go forward together, 

towards a more interesting future.

KDDI brand site
https://brand.kddi.com/
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Disclosure of Financial and Non-Financial Information

This report integrates the “Integrated Report” and the “Sustainability Report,” which were previously published sepa-
rately, into the “Integrated Sustainability and Financial Report” to offer investors and other stakeholders a better 
understanding of KDDI’s basic information, financial data, management strategies, and sustainability information.
Additional sustainability and research & development (R&D) information that is not contained in this report can be found 
on KDDI’s website.
KDDI has applied International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) since FY16.3. For this report, unless otherwise 
stated, figures up to FY14.3 are based on Japanese GAAP and figures for FY15.3 onward are based on IFRS. This 
report is based on multiple guidelines and frameworks, including the principles outlined by the Value Reporting Founda-
tion (VRF, which was launched through the merger of IIRC and SASB).

Disclaimer Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

Statements contained in this report concerning KDDI’s plans, strategies, beliefs, expectations, or projections about the 
future, and other statements other than those of historical fact, are forward-looking statements based on manage-
ment’s assumptions in light of information currently available and involve risks and uncertainties. Actual results may 
differ materially from these statements. Potential risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, domestic and 
overseas economic conditions; fluctuations in currency exchange rates, particularly those affecting the U.S. dollar, 
euro, and other overseas currencies in which KDDI or KDDI Group companies do business; and the ability of KDDI and 
KDDI Group companies to continue developing and marketing services that enable them to secure new customers in 
the telecommunications market—a market characterized by rapid technological advances, the steady introduction of 
new services, intense price competition, and others.

Editorial Policy
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New Mid-Term Management 
Strategy (FY23.3-FY25.3)
To realize the ideal future society while responding to such changes in our business 
environment, we have recently established the “KDDI VISION 2030” and formulated a 
new materiality that comprehensively covers social issues and the importance of the 
KDDI Group’s management from a long-term perspective.

Based on this materiality, the “Mid-Term Management Strategy (FY23.3-FY25.3)” is 
centered on “Sustainability Management,” which aims for the sustainable growth of 
society and the enhancement of corporate value together with our partners. We will also 
promote our “Satellite Growth Strategy,” which aims to advance the 5G-driven evolution 
of its telecommunications business and the expansion of focus areas with telecommuni-
cations at the core, while strengthening our management base to support this strategy.

New Materiality

Satellite Growth Strategy

1
Promotion of innovation 

centered on 
telecommunications

→P51

6 Advancing stakeholder engagement→P45

→P15, 35
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The creation of a society in which anyone can make their dreams a reality, 
by enhancing the power to connect.

5G-driven evolution of the 5G-driven evolution of the 
telecommunications business and telecommunications business and 

expansion of focus areas with expansion of focus areas with 
telecommunications at the coretelecommunications at the core

Strengthening of management base that Strengthening of management base that 
contributes to the sustainable contributes to the sustainable 
development of society and the development of society and the 
enhancement of corporate valueenhancement of corporate value

Satellite Growth Strategy

Human resources Human resources 
firstfirst

Evolving our unified 
three-part reform 

initiatives into Phase 2

Carbon neutralCarbon neutral

Fiscal 2030 KDDI 
carbon neutral

Strengthening  Strengthening  
the group  the group  

management base management base 
through progressing through progressing 

governancegovernance
Strengthening risk 
management and 

information security 
systems

2
Realization of safe, 

secure,  
and prosperous society 

→P59

3

Carbon  
neutral 

→P67

5

Human  
resources first

→P77

4
Strengthening the group 

management base 
through progressing  

governance 
→P73

6 Advancing stakeholder engagement

→P7-8

→P1

→P5

→P8

→P39
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The KDDI Group values and cares about the material 
and emotional well-being of all its employees, and 
delivers a thrilling customer experience by always 
going further than expected with the ultimate goal of 
achieving a truly connected society.

The KDDI Group Mission Statement

The KDDI Group Philosophy expresses the attitudes, values, and behavior that all of us—
executives and employees—need to exhibit in order to achieve our corporate philosophy. 
The KDDI identity and KDDI vision that we must embrace as a telecommunications operator 
are incorporated throughout. The KDDI Group Philosophy is the foundation of our 
sustainability initiatives and is the basic stance KDDI executives and employees must adopt. 
By putting the KDDI Group Philosophy into practice, we aim to be a company admired and 
trusted by all stakeholders.

The KDDI Group Philosophy

02   A company that  
continues to  
produce excitement

01   The company the 
customer can feel 
closest to

03   Contributing to the 
sustainable growth 
of society

Company Vision
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Brand Message

Explore the extraordinary

Sustainability Management
Working with partners to achieve sustainable growth and enhance 
corporate value

Contribution to “Realizing a truly connected society” including the KDDI Group Mission is 
exactly what sustainability is all about. By enhancing social and environmental value in 
addition to economic value, we will realize a cycle of sustainable growth for both the 
company and society.
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*1 �Results for fiscal years ended March 31. Figures up to FY14.3 are based on Japanese 
GAAP and figures for FY15.3 onward are based on IFRS

*2 �On a closing price basis for the end of October 2000 to the end of March 2022 (monthly)

*3 �CAGR: Compound Average Growth Rate
*4 �Share among NTT DOCOMO, INC. (NTT DOCOMO), SoftBank Corp. (SoftBank), and 

KDDI + Okinawa Cellular Telephone Company (au)

Personal Services Segment

Apr. 2002
Third-generation 
mobile phone 
service begins

Oct. 2003
Launch of “KDDI 
Hikari Plus” optical 
fiber service (FTTH)

Nov. 2003
CDMA 1X WIN 
service commences
the industry’s first 
flat-rate packet 
service introduced

Jan. 2007
Integrates FTTH 
business with 
Tokyo Electric 
Power Company, 
Incorporated

Apr. 2008
Consolidation of 
Chubu 
Telecommunications 
Co., Inc. (ctc)

Jul. 2008
“au Jibun Bank” 
begins service

Feb. 2009
UQ Communications 
Inc. launches “UQ 
WiMAX” commercial 
service

May 2011
“au Insurance”  
begins service

Oct. 2011
KDDI launches its 
first sales of iPhone

Mar. 2012
“au Smart Value”  
starts service

Sep. 2012
“au 4G LTE” starts  
service

Apr. 2013
JCOM Co., Ltd. is 
consolidated

Mar. 2014
Achieved an actual 
population cover-
age ratio of 99% for 
800MHz “4G LTE”

May 2014
“au Pay Prepaid 
Card” is launched

Jul. 2014
The support for 
MPT*5 through 
KDDI Summit 
Global Myanmar 
Co., Ltd. is started

Oct. 2015
UQ 
Communications, 
Inc. service “UQ 
mobile” starts

Mar. 2016
MobiCom Corporation 
LLC becomes a con-
solidated subsidiary

Mar. 2016
Jupiter Shop Channel 
Co., Ltd. is consoli-
dated

Apr. 2016
“au Denki” is launched
“au Insurance & 
Loans” is launched

Aug. 2016
A capital and opera-
tional alliance is 
formed with ENERES 
Co., Ltd.*6

Jan. 2017
BIGLOBE Inc. 
becomes a 
consolidated 
subsidiary

Jan. 2017
“au PAY Market” is 
launched

Jul. 2017
“au Pitatto Plan” and  
“au Flat Plan” start  
service (the industry’s 
first unbundled plans)

Jan. 2018
AEON Holdings 
Corporation of Japan 
becomes a 
consolidated 
subsidiary

Feb. 2019
Initiated the “Smart 
Money Concept”

Apr. 2019
“au PAY (QR code 
payment)” is launched
au Financial Holdings 
Corporation is estab-
lished

Jun. 2019
au Kabucom 
Securities Co., Ltd. 
becomes an affiliate

Jul. 2019
“au Data MAX Plan,” 
the first unlimited data 
plan in Japan, is 
launched

Mar. 2020
“Data MAX 5G Netflix 
Pack” is launched with 
the start of 5G

Apr. 2020
“TELASA” service is 
launched

May 2020
“au WALLET Points” 
and “Ponta Points” are 
integrated

Jun. 2020
“Data MAX 5G ALL 
STAR Pack” is launched

Oct. 2020
UQ mobile’s business 
is integrated

Feb. 2021
au PAY Gold card privilege enhancement

Feb.–Mar. 2021
au “Unlimited Data MAX 4G/5G,” UQ 
mobile’s “new carry over plan,” and the 
new brand “povo” are launched

Mar. 2021
“au” preferential interest discount is 
introduced (au Jibun Bank)

May 2021
5G enabled around all Yamanote Line 
stations

Jun. 2021
UQ mobile’s “Discount with Denki” is 
launched

Jun. 2021
A capital alliance with menu, inc. is begun

Sep. 2021
au Jibun Bank offers the industry’s highest yen savings 
deposit interest rate of up to 0.20% per annum (0.15% per 
annum after tax) in cooperation with au financial services

Sep. 2021
A business alliance with SpaceX’s satellite broadband 
service “Starlink”

Sep. 2021
povo launches “povo 2.0,” all toppings starting from a 
basic charge of 0 yen

Mar. 2022
The “CDMA 1X WIN” service for 3G mobile phones is terminated 

Apr. 2022
au Energy Holdings Corporation is established as an 
energy holding company

June 2022 
Transfer of the business to KDDI Sonic-Falcon Corporation

Business Services Segment (including others)

1989
Started 
“TELEHOUSE” data 
center business

Jan. 2006
KDDI merges with 
POWEREDCOM

Feb. 2011
KDDI Matomete 
Office Corporation 
is established

Apr. 2013 
KDDI Matomete 
Office expands 
nationwide

Feb. 2017
Iret Inc. becomes a 
consolidated subsidi-
ary; ARISE analytics 
Inc. is founded with 
Accenture Japan Ltd.

Aug. 2017
SORACOM, INC. 
becomes a consolidat-
ed subsidiary

Dec. 2017
KDDI Digital Design 
Inc. is founded with 
Nomura Research 
Institute, Ltd.

Feb. 2018
KDDI Digital Security 
Inc. is founded with 
LAC Co., Ltd.

Sep. 2018
“KDDI DIGITAL GATE” 
opens

Jan. 2019
Scrum Inc. Japan is 
founded with Scrum 
Inc.

Mar. 2019
KDDI IoT Worldwide 
Architecture begins 
accepting applications

Aug. 2020
“KDDI Accelerate 5.0” 
is formulated

Oct. 2020
The “KDDI 5G 
Business Co-Creation 
Alliance” is founded

Dec. 2020
The business alliance 
of the Flexible Life 
Design Project with 
East Japan Railway 
Company is launched
The “KDDI research 
atelier” is opened

May. 2021
The joint venture DXGoGo Corporation 
is founded with OPTiM Corporation

Jan. 2022
WILLER, Inc. and KDDI jointly offer the “mobi” service,  
a flat-rate unlimited rides on-demand mobility service

Jan. 2022
KDDI SmartDrone Inc. is established

May 2022
KDDI Digital Divergence Holdings is established

Jun. 2022 
Selected as “DX stocks 2022” by Ministry of Economy, 
Trade and Industry and Tokyo Stock Exchange

Telecommunication Sector

Oct. 2006
Mobile number 
portability (MNP) is 
launched

Mar. 2008
EMOBILE Ltd. 
begins voice ser-
vice nationwide

Jul. 2008
SoftBank 
Corporation launches 
Japan’s first sales of  
i Phone

Sep. 2013
NTT DOCOMO, INC. 
launches its first sales 
of i Phone

Dec. 2017
Rakuten, Inc. signals it 
will enter the 
telecommunications 
business

Sep. 2018
SoftBank Corporation 
begins offering “Ultra 
Giga Monster+” and 
“Mini Monster”  
(unbundled plans)

Jun. 2019
NTT DOCOMO, INC. 
begins offering 
“Gigaho” and 
“Gigalight”  
(unbundled plans)

Oct. 2019
The amended 
Telecommunication 
Business Act enters  
into force

Apr. 2020
Rakuten Mobile, Inc. 
enters the telecommu-
nications business as 
an MNO*7

Sep. 2020
Nippon Telegraph and 
Telephone Corporation 
announces that NTT 
DOCOMO, INC. is 
made a wholly owned 
subsidiary

Mar. 2021
NTT DOCOMO, INC. begins offering 
the new “ahamo” pricing plan, 
SoftBank Corp. begins offering the new 
“LINEMO” pricing plan

Dec. 2021
Reorganization the New DOCOMO Group is announced
(effective from July 2022)

Mar. 2022
Absorption-type merger of LINE Mobile Corporation, a 
wholly owned subsidiary of SoftBank Corporation

May 2022
Reorganization to strengthen global business in the NTT 
Group (from October 2022)

The Path of Value Creation

Mar. 2008–Oct. 2010
EMOBILE Ltd. signs a roaming 
agreement with NTT DOCOMO, INC.

3G3G
Dec. 2010
Takashi Tanaka appointed 
president

FY2004.3–FY2008.3
au spent five consecutive years at No. 1 for net additions in market share*4

20022001 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 (forecast)
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(Billions of yen) (Trillions of yen)Market capitalization*2 (right axis)Operating income*1 (left axis) 

Jun. 2001
Tadashi Onodera 
appointed president

Japanese GAAP

IFRS

Three-Year Medium-Term  
Targets (FY14.3–FY16.3)
• �Double-digit growth in operating 

income each fiscal year
• Dividend payout ratio: over 30%

Oct. 2000
DDI CORPORATION (now KDDI) established 
Yuusai Okuyama appointed president
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Note: Company and service names are as of July 2022.*5 �MPT: Myanma Posts & Telecommunications
*6 Made a consolidated subsidiary in December 2018
*7 MNO: Mobile Network Operator

Personal Services Segment

Apr. 2002
Third-generation 
mobile phone 
service begins

Oct. 2003
Launch of “KDDI 
Hikari Plus” optical 
fiber service (FTTH)

Nov. 2003
CDMA 1X WIN 
service commences
the industry’s first 
flat-rate packet 
service introduced

Jan. 2007
Integrates FTTH 
business with 
Tokyo Electric 
Power Company, 
Incorporated

Apr. 2008
Consolidation of 
Chubu 
Telecommunications 
Co., Inc. (ctc)

Jul. 2008
“au Jibun Bank” 
begins service

Feb. 2009
UQ Communications 
Inc. launches “UQ 
WiMAX” commercial 
service

May 2011
“au Insurance”  
begins service

Oct. 2011
KDDI launches its 
first sales of iPhone

Mar. 2012
“au Smart Value”  
starts service

Sep. 2012
“au 4G LTE” starts  
service

Apr. 2013
JCOM Co., Ltd. is 
consolidated

Mar. 2014
Achieved an actual 
population cover-
age ratio of 99% for 
800MHz “4G LTE”

May 2014
“au Pay Prepaid 
Card” is launched

Jul. 2014
The support for 
MPT*5 through 
KDDI Summit 
Global Myanmar 
Co., Ltd. is started

Oct. 2015
UQ 
Communications, 
Inc. service “UQ 
mobile” starts

Mar. 2016
MobiCom Corporation 
LLC becomes a con-
solidated subsidiary

Mar. 2016
Jupiter Shop Channel 
Co., Ltd. is consoli-
dated

Apr. 2016
“au Denki” is launched
“au Insurance & 
Loans” is launched

Aug. 2016
A capital and opera-
tional alliance is 
formed with ENERES 
Co., Ltd.*6

Jan. 2017
BIGLOBE Inc. 
becomes a 
consolidated 
subsidiary

Jan. 2017
“au PAY Market” is 
launched

Jul. 2017
“au Pitatto Plan” and  
“au Flat Plan” start  
service (the industry’s 
first unbundled plans)

Jan. 2018
AEON Holdings 
Corporation of Japan 
becomes a 
consolidated 
subsidiary

Feb. 2019
Initiated the “Smart 
Money Concept”

Apr. 2019
“au PAY (QR code 
payment)” is launched
au Financial Holdings 
Corporation is estab-
lished

Jun. 2019
au Kabucom 
Securities Co., Ltd. 
becomes an affiliate

Jul. 2019
“au Data MAX Plan,” 
the first unlimited data 
plan in Japan, is 
launched

Mar. 2020
“Data MAX 5G Netflix 
Pack” is launched with 
the start of 5G

Apr. 2020
“TELASA” service is 
launched

May 2020
“au WALLET Points” 
and “Ponta Points” are 
integrated

Jun. 2020
“Data MAX 5G ALL 
STAR Pack” is launched

Oct. 2020
UQ mobile’s business 
is integrated

Feb. 2021
au PAY Gold card privilege enhancement

Feb.–Mar. 2021
au “Unlimited Data MAX 4G/5G,” UQ 
mobile’s “new carry over plan,” and the 
new brand “povo” are launched

Mar. 2021
“au” preferential interest discount is 
introduced (au Jibun Bank)

May 2021
5G enabled around all Yamanote Line 
stations

Jun. 2021
UQ mobile’s “Discount with Denki” is 
launched

Jun. 2021
A capital alliance with menu, inc. is begun

Sep. 2021
au Jibun Bank offers the industry’s highest yen savings 
deposit interest rate of up to 0.20% per annum (0.15% per 
annum after tax) in cooperation with au financial services

Sep. 2021
A business alliance with SpaceX’s satellite broadband 
service “Starlink”

Sep. 2021
povo launches “povo 2.0,” all toppings starting from a 
basic charge of 0 yen

Mar. 2022
The “CDMA 1X WIN” service for 3G mobile phones is terminated 

Apr. 2022
au Energy Holdings Corporation is established as an 
energy holding company

June 2022 
Transfer of the business to KDDI Sonic-Falcon Corporation

Business Services Segment (including others)

1989
Started 
“TELEHOUSE” data 
center business

Jan. 2006
KDDI merges with 
POWEREDCOM

Feb. 2011
KDDI Matomete 
Office Corporation 
is established

Apr. 2013 
KDDI Matomete 
Office expands 
nationwide

Feb. 2017
Iret Inc. becomes a 
consolidated subsidi-
ary; ARISE analytics 
Inc. is founded with 
Accenture Japan Ltd.

Aug. 2017
SORACOM, INC. 
becomes a consolidat-
ed subsidiary

Dec. 2017
KDDI Digital Design 
Inc. is founded with 
Nomura Research 
Institute, Ltd.

Feb. 2018
KDDI Digital Security 
Inc. is founded with 
LAC Co., Ltd.

Sep. 2018
“KDDI DIGITAL GATE” 
opens

Jan. 2019
Scrum Inc. Japan is 
founded with Scrum 
Inc.

Mar. 2019
KDDI IoT Worldwide 
Architecture begins 
accepting applications

Aug. 2020
“KDDI Accelerate 5.0” 
is formulated

Oct. 2020
The “KDDI 5G 
Business Co-Creation 
Alliance” is founded

Dec. 2020
The business alliance 
of the Flexible Life 
Design Project with 
East Japan Railway 
Company is launched
The “KDDI research 
atelier” is opened

May. 2021
The joint venture DXGoGo Corporation 
is founded with OPTiM Corporation

Jan. 2022
WILLER, Inc. and KDDI jointly offer the “mobi” service,  
a flat-rate unlimited rides on-demand mobility service

Jan. 2022
KDDI SmartDrone Inc. is established

May 2022
KDDI Digital Divergence Holdings is established

Jun. 2022 
Selected as “DX stocks 2022” by Ministry of Economy, 
Trade and Industry and Tokyo Stock Exchange

Telecommunication Sector

Oct. 2006
Mobile number 
portability (MNP) is 
launched

Mar. 2008
EMOBILE Ltd. 
begins voice ser-
vice nationwide

Jul. 2008
SoftBank 
Corporation launches 
Japan’s first sales of  
i Phone

Sep. 2013
NTT DOCOMO, INC. 
launches its first sales 
of i Phone

Dec. 2017
Rakuten, Inc. signals it 
will enter the 
telecommunications 
business

Sep. 2018
SoftBank Corporation 
begins offering “Ultra 
Giga Monster+” and 
“Mini Monster”  
(unbundled plans)

Jun. 2019
NTT DOCOMO, INC. 
begins offering 
“Gigaho” and 
“Gigalight”  
(unbundled plans)

Oct. 2019
The amended 
Telecommunication 
Business Act enters  
into force

Apr. 2020
Rakuten Mobile, Inc. 
enters the telecommu-
nications business as 
an MNO*7

Sep. 2020
Nippon Telegraph and 
Telephone Corporation 
announces that NTT 
DOCOMO, INC. is 
made a wholly owned 
subsidiary

Mar. 2021
NTT DOCOMO, INC. begins offering 
the new “ahamo” pricing plan, 
SoftBank Corp. begins offering the new 
“LINEMO” pricing plan

Dec. 2021
Reorganization the New DOCOMO Group is announced
(effective from July 2022)

Mar. 2022
Absorption-type merger of LINE Mobile Corporation, a 
wholly owned subsidiary of SoftBank Corporation

May 2022
Reorganization to strengthen global business in the NTT 
Group (from October 2022)

4G4G 5GImprove customer value 
using high-speed 
high-volume transfer for 
enhanced experience

The rising popularity  
of smartphones and  
the integration of  
telecommunications  
and life design

Apr. 2018
Makoto Takahashi appointed president
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FY23.3
Operating

income target 

¥1,100.0
billion

FY22.3 
Operating 

income

¥1,060.6
billion

Three-Year Medium-Term Targets (FY17.3–FY19.3)
• �Operating income CAGR*3: 7%
• �Dividend payout ratio: over 35%

Three-Year Medium-Term 
Targets (FY20.3–FY22.3)
• �EPS: Increase of 1.5 times 

compared with FY19.3
• �Dividend payout ratio:  

Over 40%

May 2022 New Mid-Term  
Management Strategy is  
announced (FY23.3-FY25.3)
• �EPS: Increase of 1.5 times  

compared with FY19.3 
• �Dividend payout ratio: Over 40%

 �Mid-Term Management 
Strategy Summary
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On Conclusion of the Previous Mid-Term Management Strategy

Throughout the previous mid-term from FY20.3 to FY22.3, KDDI achieved both sustainable profit growth and en-
hanced shareholder returns.

The operating revenue and income of the growth fields, Life Design Domain and Business Services segments, 
steadily increased to reach our goals on the operational scale. Furthermore, we achieved a dividend payout ratio of 
over 40% and 5% growth in CAGR for EPS.

As a result of the implementation of our business strategies with the integration of telecommunications and life 
design, we succeeded in achieving continued growth even with the competitive environment of the telecommunica-
tions industry undergoing significant change.

Looking Back Looking Back 
on the Previous on the Previous 
Mid-Term Mid-Term 
Management Management 
Strategy  Strategy  
(FY20.3-FY22.3)(FY20.3-FY22.3)

core and promotes “Business Strategy” and 
“Strengthening of Management.”

We positioned our Business Strategy as the “Satellite 
Growth Strategy” to clearly demonstrate the new 
growth achieved by deepening the existing business-
es and maximizing synergies in the related business 
areas. We will evolve our “Power to Connect” by 
leveraging the characteristics of 5G and aim for an 
era in which new values will be generated as a result 
of the “blending” of telecommunications into all kinds 
of scenes. Throughout the mid-term, we will engage 
in the 5G-driven evolution of our telecommunications 
business, the expansion of focus areas centered 
around telecommunications, and the enhancement of 
the underlying management foundation.

Here, I reflect on FY22.3 and the previous Mid-Term 
Management Strategy and then explain the newly 
established Mid-Term Management Strategy.

President,
Representative Director

Since the company’s founding, our mission has been 
to achieve a truly connected society. Our business is 
intrinsically public and directly connected to custom-
ers’ lives.

Throughout FY22.3, the COVID-19 pandemic has 
driven rapid digital shifts in all areas, increasing the 
importance of the role of telecommunications. Mean-
while, the government upholds the “The Vision for a 
Digital Garden City Nation” to promote regional 
vitalization through digitalization. As a result, our 
daily lives and businesses are increasingly digi-
talized. We support people’s new lifestyles and 
promote efforts toward creating a resilient future 
society that achieves both economic progress and the 
resolution of social issues.

To achieve our ideal future society while accommo-
dating changes in the business environment, we set 
out a new vision, “KDDI VISION 2030: The creation 
of a society in which anyone can make their dreams a 
reality by enhancing the power to connect,” and 
established new materiality that holistically cover 
social issues and the level of importance in the KDDI 
Group’s management from a long-term perspective. 

Taking these into account, our new Mid-Term 
Management Strategy (FY23.3 to FY25.3) places 
“Sustainability Management,” which aims for sus-
tainable growth of society and the enhancement of 
corporate value together with our partners, at the 

CEO Message
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* Comparison with the mid-term goal of 1.5 trillion yen. The calculation considers the impact of the change in accounting procedures in the energy business (approximately 60.0 billion yen)

FY22.3 CAGR  FY19.3-FY22.3 (Reference) Related goals FY19.3-FY22.3

Operating revenue 5,446.7 billion yen +2.3% Cost reduction, etc.
3 years total  ¥100 billion (approximately)Operating income 1,060.6 billion yen +1.5%

Operating revenue of Life Design Domain 1,422.0 billion yen +14.6% FY22.3� 1.44 trillion yen*

Operating revenue of Business Services segment 1,042.6 billion yen +5.6% FY22.3� 1 trillion yen

Dividend payout ratio 41.7% — � Over 40%

EPS 300.03 yen +5.0% FY19.3→FY25.3� 1.5 times

12KDDI  Integrated Sustainability and Financial Report 2022



Initiatives in the Growth Fields 
(Life Design Domain and Business Services segment)

We achieved double-digit growth in operating income for both Life Design Domain and Business Services segment.

End of 3G Services

One topic in FY22.3 is the suspension of 3G at the end of March 2022. We would like to 
hereby express our gratitude to all our customers for having used our 3G services for 
approximately 20 years.

Under this challenging environment, the success of suspension without major incidents is 
a positive result that can be reflected in future services. Since 3G was power-consuming, its 
suspension was also an accomplishment from an environmental point of view.

Multi-Brand Strategy and  
5G Rollout

With new telecommunications providers entering the market 
and competition heating up, services and pricing plans are 
diversifying, and the telecommunications industry itself is 
undergoing significant changes.

Under such environment, we have strived to offer pricing 
plans that meet various needs and diverse lifestyles through our multi-brand strategy. The featured brands are “au” 
providing unlimited use without anxiety, “UQ mobile” with simple and secure pricing, and “povo” in which users can 
choose services freely (called “toppings”) they need. As a result, we gained momentum, as shown by the net in-
crease in the total number of multi-brand IDs throughout the fiscal year.

For 5G, under the slogan Zutto, Motto, Tsunagu Zo, au (Connecting more and always with au), we aim to build a 
comfortable and reliable network in railways, shopping centers, and other focus areas, based on extensive cover 
places frequented by customers. Cumulative 5G unit sales reached 8 million units and are still steadily growing. We 
are committed to providing 5G experiences to more and more customers.

2002 Third-generation mobile phone service begins

2003 CDMA 1X WIN service commences the industry’s first flat-rate packet service introduced

2005 KDDI launches W33SA, the mobile phone with one-seg TV support

2006 LISMO, the comprehensive music service begins; Google search engine introduced in EZweb

2011 KDDI launches its first sales of iPhone

Looking Back Looking Back 
on the Previous on the Previous 
Mid-Term Mid-Term 
Management Management 
Strategy  Strategy  
(FY20.3-FY22.3)(FY20.3-FY22.3)

CEO Message

Key 
indicators

Transaction Volume of 
Settlement / Loan
11.7trillion yen 
(2.6 times compared to FY19.3)

Number of au Denki, etc. 
subscriptions
3.38million
(CAGR approximately 20.0%)

Number of au PAY Card 
members
7.6million (CAGR20.0%)

au PAY members and au 
PAY Card members
37million (CAGR13.4%)

Operating Income 
(Billions of yen)

FY19.3 FY20.3 FY21.3 FY22.3

147.0

178.0

198.0

254.0

CAGR
+20.0%

We have sought to expand life design services with “integration of telecommunica-
tions and life design” in focus. All major services have grown, including the smart-
phone payment service au PAY as important customer contact, financial services 
supported by au PAY Card and mortgage services, and energy services such as au 
Denki. 

▼ Life Design Domain

Operating Income 
(Billions of yen)

FY19.3 FY20.3 FY21.3 FY22.3

122.2

149.0

167.5

186.0

CAGR
+15.1%

Key 
indicators

NEXT Core Business
Percentage in the entire Business Services segment sales
FY22.3 31.9%

IoT Connections*
FY22.3: 24.5 million connections
(3.1 times compared to FY19.3)

* �KDDI non-consolidated 
basis

Digital transformation (DX) of enterprises has brought a tremendous change in 
business styles and customer relationships. In such environment, we aim to accel-
erate customers’ DX centered on our strengths in telecommunications and IoT. The 
sales of the NEXT Core Business, which is a driving force of DX, account for more 
than 30% of the Business Services segment. We also achieved solid growth as an 
industry leader in terms of the number of IoT connections.

▼ Business Services segment
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KDDI VISION 2030

To achieve our ideal future society, we set 
out a new vision, “KDDI VISION 2030: The 
creation of a society in which anyone can 
make their dreams a reality, by enhancing 
the power to connect.”

To contribute to building a resilient social 
infrastructure that withstands environmental 
changes, we will further accelerate “KDDI 
Sustainable Action” embracing the ideas of 
“Connecting and protecting lives,” “Con-
necting Day-to-day lives,” “Connecting 
hearts and minds” through businesses with 
our partners while utilizing technology.

By 2030, we will aim for “a platformer 
supporting society” that can add value to 
every industry and life scene. To date, we 
have sought to expand growth fields in 
non-telecommunications areas through smartphones with the “integration of telecommunications and life design.” In 
the new Mid-Term Business Strategy, we will foresee the year 2030 and promote “business transformation centered 
on 5G.”

Sustainability Management and Medium-Term Targets

From a long-term perspective, we have 
established the “new materiality (material 
issues)” centered on the interests of diverse 
stakeholders such as long-term investors as 
well as our long-term vision and enterprise 
impact. With this in mind, we position Sustain-
ability Management at the core and promote 
reinforcement of the business strategy and the 
underlying management foundation.

By doing so, we will aim for the sustain-
able growth of society and the enhancement 
of our corporate value. Our goal is to create a 
virtuous cycle in which society’s growth is fed 
back on the subsequent business strategies, 
and the business growth is reflected in society.

Sustainability Management

Mid-Term Management Strategy

Defining new materiality and 
promoting the mid-term 
management strategy

New Mid-Term New Mid-Term 
Management Management 
Strategy  Strategy  
(FY23.3-FY25.3)(FY23.3-FY25.3)

The creation of a society in whichThe creation of a society in which
anyone can make their dreams a reality,anyone can make their dreams a reality,
by enhancing the power to connect.by enhancing the power to connect.
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Business Strategy/Satellite Growth Strategy →P35

In our Business Strategy, we 
have positioned our business 
growth strategy in the focus 
areas centered on 5G, which is 
expected to prosper with the 
birth of 5G SA (standalone), as 
the “Satellite Growth Strategy.” 

For the core service of 5G 
communications, we will focus 
on 5G network building and 
device popularization so the 
multi-brand communication 
ARPU revenues, which have 
been declining due to price 
reduction of smartphone fees, 
will increase in FY25.3 com-
pared to FY22.3.

In addition, we have de-
fined five focus areas with 
potential growth in the previ-
ous Mid-Term Business Strate-
gy, namely [1] DX, [2] Finance, 
[3] Energy, [4] LX, and [5] 
Regional co-creation (CATV 
and other services.) We will 
accelerate growth by utilizing 
the synergies of these areas 
centered on telecommunica-
tions. Particularly in DX, we will 
establish an environment 
where customers can use 5G without concerns by blending telecommunications into everything through IoT.

To that end, we provide business platforms according to the needs of various industries to support customers’ 
business creations. We aim for a virtuous cycle of DX in which newly added values transform people’s lives. 

During the mid-term, our goal is to make the DX Business Services segment our second largest business next to 
domestic telecommunications, accounting for approximately 20% of the consolidated operating income. Finance 
and energy businesses will accelerate our growth. LX transforms people’s experiences with an eye on the future. 
Regional revitalization will contribute to solving social issues with local communities. By growing these businesses, 
we aim to boost the sales of these focus areas to over 50% of the consolidated sales.

Satellite Growth Strategy

Summary of Efforts in Focus Areas

CEO Message

New Mid-Term New Mid-Term 
Management Management 
Strategy  Strategy  
(FY23.3-FY25.3)(FY23.3-FY25.3)

15

Introduction     Vision     Material Issues    Governance     Data

CEO Message     Special Feature Enhancing the “Power to Connect”     KDDI Value Creation Model     
Satellite Growth Strategy and Strengthening of Management (Non-Financial)     CFO Message



Initiatives for Strengthening of Management →P39

To strengthen the foundation of our management that supports our “Sustainability Management,” we will also 
promote initiatives to deal with major social issues such as carbon neutrality, transforming ourselves into a company 
that puts human resources first, respects for human rights, and improvements of our group governance.

First, KDDI is actively addressing carbon neutrality, which is a major issue on a global scale. KDDI (non-consoli-
dated) is aiming to achieve net-zero CO2 emissions by fiscal 2030 and the Group as a whole by fiscal 2050. In order 
to achieve these targets, we will proactively promote energy efficiency and shift to renewable energy for mobile 
phone base stations and telecommunications equipment.

In addition, to ensure ongoing sustainable growth amid a business environment that is undergoing constant and 
profound change, employees and organizations must drive innovation and acquire a high degree of autonomy and 
growth to transform into a company that puts human resources first. In promoting innovation, we will strengthen 
R&D and capital investment for 5G and beyond 5G. And we will accelerate efforts for business creation, R&D, AI and 
advanced security technology efforts based on our Satellite Growth Strategy and will deepen partnerships such as 
collaboration with startups.

Mid-Term Management Strategy Summary

We position “Sustainability Management” at the core and aim to achieve the sustainable growth of society and the 
enhancement of corporate value together with our partners by promoting the Satellite Growth Strategy and strength-
ening of management.

For business growth, we aim to increase ARPU revenue by driving 5G, achieve profit growth of over 100 billion 
yen in focus areas, and improve cost efficiency by 100 billion yen.

The Company’s financial policy is to prioritize capital and strategic business investments to 5G and other focus 
areas, aiming for a dividend payout ratio of over 40% and flexibly repurchasing shares. EPS growth goal is still 1.5 
times compared to FY19.3. 

We are committed to transforming our business in the environment that is undergoing constant and profound 
change, including the unstable global situation.

Regarding the Communication Failure on July 2, 2022

From July 2, 2022, KDDI experienced a prolonged communication failure. We sincerely apologize for the inconve-
nience caused to our customers using telecom services throughout Japan. 

As a telecommunications carrier supporting social infrastructure and providing stable service, we take this 
incident seriously. 

The entire company is committed to preventing recurrences of similar incidents and providing a telecommunica-
tions network that customers can use confidently by accommodating the ever-increasing amount of required trans-
mission data in the 5G/Beyond 5G era.

We will contribute groupwide to achieving a truly connected society.

We appreciate your unwavering support and helpful guidance for the KDDI Group.

Sustainability
Aiming for sustainable growth of society and enhancement of corporate value with partners through 
promoting Satellite Growth Strategy and strengthening management base to support it

Business Growth

ARPU revenue increase due to 5G promotion (FY22.3 vs. FY25.3)

Profit growth in focus areas 100 billion yen or more

Cost efficiency 100 billion yen target

Financial Policy
• �Prioritize capital expenditures and strategic business investments in 5G and focus areas
• �Dividend payout ratio over 40%
• �Flexible share repurchases

EPS Growth Continue to aim for 1.5x growth versus FY19.3

Regarding Regarding 
the Recent the Recent 
Communication Communication 
FailureFailure

New Mid-Term New Mid-Term 
Management Management 
Strategy  Strategy  
(FY23.3-FY25.3)(FY23.3-FY25.3)

16KDDI  Integrated Sustainability and Financial Report 2022



17

CEO Message     Special Feature Enhancing the “Power to Connect”     KDDI Value Creation Model     
Satellite Growth Strategy and Strengthening of Management (Non-Financial)     CFO Message

Introduction     Vision     Material Issues    Governance     Data

We deeply apologize for the extended inconvenience and trouble caused to customers nationwide using our 
communication services that began on 1:35 a.m. on Saturday, July 2, 2022.

As a telecommunications carrier, supporting social infrastructure and providing stable service, 
we take such incidents seriously. 

We have implemented measures to try to prevent recurrences and will make every effort to foster smooth 
operations going forward.

About the Communication Failure on July 2, 2022About the Communication Failure on July 2, 2022

On July 2, 2022, during maintenance, a routing misconfigura-
tion caused approx. 15 minutes of communication interruption. 
After we reverted the configuration, a large number of location 
registration request signals were resent. 

Congestion at “VoLTE nodes” for voice services, congestion 
at “subscriber databases (DB)” used for subscriber authentica-
tion, and data inconsistency of the subscriber databases 
occurred one after another, causing extended communication 
failure. We implemented traffic flow rate control and data incon-
sistency correction measures to reduce system overload, but 
the insufficient load reduction remained for a long time.

On July 4, 2022, we identified the VoLTE nodes that caused 
unnecessary excessive signal transmission and separated the 
nodes. As a result, both voice and data communications were 
confirmed to have recovered to the same level as the previous 
week.

To summarize, a routing misconfiguration caused communi-
cation interruption, which caused a vast number of location 
registration request signals, and eventually congested VoLTE 
nodes and subscriber DB nationwide. The communication 
failure was recovered by separating the problematic VoLTE 
nodes.

Overview of Communication Failure and Our ResponseOverview of Communication Failure and Our Response

Overview of the Communication Failure
Large number of location registration request signals generated due to incorrect route settings.

VoLTE nodes and subscriber DB nationwide were congested.

1
Congestion at  
VoLTE nodes

Partial interruption due  
to router work

Congestion due to repeating large 
number of retransmissions from 

devices and equipment

A situation in which only one-way 
signals transmitted due to 
misconfiguration of router

2
Congestion at  
subscriber DB

Congestion due to rapid increase in 
inquiries at subscriber DB due to 

retransmissions

3
VoLTE node  

disconnection (recovery)

Disconnected VOLTE nodes that 
caused communication failure and 

service restored

The effect of the communication failure lasted for a total of 61 
hours 25 minutes, from July 2 (Sat) 1:35 am to July 4 (Mon) 3:00 
pm (JST). As for the scale, about 22.78 million voice users and 
7.65 million or more data users were affected in KDDI (non-con-
solidated). With Okinawa Cellular Telephone Company combined, 
the number rose to about 23.16 million voice users and 7.75 
million or more data users.

The communication failure spread to a broad range of indus-

tries using smartphones and IoT devices, such as logistics, 
automobile, administrative services, banking, and transportation, 
affecting the living infrastructure.

Based on the challenges revealed by the incident, in addition 
to strictly implementing recurrence prevention measures and 
achieving stable service operations, we are committed to grasping 
new usage scenes and effects of services as well as establishing 
timely and appropriate information disclosure to customers.

Overview and Effect of the Communication FailureOverview and Effect of the Communication Failure

Impact on Corporate CustomersGeneral Outline of Communication Failure
Affected nationwide customers for a long time Affected various industries and living infrastructures

Affected time
From July 2 (Sat) 1:35 am to July 4 (Mon) 
3:00 pm (JST) (Total : 61 hours 25 minutes)

Affected area Nationwide

The number of affected customers

Voice (VoLTE) About 22.78 million

Data (4G/5G) 7.65 million or more

Logistics
Delivery status updates
/Contact with delivery 

drivers

Automobile
Connected car services

Administrative 
services

Weather data collection
/Water meters

Banking
ATMs located outside

Transportation
Wireless transceivers in 
airports and IC cards 

for buses
* �The scale of the effect is estimated and calculated based on the differences in 

calls and registration requests between the normal condition (one week before the 
communication failure, based on the same time frame) and the failed condition.
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On maintenance work, we will review “Operation Procedure 
Management Rules,” “Check Procedure of Operation Approval,” 
and additionally, “Operational Risk Assessment and Operation 
Suppression Criteria/Duration.”

On scaling the maintenance work, we develop more elabo-
rate tools to detect congestion at VoLTE nodes and redesign 
congestion control.

On July 28, 2022, we submitted a serious accident report based 
on Article 28 of the Telecommunications Business Act to the 
Ministry of Internal Affairs and Communications (MIC).

On August 3, we received a reprimand and written adminis-
trative guidance from MIC to prevent the recurrence of similar 
accidents. 

Based on the root cause and challenges of the failure, we built a 
cross-organizational system, granting the highest priority to 
network stabilization and improvement of customer relations.

In the “Council for improvement of infrastructure and cus-
tomer relations,” where president serves as the chief, we are 
actively implementing measures in four working groups:  “Im-

provement of work quality WG,” “Operation improvement WG,” 
“Equipment improvement WG,” and “Improvement of customer 
relations WG.”

Operation, Engineering/Construction, Customer Services/PR, 
and Sales (Corporate/Individual) Departments collaborate as a 
company-wide effort.

In prolonging the maintenance work, we will review recovery 
procedures when congestion occurs and develop tools to 
recover congestion at VoLTE nodes.

On customer announcements, we improve information 
disclosure to customers and facilitate timely and appropriate 
announcements.

For the recurrence-preventive measures and other challeng-
es such as announcement methods, we will continue our efforts, 
taking into account the conclusions of discussions in the investi-
gation committee conducted by the MIC.

System to Drive Quality and Service ImprovementSystem to Drive Quality and Service Improvement

Recurrence Prevention MeasuresRecurrence Prevention Measures

Implementation details Implementation period

Maintenance work

(1)�Review of Operation Procedure Management Rules,  
Check Procedure of Operation Approval

(2)�Review of Operational Risk Assessment and Operation 
Suppression Criteria/Duration

(1)July 14, 2022 implemented
(2)July 22, 2022 implemented

Get larger scale
(1)�Development of more elaborate tools to detect congestion 

at VoLTE Nodes
(2)Review and inspection of design for congestion control

(1)July 28, 2022 implemented
(2)�Inspection completed by the end of August 2022, plans 

formulated

Prolongation
(1) Review of recovery procedures when congestion occurs
(2) Development of tools to recover congestion at VoLTE 

Nodes

(1)July 11, 2022 implemented
(2)August 24, 2022 operation started

Announcement for 
customers

• ��Improvement of information disclosure to customers;  
timely and appropriate announcements

Partially implemented on July 14, 2022, the rest of parts 
implemented by the end of September 2022

System to Drive Quality and Service Improvement
Building a cross-organizational system, granting highest priority to network stabilization and improvement of customer relations

Improvement of  
work quality WG

Operation  
improvement WG

Equipment  
improvement WG

Improvement of  
customer relations WG

Chief:  president
Members: all executives

Council for improvement of infrastructure and customer relations Okinawa Cellular

Operation Department Engineering / Construction 
Department 

Customer services/  
PR Department 

Sales Department  
(Corporate/Individual) 
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Part 3 
Power to Connect

Entertainment
→P29

×

×

×

Part 1 
Power to Connect

Social Infrastructure
→P21

Part 2 
Power to Connect

Building Communities
→P25

Special Feature

Enhancing the
“Power to Connect”

KDDI aims to evolve the “Power to Connect” by taking advantage of the 
characteristics of 5G and integrating telecommunication into every domain 

to create an era of new value together with diverse partners. 
In this section, we introduce our efforts in satellite telecommunication, 

mobility, the metaverse, and other areas under the theme of “Enhancing of 
the Power to Connect.”
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From the Space  
Realization of “Connecting More and 
Always” Satellite Telecommunications 
Project Launched.

Part 1  Power to Connect x Social Infrastructure

KDDI has been a key player in Japan’s satellite telecommunication services for over half a century.  
In 2021, KDDI launched a project using SpaceX’s Starlink satellite telecommunication service, 
which will spearhead the next generation of the space industry. KDDI’s latest challenge is to 
spread the new high-speed telecommunications of the 5G era to every corner of Japan. 

Starlink to Deliver High-Speed Telecommunications 
Worldwide 
Starlink is a satellite telecommunications service provided by SpaceX, a company headed by 
CEO Elon Musk. Starlink’s telecommunications satellites are positioned in low-Earth orbit at 
an altitude of approximately 550 km. It is about 1/65th the distance from the Earth’s surface 
compared with conventional geostationary orbit satellites, enabling significantly lower latency 
and faster transmission. 

KDDI Has Been Working on Satellite Telecommunications 
for Over 50 Years 
For over 50 years, since the world’s first successful trans-Pacific TV broadcast reception in 
1963, KDDI has contributed to the development of international communications as a pio-
neer of satellite telecommunications in Japan. This has included temporary communications 
during disasters, communications for ships and aircraft, and international video transmission. 

Low-Earth orbit 
satellite constellation 
to enable high-speed, 
low-latency satellite 
telecommunication 

(Starlink)

SpaceX

50 Years of 
Expertise 
in Satellite 

Telecommunications 

KDDI’s History of Satellite Telecommunications

First successful TV  
broadcast between Japan 
and the US.

The Iridium service was 
launched.

The Inmarsat 5th generation 
service was launched.

1963
KDD launched its  
services for the Ibaraki 
Earth Station.

1966

KDD launched its ser-
vices for the Yamaguchi 
Satellite Earth Station in  
Yamaguchi Prefecture.

1969

1998
The Inmarsat 
service was 
launched.

1982

The Iridium Certus Service 
was launched.

2018

2019

KDD Ibaraki Earth Station
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Part 1  Power to Connect x Social Infrastructure

Q A To bridge the digital divide and  
create a society where people can 
live with peace of mind.

Telecommunications has brought about various changes and benefits to society by 
connecting all kinds of people and products and increasing high-speed communica-
tion. However, there are still areas in mountainous regions and isolated islands where 
optical fiber for high-speed telecommunications cannot be installed and the benefits of 
this service are not available. KDDI and SpaceX share the commitment to “bringing the 
urban mobile experience to rural customers” and are working to achieve this by lever-
aging KDDI’s satellite telecommunication technology, accumulated over more than 50 
years, and Starlink’s latest high-speed satellite telecommunications. 

Why is KDDI Engaged in Sat-
ellite Telecommunications?

Number of mountains in Japan

Number of isolated islands in Japan

approx.6,800

approx.16,000

Delivering High-Speed Telecommuni-
cations to Hard-to-Connect Areas: 
Toward the Realization of “Connect-
ing More and Always” 
In September 2021, KDDI finalized a contract to introduce 
the Starlink satellite communication service to the backhaul* 
lines of KDDI’s base stations. By replacing backhaul lines at 
base stations, which were previously connected by existing 
satellite lines as optical fiber could not be installed, with 
Starlink technology, KDDI will deliver high-speed telecommu-
nications to mountainous areas and remote islands. 

We will continue to provide safety by utilizing Starlink to 
ensure people can stay connected at all times and to work to 
eliminate the digital divide. 

au base stations where Starlink will be installed

Over1,200 locations (mid-term image)

* Backhaul: �A relay line connecting a mobile phone base station and the back-
bone communication network (core network)

Constructed a ground station at Yamaguchi Satellite Earth Station to connect Starlink’s tele-
communication satellites to the Internet network on the ground.

An Urban Mobile Connectivity

Starlink telecommunication services are used for backhaul lines connecting au 
base stations and ground stations.

Satellite 
telecommunication

au base 
stations

au core 
network Internet/Cloud

Satellite 
Communication 

Center

Backhaul line

Experience For Rural Mobile Customers

22KDDI  Integrated Sustainability and Financial Report 2022

2021
High-Speed Satellite Telecommunications 
Services are Being Used to Provide High-
Speed Telecommunications in the 5G Era in 
Mountainous Regions and Isolated Islands.



 What Will Be the Role and Importance of Satellite Telecommunications   

 in the Future as Telecommunications are Integrated into All 

Industries and the Foundations of People’s Lives Are “Connected”? 

As telecommunications have become an integral part of every 
aspect of our lives, the digital divide between urban areas, where 
high-speed telecommunications including 5G and optical fiber 
are well developed, and rural areas, such as mountainous areas 
and islands where undeveloped areas remain, has emerged. In 
response to this challenge, we believe that the features of satel-
lite telecommunications, such as wide coverage, versatile instal-
lation options, and disaster resistance, will contribute to securing 
a comfortable telecommunications environment for rural areas 
and play an important role in bridging the digital divide.

 Why Did You Select SpaceX as a Business Partner? 

We selected SpaceX, with whom we announced a business 
alliance last year, as our partner because of our high expecta-
tions of the potential of Starlink, a high-speed satellite telecom-
munications service that SpaceX offers worldwide. Starlink is an 
innovative broadband satellite that can achieve significantly 
lower latency and higher transmission speeds than conventional 
satellite telecommunications. We believe that our alliance will 
create new value through synergies with SpaceX and KDDI’s 
satellite communications technology, which has matured over 
more than 50 years of experience in the industry. 

 What Were the Challenges and Enticements of this Partnership? 

(1) As the demands of connecting to non-geostationary satellite 
were unprecedented for KDDI, we struggled to achieve the tech-
nical requirements.
(2) The founder of SpaceX, Elon Musk, is a tenacious individual 
who spent nearly 10 years trying to launch the Falcon rocket and 
finally succeeded. Inspired by this, we persisted in considering 
brand-new initiatives.

 What Kind of Future or Society Will Be Realized When We Are All 

 Connected? 

Enabling rural areas (e.g., mountainous regions and isolated is-
lands where it is difficult to deliver strong telecommunications due 
to the difficulty of installing optical fiber) to secure a comfortable 
telecommunications environment offering high-speed and low-la-
tency telecommunications will allow these areas to benefit from 
information and telecommunications technology and will build a 
society in which the digital divide between urban and rural areas 
no longer exists. 

 What Are the Future Prospects of Satellite Telecommunications? 

Beyond 5G will offer the seamless coordination and connection 
of extraterrestrial and terrestrial networks. By covering areas not 
covered by existing cellular networks with satellite telecommuni-
cations technology, uninterrupted telecommunication services 
will be provided in all locations. 

Part 1  Power to Connect x Social Infrastructure

Technology Sector
Global Engineering & Operations Division
Senior Director
Deputy General Manager

Nobuyuki Kawai
2011  Yamaguchi Satellite Earth General Manager 
2020 Deputy General Manager of Global Engineering 
& Operations Division 
2021 Deputy General Manager of Technical Strategy 
Headquarters (another post) 
Japanese Representative of ITU-R standardization 
related to satellite communications (Chair of Commit-
tee 5 (COM5) for the 2019 World Radiocommunica-
tion Conference (WRC-19)) 

What Happens
When We are “Connected”?

Satellite telecommunications section

High-Speed Telecommunication Will Be Available 

in All Locations, Including Mountanious 

Areas and Isolated Islands.

Advances in Smart Agriculture will

Compensate for Labor Shortages
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Turning Drones into Social Infrastructure
Since 2016, KDDI has been working toward the commercialization of 
drones, developing smart drones equipped with the mobile communications 
technology and operational management systems essential for safe remote 
and long-distance flights and accumulating advanced demonstration tests 
and case studies.  Established “KDDI SmartDrone Inc.” in April 2022. “Fly to 
make it happen” is our mission to realize a society where drones can fly 
autonomously and make people’s personal and work lives easier. 

The Future Supported by Smart Drone
Technological innovations are significantly expanding the potential of smart 
drones. KDDI SmartDrone aims to utilize smart drones in mountainous areas 
and isolated islands by expanding the au network using SpaceX’s Starlink 
satellite telecommunications service. We are also working with PRODRONE, a 
group company, to develop the world’s first “amphibious drone” that can fly 
and dive underwater, expanding the potential of drone activity. KDDI Smart-
Drone will contunue to work with companies, local governments, and start-up 
companies to expand the use and practical application of smart drones, and 
contribute to the resolution of social issues and the sustainable development 
of society through drones.

Collaboration with Local Governments and 
Businesses to Solve Local Issues
KDDI SmartDrone works with local governments and companies to solve 
social issues through the use of drones. In August 2020, the nation’s first 
municipally-operated drone delivery service was launched in Ina City, Nagano 
Prefecture. Drones deliver daily necessities and other items ordered by 
residents using cable TV to support residents in hilly and mountainous regions 
and the elderly who face difficulties shopping. In October 2021 and February 
2022, we conducted demonstration tests of drone transportation of food and 
medical supplies in manned urban zones to verify operational and business 
feasibility in close-to-real-life conditions. 

Solving Social Issues and Realizing Comfortable 
Lifestyles with Smart Drones Equipped with 
Mobile Communications Technology 

Part 1  Power to Connect x Social Infrastructure

KDDI SmartDrone Inc.
President and CEO

Masafumi Hirono

企業Companies

Local 
governments

Start-up 
companies

As expectations of the use of drones as an aspect of social infrastructure 
continue to build with the impending enforcement of the “unassisted blind 
flight in manned areas (Level 4 flight)” law, the KDDI Group is accelerating its 
efforts to implement the use of drones and solve social issues using drones. 

Transport of pharmaceuticals and food in urban areas 

“Amphibious drone” to be used for underwater inspection work, etc. 

Autonomous flight drone efficiently performs inspections of 
offshore wind facilities.

Joined KDDI in 2004. After working on the 
development of WiMAX base stations, he has 
been engaged in planning and development 
work related to the construction of cellular 
networks.
Since October 2016, he has been promoting 
the commercialization of smart drone using 
cellular networks and assigned his current 
position in April 2022.
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Digital Divide

Connecting People, Products, and 
Things to Realize Safe and 
Convenient Lifestyles
We aim to provide more secure lives for the 
elderly, more freedom of movement for those 
raising children, and more comfortable lives 
for everyone. 
KDDI will use telecommunications and 
connectivity to respond to the wishes of 
each individual. 

It is argued that the digital divide (information gap) 
leads to delays in evacuation actions during disas-

ters and emergencies, making the connection of the 
elderly with the information society an urgent need. 

Social 
Issues to 
Be Solved

Decrease in the 
Ways of Transportation

Despite the increasing number of elderly people volun-
tarily returning their driver’s licenses, up to 1,000 km of 
bus routes are to be discontinued each year in regional 
cities due to the decrease in the number of users. There 

is thus increasing anxiety among the elderly about 
access to transportation. 

case 1

case 2

Part 2  Power to Connect x Building Communities

Number of Driver’s Licenses Returned by the Elderly

Reference: Driver’s 
License Statistics 
2020 Edition 
(National Police 
Agency Traffic 
Bureau License 
Division) 

20202011

8times

Smartphone and Tablet Usage Rates 
Among the Over 70 Years Old

Source: Information and 
Communications in Japan 
WHITE PAPER 2021
(Ministry of Internal Affairs  
and Communications)

40.8%
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mobi, which is provided by Community Mobility, a joint venture between KDDI and 
WILLER Inc., is a “short ride within a certain area” service that combines mobility ser-
vices and telecommunications to replace walking and bicycling with flat-rate transport 
within a radius of approximately 2 km. Cars can be dispatched via an app or phone and 
AI routing takes into account the customer’s reservation status and road conditions to 
provide an optimal and efficient route from the point of origin to the destination. Through 
mobi, we will nurture communities and sustainable urban development by supporting the 
free movement of elderly people who are anxious about their mobility and parents with 
young children who have difficulty picking up and dropping off their children. 

by Reaching out to People of 

Different Ages and Communities

Eliminates all Barriers to Mobility 

to Make Residents’ Lives more

Convenient and Affluent

Bridging the Digital Divide

Supporting Free, One-Mile Mobility 
Services and Telecommunications 

Aim to Increase the Rate of 
Smartphone Penetration to 100% in 
a Village with a Population of 5,000 
of which 43% Are Elderly People

case

1

case

2

Established a “Yorozu Sodanjo” 
(consultation center) where 
residents can casually ask for 
advice on smartphone operation 
at any time.

KDDI is working with Hidaka-mura in Kochi Prefecture on “Digitizing the Entire Village 
Project” which aims to improve the quality of public services and revitalize local 
communication using smartphones. 

KDDI traveled to Hidaka-mura, where there are no mobile phone stores, to 
accept applications for smartphones, conduct classes on how to use them, and hold 
explanatory meetings for residents at community associations. By promoting the use 
of smartphones, we will support the safety and health of residents and the revitaliza-
tion of local communities, while aiming to realize a society in which everyone can 
enjoy the benefits of digital technology. 

Carpooling 
is an effi-

cient way to 
get around

Cars are 
dispatched 

via an app or 
phone call

AI 
optimizes 

routes

Disaster 
prevention

Health 
promotion

Communi-
cation 

activation

Ms. Emiko Watanabe, who is a smartphone 
teacher at Hidaka Village’s Yorozu Sodanjo. 

Part 2  Power to Connect x Building Communities

Smartphone penetration rate

Goal

100%
65%

May
 2021

76%
November

 2021

AI takes you via the 
best route 

Point 2

Drives to the destination via 
the optimal route, taking road 
conditions and travel requests 
in the area into account

Anywhere, Anytime
Point 3

mobi is available anywhere 
and as often as you want

By App or by Phone
Point 1

Reservations can be 
made using a dedicated 
smartphone app or by 
phone

“I want my students to be able to use 
smartphones so well that they don’t need 
me in the counseling center.” 
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 What Are the Challenges Facing the Local Communities? 

Various issues impact each region, such as an aging population, 
population decrease, the need for appropriate environments to 
raise children, the need for flexible work styles, and the need for 
regional revitalization. 

 What is the Future Role and Importance of Regional Co-Creation? 

mobi aims to redesign lifestyles through the provision of safe 
and environmentally friendly mobility services in cooperation 
with local residents, local government organizations, transporta-
tion companies, and local businesses. Each region has unique 
challenges, and we believe it is important to create services that 
address these challenges on a community-by-community basis. 

 What Challenges Do You See in Terms of Regional Development 

 and an Aging Society? 

With the increasing number of elderly people voluntarily returning 
their driver’s licenses and the discontinuation of local transportation 
due to a decrease in the number of local bus users, there is increas-
ing anxiety among, in particular, the elderly about access to trans-
portation. Transportation is also a challenge for households with 
small children who may struggle to pick up and drop off children at 
various locations. Additionally, the spread of COVID-19 has in-
creased the demand for short-distance transportation, but we be-
lieve there is a dearth of mobility that meets this demand. 

 What Initiatives Are in Place to Solve These Challenges and 

 How Have Users Responded? 

While issues differ from region to region, we are collaborating 
with various stakeholders to provide mobility services that match 
the challenges faced by each region.

We have received feedback from elderly customers who say 
that the service has made their hospital visits easier, and from 
customers  with small children who say that the service is con-
venient for shopping and picking up their children from pre-
school and nursery school.

 What Kind of Future and Society will be Realized after These 

 Isuues are Resolved? 

While solving social issues in each region through mobi, we 
would like to create new mobility experiences that make “getting 
around” itself more enjoyable by rediscovering the connection 
with neighborhoods, such as encountering delicious food in the 
neighborhood or enjoying hanging out for a bit.

 What Kind of Future and Society will be Realized When all Areas 

 are Connected? 

Whether you are pushing a stroller, going to work or school, or 
having difficulty in driving, our goal is to realize a society in 
which everyone can go out freely and with peace of mind. Based 
on the concept of “we will turn mobility into excitement,” local 
governments, local businesses, and transportation operators will 
work together to revitalize the entire community. 

Part 2  Power to Connect x Building Communities

To Reduce the Burden of 

Child-Rearing and Prevent Isolation

Communities Are Revitalized and 

Local Communities Are Energized

What Happens
When We Are “Connected”?

Community Mobility Inc.
Representative Director
Executive Vice President

Toshiaki Matsuura
Joined KDDI in 2006. He is engaged 
in business strategy formulation for 
au and FTTH services and business 
and capital alliances with partners.
Since 2020, he has promoted the 
launch of MaaS business, and in 
2022, he was appointed as Executive 
Vice President of Community Mobility 
Inc., which was established as joint 
venture with WILLER, Inc.

Mobility services section
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Granular human flow data shows the path of each consumer 

Initiative (1) Promoting Solutions to Social Issues Using AI and Analyses of Human Flow

In recent years, several social issues have emerged 
that need to be solved, such as promoting smart 
cities, achieving carbon neutrality, economic recovery 
from COVID-19, and enabling MaaS businesses. In 
June 2022, KDDI together with Mitsui & Co., Ltd., 
announced the establishment of GEOTRA Co., LTD, 
a new company created to promote City DX in June 
2022. We believe that there are social issues that can 
be solved by “the ability to accurately monitor 
people’s activities” and we will accelerate the resolu-
tion of various social issues by providing platform and 
analysis services that utilize AI, location data from au, 
and other big data to understand and predict the 
means, time, and purpose of people’s movements. 

Initiative (2) Decentralized Urban Development to Create New Ways of Working and Living

In collaboration with East Japan Railway Company, we are 
working on a new type of decentralized urban development in 
which the core city in the urban area and satellite cities in the 
suburbs and rural areas function together, rather than concen-
trating essential functions in a single location, to create a rich 
lifestyle unrestricted by time or place post-COVID-19. The 

Shinagawa Development Project, which is developing the core 
city, is integrating transportation and telecommunications to 
create a cutting-edge communications infrastructure and service 
platform (urban OS), developing satellite cities as distributed 
hubs, and promoting the development of mobility services in and 
around the core city.

Solving Issues in Cities and Rural Areas 
through City DX
With the spread of COVID-19, City DX is attracting more and more attention. KDDI is supporting the promotion of 
smart cities, which aim to solve problems in transportation, work life, administration, logistics, environment, and 
energy and realize better living conditions with telecommunications. 

Case Studies
• �Conducted a personal activity analysis for Mitsubishi Estate Co., Ltd. to determine the amount of CO2 emissions 

in the Marunouchi area of Tokyo to achieve carbon neutrality and to enhance the attractiveness of the area.

• �Analyzed the mobility characteristics of Shibuya City, Tokyo, and made the results available to the public via 
a dashboard.

Satellite cities and decentralized workplaces will be developed around cities and throughout Japan as decentralized bases in the “Space Freedom Project,” and services integrating 
transportation, telecommunication, and city services will be considered.

Project examples: Space Freedom Workplace and Bullet Train Workplace 

Space 
Freedom 

Workplace 

Bullet Train 
Workplace 

Part 2  Power to Connect x Building Communities
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The Borderless Society Brought 
about by the Urban-Linked 
Metaverse Overcomes Divisions and 
Connects People
The metaverse is a concept attractive to a large 
number of people. While the global pandemic has 
restricted various economic, cultural, and other 
activities, KDDI is using cutting-edge technology 
to create platforms that create new urban 
experiences and connect people and cultures. 

The metaverse is a 3D virtual 
space service on the Internet that 
is experienced by avatars. Its 
market size is projected to reach 
78,870.5 billion yen by 2030. 

Global Metaverse Market Size Forecast

KDDI’s Urban-Linked Metaverse Functionally and 
Economically Links Real Cities and Virtual Spaces
KDDI is working with local governments to expand opportunities to disseminate the at-
tractions of real cities to the rest of Japan and abroad through the dissemination of the 
“urban-linked metaverse” to revitalize local communities and economies while also creat-
ing a place to transmit, experience, and share entertainment without close contact 
against the background of COVID-19. 

Virtual Shibuya, which launched in May 2020 in collaboration with Shibuya City, To-
kyo, hosts live performances, public exhibitions, and other virtual events in collaboration 
with diverse companies, artists, and users, including start-ups. With a total attendance of 
approximately 1 million people, the platform provides a place where people can gather 
and create valuable experiences from their own homes with content that utilizes cut-
ting-edge technology. The platform also contributes to the development of Shibuya by 
selling special goods at events and giving all profits from the sales back to Shibuya City. 

Number of participating users: Total

Over1million

Virtual Shibuya is a delivery platform authorized by Shibuya 
City. It is available for smartphones, PCs, and VR goggles. 

20302021

Source: Information and 
Communications in Japan
WHITE PAPER 2022 (Ministry of 
Internal Affairs and 
Communications)

78,870.5 billion yen

4,264.0 billion yen

Urban-Linked 
Metaverse

Companies Municipali-
ties, etc.

Customer

Part 3  Power to Connect x Entertainment
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“Equality” in a Virtual Space, Free From Time, Geographical, 
and Physical Limitations

Linking Virtual and Real Life to Enrich Communication

At the Virtual Shibuya au 5G Halloween Fest 2021, an event held on 
Virtual Shibuya in October 2021, Metajob!, provided by Moon Creative 
Lab Inc., was introduced. This demonstrated a new possibility in the 
metaverse where it enables people who live far away from the Shibuya 
area or who for health reasons find it difficult to serve customers in 
person to work in their avatar form. 

KDDI will continue to accelerate the fusion of the real and virtual 
worlds by combining the latest telecommunications technology with 
entertainment in collaboration with local governments, companies, 
users, and society as a whole to realize a society in which everyone can 
play an active role. 

Scan yourself and enjoy virtual space with a realistic avatar.

* �A platform developed by Pocket RD Inc. that allows you to automatically 
generate your own avatar. 

Machico, a voice actress who performs karaoke in Shibuya and as an avatar 
in the virtual world synchronize their performances. 

* �“JOYSOUND Presents Machico’s New Sensation of Solo Virtual Karaoke 
LIVE” held at the Virtual Shibuya au 5G Halloween festival 2021 in collabo-
ration with JOYSOUND.

AVATARIUM* Virtual Karaoke*

Metajob! offers part-time jobs using avatars in the virtual space.

Rich self-
expression

Share the 
experience

Creating 
new 

ways of 
working

KDDI

Metaverse

Social Issues

A Place Where Everyone Can 
Play an Active Role in Society 
Regardless of Gender, Age, 
and Disability, Etc.

Part 3  Power to Connect x Entertainment

Metaverse Expected to Solve Social Issues
■ � �Creation of communities unrestricted by time 

and place 
■ � �Providing opportunities for self-expression and 

places where everyone can express themselves

■ � �Dissemination of urban attractions and  
regional revitalization 

■    Continuation of cultural and economic activities 
against the background of COVID-19 
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 Why is KDDI Emphasizing “Linkage with Cities” and 

 “UGC (User-Generated Content)” in the Metaverse? 

Originally, we did not create Virtual Shibuya to create a 
metaverse. Initially, we offered experimental AR/MR-based ser-
vices and content to visitors in the city, but we had to cancel the 
program due to the COVID-19 pandemic. During lockdowns, it 
was no longer possible to visit the city or share the same space 
with others, something that had previously been taken for grant-
ed. Therefore, we changed the concept of Virtual Shibuya to 
provide a platform for people to gather virtually at the “Shibuya 
Scramble Crossing,” a place known throughout Japan, and 
“share the same time” through events and other activities. In 
other words, from the beginning, we have emphasized the im-
portance of linking Virtual Shibuya with real cities. 

Also, if we assume that a metaverse is like a city created on 
the Internet where people gather, it is the people that they 
should play principal roles and there is no different from a real 
world city. The platform operator must provide an environment in 
which the people who have gathered can create content and 
provide it to other users rather than unilaterally providing the 
content they can experience in the city. UGC is important for the 
people who gather to exercise their creativity and engage in the 
development of the metaverse urban community. 

We believe that through the creative activities of the resi-
dents of the urban-linked metaverse, the “character” of the inter-
locking cities will become apparent in the urban-linked 
metaverse. The content generated here will be fed back to the 
real city and the shape of the city will change. Our aim is to cre-
ate a model that evolves the city itself. 

 What is the Aim and Purpose of the Virtualcity Consortium? 

In the urban-linked metaverse (hereafter referred to as the “virtu-
al city”), we aim to create a new city where the real city and vir-
tual space are linked and develop together. To this end, in order 
to develop virtual city and to exercise people’s creativity, it was 
necessary to create a framework for solving issues, such as 
organizing the rights of stakeholders and establishing compli-
ance guidelines, and rules to facilitate the exercise of creativity, 
from both perspectives of the virtual city and the real city. 

Thus, when we began developing Virtual Shibuya, we also 
considered legal risks and discussed the project with the local 
government, related companies, and local stakeholders to iden-
tify how to link the project with the city.  

In November 2021, we launched the Virtualcity Consortium 
to create a common understanding of the project among inter-
ested parties based on the knowledge gained from our activities 
and to compile guidelines that other local governments and 
metaverse-related businesses can use as a reference. The Virtual 
City Guidelines were published in April 2022 and attracted a 
great deal of attention. 

 How does the Metaverse Change Society? 

We believe that metaverses will expand the sphere in which 
people live. If we can exercise our creativity in a metaverse, I 
think that we will be able to not only communicate and experi-
ence entertainment but also make a living in this domain. As 
activities in a metaverse are fed back to the real city, the eco-
nomic zone of the real city can also be expanded. Ultimately, I 
would be happy if the urban-linked metaverse became a place 
that people want to visit daily. 

 Future Prospects of the Metaverse 

From the customer’s point of view, it is not important who the 
provider is or where the platform is located. Even if metaverse 
worlds are created for each company or IP in the future, the ideal 
situation would not be for any one company to monopolize the 
entire metaverse market but for everyone to be able to come and 
go freely between each world and for those who are active there 
to work together with the platformers to create new worlds. 

To realize such a vision, interoperability between different 
platforms is important. We believe that the functions and experi-
ences of the metaverse will gradually converge, although at this 
stage it is still a matter of trial and error for each company. Be-
yond the convergence, we must realize a world where people 
can freely and securely move between various worlds while re-
taining their digital identities, avatars, items, etc. For this pur-
pose, we intend not only to develop the au version of the 
metaverse but also to actively work on the development of the 
environment, such as connections with other platforms and 
rules. 

Part 3  Power to Connect x Entertainment

What Happens
When We are “Connected”?

Metaverse section

Business Exploration &
Development Division
LX Strategy Department &
Web3 Business Development Office
Metaverse Business Planning Team 
Leader

Haruku Kawamoto
After joining KDDI in 2018, Mr. Kawamoto 
has been engaged in 5G-related service 
development work and investment collabora-
tions with domestic and overseas venture 
companies. Senior Virtual Reality Specialist. 
He has been a project lecturer at the Gradu-
ate School of Media and Governance at Keio 
University since 2020. 
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Responding to New Threats That Are Becoming More 
Sophisticated and Complex Every Day 
As DX advances and digital technology permeates every corner of 
society, the role of telecommunications is becoming increasingly 
important. KDDI strives to ensure information security to provide 
stable communication services at all times as part of our duties as 
a telecommunications carrier responsible for important lifelines. 

To protect telecommunications facilities from the threat of 
cyberattacks, such as unauthorized access, tampering, and 
targeted attacks, professionally trained security engineers conduct 
monitoring 24 hours a day, 365 days a year. Dangerous incidents 
such as unauthorized access and tampering are detected in real 

time and KDDI-CSIRT* and related departments within the com-
pany work together and cooperate to respond promptly. 

Additionally, we are constantly evolving our response to new 
threats, which are becoming more sophisticated and complex 
every day by developing technologies to automate cyberattack 
analysis and monitoring using AI and collecting and analyzing 
vulnerability information and attack trends in cooperation with 
CSIRT organizations in Japan and overseas. 
* �KDDI Computer Security Incident Response Team: An organization dedicated to 

responding to company-wide security incidents.

Support the Realization of 
Society 5.0 With Robust 
Information Security
As society becomes increasingly digitalized through 5G and IoT, addressing 
security risks is growing in importance. KDDI is committed to enhancing 
information security and making continual improvements to ensure the safe use 
of telecommunication services, which are an indispensable part of our daily lives. 

Reducing Information Security Risks 
KDDI has established the Information Security Committee to ensure 
information security throughout the Group and is working to formu-
late security measures in the management of all information assets, 
prevent information leaks from the company, and implement com-
pany-wide measures to prevent unauthorized access from external 
networks. The Committee is incorporated into the corporate gover-
nance structure for the risk management of the entire company and 
operates under a company-wide organizational structure. 

For Group companies, KDDI has established security standards 
common to the KDDI Group and applies them to all Group compa-
nies. Additionally, KDDI and Group companies hold regular Informa-
tion Security Promoter Meetings to manage all information assets 
and strengthen management measures, and the entire Group works 
to reduce security risks. 

Furthermore, to eliminate information security incidents, we are 
implementing reinforcement measures in each department to improve 
the information security awareness of executives and employees. 

KDDI will continue to make every effort to ensure information 
security so that the telecommunications infrastructure, which is the 
foundation of all industries and our daily lives, can be used with 
peace of mind. We will also support efforts to solve various social 
issues such as regional development, work style reform, education, 
and medical care through telecommunications and help realize 
“Society 5.0,” a new society that balances economic development 
and the resolution of social issues. 

For Secure Use of “Power to Connect”Part 3  Power to Connect x Entertainment

Information Sharing Agencies and 
Organizations External reporting contact

Customer

Nippon CSIRT Association (NCA)

Each company’s CSIRT
Related ministries and agencies

Press

KDDI

Top management

Related departments

Japan Computer Emergency Response 
Team Coordination Center (JPCERT/CC)

National center of Incident readiness 
and Strategy for Cybersecurity (NISC)

Share Share 
information information 

and and 
know-howknow-how

Contact Contact 
point and point and 
contact contact 

response in response in 
the event of the event of 
an incidentan incident

CSIRT Contact point 

Escalation and information sharingEscalation and information sharing

Communicate/ShareCommunicate/Share

Serious Information Security Incidents (2018-2021)

0

Suspension of 
telecommunications 

services due to 
external cyberattacks

0

Leakage of personal 
data due to external 

cyberattacks

0

Divulgation of 
personal data
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Major Capitals 
in the KDDI Group’s 
Business Activities

      Human Capital

• �Professional human resources  

for telecommunications x non- 

telecommunications (LX/DX)

• �Career development for professional  

human resources

      Social and Relationship Capital

• �A strong customer base and  

customer contact

• ��Brand strength

• ��Partnerships for co-creation

      Manufactured Capital

• �High-quality telecommunications  

infrastructure

• �Disaster response

• ��5G area development with an emphasis  

on places frequented by customers

      Intellectual Capital

• �Technological innovation  

by research institute

      Natural Capital

• ���Electricity use

      Financial Capital

• �Stable financial base

Reinvestment of capital, optimal allocation of management

Satellite Growth Strategy

5G-driven evolution of the telecommunications business 5G-driven evolution of the telecommunications business 
and expansion of focus areas with telecommunications and expansion of focus areas with telecommunications 
at the core at the core →P15, 35

INPUT

Explore the extraordinary

KDDI Value Creation Model

The creation of a society in whichThe creation of a society in which
anyone can make their dreams a reality,anyone can make their dreams a reality,
by enhancing the power to connect.by enhancing the power to connect.
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Provide Value That Contributes to the Social 
Impact and Related Sustainability Goals

Advancement of Professional Human Resources 
and Engagement Improvement →P77

DX basic skill acquisition all employees over 11,000 
(non-consolidated, FY25.3 targets)

Molding Future Society →P51

Number of Business creations, R&D, AI, and initiatives of advanced 

security technology based on satellite growth strategy 75 
(cumulative total of FY23.3-FY25.3 targets)

Realization of Sustainable Industrial/ 
Infrastructure Environment →P55

Contributing to the 5G population coverage government target of 

95% (FY24.3)
IoT Connections 44 million (FY25.3 targets)

Regional Co-Creation and Eliminate the Divide →P59

Number of people supported by our local divide mitigation 

projects: 15 million (cumulative total of FY23.3-FY25.3 targets)

Transaction Volume of Settlement/Loan by eliminating financial 

divides: 16.3 trillion yen (FY25.3 targets)

Respect for Human Rights →P73

Respect for human rights in all business activities

Eliminating Regional and Economic Disparities 
Globally →P63

Carbon Neutral →P67

Fiscal 2026 (data centers)  Fiscal 2030 (KDDI non-consolidated)

Fiscal 2050 (KDDI Group)

resources, and circulation to our corporate brand value

Relationship Between New Materiality and 
KDDI Sustainable Action →P49

25 Sustainability Goals →P47

OUTCOME

      Human Capital
Leveraging the power of diverse professionals and 
enhancing engagement 
Percentage of professional human resources ratio in special-
ized fields 30% (FY25.3 Targets)
Percentage of females in managerial positions (KDDI non-con-
solidated) 15% or over (FY25.3 Targets)

      Manufactured Capital
Technological innovation in infrastructure 

 Building infrastructure that will serve as the foundation for 
new social infrastructures

 Providing a reliable and resilient network based on new 
technology

 Interruption of communications due to disasters or 
equipment failure or for operational reasons →P17

      Natural Capital
Environmental impact of business activities and efforts to 
reduce the impact →P67

 Utilization of energy conservation and renewable energy 
 Environmental impact of CO2 emissions

      Intellectual Capital
Strengthen intellectual property →P97

Number of patents owned in areas related to 5G, beyond 5G 
and satellite year on year grew 20% (FY23.3-FY25.3 targets)

      Financial Capital
Generate cash flow for both investment in growth and 
shareholder returns

      Social and Relationship Capital
Strengthen relationships and co-creation activities with 
our customers and partners
Number of startups supported approx. 300 (FY22.3)

Attain first place in the ranking of innovative large companies chosen 
by startups for the fifth consecutive year

Strengthen cyber security and respect human rights in the 
supply chain
Provide safe and secure telecommunications and 
services

 Security measures initiatives, smartphone classes, etc. to 
eliminate the divide, and research to improve smartphone 
dependence

 Increase in cybercrime and smartphone addicts, and the 
widening of the divide

Impact of Business Activities on
Financial and Non-Financial Capital

 OUTPUT that leads to a negative impact

OUTPUT
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お客さまの生活動線に沿ったエリア

データトラフィックが大きいエリアを
分析・予測し、効率的に構築

全国エリアカバー

デジタル田園都市国家構想の
5G人口カバー率目標（24.3期95％）に貢献

山間部 離島地域

スペースX社とのパートナリングで
不感地対策も推進

商業地域 鉄道・新幹線 高速道路

5Gエリア構築
生活動線に沿って強化、全国エリアカバーも政府目標に貢献

お客さまの生活動線に沿ったエリア

データトラフィックが大きいエリアを
分析・予測し、効率的に構築

全国エリアカバー

デジタル田園都市国家構想の
5G人口カバー率目標（24.3期95％）に貢献

山間部 離島地域

スペースX社とのパートナリングで
不感地対策も推進

商業地域 鉄道・新幹線 高速道路

5Gエリア構築
生活動線に沿って強化、全国エリアカバーも政府目標に貢献

Expanding the Areas and Providing New Value
To develop areas that will serve 5G, we will expand 
in areas where people are likely to go to on a daily 
basis to enable more customers to enjoy 5G com-
fortably. By improving area coverage across Japan, 
we will also contribute to targets by the govern-
ment’s Vision for a Digital Garden City Nation. In 5G, 
arenas to bring about new value will expand with 
full-scale of Stand-Alone (SA) development. Network 
slicing will bring steady communication for each use 
case and openness and virtualization will also 
advance network operations. We have been behind 
other nations in terms of 5G deployment, but now 
we will proactively introduce 5G as well as its usage 
scenes with an eye to the times beyond 5G.

Satellite Growth Strategy and Strengthening 
of Management (Non-Financial)

5G Communications

5G SA Application Examples

“Entertainment experiences everywhere”
Co-creating through network slicing

5G SA活用事例

5G NSA

20.3期～ 22.3期～

5G SA Beyond 5G

オープン化・仮想化
ネットワークスライスを活用し

「どこでもエンタメ体験」を共創

5Gテクノロジーの進化
5G SAの本格化とともに新たな価値提供の場が拡大

NSA: Non-Standalone,  SA: Standalone

ネットワークスライス

Participate in events from satellite sites

Video streaming anywhere

Live transmission 

Dedicated slices

Video Streaming

Dedicated slices Game Streaming

Dedicated slices

Live transmission 

Dedicated slices

Event VR viewing at home

Game streaming on the go

* VPP(Virtual Power Plant): Using ICT and other technologies to control decentralized solar power, storage batteries and other energy sources like they are one power plant

Framework Organization for the New Mid-Term Management Strategy and Key Themes

In the new mid-term strategy, we named business strate-
gies “Satellite Growth Strategy.” Putting 5G, which is set 
to expand full-scale, at the center of the strategies, we 
will advance our telecommunication business and focus 
areas with telecommunication at the center. 

For 5G that will drive growth, we will aim to “blend in” 
telecommunications to every scene to bring about an era 
that provides new value with diverse partners. Defining 
the following five domains as focus areas— (1) DX (digital 
transformation), (2) Finance, (3) Energy, (4) LX (life trans-
formation), and (5) Regional co-creation (CATV, etc) —we 
will accelerate the growth of the new domains, generat-
ing synergies with telecommunication at the center. 

In the era of blended telecommunications, KDDI aims to achieve new 
growth by leveraging our strengths in the field of 5G as well as the 
know-how and partnering we have cultivated over the years to deepen 
our existing businesses and maximize synergies in related businesses.

In DX, we will utilize group assets mainly through 5G, aiming for a 
positive cycle of our businesses transforming people’s lives. 

In finance, we will launch B-to-B-to-X businesses by providing 
platform services, and in energy, VPP* businesses and so forth based 
on data utilization. In LX, with the hope of transforming lifestyles as 
the next step of Life Design, we will transform people’s experiences 
and activities in daily life by promoting 5G penetration and advancing 
technologies, while for regional co-creation, we will work on solving 
the digital divide problem.

Satellite Growth Strategy 
Centered on 5G

Key Theme

1
Expanding Growth Areas Centered 
on Telecommunications through 
Partnering and Technology

Key Theme

2

5G NSA

FY22.3~FY20.3~

5G SA Beyond 5G

Network slicing

Openness and Virtualization

5G Area Construction

Evolution of 5G Technology

New value opportunities expand with full-scale 5G SA

Reinforcing customers’ lifeline and nationwide coverage also contributes to government targets

Areas along the customer’s lifeline Nationwide coverage

Areas with high data traffic: analyze, predict and build efficiently Contributing to the 5G population coverage target (95% by FY24.3)
under the Vision for a Digital Garden City Nation 

Mountainous
regionsCommercial

districts Bullet train Expressways

Isolated
island areas

Partnering with SpaceX 
promoting measures to prevent blind spots

Connecting more 
and always with au

Sony Corporation

©CAPCOM CO., LTD. 2016, 
2020 ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.
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高精細な映像体験 リアルタイムなサービス体験

ARPUの最大化
パートナリングによるサービス拡充と5Gならではの体験提供

FY22.3 FY23.3 FY24.3 FY25.3

Plan to increase 
by FY25.3 versus FY22.3
Moreover, aiming faster 
rebound

Goal: 80% by FY25.3 

Operating Income 

FY22.3 FY25.3

Aim for 
double-digit 
CAGR growth

NEXT 
Core

FY22.3 FY25.3 

Aiming for about 
20% over KDDI 
Group Consoli-
dated Operating 
Profit 

Double-
digit CAGR 

growth

Overall Business Services segment 
Double-digit CAGR growth

FY22.3

5G

FY23.3 FY24.3 FY25.3

80.080.0%%

33.033.0%%

Targets in Focus Areas (DX, Finance, Energy,  Life Transformation, and Regional Co-Creation) and  
Initiatives in Each Area

DX
The center of the growth for the focus areas is the 
Corporate Business of DX. In the NEXT Core 
business, we will aim for double-digit growth in 
sales CAGR, making the Business Services 
segment the second pillar of growth after tele-
communication, raising its operating income 
CAGR by double digits and making it account to 
about 20% of our group’s consolidated operating 
income. To do that, we will capitalize on our 
strengths and advance the optimized operational 
and maintenance management developed over 
the years with our global partners when telecom-
munication will reach every corner of society, and 
will provide new value with our partners through 
5G and DX. 

In the future, we will combine our extensive 
assets such as ID management, payment, and 
data analysis developed through our telecommu-
nication operations and consumer businesses, 
with guaranteed bandwidth based on 5G network 
slicing, proposing solution cases that tailored to 
each industry, to accelerate the DX of our corpo-
rate customers. We will also launch successful 
domestic DX models worldwide, based on our 
sales structure that unites our domestic and 
global sales prowess.

Increase of Multi-Brand 
Communications ARPU Revenues
Regarding 5G penetration, we aim to achieve a 
mid-term target of 80%, and multi-brand 
communications ARPU revenues are expected 
to increase in FY25.3 compared to FY22.3. To 
maximize ARPU, we will also expand services 
through partnering, which is our strength, and 
provide experiences that are unique to 5G. We 
will provide leading entertainment services 
with worry-free unlimited data usage without 
anxiety super-definition videos and real-time 
services.

Maximize ARPU

Expand services to provide unique 5G experiences through partnering

5G Penetration 
* Personal Services segment basis

Operating Revenue 

Multi-Brand Communications ARPU Revenues 
* Personal Services segment basis

DX Promotion 
NEXT Core business drives business growth

High-definition video experience Real-time service experience

Accelerate DX of Customer Companies 

Aiming to provide industry-specific platforms that support business creation

お客さま企業のDXを加速
ビジネス創造をサポートする業界毎のプラットフォーム提供を目指す

Automotive 
industry

Self-driving cars

Telecommunica-
tions

Charging and 
billing Location dataID and 

authentication Settlement Data analysis, 
etc.

Railroad 
industry

Image transmission

Energy 
industry

Drone inspection

Construction 
and Real Estate 

industry

Partners

Network slicing

5G Platform

Simulation of human flow

Media industry

Viewing analysis

Examples
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金融クロスユース
金融グループ内の幅広い金融機能の連携を推進

Financial Cross-Use

Collaboration of a wide range of financial functions within the Group

Increase customer engagement

ライフネット生命
LIFENET INSURANCE COMPANY

Growth of financial companies and promotion of cross-use

Customers using telecom services

 au Collective Interest Rates

0.05% per year

0.05% per year

0.099% per year

Normal 0.001% per annum

With au PAY
account linkage

With au PAY Card
by direct debit

au Money Connect
in the settings

Examples of Cross-Use

au Jibun Bank

Max.

0.2% per year
Yen Savings 
Deposit
Preferential
interest rate

Credit card

au Insurance Company

au Asset Managementau Kabucom Securities

au Jibun Bank

Finance
In the finance business, we will achieve double-digit growth in operating revenue and operating income CAGR, mostly through growth 
drivers including home mortgages and the number of credit card members, while interlinking wide-ranging features and services from the 
finance group, and encourage customers’ use of these services and functions across different channels. In the future, we will launch 
B-to-B-to-X services by providing platforms for au Financial Group’s Banking as a Service (BaaS) to non-financial business operators, to 
make BaaS accessible for customers, employees and store operators beyond, expanding our business domains. Just as in telecommuni-
cation, we will aim to provide new added value by integrating financial services into all types of services.

Energy
In the energy business, we will aim for double-digit growth of operating revenue CAGR in mid-term through steadying income and expand-
ing the customer base. We will also launch new carbon-neutrality-related businesses. We will look to providing renewable energy, strength-
ening our prowess to adjust supply-demand to address the fluctuations in the supply-demand balance arising out of the growth of renew-
able energy, advancing our VPP business.

カーボンニュートラル関連事業
事業を通じて社会のカーボンニュートラルへ貢献

Carbon Neutral-Related Business

Contributing to society’s carbon neutrality through business

Solar power

Storage batteries

Home generators

Renewable energy

EVs

Growing instability in the
supply and demand balance

due to the expansion
of renewable energy

Optimal control
VPP

Enhancing our ability
to adjust supply and demand

by promoting
the VPP business

Renewable Energy Generation Supply and Demand Adjustment to Support the Expansion of Renewable Energy

Promoting initiatives to expand the VPP business,
such as installing storage batteries

Solar panels installed on base stations, etc. 
Further expansion with partners

Lighting Air 
conditioning

Satellite Growth Strategy and Strengthening of Management (Non-Financial)
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LX
In order to create future-oriented business models, we will 
focus on LX Technologies from the consumer’s perspective, 
and we will bring innovation to diversifying consumption 
and experience behavior and create the exciting future 
society in LX.

For the metaverse, towards the Web3.0 era in which 
users can directly own and share contents with each other, 
we aim to revitalize local communities and economies and 
will create spaces where everyone can express themselves 
through virtual cities, which are urban-linked metaverse in 
collaboration with local governments. For the satellite 
telecommunications, SpaceX’s Starlink satellite telecommu-
nication service will provide high-speed telecommunications 
everywhere, providing city-level telecommunications quality 
even in mountainous areas and isolated islands. For the 
drones, we will develop smart drones equipped with mobile 
telecommunications and operation management systems, 
and we will contribute to the creation of new experiences 
for the future society by accumulating advanced demon-
stration experiments and introduction cases.

Regional co-creation
We will deal with problems in regional communities and create together with the communities. We will work on eliminating a total of 15 
million digital-divide cases in mid-term.

Value Creation by LX 

Technological
evolution
such as 
Blockchain
and NFTs

Co-creating optimal mobility with local residents

Creating a foundation for 
regional DX

“Digitizing the Entire Village”

Life Transformation (LX)
Promoting research of technological areas centered on

consumer perspectives to create future-oriented business models

Life Transformation (LX)

Realization of regional co-creation

LX Technologies

Advanced technologies of the Beyond-5G/6G era

A technological area that offers new lifestyles geared toward 2030

Offering diverse value Promoting digitalization Using the latest technologies

Mid-term cumulative total of 15 million people eliminated disparity

Network Security Spatial recognition 
and visual analysis AI

Ultra high-speed,
ultra multi-connection,

ultra low-latency
telecommunications 

environment

Safety and security 
through

robust and ultra 
high-speed

encrypted technologies

Ultra realistic 
experiences

Trust through
ultra sophisticated

AI technologies

Web3.0/NFT

Accelerating initiatives aimed at the autonomous and decentralized Web3.0 era

Metaverse

On-demand transportation Smartphone classes

Develop platform services to provide new value of Web3.0 era

Web2.0 (Centralized)

Platform type

Web3.0
(autonomous and decentralized)

Community
C2C

Enabling direct content ownership and sharing through users
(creator economy and fan communities, etc.)

Local business and venture support mechanisms

Funding Hands-on
management support

DX Human
Resource Education

Smartphone
classes Municipality DX Smart agriculture

CATV Eliminating
financial divides

Supporting
regional education

On-demand
transportation

Assistance in 
returning

driver’s license

Elimination of
mobility anxiety

Childcare 
Support

Case Study Hidaka Village
Kochi Prefecture

New 
interactive 

communication
with avatars

A new digital 
economy 

comparable to the 
real economy

Open 
environment 

for creation led
 by creators

Creating spaces where anyone can express themselves
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Carbon-Neutral

Human Resource

KDDI alone aims to achieve net-zero CO2 emissions in our business activities by fiscal 2030. In addition, we aim to achieve net-zero CO2 
emissions at our data centers worldwide under the TELEHOUSE brand by fiscal 2026. Furthermore, the KDDI Group as a whole aims to 
achieve net-zero CO2 emissions by fiscal 2050. 

To achieve these goals, we will promote infrastructure sharing, efficiently construct 5G areas, and save energy by utilizing base station AI 
control, submerged liquid cooling for data centers, etc. 

Also, KDDI has established au Energy Holdings Corporation as of July 1, 2022. We will work strategically and aggressively to switch to the 
use of renewable energy sources and contribute to the realization of domestic decarbonization throughout the KDDI Group as a whole.

We will promote our transformation into a company that puts human resources first by advancing to the next phase of our unified 
three-part reform of work styles, the KDDI Version Job Style Personnel System and internal DX, and workstyle reforms. 

To further promote the development of highly specialized human resources, we will develop professionals and improve all employ-
ees’ DX skills through “KDDI DX University,” shifting personnel to focus areas. 

By expanding DX human resources, we will create new businesses in collaboration with customers and partners, and promote our 
own business transformation. 

KDDI will accelerate the resolution of social issues and business transformation by creating new businesses and strengthening 
non-telecommunications businesses by utilizing 5G and promoting DX, continuously connecting with customers and society and 
generating added value based on telecommunications.

We will aim for the continuous growth of society and advance corporate value together with our partners by driving our busi-
ness strategies and strengthening our management base to support them. Here we introduce our efforts to strengthen our 
management base.

Strengthen our management base

To achieve the target

Carbon Neutral Goal Energy Conservation Efforts

3G Suspension
→ 5G Transition

Equipment Sharing

Energy Conservation Efforts

Base Station
AI Control

Submerged Liquid Cooling
for Data Centers

Switching to Renewable Energy

Acceleration

FY2030 FY2050FY2026

Efficient 5G area 
construction

Promotion of 
infrastructure sharing

AI-based
power consumption control

Reduced power consumption
by technologyData centers

carbon neutral

KDDI
(non-consolidated)

carbon neutral

KDDI Group
carbon neutral

Satellite Growth Strategy and Strengthening of Management (Non-Financial)

Obtained SBT certification by 
KDDI Group (February 2022)
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The KDDI Group has established the “KDDI Group Human Rights Policy,” recognizing that all business activities are based on respect 
for human rights. In order to further accelerate our efforts to fulfill our responsibility to respect human rights, we revised the KDDI Group 
Human Rights Policy in October 2022.

Under the new materiality, we have set “Respect for Human Rights” as one of the values we embrace, and we respect human rights 
in all our business activities by complying with the KDDI Group Human Rights Policy. In accordance with the UN Guiding Principles on 
Business and Human Rights, we have also conducted human rights due diligence to identify the human rights issues that global com-
panies are expected to address, and reflect them when considering measures.

Regarding our Myanmar operations, we believe it is important to support the people of Myanmar with telecommunication services, 
which are indispensable to their daily lives, stimulate economic activity and will have a positive impact in terms of respect for human life. 
To this end, we are also in the process of human rights due diligence through a third-party professional organization and address the 
issue in accordance with international human rights norms. We will continue to assess human rights risks in our business operations.

We aim to save about 100 billion yen in cost efficiencies in the mid-term. Regarding technology-related areas, accelerating 5G roll-out 
to more areas, we will appropriately control our investment criteria, including by promoting the sharing of infrastructures and using 
advanced technologies. We will also work to transform our sales structure and improve the efficiency of our sales channels. 

We welcome more group companies and will 
diversify our businesses through the advance-
ment of the Satellite Growth Strategy. To 
achieve synergy and growth for the entire 
group, we will strengthen our CFO human 
resource development and support system. 
We will also strengthen our risk management 
system through shared services and the 
establishment of a monitoring system. Addi-
tionally, we will enhance information security 
by preparing for inter-group data linkage and a 
privacy governance system.

Respect for Human Rights

Cost Efficiency

Group Governance

Strengthening
the training and
support systems
for CFO human 

resources

Utilizing
shared services

Establishment
of a monitoring

system

Upgrading 
systems

for inter-Group
data 

connections

Upgrading
the privacy
governance 

system

Strengthened risk management and information security systems

Increase in the number of group companies and diversification of business in line with 
the promotion of the Satellite Growth Strategy

Strengthen risk management system Strengthening information security
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CFO Message

With Sustainability Management at the core, we will work with 
our partners to create a virtuous cycle for the sustainable growth 
of society and the enhancement of corporate value.

There is a growing interest in ESG initiatives in the stock 
market. Over the years, we have honed our non-financial 
strengths, including our disaster countermeasures and the KDDI 
Group Philosophy. We formulated our new material issues by 
mapping the issues raised in our new Mid-Term Management 
Strategy according to two axes: topics of interest to long-term 
investors and various other stakeholders, and our vision. As a 
result, the issues have been consolidated into six material 
issues. The major changes are: pursuit of innovation needed to 
transform our businesses, enhancement of human resources 
and governance in step with the diversification of our business-

In February 2022, we received certification of our CO2 reductions 
targets from the “Science Based Targets initiative (SBTi).” In April 
2021, we declared our support for the recommendations of the 
Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD).

“KDDI Sustainable Action,” our action plan for contributing to 
the SDGs, originally announced that it would aim to achieve 
net-zero CO2 emissions, but we have decided to move up this 
goal by 20 years and make our business operations carbon 
neutral by FY2030. In addition, we will endeavor to achieve 
net-zero CO2 emissions for all TELEHOUSE brand data centers 

es, and response to the international society’s growing concerns 
about climate change and other issues.

At the same time, we have defined for each materiality the 
“Values we embrace,” the different types of values we need to 
provide to society. We have also set 25 sustainability targets 
(KPIs) to work toward for each value to be provided. →P47

As interest in ESG rises, so do expectations for the visualiza-
tion of capital expenditures and non-financial capital. We will 
step up our efforts to disclose information closely related to our 
long-term strategy. Please also keep an eye on the innovation 
needed to implement the Satellite Growth Strategy, the enhance-
ment of management foundation that involves initiatives to 
transform us into a company that puts human resources first, 
and our progress toward the new sustainability targets.

around the world by FY2026, and for the entire KDDI Group by 
FY2050.

We will also respond to the growth of 5G traffic by developing 
technologies for conserving energy, such as demonstration testing 
of commercial fuel cells, and for balancing base station output 
through the use of AI-driven usage monitoring. In addition to our 
suspension of 3G services at the end of March 2022, we will seek 
to achieve further reductions of power consumption sharing 
infrastructure, adopting various energy-saving technologies, and 
switching to renewable energy. 

Creating a Virtuous Cycle Underpinned by Sustainability Management

Accelerating Our Initiatives toward Carbon Neutrality

We will aim to achieve the sustainable 
growth of society and the enhancement 
of corporate value together with our 
partners by promoting our Satellite 
Growth Strategy and strengthening the 
underlying management base

Executive Vice President, 
Representative Director
Executive Director, Corporate Sector

Shinichi Muramoto
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We consider human resources to be our greatest resource. With 
the aim of transforming KDDI into a “Human Resources First 
Company” that places the development and enhancement of 
human resources at the core of its management, KDDI is pro-
moting the three pillars of “introduction of KDDI Version Job 
Style Personnel System,” “realization of the KDDI New Working 
Style Declaration,” and “promotion of internal DX,” and will 
evolve our unified three-part reform initiatives into Phase 2.

Moreover, we have defined our transformation into a compa-
ny that puts human resources first as a new materiality. We will 
leverage a diverse pool of sophisticated professionals and 

cultivate a culture that embraces challenges so that we can 
further produce innovation and contribute to the sustainable 
growth of society.  

As a specific target, we will work to raise the professional 
human resources ratio in both established business domains 
and new ones (non-telecommunication businesses, etc.) to at 
least 30% by FY25.3. Also, we will use KDDI DX University to 
enhance the DX skills of all KDDI employees and to train DX 
professionals. We will then shift DX talent to focus areas, and 
expand basic DX skills training across the KDDI Group.

Transforming into a Company That Puts Human Resources First, and Promoting DX 

Transforming into a Company that Puts Human Resources First

Evolving our unified three-part reform initiatives into Phase2

Phase 2
Mid-Term Management Strategy 

(FY23.3-FY25.3)
Phase 1

Introducing the KDDI Version Job  
Style Personnel System

Diverse human resource vitalization and
D&I through HR system1

Full-scale start of DX personnel training
(establishing KDDI DX University)

Improvement of DX skills of all employees and 
development of professional human resource2

Upgrading the foundation  
for the new normal

New work styles to enhance engagement3

Roadmap 
Toward 
Net-Zero CO2 
Emissions

Office

FY22.3

1,090,000
CO2 Emissions 

(t-CO2)

1,000,000

0

CO2 emissions 
associated with 
telecommunication 
equipments power 
consumption

Mobile phone base
stations & data 
centers 

FY2030 KDDI 
(non-consolidated) 

carbon neutral Reduction through energy-
saving measures & switching 
to renewable energy
* �Energy-saving measures: 3G service 

suspension, facility sharing, adoption of 
energy-saving technologies

FY2030 target FY2050

Shift forward 20 years 
from FY2050

Workstyle 
reforms

3

Internal DX

2

New
personnel 

system

1

* In-house human resources development organization launched in 2020

Professional Human Resources

Shifting essential personnel into focus areas

DX Human Resources

Penetration of KDDI Version Job Style Personnel System

In all specialized fields

Professional human resources ratio 30% 
(FY25.3 targets)

DX basic skill acquisition

All employees over 11,000

Expand to KDDI Group
(FY25.3 targets)

Human Resource Development

Maximizing organizational strengths to drive business strategy centered on DX

プロフェッショナル人財 DX人財

注力領域への要員シフト

KDDI版ジョブ型人事制度の浸透

全専門領域で
プロ人財比率30％ KDDIグループへ拡大

DX基礎スキル習得
全社員 11,000人超

※*

42KDDI  Integrated Sustainability and Financial Report 2022



Cost Efficiency

The KDDI Group has established the “KDDI Group Human Rights 
Policy,” recognizing that all business activities are based on respect 
for human rights. In order to further accelerate our efforts to fulfill 
our responsibility to respect human rights, we revised the KDDI 
Group Human Rights Policy in October 2022. In our new materiality, 

We are striving for greater cost efficiency. On the technical side, 
where 3G service has been suspended and expansion of 5G 
service areas is being accelerated, we are practicing appropriate 
control of our investments, including by promoting infrastructure 
sharing and adopting advanced technologies. In commercial 
operations, we will seek mid-term cost efficiencies on the scale 
of 100 billion yen through actions such as transforming our sales 
system and streamlining sales channels. 

With regard to cash allocation, we will continue strengthen-
ing our investment in growth and shareholder returns to support 

we have positioned “respect for human rights” as one of the values 
to be provided. Going forward, we will continue adhering to the 
KDDI Group Human Rights Policy to ensure respect for human 
rights in all business activities and the performance of human rights 
due diligence across our global operations.

our sustainable growth. We will also work to attain operating CF 
(excluding financial business) flow on the level of 5 trillion yen 
over the mid-term. The operating CF produced will be preferen-
tially allocated to capital expenditures in 5G and focus areas, as 
well as strategic business investments, for a total investment of 
around 2 trillion yen. We will aim for shareholder returns of 
around 1.5 trillion yen in the mid-term by raising the dividend 
payout ratio over 40% and flexibly repurchasing shares in con-
sideration of factors such as growth investment performance.

Thoroughly Engraining Respect for Human Rights in KDDI Group Business Activities

Cost Efficiency and Cash Allocation

Goal: achieve cost efficiencies of 100 billion yen in mid-term

Risk 
identification/

Plan for 
improvement

Effectiveness 
verification

Audit & 
Improvement

Observing the KDDI Group Human Rights Policy Global Human Rights Due Diligence

• �Respect for human rights in all business activities
• �Avoid or reduce any negative impacts on human rights
• �Avoid involvement in infringement of human rights
• �Promote human rights enlightenment activities for all KDDI 

Group executives and employees, etc.

Respect for Human Rights

Thoroughly engraining respect for human rights in KDDI Group business activities

Technology

Appropriate control of investment

インフラ
シェアリング
の推進

先進技術
活用による
効率化

Promotion of 
infrastructure 

sharing

Efficiency
through

advanced 
technology

Marketing efficiency

Sales

Sales system 
transformation

Sales channels 
improving 
efficiency

CFO Message
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Shareholder returns, etc.

• �Dividend payout ratio over 40%

• �Conduct share repurchases in a flexible manner in consideration of 
status of investment for growth

1.5 trillion yen in mid-term

Operating CF (Excluding Financial Business) 5 trillion yen in mid-term

Capex 5G and Focused areas

1.3 trillion yen in mid-term

(Equivalent to approximately 70% of total consolidated Capex)

Strategic Business Investment

700 billion yen in mid-term

Cash Allocation Policy

Continue to strengthen investment in growth and shareholder returns for sustainable growth

Business 
growth

Business 
growth

Looking ahead, the world will likely continue to 
change with each passing moment, and with it the 
business environment will undergo tremendous 
changes as well. In order to successfully adapt to 
this fluid environment and realize the vision for our 
future, we will firmly engrain the KDDI Group Phi-
losophy—our unshakable cornerstone—as a mind-
set and code of conduct shared by management 
and employees alike. We will endeavor to strength-
en our management base through integrated man-
agement of our Group and efforts to reinforce our 
systems of risk management and information secu-
rity through synergy with a system of corporate 
governance that respects human rights and en-
sures transparency and fairness.

As we carry out the new three-year plan for 
transforming our business, we will guide our deci-
sions and actions with the valuable insights we gain 
from dialogue with our shareholders and investors.

In Conclusion
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New Materiality
Six Material Issues

We have mapped and summarized the issues to be addressed in the New Mid-Term Management Strategy based on the concerns of 
long-term investors and other multi-stakeholder groups and their impact on our business. The changes are in the areas of promoting 
innovation necessary for our business transformation, strengthening human resources and governance in line with the diversification of 
our business, and responding to the growing awareness of issues in the international community, such as climate change.

Process for Re-Identifying Material Issues

KDDI has revised the Material Issues related to sustainability in conjunction with the establishment of its New Mid-Term 
Management Strategy (FY23.3-FY25.3).

1. �Identify key issues based on the GRI requirements, international guidelines for sustainability information disclosure, 
and the requirements of ESG assessment for the information technology and telecommunications industry. 

2. �Priorities are set by scoring the “concerns of long-term investors and other multi-stakeholder groups (vertical axis)” 
and the “business impact (horizontal axis).”

3. �Identify six material issues that reflect the opinions of external experts collected through interviews.

4. �The Sustainability Committee and the Board of Directors deliberate on the appropriateness of the proposal and finalize it.

Eight Values We Embrace

Mid-term sustainability targets (FY23.3-FY25.3)

Molding 
future society

(1)
Realization of 
sustainable 
industrial/ 

infrastructure 
environment

(2)

Regional 
co-creation

(3)
Eliminating 

regional and 
economic 
disparities 

globally

(4)

Carbon 
neutral

(5)
Strengthening 

the management 
infrastructure of 

the entire 
KDDI Group

(6)

Respect for 
human 
rights

(7)
Advancement of 

professional 
human resources 
and engagement 

improvement

(8)

Six Material Issues

Carbon 
neutral

Human 
resources 

first

Strengthening the group 
management base through 

progressing governance

Realization of safe, 
secure, and 

prosperous society

Promotion of innovation 
centered on 

telecommunications

6 Advancing stakeholder engagement

1 2 3 4 5

45

Introduction     Vision     Material Issues    Governance     Data

New Materiality     Materiality 1     Materiality 2     Materiality 3     Materiality 4     Materiality 5     



Materiality 1  Promotion of Innovation Centered on Telecommunications
1-1 �Through Satellite Growth Strategy centered on communications, promote innovation 

that customers can experience in their daily lives and create a future society.

Materiality 2  Realization of Safe, Secure, and Prosperous Society
2-1 Leverage technological innovation to provide resilient infrastructure, realize eco-
nomic development, and a safe and secure society.
2-2 �Eliminate the digital divide by creating new value through DX. 

Materiality 3  Carbon Neutral
3-1 �Achieve the sustainable growth of society by promoting decarbonization and 

leaving a prosperous planet for the future. 
3-2 �Achieve carbon neutrality in the KDDI group by FY2050.

Materiality 4  Strengthening the Group Management Base Through Progressing Governance
4-1 �Ensuring customer privacy by building up strong data security. 
4-2 �Engage in thorough risk management. 
4-3 �Develop an effective and transparent governance structure. 
4-4 �Engage in thorough compliance. 
4-5 �Respect for human rights.
4-6 �Engage in fair and proactive information disclosure. 

4-7 �Promotion of sustainable procurement

Materiality 5  Human Resources First
5-1 �Pursue the well-being of our employees and promotion of diversity and inclusion. 
5-2 �Promote human resource development and career development. 
5-3 �Initiatives for health and productivity management. 

Materiality 6  Advancing Stakeholder Engagement
6-1 �Build strong relationships with all stakeholders, including employees, customers, 

distributors, suppliers, and shareholders.

Business impact More importantImportant

More important

C
oncerns of long-term

 investors and 
other m

ulti-stakeholder groups

KDDI’s intention

External perspective

4-1 1-1

6-1

5-1

3-1

2-1

2-2

4-2

5-2

4-5

4-6

4-7

5-3

4-3

4-4

3-2

Advancing Stakeholder Engagement6
Materiality

1
Materiality Promotion of Innovation Centered on Telecommunications

▼  Values We Embrace

(1) �Through Satellite Growth Strategy centered on communications, promote innovation that customers can experience 
in their daily lives and create a future society.

(2) �Realize a sustainable industrial/infrastructure environment by providing innovative solutions for communications and 
other social infrastructure/connected vehicles.

2
Materiality Realization of Safe, Secure, and Prosperous Society

▼   Values We Embrace

(3) �Realize regional co-creating by connecting people and regions together with DX centered on communication and 
solving information gaps and regional issues. 

(4) �Eliminate regional and economic disparities by contributing to local economic development through the maintaining 
and expanding of communications and peripheral services in emerging overseas countries.

3
Materiality Carbon Neutral

▼   Values We Embrace

(5) �In addition to achieving carbon neutrality in 2030*, we will provide customers with renewable electricity and  
contribute to solving the global climate change problem.  
* Scope1+2

4
Materiality Strengthening the Group Management Base Through Progressing Governance

▼   Values We Embrace

(6) �Create social and environmental value by establishing a strong management infrastructure through the strengthening 
of governance in the entire KDDI Group.

(7) �Respect human rights in all business activities, eradicate human rights violations in the supply chain, and contribute 
to the sustainable growth of society.

5
Materiality Human Resources First

▼  Values We Embrace

(8) �Create innovation and contribute to the sustainable growth of society by fostering a corporate culture that  
encourages the active participation of diverse and professional talent while also providing a challenge.

■ Matrix of Material Issues
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Values We Embrace
Mid-Term Sustainability Targets (FY23.3-FY25.3)

Details of implementation Index FY22.3 results FY25.3

(1) �Molding future 
society

Promoting business 
creations and R&D projects 
based on Satellite Growth 
Strategy

Number of projects (Mid-Term cumulative total) 21 60

Providing virtual cities in 
collaboration with local 
governments

Growth of Monthly Active Users

Promoting innovation to 
strengthen intellectual capital

Number of patents held in 5G/Beyond 5G + 
Satellite Growth-related areas

—
Year on year 

grew 20%

(2) �Realization of 
sustainable 
industrial/ 
infrastructure 
environment

Contribution to industry/
infrastructure DX

IoT connections
24.5 million 

connections
44 million 

connections

Promoting customer work 
style reform

Percentage of KDDI customers (corporate 
customers) deploying zero-trust solutions

— 35%

Expand 5G coverage 5G population coverage governmental target 95% by FY2024.3

Eradication of major inci-
dents

Number of serious incidents
* �Based on the Ministry of Internal Affairs and 

Communications’ incident reporting guidelines.

0 0

(3) �Regional  
co-creation

Solving disparity in regions

Number of people supported 
 (Mid-Term cumulative total)
* �Services such as smartphone classes, in-store support, 

usage support, on-demand transportation, local education 
(lectures and seminars,) Simple TV Phone service, and 
disparity elimination for local governments, medium-sized 
and SMBs. 5.7 million 15 million

Development of regional 
experience support services

Number of users of regional experience 
support services (Mid-Term cumulative total)

Eliminating financial divides Transaction volume of settlement/loan 11.7 trillion yen 16.3 trillion yen

(4) �Eliminating 
regional and 
economic 
disparities 
globally

Expand global business in 
Myanmar

Ensure the safety of our employees, respect the human rights of the people in emerging 
countries, and strive to maintain the social infrastructure that is essential to people’s 
daily lives.

Education and training of the 
next generation in Mongolia 
using telecommunications

Number of subscribers to Stars, a communica-
tions service for children aged 13 and under 
(cumulative total)

— 0.18 million

Eight Values We Embrace and Twenty-Five Mid-Term Sustainability Targets 
(FY23.3-FY25.3)
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Values We Embrace
Mid-Term Sustainability Targets (FY23.3-FY25.3)

Details of implementation Index FY22.3 results FY25.3

(5) �Carbon neutral

KDDI’s carbon neutrality 
including telecommunication 
facilities

KDDI’s carbon neutrality including telecommu-
nication facilities (Scope1+2)
(KDDI non-consolidated)

CO2 emissions: 
1.09 million tCO2

Achievement of 
FY2030 carbon 

neutrality 

Achievement of carbon neutrality by the KDDI 
Group at its worldwide data centers
* �Excluding data center facilities and equipment provided by 

other companies on a partial lease basis

CO2 emissions: 
0.3 million tCO2

Achievement of 
FY2026 carbon 

neutrality

Providing renewable energy 
to customers

Percentage of corporate contracts supplied 
with renewable energy

— Over 60%

Providing next-generation 
renewable energy solutions

Promote and streamline the use of renewable energy in society by providing next-gen-
eration energy solutions such as EV station installation, virtual power plants (VPP), and 
IoT-based renewable energy infrastructure maintenance through partner collaboration

(6) �Strengthening 
the management 
infrastructure of 
the entire KDDI 
Group

Strengthen the governance 
and information security of 
the Group as a whole

No. of serious incidents*1

∙ �Cybersecurity-induced divulgence of personal 
data and significant service outages

∙ �Inappropriate use of personal data
∙ �Serious incidents other than the above

0 0

Number of initiatives of advanced
security technology*2 

 (Mid-Term cumulative total)
4 15

(7) �Respect for 
human rights

Conduct business activities 
with respect for human rights

Respect for human rights in all KDDI Group business activities

Human rights due diligence*3

Improvement rate for suppliers that may be 
violating human rights (consider suspending 
business with them if they fail to respond)
∙ �Endorsement of KDDI Group Procurement 
Policy

∙ �Identification and dialogue with high-risk 
parties

∙ �Improvement support for high-risk parties

Check the status 
of respect for 
human rights with 
approximately 
90% of top 
suppliers in terms 
of the purchase 
value (response 
rate: 98%) 

Improvement 
rate: 100%

(8) �Advancement of 
professional 
human 
resources and 
engagement 
improvement

Career development for 
skilled human resources

Percentage of professional human resources 
on all specialized fields

—
30%

* All areas

All employees who have completed DX basic 
skills training (KDDI non-consolidated: Mid-Term 
cumulative total)
* �Learning opportunities to be expanded to the Group

— All employees

Conduct the Employee 
Engagement Survey

Maintain and improve employee engagement 
score

72
* �Average of quarterly 

survey results 
(4 times/year)

Maintain 72 
or over

Promotion of  
diversity-oriented human 
resources (D&I)

Ratio of female directors 7.1% 20% or over

Percentage of females in managerial 
positions*4 (KDDI non-consolidated)

9.4% 15% or over

*4	 Personnel in managerial positions : Leaders who have personnel evaluation authority 
and experts in specialized area, the percentage is as of April 1st in next fiscal year.

*1	 Cases that require reporting or notification to the competent authorities and cause severe 
damage to reputation.

*2	 Number of news releases and topics by KDDI non-consolidated and KDDI Research, Inc.
*3	 Top 90% of KDDI Group procurement amount and suppliers with known human rights 

risks are covered.
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KDDI VISION 2030, the Mid-Term Management Strat-
egy (FY23.3-FY25.3) and Sustainability Management

Material  Issues

KDDI Sustainable Action

Connecting and Protecting Lives Connecting Day-to-Day Lives Connecting Hearts and Minds

Building a resilient infrastruc-
ture for communication and  

disaster response
Conserving the environment Sustainable development for 

cities and communities
Building the infrastructure  
for developing countries

Developing human resources 
for the next generation

Creating a digital society for 
affluence and peace of mind

Promotion of diversity  
and inclusion

Fostering health and  
a purpose in life

1. �Promotion of innovation centered on  
telecommunications • • •

2. �Realization of safe, secure, and prosperous  
society • • •

3. Carbon neutral •
4. �Strengthening the group management base  

through progressing governance •
5. �Human resources first • • •
6. Advancing stakeholder engagement • • • • • • • •

Corresponding SDGs

In May 2022, we announced KDDI VISION 2030 and the Mid-
Term Management Strategy (FY23.3-FY25.3).  

KDDI VISION 2030 was designed to incorporate the essence 
of the KDDI Group Mission Statement and KDDI Sustainable 
Action which was formulated in May 2020. The Mission Statement 
reads, “The KDDI Group values and cares about the material and 
emotional well-being of all its employees, and delivers a thrilling 
customer experience by always going further than expected with 
the ultimate goal of achieving a truly connected society.” It ex-
presses our aspiration to resolve social issues. KDDI Sustainable 
Action declares our determination to continue working to solve 
diverse social issues through business.

Many issues such as global warming and other climate change 
issues, the destruction of ecosystems and other environmental 
issues, human rights problems and the widening of the gap between 
the rich and the poor are becoming worse. International organiza-
tions, rating agencies, disclosure task forces and other task forces, 
investors, customers, business partners, corporate employees and 
other stakeholders are accelerating their activities to address these 
issues. We will advance KDDI Sustainable Action. Guided by the 
Mid-Term Management Strategy (FY23.3-FY25.3), we will promote 
the Satellite Growth Strategy and strengthen the management 
functions that support it based on sustainability management in an 
aim to achieve the sustainable growth of society and to increase 
corporate value together with our partners.  

In the process of formulating the Mid-Term Management Strate-
gy, we also defined New Materiality. It comprehensively includes 
social issues from a long-term perspective and the degree of their 
significance in our management. At the time of formulation, we 
examined the interests of long-term investors and other stakehold-
ers and the impact of issues on our business. We created Eight 
Values we embrace regarding the individual material issues identified 
in consideration of social and environmental value. These stories 

Message from the General Manager of the Sustainability Management Division

■ Relationship between KDDI’s Material Issues and KDDI Sustainable Action

Executive Officer
The Deputy General Manager, Corporate Sector and 
the General Manager of the Sustainability  
Management Division

Nanae Saishoji

→P51

→P59

→P67

→P73

→P77
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Material  Issues

KDDI Sustainable Action

Connecting and Protecting Lives Connecting Day-to-Day Lives Connecting Hearts and Minds

Building a resilient infrastruc-
ture for communication and  

disaster response
Conserving the environment Sustainable development for 

cities and communities
Building the infrastructure  
for developing countries

Developing human resources 
for the next generation

Creating a digital society for 
affluence and peace of mind

Promotion of diversity  
and inclusion

Fostering health and  
a purpose in life

1. �Promotion of innovation centered on  
telecommunications • • •

2. �Realization of safe, secure, and prosperous  
society • • •

3. Carbon neutral •
4. �Strengthening the group management base  

through progressing governance •
5. �Human resources first • • •
6. Advancing stakeholder engagement • • • • • • • •

Corresponding SDGs

explained specific actions as well as the goals to be achieved. In 
addition, we connected the value proactively provided by business-
es with the Satellite Growth Strategy and the defensive aspects with 
the strengthening of management base. 

Our concept of sustainability management means the incorporation 
of long-term and social value perspectives into our management 
strategies to achieve sustainable growth. We will strive to enhance 
not only economic value but also social and environmental value to 
increase corporate value and contribute to the sustainable growth of 
society. For this purpose, it is vital that we think about “what we can 
do to best serve society leveraging our own strengths.” 

Revised in 2021, Japan’s Corporate Governance Code defines 
actions for addressing sustainability issues, such as climate change 
and other global environmental issues, respect for human rights, fair 
and appropriate treatment of the workforce including caring for their 
health and working environment, fair and reasonable transactions 
with suppliers, and crisis management for natural disasters, as 
important management issues that can lead to earnings opportuni-
ties in addition to mitigating risk. To resolve issues, we should 
implement proactive strategies in addition to defensive measures. 
These strategies should not be a mere addition to our management 
strategies. Its content should not be “doing what is good for the 
environment and society is sufficient.”

We recognize these issues as priority issues. We will carry 
out the Mid-Term Management Strategy to help achieve the 
sustainable growth of society together with our partners. We will 

aim to establish a virtuous cycle in which the growth of society 
will be incorporated into our future business strategies that again 
lead to doing good things for society. 

In connection with the formulation of the Mid-Term Management 
Strategy, we established the Sustainability Management Division 
in April 2022. This new organization is playing a central role in 
the implementation of sustainable management. The goal of this 
move was the strengthening and acceleration of sustainability 
activities including the creation of sustainability-related policies, 
the implementation of and support for various companywide 
measures and the distribution of information about them. Its 
mission is to propagate sustainable management across the 
Group in collaboration with the operating divisions. 

Corporate economic activities burden the planet, the environ-
ment and society. Business must offset the burdens they put on the 
Earth through their business activities at their cost. Today, business-
es must be aware of environmental and social issues and carry out 
actions to address them through their business operations. In 
addition, they must transform their business model by shifting to the 
idea of creating different types of value at the same time. It is import-
ant to continue creating circulation models in which businesses 
resolve environmental and social issues and the solutions to these 
issues provide earnings opportunities for businesses. The KDDI 
Group aims to become a top company in sustainability management 
by ensuring that the value we provide to society is realized.

KDDI Sustainable Action
It has been created representing our determination to continue working to solve various social issues through our business as we move towards 2030. 
We aim to further enhance corporate value and achieve sustainable growth with society by helping to solve social issues through business with partners 
by connecting and protecting lives, connecting day-to-day lives, and connecting hearts and minds while using 5G, IoT, and other technologies.

Promotion of Sustainability Management
Aiming to Be a Top Company in Sustainability 
Management
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KDDI aims to push ahead with innovation that customers will really 
feel in their daily life and to create a thrilling future society using our 
power to make connections. We express this aim as life transforma-
tion (LX)* in the Mid-Term Management Strategy. In the domain of LX, 
we focus on the metaverse, outer space and drones. 

First, the metaverse will bring overwhelming innovation in 
customers’ experiences and behaviors. It will provide new experi-
ences beyond geographical and social constraints. The metaverse 
allows you to have a personality that is different from your real 
personality using an avatar. It is expected to be a gateway to 
next-generation communication. KDDI will be offering an ur-
ban-linked metaverse. There is hope for the metaverse from the 
perspective of regional revitalization. For example, using the 
metaverse, we can be in the virtual space that simulates a real city 
in a digital form. Users can experience the attractions of the region 
from their homes.  A large number of local governments have 
shown interest in it as a new tool for advertising regional attractions. 

Next, we will work on space communication in collaboration 
with Space Exploration Technologies Corp., better known as 
SpaceX. That will make high speed telecommunication equivalent 
to the services in urban areas available anywhere. It will ensure that 
au’s communication services can be enjoyed in mountainous areas 
and on remote islands where communication used to be slow and 
unstable and help increase the social value of provincial regions. In 
addition, actions of viewing the Earth from space will increase. We 
expect these actions to create value in many different ways, such 
as the monitoring of greenhouse gas distribution, studies on the 
proper positioning for the installation of solar power generation 
equipment and the improved safety of workers on remote construc-
tion sites. 

Co-Creation Based on Partnering Will Be the Key to 
Accelerating Sustainability in the 5G Era

Our power to make connections will bring about 
innovation in people’s lives, experiences and actions.

Promotion of Innovation Centered on 
Telecommunications
Values we embrace (1) Molding Future Society

Materiality

1

Drones have achieved labor reduction and the automation of 
logistics, inspection, monitoring, measurement and other processes 
conventionally dependent on human workers and they have re-
placed humans in dangerous work. Drones will bring about innova-
tion in people’s lives and businesses. Linking mobility devices, such 
as robots on the ground and drones in the sky to communications 
services will create a new experience. 

They will all require high speed telecommunications. KDDI will 
combine our power to make connections with cutting-edge tech-
nologies to provide excitement beyond customers’ expectation and 
build a thrilling future society. 

KDDI’s strengths include its technologies and knowledge for 
establishing connections which we have untiringly pursued for a 
long time. This also includes partnering that transcends the bound-
aries between businesses and industries. KDDI has been working 
to improve services, create new businesses and address social 
issues through co-creation with partner companies. We believe that 
co-creation with partner companies will be necessary to surmount 
the big wave of changes caused by 5G in particular.  We have long 
been involved in partnering in a very natural form, in which KDDI 
supports telecommunications while partner companies that are 
professionals support the technologies and knowledge in the 
domains that we are not specialize with. 

We aspire to create environmental, social and economic value 
through business and accelerate the creation of value through 
partnering. This idea underlies the sustainability management 
stated in our Mid-Term Management Strategy. We will continue to 
work to realize this. We hope you will look forward to the sustain-
able future created by KDDI. 

*LX: Life Transformation (a business model that transforms diversifying consumption, life experience and behaviors with an eye to the future)

Executive OfficerExecutive Officer
Executive Director, Corporate Strategy Planning Division and Executive Director, Corporate Strategy Planning Division and 
Executive Director, Business Exploration & Development DivisionExecutive Director, Business Exploration & Development Division

Hiromichi MatsudaHiromichi Matsuda

Our power to make connections Our power to make connections 
will support new technologies will support new technologies 
and create excitement beyond and create excitement beyond 
customerscustomers’’ expectations and a  expectations and a 
thrilling future experience.thrilling future experience.
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Molding Future Society

Values we embrace (1)

 Strengths 

Discuss how to create a society in which lifestyles are totally different and richer with unseen items and where 
anyone can fulfill their wishes, instead of thinking from the perspective of current social issues

● �Loss of business opportunities due to com-
petitors’ innovation activities

Number of business creation and 
research and development projects 
based on the Satellite Growth Strategy

(Mid-Term cumulative total): 60

Patents owned in areas related to 5G, 
beyond 5G and satellite growth:

Grew 20% year on year

Providing virtual cities 
in collaboration 

with local governments

Metaverse
Develop urban-linked metaverses, 
such as Virtual Shibuya and Virtual 
Osaka, which allows users to experi-
ence new communications and con-
tent in virtual spaces

Drones
Expand the use of smart drones using 
mobile telecommunications, and create 
applications for them, such as inspec-
tion and delivery, and cultivate new 
areas after lifting the ban on flights 
beyond the sight of human operators

Space communications
Provide mountainous and insular 
regions with high speed communica-
tion services comparable with ser-
vices in urban areas using Starlink 
satellite communication services in 
collaboration with SpaceX

Power to Connect

Metaverse
Support for start-ups that have 
advanced technologies and collabo-
rating with different companies

Drones
Use of radio waves for mobile com-
munications in the sky using the 
expertise and knowledge in the tele-
communications business

Space communications
More than 50 years of history, 
achievements and technical expertise 
in satellite telecommunications

● Co-creation of new businesses in collabora-
tion with various partner companies

 Mid-Term Sustainability Targets (FY23.3-FY25.3) 

 Concrete Actions 

 Risks 

 Social Issue 

 Opportunities 
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KDDI launched “Virtual Shibuya” in May 2020 as a distribution 
platform authorized by Shibuya City. In February 2022, KDDI 
expanded this development by adding “Virtual Osaka” to create 
opportunities to sustain and expand the city’s cultural creation 
activities through the provision of new entertainment. 

So far, in collaboration with diverse companies, artists, and 
users, including start-ups, KDDI has hosted live performances, 
public viewings, and other virtual events. With a total attendance 
of approximately 1 million people, the platform provides a place 
where people can gather and create valuable experiences from 

their own homes with content that utilizes cutting-edge technol-
ogy. The platform has also contributed to the development of 
Shibuya by selling special goods at events and giving all profits 
from the sales back to Shibuya City.

KDDI will continue to promote the expansion of culture and 
economy in Japan and abroad in cooperation with local govern-
ments, various companies, users, and society as a whole. 

In September 2021, KDDI finalized a contract to introduce the 
Starlink satellite telecommunication service to the backhaul* 
lines of its base stations. Using Starlink technology to replace 
backhaul lines at base stations, which were previously connect-
ed by existing satellite lines as optical fiber could not be in-
stalled, KDDI will deliver high-speed telecommunications to 

mountainous areas and remote islands. We will continue to 
provide security by utilizing Starlink to ensure people can stay 
connected at all times and to work to eliminate the digital divide. 

*�Backhaul: A relay line connecting a cell phone base station and the backbone telecom-
munication network (core network).

Regional Revitalization Through Urban-Linked Metaverse

Using SpaceX’s Starlink Satellite Telecommunication Service for Backhaul Lines at KDDI Base Stations

©Shibuya 5G Entertainment Project ©Virtual Osaka

Promotion of Innovation Centered on Telecommunications ▲  

Values we embrace (1)  Molding Future Society1

Credits: SpaceX

 Virtual Osaka Virtual Shibuya (Japanese only)

 �KDDI selects SpaceX’s Starlink for cellular 
backhaul

 �From the Space Realization of  
“Connecting More and Always” Satellite 
Telecommunications Project Launched.

 �The borderless society brought about by the urban-linked metaverse  
overcomes divisions and connects people.
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To manage safe drone flights, KDDI has 
been developing UAV Traffic Manage-
ment System to apply to overflight 
airwaves, flight permission, airspace 
control, and flight control. 

Since this flight-control system is the 
foundation supporting various drone 
usage scenarios, such as surveillance, 
security, inspection, monitoring, logistics, 
and agriculture, we are placing particular 
emphasis on innovation. 

We hold 89 patents (53% of 169 
drone patents) (as of December 2021) 
related to the Traffic Management System 
and will continue to promote innovation 
with the aim of turning drones into social 
infrastructure. 

A Case Study of Smart Drone Innovations

Designate flight area Set flight routes

A Case Study of a Patent for the UAV 
Traffic Management System
In “set flight routes” function, customers 
can specify the drone’s flight route. To 
ensure that the flight area is correctly set 
within the telecommunication area, we 
have introduced a mechanism to deter-
mine whether or not the flight route is 
within the telecommunication area. This 
mechanism has been registered as our 
patent. Many of these patented technolo-
gies are implemented in the UAV Traffic 
Management System.

Expectations for the use of drones as social infrastructure are 
growing even higher with the impending enforcement of the 
“unassisted out-of-sight flight in manned areas (Level 4 flight)” 

law. KDDI has developed 
smart drones equipped 
with mobile telecommuni-
cations and UAV Traffic 
Management System and 
accumulated advanced 
demonstration tests and 
case studies. In April 
2022, it launched full-
scale operations of KDDI 
SmartDrone Inc. 

KDDI SmartDrone collaborates with various companies, local 
governments, and start-ups to solve social issues with the use of 
drones. In hilly and mountainous regions, we are providing a 
drone delivery service to support residents and the elderly who 
face difficulties shopping. We have also started demonstration 
tests of drone transportation of food and medical supplies in 
urban zones to create a society where drones can fly autono-
mously and make people’s personal and working lives easier. 

Ensuring Comfortable Lifestyles Through the Use of Drones in Social Infrastructure

Designate flight area Determine whether the flight area 
is within a telecommunication area Set flight routes

 �Solving Social Issues and Ensuring Comfortable Lifestyles with Smart  
Drones Equipped with Mobile Communications Technology 

 KDDI SmartDrone Inc. (Japanese only)
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UAV Traffic Management System

Monitoring and 
security

Inspection Survey Logistics Agriculture

Industrial applications of drones

Set up an account Prepare a flight 
route Control drones Video monitoring of 

drone operations

https://kddi.smartdrone.co.jp/


KDDI is endowed with three strengths in the sustainable advancement 
of DX. The first is our capabilities. We have a large pool of talent pos-
sessing knowledge, expertise, and sophisticated skills in DX. In July 
2022 we launched the KDDI Digital Divergence Group as a DX-focused 
organization that merges the DX insights and know-how of KDDI Group 
companies to support the DX of customers. The establishment of a 
company with capabilities in cloud computing, agile development, and 

The coronavirus pandemic has dramatically transformed the ways 
that people live and work. I believe that the new normal will reshape 
our established values and accelerate efforts to solve the challenges 
facing society. KDDI is advancing the digital transformation (DX) of its 
customers’ work styles with the aim of redesigning the work environ-
ment into one that enables people to work more productively by 
freeing them from the constraints of time and location. DX enhance-
ments such as 5G and zero-trust solutions will make it possible to 
confidently and securely work in any remote location, while staying 
up to date on the latest information. And, it will be possible for teams 
to virtually carry out projects and development without falling behind 
schedule. This environment will empower workers to make effective 
use of their commuting time and will help to solve various social 
challenges, such as the need to balance work with parenting and 
family care responsibilities. Moreover, the new work styles can help 
society to address the excessive concentration of economic activity 
and consumers in large urban areas. By promoting telework based in 
smaller communities, particularly those with shrinking populations, 
we can energize those areas and their industries, thus attracting 
more workers and creating a virtuous circle. 

DX Will Empower People to Focus More on Tasks with 
Higher Value Added

Knowledge & Expertise in DX/IoT, Collaboration 
with Partners

Executive Vice President, Director 
Executive Director, Solution Business Sector

Keiichi Mori

Our customer-centric DX will 
provide innovative solutions to 
communities and industries, 
contributing to the realization of a 
sustainable platform for industry 
and infrastructure 

Promotion of Innovation Centered on 
Telecommunications
Values we embrace (2) Realization of Sustainable Industrial/Infrastructure Environment

Materiality

1

other essentials for driving DX forward bolsters our DX support and 
development. Our second strength is our wealth of insights in IoT. These 
insights have been built up through our 20 years of experience in 
selecting the best sensors for their application, collecting and analyzing 
data, and implementing other processes. The third is partnering. We 
have forged robust collaborative ties with over 600 telecommunications 
firms around the world. Our collaboration with partners with expertise in 
specialties such as cloud computing, distribution, and marketing is 
driving force for our efforts to tackle social challenges and transform 
business. At the same time, DX takes more than technology to succeed; 
it also requires visionary thinking for transforming business models. To 
this end, we are further cultivating DX talent through the KDDI DX 
University, which we launched in 2020 as an internal initiative.

IoT is at the heart of business DX for supporting industry. AI-driven 
inspection and analysis of IoT data collected from sensors and terminals 
enables people to put more energy into high value-added tasks such as 
decision-making and long-term planning. Let’s consider an example from 
agriculture. Rice farmers might spend some three hours a day making the 
rounds of their scattered paddies to check the water level and tempera-
ture. However, IoT is now being used to allow farmers to instantly check 
weather and paddy conditions from their home, which helps them to 
boost their efficiency and earnings. This is a key role for KDDI—leveraging 
IoT to transform local and primary industries. We are working to strength-
en remote communication by digitally supporting diverse “connections.” 
In doing so, we seek to realize a sustainable platform for industry and 
infrastructure that benefits society and the environment, and thus contrib-
utes to our goal for KDDI VISION 2030: The creation of a society in which 
anyone can make their dreams a reality.  

Opportunities to Solve Challenges through Corporate DX
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Responding to rural flight, declining birthrate, population aging, shrinking workforce, as well as lifestyle 
changes and work style reforms precipitated by the coronavirus pandemic

● �Increase in costs (R&D, procurement, etc.) due 
to business expansion

● �Destabilization of the international community

●  Co-creation of new enterprises through collabo-
ration with diverse partners

● �Resolution of shortages in working population 
and successors through work process streamlin-
ing/automation, remote operations, etc.

Realization of Sustainable Industrial/
Infrastructure Environment

Values we embrace (2)

▼  Corporate DX to support diverse work styles

▼  Business DX to transform business through 5G & IoT

▼  �Cultivation of DX talent with innovative ideas

 Concrete Actions 

● Diverse capabilities: Telecom infrastructure, DX insights, know-how, talent, and more

● Achievements and experience built up as a leader in IoT

● Business co-creation with partners in many different specialty areas

 Strengths 

 Risks 

 Social Issue 

 Opportunities 

*1 �Based on the Ministry of Internal Affairs and 
Communications’ accident reporting guidelines. 

 Mid-Term Sustainability Targets (FY23.3-FY25.3) 

Number of IoT lines contributing 
to industry/infrastructure DX

44 million

Zero-trust solution 
deployment

35%

5G population coverage  
governmental target 

95% by FY2024.3

Number of serious 
accidents*1

0
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Electric Power Development Co., Ltd. (hereafter referred to as 
“J-POWER”) and KDDI have been conducting a series of drone 
inspection verification tests of J-POWER facilities scattered 
across Japan since November 1, 2021, starting with about 40 
hydroelectric power generation facilities. The project uses drone 
photography and 3D modeling of dams, distribution lines, build-
ings, and other electric power-related facilities to verify work 

efficiency, compare 
accuracy with existing 
inspection work, and 
identify possible 
alternatives, using 
technologies such as 
automatic detection of 
equipment abnormali-

ties and analysis of aging and deterioration conditions. 
J-POWER has been promoting the use of drones to improve 

the safety of power facility inspections and reduce work time 
and costs, including the development of technology for power 
facility inspection drones that use autonomous imaging technol-
ogy for power lines and overhead ground wires. As part of these 
efforts, in September 2020, J-POWER and KDDI jointly conduct-
ed a blade (blade parts of wind turbines) inspection demonstra-
tion using the drone’s auto-flight function at a wind power facility 
and succeeded in reducing the inspection time to about one 
tenth of the conventional time. Since May 2021, we have com-
pleted the inspection of the blades of 67 wind power facilities 
using drones with an auto-flight function, and we are expanding 
the scope of inspections further in FY23.3. 

KDDI has been developing and providing a smart drone 

Promotion of Innovation Centered on Telecommunications ▲  

Values we embrace (2)  Realization of Sustainable Industrial/Infrastructure Environment1
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Our IoT connections are strong in the social infrastructure and 
global domains, such as connected cars, electricity, gas, and 
smart meters. KDDI’s strength lies in its approximately 20 years 
of operational experience and maintenance of management 
systems used in such critical infrastructures. Our IoT connec-
tions are steadily expanding, with KDDI (non-consolidated) 
surpassing 26 million lines in June 2022, giving it the top market 
share in Japan. In the mid-term, we will contribute to the realiza-
tion of a sustainable industrial and infrastructural environment by 
providing innovative solutions for telecommunications, other 
social infrastructure, and connected cars, aiming for 44 million 
lines in FY25.3. Overseas, through an optimal combination of 
localization and global standards, our support is not limited to 
connected cars but is undergoing massive expansion to include 
the DX of our customers’ overseas locations and the provision of 
platforms for a wide range of industries. 

In the future, we will accelerate the DX of our customers’ 

companies by providing platforms for each of a diverse range of 
industries to further create new added value. 

Increase in IoT Connections

Jointly with J-POWER (Electric Power Development Co., Ltd.), Conducted Drone Inspection Verification of 
Approximately 40 Electric Power Facilities Nationwide

■ KDDI “IoT Worldwide Architecture”

Responding to various needs from localization to global standards

DX of our customers’ 
overseas locations

KDDI “IoT Worldwide Architecture”

Responding to various needs

Localize
Individualized support and  

services for each site
×

Providing platforms for 
each of a diverse range 

of industries

Global standards
Standard products and services 

available at a global level

Connected cars

Market expansion

■ Outlook of DX leveraging our strengths

Further evolution of operational management know-how optimized for an era of blended communications

IoT Connections New Value Creation

Reliable operation and maintenance system cultivated with global 
partners

(Unit: Million)

Co-creating new value through DX in addition to the sense of 
security provided by constant connection

New Value Creation 
with Partners

Business Development & 
Cloud

Communication Infrastructure and 
IoT operational know-how

5G

FY19.3 FY20.3 FY21.3 FY22.3 FY25.3

44.0

8.0

24.5



Structure as of July 1, 2022

KDDI Digital Divergence Holdings

KDDI Agile 
Development 
Center Corpo-

ration 
(Spin-out)

iret
KDDI Web 

Comm
unications

Scrum Inc. 
Japan

Other Group 
Companies 
New M&A

…

Newly Established Strengthening

DX Solution Engineering Division

Business Development/Consulting

DX Service Planning

System development

Newly organized

Vertical
integration

 KDDI Digital Divergence Holdings Launched

 �Jointly with J-POWER, conducted drone inspection verification of  
approximately 40 electric power facilities nationwide (Japanese only)

 �Solutions for agriculture, forestry, and fisheries (for corporations and businesses) 
(Japanese only)
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platform that enables drones to be remotely controlled via 
mobile telecommunications such as 4G LTE for safe long-dis-
tance flights, with the aim of creating a society in which drones 
are used as infrastructure to support daily life in fields such as 
logistics, agriculture, and monitoring. 

After this nationwide drone inspection verification, KDDI will 
continue to promote drone inspections of hydroelectric, thermal, 
wind, and other electric power facilities by combining J-POW-
ER’s electric power facility inspection technology with KDDI’s 
drone flight and operation technology.

Fishery and agriculture operations are often based on long years 
of experience and intuition. In addition, there have been issues 
such as the burden of workers having to go directly to the 
seashore or rice paddies to check changes in their conditions. 
The use of IoT contributes to solving various issues, such as 
improving work efficiency, reducing costs, and stabilizing and 
improving the quality of harvests, by making it possible to check 
the current condition of the sea and paddy fields with a smart-
phone or tablet without having to visit the site. Also, by visualiz-
ing experience and intuition with data, we expect to expand 
employment opportunities in the fishing and farming industry for 
novices and young people.

In April 2022, KDDI established the DX Solution Engineering 
Division by integrating business, DX and system development 
divisions to establish a system that can provide all DX solutions 
at once. On May 12, 2022, KDDI also established an intermedi-
ary shareholder company, “KDDI Digital Divergence Holdings 
Corporation.” By developing a designated digital transformation 

(DX) structure, KDDI will provide speedy support for DX of our 
customers, achieve effective collaboration within the group, and 
expand business alliances with external DX support companies, 
aiming to maximize the value of the group’s DX business. 

Smart Fishery and Agriculture Initiatives Using IoT

Strengthening Systems and Expanding Resources to Create New Value

Smart buoy installed off the coast of 
Keshima, Maizuru City, Kyoto Prefecture 
(Photo provided by KDDI Research, Inc.)

Agricultural sensors installed in rice pad-
dies in Toyooka City, Hyogo Prefecture

Example of 3D modeling from drone-captured data: Nukabira Power Plant

https://news.kddi.com/kddi/corporate/english/ir-news/2022/05/13/6051.html
https://news.kddi.com/kddi/business-topic/2021/11/5540.html
https://biz.kddi.com/solution/agriculture-forestry-fisheries/


KDDI has strengths in the nationwide communication infrastruc-
ture and brick-and-mortar stores (such as “au Shops”) as con-
tact with our customers. We create new businesses to solve 
local challenges and co-create social values by combining this 
strength with various assets gained from partnerships and 
alliances with external entities.

For example, in Hidaka Village, Kochi Prefecture, we are 
promoting a “Digitizing the Entire Village” to achieve a 100% 
ownership rate of smartphones among residents. Together with 
the local government and partnered companies, we are working 
toward improving the quality of public services and facilitating 
local communication based on smartphones.

Furthermore, we are using various financial services such as 
the smartphone payment service “au PAY” to vitalize the local 
economy and contribute to mitigating inequality between rural 
and urban areas.

The unlimited in-area ride service “mobi” starting from April 
2022 supports elderly citizens uncomfortable with mobility and 
families having difficulty picking up and dropping off their chil-
dren. The service combines mobility services and communica-
tion to provide novel transportation experiences and solve social 
issues in rural and urban areas.

One important aspect is to drive such regional co-creation 
efforts sustainably so they will not end as one-off experiences. 
KDDI is committed to achieving sustainable regional co-creation 
by reflecting solutions for local challenges like digital divides in 
its next business plan and creating a virtuous cycle of passing 
back the profit to society.

Various challenges surrounding the rural areas are becoming 
severe, such as shrinking population, insufficient working popu-
lation due to falling birthrate and aging population, declining 
quality of local services and community functions supporting 
everyday life, and expanding informational and economic di-
vides. To solve such challenges, mitigation of divides through 
digital technology is gaining expectations. For example, the 
Japanese government has set forth the “Vision for a Digital 
Garden City Nation” to aim for the revitalization of rural areas 
through digital technologies.

Materiality

2
Realization of Safe, Secure, and 
Prosperous Society
Values we embrace (3) Regional Co-Creation

Digital Power is Expected to Mitigate Inequality 
Between Urban and Rural Areas

Aim for Sustainable Regional Co-Creation by Utilizing 
KDDI’s Strengths of Owning a Nationwide Network

We at KDDI are committed to supporting regional co-creation 
using the power of communication and technology. To realize 
optimum contribution, we think it is essential to value the 
thoughts of local residents and understand their unique chal-
lenges to work  “together” toward solving them. We have a role 
in supporting the residents’ goals in ways unique to each com-
munity using digital technologies centered on smartphones. In 
addition to helping residents with smartphone classes and other 
programs, we are also committed to activating communication 
between people to people and community to community through 
helping digital usage of companies and municipalities, or adver-
tising attractiveness and creating experiences unique to the 
community. 

Regional Co-Creation that Values Residents’ 
Voices is Important
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Executive Vice President, Director 
Executive Director, Personal Business Sector

Toshitake Amamiya

Address the challenges faced by local Address the challenges faced by local 
communities and realize regional  communities and realize regional  
co-creation through communication co-creation through communication 
and technology, taking citizensand technology, taking citizens’’  
opinions into accountopinions into account



● �Solve lagging digitalization and insufficient number of digital DX talents, entrepreneurs and community contributors in rural areas
● ��Mitigate inequality between urban and rural areas in aspects such as labor productivity, education, economy, and information
● �Improve communication infrastructure between urban and rural areas to mitigate the telecommunication divide
● �Promote network resilience with a view to infrastructure development and disaster response
● �Establish an economic base to address the era of people living to the age of 100
● �Mitigate the financial divide among communities

 Social Issue 

 Opportunities 

●  Vitalization of local economies through business 
development with strengths in industries, cultures, 
natural assets, and communities unique to each area

 Mid-Term Sustainability Targets (FY23.3-FY25.3) 

Number of solving disparity 
in regions*

15million (Mid-Term cumulative total)

Transaction volume of 
settlement/loan

16.3trillion yen

Regional Co-Creation

▼   Contribute to the local community through strong bonds with local companies

▼   Mitigate the digital divide by conducting smartphone classes in au shops

▼   Solve transportation challenges through community-based MaaS

▼   Maximize bidirectional synergies between communication and financial services such as au PAY

 Concrete Actions 

●  Nationwide communication infrastructure and brick-and-mortar stores (such as au Shops) 
as customer contact

●  Advanced technologies such as 5G, IoT, and big data
●  Collaboration know-how with partners in all kinds of segments such as startups, community-based 

companies, and local educational institutions

 Strengths 

Values we embrace (3)

* �Services such as smartphone classes, in-store support, 
usage support, on-demand transportation, local education 
(lectures and seminars,) Easy TV Phone service, and divide 
mitigations for local governments, medium-sized and SMBs.

●  Decrease of users and business income due to the 
decrease in working population and worsening of 
economic inequality between communities

 Risks 

60KDDI  Integrated Sustainability and Financial Report 2022



Carpooling
is an efficient 

way to get 
around

Cars are 
dispatched 

via an app or 
phone call

AI optimizes 
routes

“mobi,” provided by the Community Mobility Inc., a joint venture 
between KDDI and WILLER Inc., is a “short ride within a certain 
area” service that combines mobility services and telecommuni-
cations to replace walking and bicycling with flat-rate transport 
within a radius of approximately 2 km. 

With the recent increase in the number of elderly people 
voluntarily returning their driver’s licenses, this project supports 
those elderly people who are anxious about their mobility due to 
the shrinking public transportation system caused by the short-
age of drivers in rural areas. It also supports greater mobility for 
households with small children who may struggle to pick up and 
drop off their children at various locations. 

au Financial Holdings Corporation, KDDI’s financial holding 
company, fulfils various functions including in the areas of 
banking, securities, credit cards, life insurance, and non-life 
insurance. As a familiar presence for customers in an increasing-
ly complex and diverse financial system, au Financial Holdings 
provides convenient financial services that are easily accessible 
to all, anytime, anywhere via smartphone, and that meet a 
variety of needs. 

In addition to daily online and offline financial activities, we 
are working to build strong engagement by providing efficient 

KDDI is working with Hidaka-mura in Kochi Prefecture to pro-
mote the “Digitizing the Entire Village” to improve the quality of 
public services and revitalize local communication using smart-
phones. As part of this project, KDDI aims to achieve 100% 

smartphone penetration among 
residents. By promoting the use of 
smartphones, we will support the 
safety and health of residents and 
the revitalization of local communi-
ties. Additionally, we will work to 

realize a society in which everyone can enjoy the benefits of 
digital technology by providing on-site sales of smartphones and 
help with their use, and by helping all generations, including 
seniors, to enjoy an easier life by using smartphones effectively. 

asset management functions through family budget and life plan 
diagnostic services to nurture long-term relationships with 
customers across various life stages where they may need 
investments, loans, or savings. Additionally, to prevent dispari-
ties in access due to IT literacy, we implement easy-to-under-
stand services that can be completed via smartphone, while also 
contributing to the improvement of financial literacy. 

Solving Mobility Issues with mobi, a “Short Ride” Service

Eliminate Financial Disparities Through the Provision of Financial Services that are Easily Accessible to All

Hidaka-mura in Kochi Prefecture, Regional Revitalization Through the “Digitizing the Entire Village” 

Solving transportation issues is becoming increasingly 
important as the rise in the time spent around the home (caused 
by the spread of COVID-19) continues to drive up demand for 
short-distance travel. KDDI will contribute to the creation of 
communities and sustainable urban development by combining 
mobility services and telecommunications to solve social and 
transport issues in rural and urban areas and support digital 
transformation in the transportation industry. 

Realization of Safe, Secure, and Prosperous Society▲  

Values we embrace (3)  Regional Co-Creation2

 �Launched the joint venture mobi, a “short ride within a certain area” service 
(Japanese only)

 �Hidaka-mura in Kochi Prefecture, CHANGE, and KDDI conclude a collaboration 
agreement to jointly promote the “Digitizing the Entire Village” (Japanese only)

 Supporting Free, One-Mile Mobility Services and Telecommunications 

 �Aim to Increase the Rate of Smartphone Penetration to 100% in a Village  
with a Population of 5,000 of Which 43% Are Elderly People

 au Financial Holdings Corporation (Japanese only)
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https://news.kddi.com/kddi/corporate/newsrelease/2022/04/21/6010.html
https://news.kddi.com/kddi/corporate/newsrelease/2021/05/24/5141.html
https://www.au-financial.com/


As the shortage of local development leaders due to the ageing 
and declining population emerges as a major social issue, 
significant attention is being paid to human resources from 
outside the community, called the “related population,” who 
can create novel changes through their diverse involvement 
with the local community. KDDI is promoting activities to 
encourage employees to connect with and contribute to the 
local community. 

In July 2020, we launched the Regional Supporter system, a 
community of voluntary employees who want to “energize the 
region.” Initially, employees used their time outside of work to 
participate in these activities, but from FY23.3, the company has 
begun including these activities as part of its business opera-
tions to realize KDDI’s goal of becoming “the company that 
customers can feel closest to.” 

Harvesting apples in Iizuna town, Nagano Prefecture, at a farm co-owned by the company. Regional supporters learn about the company’s community development activities in 
Iizuna Town, Nagano Prefecture. 

Some of our activities have included holding study sessions 
for employees on regional co-creation and exchange meetings 
among regional supporters, visiting local communities to experi-
ence the harvesting of crops, holding markets in company 
spaces to sell local products, and a variety of other projects to 
connect with and contribute to local communities. 

Markets selling local products are a good opportunity for 
employees who do not participate in regional supporter activities 
to learn about this initiative, and support for the activities of 
regional supporters is steadily expanding. 

These activities began in Hyogo, Hiroshima, and Nagano 
prefectures and will be expanded to Fukuoka prefecture and 
Hokkaido in 2022 in response to employee requests. Currently, 
over 100 employees are registered as supporters in each of the 
five regions, with a total of 640 employees registered. 

On May 20, 2022, KDDI was selected by the Ministry of Internal 
Affairs and Communications (MIC) as a project implementing 
organization for the “FY2022 Digital Utilization Support Promo-
tion Project for Users,” as it had been in FY22.3. By providing 
lectures (smartphone classes) on administrative tasks that can 
be performed using smartphones, such as how to apply for and 
use My Number Cards and how to issue COVID-19 vaccine 
passports, we are working to eliminate the digital divide and 
alleviate the concerns of the elderly and others regarding the use 
of digital technology, with the ultimate aim of realizing a society 
in which everyone can enjoy the benefits of digitalization. 

Eliminating the Digital Divide for the Elderly and Other Residents Through Smartphone Classes in Collaboration with a 
Ministry of Internal Affairs and Communications Project

Community Activities to “Connect” Local Communities and Employees

 au Smartphone Classes (Japanese only)
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Materiality

2
Realization of Safe, Secure, and 
Prosperous Society
Values we embrace (4) Eliminating Regional and Economic Disparities Globally

Seeing that mobile phones are now widely used, I feel that we suc-
ceeded in supporting the economic development and the qualitative 
improvement of people’s lives in Mongolia and Myanmar. However, 
there are still lots of problems unique to emerging countries, including 
inequalities in education and water issues. In Mongolia, we provide 
affordable communication services to children 13 years of age and 
younger under the “Stars” brand. We are also involved in the “Smart 
Education” project, which supports learning during the pandemic in 
collaboration with World Vision Mongolia, an international non-govern-
mental organization, Mongolia’s Ministry of Education and Science 
and the United Nations Children’s Fund (UNICEF). It provides equal 
educational opportunities to children who may lag behind in learning 
without access to education services because they lack an Internet 
connection or smartphone.  In the Mongolian government’s promotion 
of industry in the IT and digital domains, we continue our activities of 
donating computers recycled by KDDI to public-owned schools and 
administrative facilities in different regions in the country with a view 
toward supporting the development of younger generations. 

In Myanmar, we carried out the “Clean and Sustainable 
Water Program.” With the goal of solving water problems, it 
constructed wells in villages with poor access to water for 
everyday living. We will continue many different locally-led 
initiatives in emerging countries to create a virtuous cycle of 
social and environmental contribution and business growth. 

There are disparities between developed countries and emerging 
countries and also within emerging countries. I believe that KDDI 
will be able to help eliminate regional and economic disparities in 
emerging countries by developing and expanding telecommunica-
tion services as a social infrastructure and services related to 
communication. We have been engaged in long-term efforts in 
Mongolia and Myanmar. As a result, 4G services in urban areas 
such as Ulaanbaatar and Yangon provide top-class quality commu-
nication environments in Asia, comparable to the environment in 
Tokyo. Our Mongolian business began in 1996. At that time, merely 
0.4% of the population held mobile phones. Today, the penetration 
rate has reached 138%. In Myanmar in 2014, we started supporting 
Myanma Posts and Telecommunications, a state-run operator with 
a communication license, through KDDI Summit Global Myanmar 
Co. Ltd., a joint venture with Sumitomo Corporation. Mobile phone 
penetration rose from 13% in 2013 to 126% in 2021. Today, mobile 
phone services are available to all citizens of Myanmar.

KDDI’s experience and track record of operating and developing 
locally based businesses over the long term are advantages for KDDI. 
These businesses require a massive capital investment and huge 
running costs. In Mongolia and Myanmar, we have established a cycle 
of providing services to local customers at affordable prices, financing 
capital investment using the operating revenue and then developing 
higher-quality services. We work with local people on site to ensure 

the autonomous operation of businesses from a local perspective. We 
have more than 1,700 employees in Mongolia and more than 1,300 in 
Myanmar. Most of them are locally employed. We are working to 
maintain the telecommunication infrastructure that is an indispensable 
part of people’s lives together with highly-skilled local staff. 

Working to Eliminate Regional and Economic 
Disparities to Realize a Safe, Secure, and Prosper-
ous Society in Emerging Countries

Continuing to Work to Support Economic Develop-
ment and the Improvement of People’s Quality of Life

Creating Local Employment in Emerging Countries 
and Continuing Locally Based Activities That Start 
with the Launch of a Business

Managing Executive Officer
Executive Director, Global Consumer Business Sector

Hiroyuki Soshi

We will help emerging countries We will help emerging countries 
solve social issues and develop solve social issues and develop 
economically through the economically through the 
telecommunication business.telecommunication business.
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Expansion of global business in Myanmar
Striving to maintain social infrastructure that 
is essential in people’s lives while ensuring 
employee safety and respecting the human 
rights of people in emerging countries

 Mid-Term Sustainability Targets (FY23.3-FY25.3) 

▼   Providing a high quality telecommunication environment that is accessible to anyone

▼   Developing next-generation digital professionals who will support the economic development 
of emerging countries

▼   Resolving inequalities in education and other social issues in collaboration with outside partners

 Concrete Actions 

●  Experience and track record in the operation and development of locally based telecommu-
nication businesses

●  Locally employed staff who are highly skilled

●  Expertise in problem solving through the expansion of telecommunication and peripheral services

 Strengths 

● Destabilization of social circumstances in emerging 
countries

● Achievement of autonomous and continuous eco-
nomic development

 Risks 

Regional and economic disparities between developed countries and emerging countries or within emerging countries

 Social Issue 

● �Continued ubiquitization of digital services
●  Advancement of telecommunication and IT 

technologies (such as 5G, IoT, xR and AI)

 Opportunities 

Eliminating Regional and 
Economic Disparities Globally

Values we embrace (4)

Education and the development of the next generation 
with telecommunications in Mongolia
Stars: a communication service for children 13 years 
of age and younger who will be the next generation
Number of subscribers 
(cumulative total)            180,000 
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Mongolia has a population of approximately 3 million and a land 
area approximately four times the size of Japan. To provide 
telecommunication services to this vast country, we launched 
our telecommunication business in 1996 by establishing Mobi-
Com Corporation LLC (hereafter referred to as “MobiCom”), a 
local subsidiary in the country. In the 26 years since, MobiCom 
has led the telecommunications and IT industries in Mongolia as 
the country’s largest integrated telecommunications operator. 

Since the launch of the first mobile telecommunications 
service in Mongolia, MobiCom introduced 3G service in 2009 
and 4G LTE service in 2016, expanding the number of 4G wire-
less base stations from 60 as of 2016 to 1,000 by 2020, and has 
maintained the No. 1 market share in the country. In 2018, 
MobiCom also obtained the country's first E-money license and 
offers payment and loan services etc. through its mobile e-mon-
ey “monpay app.”

In KDDI’s human resources exchange program, MobiCom 

MobiCom, a consolidated subsidiary of KDDI, is implementing the 
“Smart Education” project nationwide in Mongolia as part of its 
Corporate Social Responsibility (CRS) activities in cooperation 
with World Vision Mongolia (an international NGO that supports 
children), the Ministry of Education and Science, and UNICEF. In 
Mongolia, over 60% of teaching moved online due to the spread 
of COVID-19, but 180,000 children could not have access to 
online classes because they did not own smartphones or other 
devices. This could delay the learning of these children. To ad-
dress this, we launched the “Smart Education” project to provide 
equal educational opportunities for all Mongolian children. In 
2021, as part of the project, we gave 1,320 students aged 8-13 
years old from all over Mongolia a smartphone and a communica-
tion package with 3GB of data usage. In 2022, an additional 2,000 
children participated in this project. 

Stars is MobiCom’s telecommunication service for children aged 
13 and under. The service is safe and easy to use for both 
parents and children, allowing parents to put money on smart-
phones of their children, for example. 

By leveraging synergies with the “Smart Education” project, 
we aim to reach 180,000 subscribers by the end of FY25.3 to 
help eliminate inequalities in educational opportunities due to 
regional and economic disparities.

To further improve customer satisfaction and telecommunication 
quality in Myanmar, KDDI has been running long-term training 
programs for MPT workers.

In these programs, KDDI employees instruct trainees on 
advanced network technology and pass on the knowledge and 

expertise in sales and business operations that they have culti-
vated over many years. 

After returning to Myanmar, the trainees use the skills they 
acquired in Japan to contribute to the country’s development. 

employees are engaged in tasks related to wireless communica-
tion technology and IT security, enabling them to apply the skills 
they acquired in Japan to provide higher quality communications 
services in Mongolia after their return. 

We will continue to contribute to the development of tele-
communications infrastructures in Mongolia and support the 
development and improvement of infrastructures of everyday life 
of Mongolian citizens.

Business Expansion in Mongolia

“Smart Education” Project to Support Learning Against the Backdrop of COVID-19 in Mongolia

Stars: Telecommunications Service for Children Aged 13 and Under

Training Programs for MPT Workers Who Will Be the Next Generation

Experience booth at 
MobiCom shop

Promotion of innovation centered on telecommunications ▲  

Values we embrace (4)  Eliminating Regional and Economic Disparities Globally2

Children who participated in the project
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The KDDI Foundation conducts overseas human resources 
development, projects to eliminate the digital divide, and educa-
tional and cultural support activities to contribute to the sustain-
able development of developing countries through the use of 
ICT, responding flexibly to the social issues that are emerging 
due to the COVID-19 pandemic. 

Overseas human resources development
Since 1957, we have planned and conducted technical training 
in information and telecommunications for trainees from devel-
oping countries. To date, over 6,000 trainees from 144 countries 
have attended our courses. 

Project to eliminate the digital divide
We are working with local government agencies on Asia-Pacific 
Telecommunity (APT) projects to contribute to eliminating the 
digital divide. 

Educational and cultural support for developing countries
We provide a variety of support to help children realize their 
potential and develop the human resources that will lead the 
future. In Cambodia, we build schools, provide educational 
support such as English and computer classes, and support the 
dissemination of traditional performing arts. In Myanmar, we 
support art and music classes in private schools. In Nepal, we 
provide educational support using ICT, such as classes in robot 
programming. In other countries, we are promoting the use of 
online and localized support. 

W.A.S.H. Project (MobiCom)
In cooperation with the international NGO World Vision Mongo-
lia, we have installed flush toilets and washbasins in schools with 
no water or sewage infrastructure to improve sanitation.

Clean and Sustainable Water Program (Myanmar)
By implementing well maintenance, the program helps to im-
prove public health in villages in water-stressed areas where it is 
difficult to access clean water.

KDDI Foundation International Cooperation Projects

Initiatives for Water-Related Issues in Emerging Countries

Field testing of drone for disaster use in Vietnam

Robot programming education in Nepal

 KDDI Foundation International Cooperation Projects (Japanese only)
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—What tasks will KDDI address in connection with the 
common global issue of climate change? 
Yoshimura: Climate change is an issue common to the human 
race that the whole world must deal with. KDDI acknowledges the 
importance of carbon neutrality for reducing our business risks 
because the telecommunications business can be affected by 
typhoons and other natural disasters. As a telecommunications 
operator, we have a mission of offering communication services as 
social infrastructure to customers. The 5G services require more 
base stations than conventional 3G and 4G services do. As base 
stations consume a huge amount of electric power for transmitting 
radio waves, it creates a dilemma in which we would end up 
consuming more electricity if we were to offer a new world based 
on 5G technologies to customers. We are aware that it is a big task 
for KDDI to achieve both expansion of our service areas while both 
reducing electricity consumption and achieving carbon neutrality. 
—What tasks does au Energy Holdings Corporation address 
as an operator of the energy business? 
Nakagiri: The energy crisis has sparked a global race for power 
sources and energy. For example, Russia’s invasion of Ukraine 
brought about an energy shortage in Europe, leading to the rever-
sion to coals which emits a huge amount of CO2. I think we need 
to first overcome this energy crisis, and strive towards carbon 
neutrality to create a sustainable society.

It is quite difficult for an electricity retailer to realize a car-
bon-free society. As au Energy Holdings has a limited independent 
power generation capacity, it will be important that we shift to 
supplying electric power produced from low-carbon or renewable 
energy. We will work to provide renewable energy first for custom-
ers and then for our communication facilities with a view to achiev-
ing decarbonization. In addition, we believe that it is our mission 
for achieving carbon neutrality in society to offer more energy 
efficient solutions to our corporate customers.
—What strengths does each company have in their efforts to 
achieve carbon neutrality? 
Yoshimura: KDDI excels in collaborating with corporate partners in 

Carbon Neutral
Values we embrace (5) Carbon Neutral

Materiality

3

the aspects of technologies and business, and we place great 
importance on partnering to achieve carbon neutrality. For exam-
ple, in a demonstration trial with Intel Corporation for lowering the 
power consumption of communication servers, we used artificial 
intelligence (AI) for the first time in Japan to verify that power 
consumption was reduced by up to 20%. With the aim of commer-
cializing the system around 2024, we are studying its feasibility. 
Another example is a demonstration trial with Mitsubishi Heavy 
Industries, Ltd. and NEC Networks & System Integration Corpora-
tion using a liquid immersion cooling system, which uses liquid for 
cooling information technology (IT) equipment. This trial achieved a 
43% reduction in power consumption from the level of convention-
al data centers, and we are continuing the study towards commer-
cialization. 

As for base stations, we conducted a demonstration trial with 
Nokia Solutions and Networks Japan G.K. and confirmed that AI 
control reduced power consumption by up to 50%. After verifying 
the safety of the system, we will work on commercialization to 
meet the growing demand for the additional servers and expansion 
of data centers. 

And one of the benefits of partnering is that new technologies 
verified can be used within the KDDI Group. I think it is a great 

Contributing towards achievement Contributing towards achievement 
of carbon neutrality and resolution of of carbon neutrality and resolution of 
climate change issues with a view to climate change issues with a view to 
a sustainable society through a sustainable society through 
co-creation based on partneringco-creation based on partnering

Senior Managing 
Executive Officer, Director
Executive Director, 
Technology Sector

Kazuyuki 
Yoshimura

au Energy Holdings 
Corporation
President, Representative 
Director

Koichiro 
Nakagiri
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advantage to be able to work towards carbon neutrality in a business 
covering all sections, or specifically from base stations to customers.
Nakagiri: au Electricity has a customer base of around 3.38 million 
in FY22.3, and its advantage lies in contacts with customers chiefly 
through au Shops. For corporate customers with high demand for 
carbon neutrality and decarbonization, we will provide decarbon-
ized options and solutions through a subsidiary, ENERES Co., Ltd 
(hereafter referred to as “ENERES”). KDDI and ENERES have been 
commissioned by the Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry to 
implement a demonstration project with a virtual power plant*1 
(hereafter referred to as “VPP”) since 2016, and we have a great 
advantage in our accumulation of VPP technologies and knowl-
edge. Multiple communication connections and low latency, which 
are the characteristics of 5G technologies, are important to control 
the VPP. With the use of our strengths in advanced technologies 
we have as a telecommunications operator, we achieved advance-
ment of the VPP in the project. Technological integration between 
the telecommunication business and the electric power business 
has produced major synergies. In addition, we believe we can 
further promote carbon neutrality using VPP technologies through 
installation of solar panels and storage batteries in idle spaces 
around base stations. 
—What specific actions are you taking for carbon neutrality?
Yoshimura: KDDI has moved up the target date of net zero CO2 
emissions in our business activities, from fiscal 2050 to fiscal 2030. 
To achieve carbon neutrality, we must work to reduce CO2 emis-
sions by 1.09 million tons per year. Base stations, data centers and 
other communication facilities must account for 98% of this 
reduction, and base stations alone must be responsible for 60%. 
We carried out 3G suspension at the end of March 2022, and as a 
result, power consumption from 3G facilities was reduced. It is an 
example of reduction achievements. Our existing data centers are 
currently shifting to electric power generated from renewable 
energy, and those in Europe already completed a 100% shift to 
renewable energy. When any new data center is built, it will be 
designed on the basis of a 100% use of renewable energy. In 
addition, for lowering power consumption of base stations, we are 
taking a range of actions towards carbon neutrality. They include 
sharing base stations with SoftBank Corp., employing AI to con-
serve power in communication servers, introducing liquid immer-
sion technologies for cooling IT equipment, and investing in a start-
up that develops perovskite solar cells*2, characterized in that they 
are thin and can be folded with light force. We are doing this 
investment with the help of the KDDI Green Partners Fund*3, which 
is a corporate venture capital (CVC) fund aimed at supporting com-
panies working on climate issues.  
Nakagiri: For individual customers, we offer the au Electricity “Eco 
Plan,” which supplies electric power derived from net 100% 
renewable energy with net-zero CO2 emissions. Amid the ESG 
trend, our corporate customers are accelerating their actions 
towards carbon neutrality. Accordingly, we are required to provide 
more renewable energy. Also for the purpose of achieving carbon 
neutrality in the entire KDDI Group, we believe it is important to 
play our role as an electricity retailer. 

—What is your aspiration towards carbon neutrality and what 
do you expect from a carbon-neutral society? 
Yoshimura: KDDI sent out a message through the KDDI VISION 
2030. It reads, “The creation of a society in which anyone can 
make their dreams a reality, by enhancing the power to connect.” 
The telecommunication business constitutes a foundation of the 
society that we seek to create. Electric power is essential to 
advancing telecommunication, and it is a tremendous challenge as 
well as a very dream-inspiring job to achieve both an evolution of 
telecommunication and carbon neutrality.  We hope to have a high 
spirit in serving society as well as the global environment, and we 
do not think it is impossible to do this. As remote work spread 
during the COVID-19 pandemic, human movements for commut-
ing and other purposes have been on the decrease. The use of 
telecommunications has contributed to this, and we will be able to 
better serve the global environment if we can provide telecommu-
nication services using renewable energy. We hope to change the 
era where telecommunication consumes a huge amount of power 
and to create a virtuous circle for the global environment by mov-
ing ahead with energy conservation. 
Nakagiri: When we look to the future, carbon neutrality is a very 
big business opportunity. We are sure that the pursuit of carbon 
neutrality will drastically change the conventional heavy supply 
chains of electric power built for thermal, nuclear and hydraulic 
power generation. As the spread of solar panels, electric vehicles 
and other types of storage batteries to households, it will become 
commonplace for electric power produced in the day to be con-
sumed at households and for surplus power to be sold. If the 
power trading market is closer to individuals, they may earn money 
through power trading. Further expansion of renewable energy will 
bring about a paradigm shift in businesses surrounding energy and 
create a huge business opportunity. If we overcome the energy 
crisis and accelerate the shift to distributed power supplies and 
renewable energy, we can create a clean world that people find 
comfortable to live in. This cannot be realized by us alone. With the 
help of the KDDI Group and partner companies, we will work 
together to establish carbon neutrality and to resolve climate 
issues. 
*1 �A virtual power plant is an integration of small-sized power plants and power demand con-

trol systems with the use of IoT and other technologies to control them as if they were a 
single power plant.

*2,3 KDDI Green Partners Fund →P71

68KDDI  Integrated Sustainability and Financial Report 2022



● �Increase in power consumption due to expan-
sion of 5G service areas

● �Negative impact of typhoons and other natural 
disasters arising from climate change on the 
communication business

●  Technological and business collaboration with partner companies
● Application of verified new technologies within the KDDI Group
● A rich customer base and contacts with customers through au Shops and others

● �Business growth through construction of environ-
mentally friendly base stations and provision of ICT-
based services that lead to energy conservation 
and environmental impact reduction in different 
countries and regions

 Strengths 

 Risks  Opportunities 

▼  Shift of data centers to electric power derived from renewable energy

▼  Sharing of base stations with other communications operators

▼  Power conservation of communication servers with the use of artificial intelligence (AI)

▼  Liquid immersion technologies for cooling IT equipment

▼  KDDI Green Partners Fund for supporting start-ups tackling climate issues

▼   Offering of an Eco Plan in the au Electricity service for supplying electric power derived 
from net 100% renewable energy with net zero CO2 emissions (to personal customers)

▼  Offering of decarbonized options and solutions (to corporate customers)

 Mid-Term Sustainability Targets (FY23.3-FY25.3) 

 Concrete Actions 

* Scope 1+2

Carbon Neutral

Values we embrace (5)

Percentage of 
corporate contracts 
supplied with 
renewable energy

Over 60%

Providing next-generation 
renewable energy solutions
• EV station installation
• Virtual power plants (VPP)
• �IoT-based renewable energy 

infrastructure maintenance

Carbon Neutral *

• Fiscal 2026 (data centers)  

• Fiscal 2030 (KDDI non-consolidated)

• Fiscal 2050 (KDDI Group)

 Social Issue 

● Emergence of various risks from intensifying global warming and climate changes
● Energy crisis following international conflicts and similar events
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*1

*2

*3

KDDI aims to achieve net-zero CO2 emissions in its business activities by fiscal 2030. The KDDI Group as a whole aims to achieve 
net-zero CO2 emissions by fiscal 2050.

Efforts to reduce CO2 emissions
• �Switching to renewable energy to supply the electricity used at 

base stations and telecommunications facilities (including the 
use of non-fossil certificates) 

• �Use of renewable energy in KDDI offices
• �Installation of solar power generation equipment at base 

stations
• �Introduction of energy-efficient technologies at base stations 

and telecommunications facilities*1

As a telecommunications carrier, KDDI believes that the provi-
sion of its telecommunications services can improve broader 
operational efficiency, thereby contributing to a general reduction 
in CO2 emissions and revitalizing society. 

In terms of reducing the burden caused by its own power 
consumption, KDDI will significantly accelerate previous emis-
sions reduction targets through energy-saving measures and 

technological innovation in renewable energy. Our data centers, 
which we operate globally under the TELEHOUSE brand name, 
will be among the first to achieve carbon neutrality by fiscal 
2026. 

* �Refers to data centers where the KDDI Group owns the buildings and facilities; excludes 
the data center facilities that provide services by borrowing some of other companies’  
facilities and equipment.

Aim to Achieve Net-Zero CO2 Emissions in Our Business Activities by fiscal 2030

Aim to Achieve Carbon Neutrality in Worldwide Data Centers* by Fiscal 2026

■ Roadmap Toward Net-Zero CO2 Emissions

In February 2022, the KDDI Group obtained SBT certification under the international Sci-
ence-Based Targets initiative (SBTi). In addition to the CO2 emissions reduction targets set 
by KDDI on a non-consolidated basis (in Japan), the KDDI Group as a whole will further 
promote measures to address climate change by setting new targets. To reduce CO2 
emissions, we will promote energy efficiency and shift to renewable energy for cell phone 
base stations and telecommunications equipment. 

Obtained SBT Certification, an International Initiative for Climate Change

■ About this goal

Target Items Targets (group)

Scope 1 Direct GHG emissions from their business activities

By fiscal 2030, reduce CO2 emissions by 50% compared with fiscal 2019
Scope 2

Indirect GHG emissions from the use of electricity, heat, and steam 
supplied by other companies

Scope 3
Indirect GHG emissions other than Scope 2 
(emissions by others related to business activities)

By fiscal 2030, reduce CO2 emissions by 14% compared with fiscal 2019

• �Shared use of base stations with other companies*2

• �New energy-efficient telecommunications facilities
• �Optimization of air conditioning efficiency in data centers
• �Use of hydrogen-powered vehicles during disasters and other 

emergencies*3

• �Investment in environmentally-friendly initiatives through the 
KDDI Green Partners Fund

Office

FY22.3

1,090,000
CO2 Emissions 

(t-CO2)
1,000,000

0

CO2 emissions 
associated with 
telecommunications 
equipments power 
consumption

Mobile phone base
stations & data centers 

Reduction through energy-saving 
measures & switching to 
renewable energy
* �Energy-saving measures: 3G service 

suspension, facility sharing, adoption of 
energy-saving technologies

FY2030 
target

FY2050

Shift forward 20 years 
from FY2050

Carbon Neutral▲  

Values we embrace (5)  Carbon Neutral3

FY2030 KDDI 
(non-consolidated) 

carbon neutral

 �KDDI and Nokia agree on Japan’s first 
demonstration test to reduce base station 
power usage by up to 50% using AI control 
(Japanese only)

 �KDDI Corporation and SoftBank Corp. 
Establish Joint Venture to Promote the Rapid 
Build-out of 5G Networks in Japan’s Rural 
Areas

 �Demonstration experiment of base stations 
operating with zero CO2 emissions using 
hydrogen-powered vehicles  
(Japanese only)

 KDDI’s CO2 Emission reduction Targets obtain approval from SBT Initiative
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In November 2021, we established the “KDDI Green Partners 
Fund” to invest 5 billion yen over 5 years to support startups 
working to address climate change issues. The slogan of the 
KDDI Green Partners Fund is “Connecting a prosperous planet 
to the future.” KDDI believes that innovation through co-creation 
that transcends corporate and organizational frameworks will be 
a major driving force toward achieving carbon neutrality. We 
provide funding to startup companies that address climate 
change issues through this fund. By utilizing KDDI’s various 
assets as growth opportunities for portfolio companies, we will 
work together to promote technological innovation and the 
diffusion and expansion of new technologies in the environmen-
tal field. As our first project, in March 2022 we invested in Ene-
Coat Technologies Co., Ltd., a developer of next-generation 
solar cells. More solar power generation facilities are required to 
achieve carbon neutrality, but in Japan, where flat land is scarce, 
there is expected to be a shortage of suitable sites for solar 
power generation facilities. As a solution to this problem, the 
anticipated next-generation solar cells can be installed in places 
where the existing technology does not permit this. The per-
ovskite solar cells developed by EneCoat Technologies combine 
“thin,” “lightweight,” and “bendable” properties with high power 
generation efficiency and are expected to be applied to building 
walls and roofs with low load-bearing capacity. They also offer 

high power generation efficiency in medium and low-illumination 
areas, such as under cloudy skies and indoor lighting, where 
existing photovoltaic systems have been unable to achieve 
sufficient power generation efficiency. In terms of both area and 
illumination, these advances are expected to resolve the installa-
tion constraints of existing technologies. KDDI is planning to 
conduct demonstration experiments with Enecoat Technologies 
on renewable energy generation at cell phone base stations and 
hopes to install the system at base stations in the future. 

KDDI Green Partners Fund

On September 1, 2021, the KDDI Group launched the au Elec-
tricity “eco Plan,” an environmentally friendly electricity service 
with virtually 100% renewable energy for individual customers. 
Under this plan, a portion of the electricity charges is donated to 
environmental conservation activities, allowing customers to 
contribute to environmental conservation by subscribing to this 
plan. The donations will be used for environmental conservation 
activities such as afforestation and reforestation through the 
Organization for Industrial, Spiritual and Cultural Advancement 
(OISCA), an international cooperation NGO that conducts envi-
ronmental conservation activities and rural development, mainly 
in the Asia-Pacific region. 

The KDDI Group also participated in the Ministry of Econo-
my, Trade and Industry’s “Virtual Power Plant Construction 
Verification Project” for five years from FY17.3 to FY21.3 and in 
the “Verification Project for Further Utilization of Distributed 
Energy Resources” from FY22.3 to FY23.3. In those projects, we 
accumulated through demonstrations technical issues related to 
the control of household storage batteries and the improvement 
of accuracy, as well as the use of 5G communications and 
Multi-Access Edge Computing (MEC) technologies to achieve 
higher speed and accuracy. 

In the future, we intend to contribute to solving issues related 

to the introduction of domestic renewable energy by utilizing the 
control technology developed through the verification experi-
ment and mobile communications technology such as 5G, which 
is indispensable for control, to help maintain the balance be-
tween supply and demand of electricity. 

Contributing to the Carbon Neutrality of Society through the Energy Business 

 KDDI Green Partners Fund (Japanese only)

 �Investment in Enecoat Technologies, a Developer of Next-Generation Solar Cells 
 (Japanese only)

  Eco Plan (Japanese only)
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On June 18, 2021, KDDI and Nokia Solutions and Networks Japan 
G.K. (hereafter referred to as “Nokia”) agreed to conduct a verifica-
tion test aimed at reducing CO2 emissions by reducing the power 
consumption at mobile phone base stations (hereafter referred to 
as the “Verification Test”). In this Verification Test, Nokia’s two 
technologies, namely base station AI control technology and base 
station liquid cooling technology, were introduced into a commer-
cial mobile phone base station for the first time in Japan. 

Base station AI control technology analyzes changes in traffic 
volume at each base station and dynamically stops or fires radio 
waves to reduce power consumption by up to 50%, while base 

station liquid cooling technology aims to reduce power consump-
tion by 70% or more for air conditioning in rooms housing base 
station equipment. 

Based on the results from the verification of the effectiveness 
of each technology and the confirmation of the service impact on 
customers, KDDI will conduct necessary additional development 
and identify target base stations, aiming for full-scale introduction 
around 2023. 

Based on the results of this Verification Test, the two compa-
nies will continue to conduct research and development on sys-
tems that enable the reduction of CO2 emissions. 

Indoor installation 
space

Indoor installation 
space

Indoor installation space

Exhaust Exhaust 
heatheat

Base station Liquid cooling

AI analysis for 
each base station

Base station monitoring room

Base station AI control

■ �Picture of base station AI control and base station liquid  
cooling introduction

Cool downCool down

Reduction of the Electricity Usage Using Base Station AI Control Technology and Base Station Liquid Cooling Technology

KDDI Corporation, Mitsubishi Heavy Industries, Ltd. (hereinafter 
referred to as “Mitsubishi Heavy Industries”), and NEC Networks & 
System Integration Corporation (hereinafter referred to as “NEC 
Nets-SI”) launched a demonstration experiment on June 21, 2021, 
to reduce power consumption and promote decarbonization for 
the purpose of global environmental conservation. The project 
utilizes immersion cooling systems that cool servers with liquid and 
has started a demonstration experiment (hereinafter referred to as 
“the demonstration”) with the aim of realizing a small data center 
by housing it in a container and implement in Japan in FY23.3. 

In this demonstration, KDDI, Mitsubishi Heavy Industries, and 
NEC Nets-SI bring their respective strengths beyond the indus-
try’s boundaries to house 50 kVA worth of servers and immersion 
cooling systems in a 12-ft container, aiming for energy efficiency 
below PUE 1.1 – the lowest level in the industry – while providing 
sufficient cooling performance. This is expected to reduce the 
power consumption of the data center by approximately 35%, 
meeting the challenge of data centers consuming enormous 
amounts of electricity, thereby reducing CO2 emissions. 

In addition, it will complement existing data center processing 
by providing more options for data center placement, greatly easing 
installation environments and conditions and making data centers 
easier to install, enabling data processing at higher speeds and with 

less latency. Furthermore, the high-performance and high-density 
cooling mechanisms will provide a solution for larger data centers 
to increase the number of servers and reduce energy consumption. 

The three companies will continue to contribute to the devel-
opment of digital transformation (DX) in Japan as well as to 
decarbonization and global environmental conservation through 
this demonstration. 

Utilization of Immersion Cooling Systems and a Demonstration Experiment for the Realization of Small Data Centers

The server cooling system and the small data center

 �KDDI, Mitsubishi Heavy Industries, and NEC Nets-SI launching a demonstra-
tion experiment for the use of immersion cooling systems and the realization 
of small data centers (Japanese only)
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Implementation of the Satellite Growth Strategy aimed at expanding 
business in priority areas centering on communications requires 
collaboration with group companies engaged in many different 
business domains. As of March 2022, KDDI had 159 consolidated 
subsidiaries and 38 affiliates in its corporate group. In light of the 
diversification of businesses and group companies, the significance 
of establishing a solid management foundation by increasing the 
governance of the whole group is increasing. In addition, the risk 
management system needs to be improved to prevent compliance 
violations and misconduct.  A robust information security is increas-
ingly necessary for the protection of diverse information assets from 
cyberterrorism and other attacks. 

KDDI’s Group Management  Infrastructure  Support Department 
was newly established within the Corporate Management Division. It 
plays a central role in understanding the problems facing group 
companies and in discussions for the provision of appropriate 
support. Thus, we are working to strengthen group governance. 

Respect for human rights is a very significant matter in the global 
community. We have defined it as an important issue for us to 
address. We consider human rights in all our business activities and 
eliminate human rights abuses in the supply chain in an effort to 
ensure the continuous growth of society. Businesses must respect 
human rights in extensive areas. As a telecommunications operator, 
we understand that giving consideration to human rights in the use 
of artificial intelligence (AI), the metaverse and other new services 

and content is a new issue that must be addressed. 
We will also increase the effectiveness of the Human Rights 

Subcommittee under the Sustainability Committee and ensure the 
constant operation of the PDCA cycle in human rights due diligence. 
We also encourage suppliers to agree to the KDDI Group Sustain-
able and Responsible Procurement Policy and interview and con-
duct visiting inspections of high-risk suppliers to enhance supply 
chain management. 

The KDDI Group Mission Statement reads, “The KDDI Group values 
and cares about the material and emotional well-being of all its 
employees, and delivers a thrilling customer experience by always 
going further than expected with the ultimate goal of achieving a 
truly connected society.” The KDDI Group Philosophy acts as a 
perspective, values and code of conduct that each of us should 
keep and observe to fulfill the mission statement and achieve 
sustainable growth. It is the starting point of the KDDI Group’s 
sustainability management. We often hold philosophy workshops for 
individual ranks and organizations to ensure the KDDI Group Mis-
sion Statement and the KDDI Group Philosophy are well understood 
and implemented throughout the Group and that all employees will 
behave guided by common values and a high ethical standard. 

We also work to gain a good understanding of the KDDI Group’s 
perspective and actions regarding sustainability from our suppliers. 
We are taking joint actions with them to address necessary issues. 

We will carry out these actions to solidify the management 
foundation of the entire KDDI Group. We will support the Satellite 
Growth Strategy, our business strategy, and we will endeavor to 
create social and environmental value through our business. 

Group Governance Supported by the Penetration and 
Entrenchment of the KDDI Group Philosophy

Progressing Governance of the Diversifying Group 
Companies

Regarding Respect for Human Rights as a Key Issue 
to Address

Materiality

4
Strengthening the Group Management Base
Through Progressing Governance
Values we embrace (6) Strengthening the management base of the entire KDDI Group
Values we embrace (7) Respect for Human Rights

Executive Officer
The Deputy Executive Director, Corporate Sector and 
the General Manager of the Sustainability Management Division

Nanae Saishoji

Carry out the Satellite Growth Carry out the Satellite Growth 
Strategy based on sustainability Strategy based on sustainability 
management and strengthen management and strengthen 
the management foundation the management foundation 
that supports itthat supports it
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No. of serious incidents*1

(Governance and Information 
Security)

0

Number of advanced  
security technology initiatives*2  
(Mid-Term cumulative total)

15

Occurrence of cyberterrorism, data leakage, compli-
ance violation and misconduct

Occurrence of human rights violations
(in the entire value chain, including KDDI and group companies)

● �Loss of social confi-
dence after data leak-
age or personal 
information leakage

● �Degradation of corpo-
rate brand value and 
impediment to the 
development of a sus-
tainable society due to 
not addressing human 
rights violations

● ��Implementation of the 
Satellite Growth 
Strategy and the man-
agement foundation 
supporting it

● �Sound development of 
KDDI’s businesses 
through the realization of 
a society free of human 
rights violations and the 
establishment of busi-
ness activities without 
human rights violations

Respect for 
human rights 
in all business 
activities

● �Ensure the KDDI Group Mission Statement 
and the KDDI Group Philosophy are well 
understood and implemented and maintain 
a high ethical standard by following the 
KDDI Code of Business Conduct

● �Corporate culture of respecting human 
rights through management based on 
the KDDI Group Philosophy

▼   �Strengthen the corporate support structure 
for group companies

▼  Increase governance using shared services

▼  Construct and advance a risk control system

▼   Improve security to protect information 
assets from cyberattack

▼  Solidify the foundation for data governance

▼   Carry out research and development to 
improve security technologies

▼   Observing the KDDI Group Human Rights 
Policy
(1) Respect for human rights in all business activities
(2) Avoid or reduce any negative impacts on human rights
(3) Avoid involvement in infringement of human rights
(4) �Promote human rights enlightenment activities for all KDDI 

Group officers and employees 

▼   Continue human rights due diligence

▼   Enhance supply chain management

 Mid-Term Sustainability Targets (FY23.3-FY25.3)  Mid-Term Sustainability Targets (FY23.3-FY25.3) 

 Concrete Actions  Concrete Actions 

 Strengths  Strengths 

 Risks  Risks 

 Social Issue  Social Issue 

 Opportunities  Opportunities 

*1 �Cases that require reporting or notifica-
tion to the competent authorities and 
cause severe damage to reputation.

*2 �Number of news releases and topics  
by KDDI non-consolidated and KDDI 
Research, Inc.

Strengthening 
the Management Base of 

the Entire KDDI Group
Respect for Human Rights

Values we embrace (6) Values we embrace (7)

Improvement rate for suppliers 
that may be violating human rights
 (consider suspending business with them if 
they fail to respond)

Improvement rate:100%

74KDDI  Integrated Sustainability and Financial Report 2022



75

Introduction     Vision     Material Issues    Governance     Data

New Materiality     Materiality 1     Materiality 2     Materiality 3     Materiality 4     Materiality 5     

In April 2022, KDDI established the Group Management Infra-
structure Support Department within the Corporate Management 
Division. The objective is to establish a system to strengthen 
group governance through the CFO by assigning the CFOs of 
domestic and overseas subsidiaries (with exceptions) to the 
Group Management Infrastructure Support Department of the 
parent company, KDDI, and its subsidiaries.

Moreover, KDDI periodically visits the presidents and CFOs 
of subsidiaries to conduct interviews to understand the issues 
faced by each company. The issues identified are discussed at 
the “Group Governance Support Meeting” with the Group 
Management Infrastructure Support Department as the secretar-
iat, in cooperation with relevant departments within KDDI, to 
provide appropriate support to resolve the issues.

We are also promoting efforts to improve the skills of CFOs 
and develop human resources through lectures by experienced 
CFOs and discussions among CFOs.

The KDDI Group has long been engaged in group-wide risk 
management activities, including countermeasures against 
important risks and the company-wide sharing of incidents and 
accidents. In light of the expansion of business domains and the 
diversification of group companies through the promotion of the 
Satellite Growth Strategy, we are rebuilding a common group 
risk management system to further strengthen group gover-
nance.

We will promote DX for the real-time centralized manage-
ment of the important risks and countermeasure status of KDDI 
and group companies, internal and external incident/accident 
information, and basic internal controls that each organization 
should maintain and operate, aiming for more efficient and 
effective risk management throughout the group than ever 
before. The DX will visualize the status of risks and internal 
controls in each organization, further improve the effectiveness 
of the so-called “three lines model” in the business, manage-
ment, and audit divisions, and enable management to anticipate 
risks and give timely instructions on risk responses. 

By rebuilding our risk management system, we will strength-
en our group governance as a defensive measure, as well as 
appropriately take risks as an offensive measure, to promote 
contributions to the sustainable growth of society and increase 
our corporate value.

In April 2022, KDDI established the Corporate Sharing Service 
Division within the Corporate Sector to provide outsourced 
corporate operations (accounting, payroll, purchasing, etc.) for 
group companies. The Corporate Sharing Service Division is 
entrusted with the corporate operations of 31 group companies* 
and provides shared services on a full-cloud basis.

Moreover, KDDI provided support for the establishment of 
companies in the Satellite Growth Strategy focus areas of five 
companies: KDDI SmartDrone Inc., KDDI Digital Divergence 
Holdings Corporation, KDDI AGILE DEVELOPMENT CENTER 
CORPORATION, au Energy Holdings Corporation, and au Energy 
& Life Inc. This support included assistance in reviewing various 
rules and regulations and assisting with various procedures. In 
addition to the establishment of these companies, KDDI also 
began providing shared services for corporate operations.

* as of Aug 1, 2022

The KDDI Group considers the enhancement of information 
security to be an important issue. The group is promoting initia-
tives to strengthen security and data governance infrastructure 
to protect information assets from cyberattacks, and is conduct-
ing research and development to enhance security technologies.

In FY23.3, we are working to improve privacy governance 
and data management levels by formulating a company-wide 
data management basic policy for data management operations, 
as well as by formulating group governance rules focusing on 
joint users of personal information.

As part of its efforts in advanced security technologies, KDDI 
is promoting research and development and international stan-
dardization in all areas of information security, including elemen-
tal technologies for cryptography and authentication, to support 
KDDI’s next-generation infrastructure. Furthermore, we are 
developing “next-generation cryptography,” such as lightweight 
and strong quantum computer resistant cryptography, which can 
be used in devices with low computing performance, including 
IoT devices. We are also accumulating knowledge on privacy 
assurance through user-participatory verification experiments, 
which is necessary for security research that takes human 
factors into account. We will continue to promote research and 
development to enhance privacy protection technologies that 
customers can trust and be satisfied with.

Strengthening the Corporate Support System for 
Group Companies

Establish and Upgrade Risk Control Systems

Strengthening Governance by Utilizing Shared Services

Robust KDDI Group Information Security to Support 
Governance

Strengthening the Group Management Base Through Progressing Governance▲  

Values we embrace (6)  Strengthening the Management Base of the Entire KDDI Group4



 Joined the UN Global Compact, the world’s largest sustainability initiative (Japanese only)

 KDDI Group Human Rights Policy
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The KDDI Group recognizes that all of our business activities are 
premised on respect for human rights. We believe that we have a 
responsibility to respect the human rights of our employees, busi-
ness partners, and all other stakeholders involved in our business 
activities, as well as to prevent and mitigate human rights violations.

In July 2022, KDDI joined the United Nations Global Compact. 
Under the top management commitment, we will work on respect-
ing human rights in our business activities.

Conducting a Sustainable Procurement Survey
We have conducted a survey targeting our leading business 
partners (key suppliers*) using a Sustainable Procurement Survey 
since FY15.3. The survey covers seven themes, namely human 
rights and labor, safety and health, environment, fair and ethical 
trade, quality and safety, information security and contribution to 
society, as defined in the KDDI Sustainable and Responsible 
Procurement Guidelines based on the Responsible Business 
Alliance (RBA) code of conduct and Responsible Business Con-
duct Guidelines published by the Japan Electronics and Informa-
tion Technology Industries Association (JEITA). In addition to 
them, it also covers other items that KDDI deems pertinent to the 
company, focusing on human rights and labor, health and safety, 
and environment. Through this survey, we make sure of sharing 
the KDDI Sustainable and Responsible Procurement Policy and 
other necessary information with suppliers. In  FY22.3, we asked 
our primary suppliers representing approximately the top 90% of 
the total value of orders to answer the survey and received re-
sponses from over 98% of them. We use these responses to 
understand the supply chain situation and analyze risks.

Supplier Evaluation and Risk Assessment
We will take necessary measures to reduce risks, for example by 
conducting additional on-site research for suppliers with any risk 
from perspectives, such as human rights and labor, health and 
safety, and environment. To manage high risk suppliers, we added 
a new set of questions to the Sustainable Procurement Surveys 
from FY22.3, leading to strengthened risk assessment in the 
supply chain. The questions are divided into two parts: one on 
human rights including conflict minerals and the technical intern 
trainees, and the other on the environment including CO2 emis-
sions for scopes 1, 2, and 3. If a supplier is deemed to be at high 
risk, we will take corrective actions such as additional investiga-
tion through on-site audits and support through improvement 
proposals.

* �Key suppliers: Suppliers with high transaction volume, suppliers of critical parts, and 
non-substitutable suppliers that account for approximately 90% of the total value of 
orders placed by the Group.

In order to fulfill our responsibility to respect human rights and 
further accelerate our efforts, the KDDI Group revised the KDDI 
Group Human Rights Policy in October 2022. This policy was 
discussed and approved by the Corporate Management Commit-
tee and the Board of Directors. 

In light of the increasing momentum in the demand for compa-
nies to take responsibility for respecting human rights, the revised 
policy clearly stipulates compliance with international laws and 
regulations, the continuous implementation of human rights due 
diligence, and dialogue with stakeholders.

In accordance with this policy, all Group employees will respect 
international standards such as the Universal Declaration of Human 
Rights and are committed to respecting human rights in accordance 
with the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights.

Furthermore, we will strive to protect the human rights of all 
stakeholders, including employees, customers, and business part-
ners, and contribute to the achievement of a truly connected society.

At the Sustainability Committee (which convenes twice a year) 
chaired by the President, KDDI determines the policy on activities 
related to human rights, develops and reviews the promotion 
structure, and checks the activities’ progress against targets. We 
will work on respecting human rights under the top management 
commitment.

We have also set up the Human Rights Subcommittee (which 
convenes twice a year) under the Sustainability Committee. The 
Subcommittee functions as an organization to propose and discuss 
the human rights issues of the entire KDDI Group and is headed by 
the General Manager of the Sustainability Management Division. 
The participants include the Corporate Risk Management Division, 
General Administration Division, Human Resources Division, 
Procurement Division, and other related business divisions.

Based on the "KDDI Group Human Rights Policy," we will hold 
discussions on the promotion of respect for human rights, conduct 
human rights due diligence, and study measures to address human 
rights issues, in order to promote Group-wide efforts to respect 
human rights.

Basic Approach

The KDDI Group has conducted human rights due diligence in 
accordance with the UN Guiding Principles on Business and 
Human Rights. In the initiatives, we have identified the human 
rights issues that global companies are expected to address and 
have reflected them when considering measures. 

In FY23.3, we carried out a human rights impact assessment 
of our business activities and value chains, identifying key 
human rights issues in the KDDI Group by leveraging external 
experts’ advice. The KDDI Group Human Rights Policy, revised 
this fiscal year, clearly states the important human rights issues. 
We will continue to comply with this policy, and examine and 
implement measures through the human rights due diligence 
mechanism in cooperation with related divisions.

Human Rights Due Diligence 

Respect for Human Rights in the Supply Chain

Human Rights Policy

Structure
▲  

Values we embrace (7)  Respect for Human Rights

https://news.kddi.com/kddi/corporate/newsrelease/2022/07/25/6179.html
https://www.kddi.com/english/corporate/kddi/philosophy/human-rights/


The KDDI Version Job Style Personnel System, launched in 
August 2020, has shaken up the established concept of mana-
gerial positions by creating a new type, “core management 
positions.” This makes managerial positions open not only to 
people who can fulfill the roles traditionally expected of manag-
ers, but also to expert talent who can lead projects by utilizing 
their strong expertise in specialized fields. Another feature of the 
KDDI Version Job Style Personnel System is that it does not 
focus on simply building high-level expertise; it also emphasizes 
nurturing well-rounded character and competencies. Since its 
introduction, this system has not only supported younger per-
sonnel, but has also encouraged experienced generalists in their 
40s or 50s to start rethinking their career path.

At the same time, we are continuing to promote regular 
one-on-one meetings between employees and their supervisors 
in order to ensure the psychological safety necessary for a 
welcoming and rewarding workplace, and to improve employee 
engagement. Better engagement enhances the performance of 
not only individual employees, but also teams and the company 
as a whole, and thus also helps to provide value to society. We 
are counting on our personnel system to create an environment 
that enables diverse talent to shine by making the most of their 
expertise, regardless of age or gender—and in doing so increas-
es our enterprise value and contributes to the sustainable growth 
of society. 

Today, the labor market environment is undergoing a sea change. 
For example, the coronavirus pandemic has driven a greater shift 
to work styles unrestricted by time and location. Diversity and 
inclusion are being advanced. Reskilling is being utilized as a 
human resources strategy. The competition for talent is becoming 
fiercer. And, labor mobility is increasing. Meanwhile, the Japanese 
government is calling for profound strengthening of investment in 
people under its vision for bringing forth a “new capitalism.” Going 
forward, KDDI must align with these and other rapid changes in 
society, boost productivity while implementing hybrid work styles, 
and create new value. To do this, we need to maintain a work 
environment that cultivates expert professionals, harnesses their 
talents to the fullest, and enhances employee engagement.

Changes in Society Are Transforming the Work 
Environment

KDDI Version Job Style Personnel System: A Career 
Development Driver for Diverse Talent 

KDDI has produced many innovations over the years by collabo-
rating with various partners and leveraging the knowledge and 
expertise it has amassed in diverse businesses—particularly 
telecommunications, but also DX, finance, energy, and more. The 
source of these innovations is our people. The sustainability goals 
that we are striving to achieve by FY25.3 include nurturing profes-
sionals and improving the DX skills of our entire workforce, includ-
ing executives. The focus on building DX skills across our whole 
organization, rather than just the directly relevant teams, will be a 
strength for us ahead. Furthermore, our cultivation of profession-
als in all sorts of fields will enable us to achieve innovation in many 
different industries through collaboration among our employees, 
and thus will help us to continue providing value to society.

People Solve Challenges for Industry and Society, 
and Are the Source of Value-Creating Innovation

We firmly believe that investment in people is indispensable to 
our creation of innovation, and accordingly we are looking to raise 
our human resource investment in FY23.3 to double that for FY22.3.

Human Resources First
Values we embrace (8) ��Advancement of Professional Human Resources and  

Engagement Improvement

Materiality

5
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Executive Officer
Corporate Sector
General Manager, Human Resources Division

Toru Shiroiwa

Our sophisticated professionals will use Our sophisticated professionals will use 
their talents to the fullest, taking pride their talents to the fullest, taking pride 
and satisfaction in their work.and satisfaction in their work.
Enhancement of employee engagement Enhancement of employee engagement 
will contribute to the sustainable growth will contribute to the sustainable growth 
of society.of society.



(all targets are non-consolidated)

Percentage of professional 
human resources on all 
specialized fields

30%

Improve/maintain 
employee 
engagement score

72 or over

Ratio of female 
directors

20% or over

Percentage of 
females in 
managerial positions

15% or over

Basic DX skills training 
completion* 
 (Mid-Term cumulative total)

All employees

 Mid-Term Sustainability Targets (FY23.3-FY25.3) 

▼   Create innovation by cultivating professionals in many different business fields, and by 
improving the DX skills of all employees, including executives

▼    Use the KDDI Version Job Style Personnel System to drive forward employee career 
development, and create an environment that enables diverse talent to shine

 Concrete Actions 

● Difficulty of securing outstanding human resourc-
es as the working age population shrinks from 
low birthrate and population aging

● �Increased cost of providing attractive work 
environment that offers various work styles 
accommodating diverse talent

 Risks 

Businesses need to create new value as they align themselves with changes in society—such as adapting to the 
coronavirus pandemic’s transformation of the labor market environment, and profoundly strengthening investment 

in people as called for by the vision for “new capitalism” announced by the Japanese government in June 2022 

 Social Issue 

Securing of diverse talent by developing tangi-
ble and intangible aspects of the work environ-
ment under KDDI Version Job Style Personnel 
System, Promotion of internal DX and the 
Declaration of KDDI New Work Styles.

 Opportunities 

*Learning opportunities to be expanded to Group

Advancement of Professional Human Resources 
and Engagement Improvement

Values we embrace (8)

 Strengths 

● Cultivation of DX-focused talent who can collaborate with all sorts of industries

●  KDDI Version Job Style Personnel System: Shakes up the established concept of managerial 
positions, nurtures professionals with well-rounded character and competencies
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Workstyle 
reforms

3

Internal DX

2

New
personnel 

system

1In August 2020, we introduced the KDDI Version Job Style Person-
nel System to realize sustainable growth of KDDI through each 
employee’s professionalism. In this system, “Job Style” is used to 
define the areas of job functions. Employees’ achievements, 
commitment to meeting challenges, and skills are directly reward-
ed, thereby “creating and nurturing professionals.” 

To achieve sustained growth, KDDI is working to expand new 
business areas while its business continues to revolve around 
telecommunications. This means that there will be more fields 
where our employees can pursue successful careers.

To expand our business areas, we need talented human resourc-
es with more specialized skills and knowledge. KDDI hopes that all 
employees actively acquire skills they can apply in new business 
areas while they leverage their years of experience in the telecommu-
nications business, so that they will become professionals capable of 
working successfully both within and outside the company. 

Through these actions, we will achieve transformation to a “human 
resource-first company,” that is, a company that values employees as 
the most valuable resources fundamental to management.

Promoting gender equality and female empowerment not only deepens 
our understanding of women’s human rights but leads to solutions to 
issues in international society and corporate sustainable development. 

Our commitment to gender equality is reflected in the Mid-Term 
Management Strategy, and we are promoting the advancement of 
women as a business strategy. We at KDDI strive to create an environ-
ment and climate where diverse human resources can make the most 
of their strengths and achieve high performance. We are focusing on 
cultivating female leaders and; raising awareness of gender issues 
while changing the behavior of management and improving the work-

ing environment, to support women’s ambitions and career growth 
even after life events such as childbirth and during child-rearing. 

We believe that the participation of women in the company’s 
decision-making will enhance our corporate strengths and are 
focusing on developing female leaders. Under the new personnel 
system introduced in FY21.3, we define “personnel in managerial 
positions” as organizational leaders with the authority to evaluate 
personnel and experts in specialized fields. We have set a 
numerical target to increase the percentage of females in mana-
gerial positions to 15% or over by the end of FY25.3.

In January 2017, we launched full-scale initiatives for workstyle, 
including setting indicators related to working hours, reforms to 
promote fundamental changes in awareness and behavior 
toward a work style that is more productive. We also established 
the Work Style Reform Promotion Committee as part of the 
initiatives. The committee members consist of General Managers 
representing Divisions and the General Manager of Human 
Resources Division is the chair. Since April 2018, the heads of 
strategic subsidiaries have also been participants. In FY20.3, we 
set up a project team to facilitate employees’ diverse work 
styles. Since FY21.3, in accordance with the KDDI Declaration of 
New Work Styles, the team has been working to establish an 
environment (e.g., the promotion of DX) that enables diverse 
work styles, and working on the vision of new work styles under 
the introduction of the KDDI Version Job Style Personnel Sys-
tem, thereby further driving work style reforms to transform KDDI 
into a company that puts human resources first.

KDDI Version Job Style Personnel System

Professional Advancement of Women

Workstyle Reforms

■ Operational Framework of the Work Style Reform Promotion Committee

Phase 2
Mid-Term Management Strategy 

(FY23.3-FY25.3)
Phase 1

New work styles to enhance 
engagement

Improvement of DX skills of all 
employees and development of 

professional human resource

Diverse human resource
vitalization and D&I through

HR system

Upgrading the foundation for the 
new normal3

Full-scale start of DX personnel 
training (establishing KDDI DX 

University)
2

Introducing the KDDI Version Job 
Style Personnel System1

Secretariat 
 (Work Style Reform & 
Health Management 

Department)

Work Style Reform 
Project Team

Instruct response Report

Instruct 
response

Report 
deliberate 
issues

KDDI Evolva, Inc., KDDI Engineering Corporation, KDDI MATOMETE OFFICE 
CORPORATION, Chubu Telecommunications Co., Inc., BIGLOBE Inc., UQ 
Communications Inc., OKINAWA CELLULAR TELEPHONE COMPANY, au Financial 
Holdings Corporation, AEON Holdings Corporation, ENERES Co., Ltd.

Compliance

Make
improvements

Make 
requests

Environment Creation

Work Style Reform Promotion Committee
Chair: General Manager, Human Resources Division

Committee members: All Division’s General Managers / 
Presidents of strategic subsidiaries

＋
Departments

Strategic Subsidiaries

Management Level

Evolving our unified 
three-part reform 
initiatives into Phase 2

Human Resources First▲  

Values we embrace (8)  Advancement of Professional Human Resources and Engagement Improvement5

 �KDDI Version Job Style Personnel System Introduced to Enable Work Styles that Lead 
to Achievements Regardless of When and Where Employees Work (Japanese only)
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To promote DX, we established KDDI DX University in FY21.3 as 
an internal human resources development organization. We are 
developing DX human resources by defining five specialized 
fields: Business Development, Consultant & Product Manager, 
Technologist, Data Scientist, and Experience Architect. The 
unique feature of this program is that it is incorporated into the 
personnel system as a way to promote job specialization, and 

we will increase the number of DX human resources in the entire 
group to approximately 4,000 by FY24.3. Additionally, all em-
ployees will acquire basic DX skills by FY25.3, and the ratio of 
professional human resources in all specialized fields will be 
raised to 30%. These initiatives will promote the shift of person-
nel to focus areas and maximize the organizational strengths to 
promote business strategies centered on DX.

KDDI DX University (In-house human resources development organization)

A dedicated People Analytics unit will be established to imple-
ment data-driven human resources practices. 

They will contribute to the company, management, and 
employee engagement by providing information for deci-
sion-making and problem-solving through the expansion of 

KDDI has introduced X-Career, a talent management system that 
proactively supports diverse growth and challenge opportunities 
for employees utilizing a wide range of business domains. The 
system is designed to enable each employee to expand and 
deepen their careers, and to create innovation through the 
integration of each career. Employees express their professional 
skills, areas of interest, and career aspirations on the system, 
and develop their careers autonomously through one-on-one 

KDDI conducts a quarterly Employee Engagement Survey 
because we believe that if our employees feel motivated and 
enjoy working, the company will continue to grow. 

This survey measures employee engagement as defined by 
KDDI, namely each employee’s level of “voluntary contribution 
and motivation toward the company and their work,” to generate 
key indicators. The results of the survey are shared in real time 
with the leaders of each organization. Instead of the Human 
Resources Department analyzing the results of employee en-

human resources data analysis methods, the expansion of 
analytical data, and the advancement of visualization to improve 
employee engagement and productivity, including rapid PDCA 
cycles for human resources processes and the visualization of 
human capital management information.

career planning with their supervisors, searching for role models 
and career maps that match their own interests, gap analysis 
through evaluations and human resource reviews, and reassign-
ment, positional change, and matching cycle through open 
recruitment and internal side jobs. 

By utilizing this system in line with the objectives and policies 
of the new personnel system, we aim to realize employee growth 
as well as sustainable growth of the company.

gagement and formulating the measures, the leader of each 
organization shares the results with their members and discuss-
es what issues their organization faces and what actions to take 
to increase employee motivation and satisfaction. We believe 
that this process will, in itself, improve the level of employee 
engagement. 

We are committed to improving employee engagement by 
rolling out this activity company-wide.

Productivity Improvements through Data-Driven Human Resources Practices

Talent Management

Improving Employee Engagement

プロフェッショナル人財 DX人財

注力領域への要員シフト

KDDI版ジョブ型人事制度の浸透

全専門領域で
プロ人財比率30％ KDDIグループへ拡大

DX基礎スキル習得
全社員 11,000人超

※

Maximizing organizational 
strengths to drive business 
strategy centered on DX Penetration of KDDI Version Job Style  

Personnel System

In all specialized fields

Professional human resources ratio 30%
(FY25.3 Targets)

Professional Human Resources

Shifting essential personnel into focus areas

DX basic skill acquisition
All employees over 11,000

Expand to KDDI Group
(FY25.3 Targets)

DX Human Resources
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Feb. 2, 1960 Born

Oct.	2014	 Executive Officer
Apr.	2017	 Managing Executive Officer
Jun.	2017	 Managing Executive Officer, Director
Apr.	2019	 Executive Director, Solution Business Sector 
		  (Current position)
Jun.	2019	 Senior Managing Executive Officer, Director 
Jun.	2022	 Executive Vice President, Director 
		  (Current position)

Jun. 26, 1960 Born

Apr.	2012	 Executive Officer
Apr.	2019	 Managing Executive Officer
Jun.	2019	 Managing Executive Officer, Director
Apr.	2022	 Executive Director, Personal Business and 
		  Global Consumer Business Sector 
		  (Current position)
Jun.	2022	 Executive Vice President, Director 
		  (Current position)

Feb. 26, 1957 Born

Apr.	2003	 Executive Officer
Jun.	2007	 Managing Executive Officer, Director
Jun.	2010	 Senior Managing Executive Officer, 
		  Representative Director
Dec.	2010	 President, Representative Director
Apr.	2018	 Chairman, Representative Director  
		  (Current position)
Jun.	2021	 Outside Director of Astellas Pharma Inc. 
		  (Current position)

Apr. 19, 1965 Born

Apr.	2020	 Executive Officer, Executive Director,
		  Technology Sector (Current position)
Jun.	2020	 Executive Officer, Director
Apr.	2021	 Managing Executive Officer, Director
Jun.	2022	 Senior Managing Executive Officer, 
		  Director (Current position)

Oct. 24, 1961 Born

Apr.	2003	 Executive Officer
Jun.	2007	 Managing Executive Officer, Director
Jun.	2010	 Senior Managing Executive Officer, 
		  Representative Director
Jun.	2016	 Executive Vice President, Representative  
		  Director
Apr.	2018	 President, Representative Director  
		  (Current position)

Mar. 2, 1960 Born

Oct.	2010	 Executive Officer
Apr.	2016	 Managing Executive Officer
Jun.	2016	 Managing Executive Officer, Director
Apr.	2018	 Executive Director, Corporate Sector  
		  (Current position)
Jun.	2018	 Senior Managing Executive Officer,  
		  Director
Jun.	2020	 Executive Vice President, Representative  
		  Director (Current position)

Takashi Tanaka
Chairman, 
Representative Director

Number of the 
Company’s 
shares held: 62,500

Keiichi Mori
Director,  
Executive Vice President

Number of the 
Company’s 
shares held: 15,600

Toshitake Amamiya
Director,  
Executive Vice President

Number of the 
Company’s 
shares held: 41,300

Kazuyuki Yoshimura
Senior Managing 
Executive Officer, Director

Number of the 
Company’s 
shares held: 6,400

Makoto Takahashi
President, 
Representative Director

Number of the 
Company’s 
shares held: 35,700

Shinichi Muramoto
Executive Vice President, 
Representative Director

Number of the 
Company’s 
shares held: 13,500

Jan. 21, 1956 Born

Jun.	2009	� Director and Managing Executive Officer of 
Kyocera Corporation

Apr.	2013	� President and Representative Director, 
President and Executive Officer of Kyocera 
Corporation

Apr.	2017	� Chairman of the Board and Representative 
Director of Kyocera Corporation (Current posi-
tion)

Jun.	2017	 Outside Director of KDDI (Current position)

●

Goro Yamaguchi  
Director

Number of the 
Company’s 
shares held: 11,900

Mar. 28, 1961 Born

Apr.	2016	� Executive General Manager of TOYOTA MOTOR 
CORPORATION

Apr.	2017	� Managing Officer of TOYOTA MOTOR 
CORPORATION

Jun.	2019	 Outside Director of KDDI (Current position)
Jul.	 2019	� President, TOYOTA Connected Corporation 

(Current position)
		�  Operating Officer of TOYOTA MOTOR 

CORPORATION
Jan.	2021	� Operating Officer and Chief Information & Security 

Officer of TOYOTA MOTOR CORPORATION 
(Current position)

Jun.	2021	� Chief Product Integration Officer of TOYOTA 
MOTOR CORPORATION (Current position)

●

Keiji Yamamoto  
Director

Number of the 
Company’s 
shares held: 900

May 11, 1966 Born

Apr.	1993	 Registered as attorney at law
Jan.	2005	 Partner, Tanabe & Partners (Current position)
Aug.	2014	� Member of Commission on Policy for Persons 

with Disabilities of Cabinet Office (Current 
position)

Jun.	2015	� Outside Director of The Yamanashi Chuo Bank, 
Ltd. (Current position)

Feb.	2017	� Member of Examination Committee for Relief 
Assistance of Ministry of Health, Labour and 
Welfare (Current position)

Jun.	2019	� Outside Director of KDDI (Current position)

●●

Riyo Kano  
Director

Number of the 
Company’s 
shares held: 900

Board Members
Directors

● Outside Director/Outside Audit & Supervisory Board Member    ● Independent Director

(As of June 29, 2022)   * Number of the Company’s shares held as of March 31, 2022
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Dec. 20, 1948 Born

Apr.	1996	� Professor, Department of Computer Science and 
Engineering, School of Science and Engineering 
of Waseda University

Mar.	1997	� Trustee of JNIC (Currently Japan Network 
Information Center (JPNIC)) (Current position)

Apr.	2015	� Chairman of the Research and Development 
Strategies Expert Study Committee of the 
National center of Incident readiness and 
Strategy for Cybersecurity 

Apr.	2019	� Professor Emeritus of Waseda University 
(Current position)

Jun.	2020	� Outside Director of KDDI (Current position)

Oct. 26, 1951 Born

Apr.	2007	� Executive Officer of Mitsui Chemicals, Inc.
Apr.	2010	� Managing Executive Officer of Mitsui 

Chemicals, Inc.
Jun.	2012	� Member of the Board, Managing Executive 

Officer of Mitsui Chemicals, Inc.
Apr.	2013	� Member of the Board, Senior Managing 

Executive Officer of Mitsui Chemicals, Inc.
Jun.	2014	� Representative Director, Member of the Board, 

President & CEO of Mitsui Chemicals, Inc.
Apr.	2020	� Representative Director, Chairperson of the Board 

of Mitsui Chemicals, Inc. (Current position)
Jun.	2022	 Outside Director of KDDI (Current position)

Aug. 31,1954 Born

Feb.	2010	 Executive Officer of Japan Airlines Co., Ltd.
Feb.	2012	� Managing Executive Officer of Japan Airlines Co., Ltd.
Apr.	2013	� Senior Managing Executive Officer of Japan 

Airlines Co., Ltd.
Jun.	2013	� Director, Senior Managing Executive Officer of 

Japan Airlines Co., Ltd.
Apr.	2016	� Representative Director, Senior Managing 

Executive Officer of Japan Airlines Co., Ltd.
Jun.	2018	� Vice Chairperson of Japan Airlines Co., Ltd.
Apr.	2019	� External Affairs Representative of Japan 

Airlines Co., Ltd.
Jun.	2020	� Outside Director of The Shoko Chukin Bank, 

Ltd. (Current position)
Jun.	2022	� Outside Director of KDDI (Current position) 

Outside Director of Asahi Broadcasting Group 
Holdings Corporation (Current position)

●●

Tsutomu Tannowa
Director

Number of the 
Company’s 
shares held: 2,000

●●

Junko Okawa
Director

Number of the 
Company’s 
shares held: 0

●●

Shigeki Goto
Director

Number of the 
Company’s 
shares held: 2,500

Kenichiro Takagi
Full-time Audit & Supervisory 
Board Member

Number of the Company’s 
shares held: 40,600

Noboru Edagawa
Full-time Audit & Supervisory 
Board Member

Number of the Company’s 
shares held: 4,300

●●

Yukihiro Asahina
Full-time Audit & Supervisory 
Board Member

Number of the Company’s 
shares held: 700

●●

Toshihiko 
Matsumiya
Audit & Supervisory 
Board Member

Number of the Company’s 
shares held: 0

●●

Jun Karube
Audit & Supervisory 
Board Member

Number of the Company’s 
shares held: 1,700

Audit & Supervisory Board Members

Composition of Directors and Advisory Committees

Name Representative 
rights Independent Outside Execution of 

Business 
Nomination Advisory 

Committee
Remuneration 

Advisory Committee Other

Takashi Tanaka ● ● ● ● Chairman of Board of Directors

Makoto Takahashi ● ● ● ●

Shinichi Muramoto ● ●

Keiichi Mori ●

Toshitake Amamiya ●

Kazuyuki Yoshimura ●

Goro Yamaguchi ●

Keiji Yamamoto ●

Riyo Kano ● ● ● ● Chairman of Board of Nomination 
Advisory Committee

Shigeki Goto ● ● ● ● Chairman of Board of Remuneration 
Advisory Committee

Tsutomu Tannowa ● ● ● ●

Junko Okawa ● ● ● ●

* During the FY22.3, the Nomination Advisory Committee met on three occasions and the Remuneration Advisory Committee met on two occasions.
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* A business model that transforms diversifying consumption, life experience and behaviors with an eye to the future

Q1. �Expectations toward the New Mid-Term Management Strategy (Sustainability Management, Satellite Growth 
Strategy, Strengthening of Management, etc.)

Q2. �The atmosphere of the Board of Directors, and the effectiveness of its discussions along with the reasons 
(Newly appointed directors: Aspirations for the inauguration)

Q3. Recognition of our challenges, and the roles of outside directors based on the challenges

Shigeki Goto  	

1.	 By transforming the techniques for expressing information 
from analog to digital, we can easily go beyond the borders of 
time and space. Storage takes us beyond time and telecom-
munication takes us beyond space. Digital technology is 
intrinsically computation. Artificial intelligence (AI) is also a 
type of computation. By utilizing digital technology, human 
intellectual activities are amplified. Eventually, digital technol-
ogy will be recorded as an important turning point in human 
history. Digital transformation (DX) currently in progress is just 
the beginning. 

KDDI is leading digital technology utilization. Among the 
topics of the New Mid-Term Management Strategy, I have 
high expectations on value creation through life transforma-
tion (LX) *. Digital technology will significantly change both 
lives of individuals and activities of the human society. I would 
like to move forward while enjoying the change. 

2.	 The Board of Directors has developed an atmosphere of 
respecting the opinions of outside directors. Opinions and 
questions are raised from several points of view, from which I 
have much to learn. One weakness of humanity is that nobody 
can look at his or her own face. This is also true for companies. 
As an outside director, I aspire to serve as a mirror for KDDI. 

3.	 Digital transformation (DX) is in progress everywhere in the 
world, but software and system management technologies at 
the root of DX still rely on humans. In other words, analog 
factors remain at the core. As a young engineer, I researched 
automatic software generation methods using AI, but it was 
unable to completely eliminate analog factors. 

As a top runner in DX, KDDI must cope with the shortage of 
actual digital DX talents. I am committed to supporting KDDI’s 
transformation to a company that puts human resources first by 
utilizing my experiences of teaching university students in the 
information and communication technology area. 

Tsutomu Tannowa
Outside Director and 
Independent Director

Riyo Kano
Outside Director and 
Independent Director

Shigeki Goto
Outside Director and 
Independent Director

Junko Okawa
Outside Director and 
Independent Director

Messages from Outside Directors
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1.	 The New Mid-Term Management Strategy is structured around 
sustainability management. I expect that KDDI can serve a 
significant role in making a carbon-neutral society a reality, not 
only from the energy conservation efforts of KDDI and related 
companies but also by providing various advanced technolo-
gies. In addition, a proposal of new lifestyles through life 
transformation (LX) may change our lifestyles to richer ones.  
I expect that our talents, assets and others centered around 
the communication infrastructure are utilized as much as 
possible so everyone can comfortably enjoy such lifestyles. 

2.	 Active discussions exist at the Board of Directors, on which 
questions and opinions are raised from various viewpoints by 
executives equipped with diverse experiences and insights. In 
addition, information is frequently shared at meetings and 
briefings other than the Board of Directors, creating an atmo-
sphere that welcomes the exchange of opinions and open 
discussions. 

3.	 I acknowledge that we have always been intensely working on 
risk management as a provider of communications serving as a 
lifeline. However, in July 2022, a large-scale communication 
failure occurred, and as a result, we found challenges in ad-
dressing issues such as customer notification. I would like to 
carefully check problem-solving and preventive measures from 
the users’ point of view. 

Furthermore, I think that the management of an increased 
number of subsidiaries and related companies due to business 
diversification centered around communication is also a 
challenge. In addition to regular reporting in the Board of 
Directors, important matters regarding subsidiary management 
are reported whenever appropriate, and opinions and sugges-
tions are raised from outside directors, leading to improvement 
in the area. 

Riyo Kano  	

1.	 The spread of COVID-19 infection has significantly affected our 
social life including business activities. Various communication 
opportunities now rely heavily on online measures, dramatically 
increasing the importance of maintaining ICT infrastructure at 
the foundation of online communication. Under such condi-
tions, our recent communication failure caused significant 
inconvenience to many users. This is unacceptable for the 
Company undertaking such a highly public business as ICT, 
and therefore root cause analysis and establishment of preven-
tive measures are of top priority. 

2.	 I would like to fully use my experience in managing manufac-
turing companies to get involved in solving this challenge. 
Although the industry is obviously different, nothing differs from 
the perspectives of corporate social responsibility and risk 
management enhancement, etc.

3.	 In the future, businesses will require a higher level of ESG 
management. Furthermore, a mountain of individual challenges 
exists, such as working toward a carbon-neutral society and 
embracing corporate governance codes. I would like to work 
on effective support by utilizing an outsider’s viewpoint to cope 
with these challenges. 

Tsutomu Tannowa (Newly Appointed)  	

1.	 In such a turbulent era, I feel a big possibility as a social trans-
formation company in our strategy which is centered around 
telecommunications and utilizes expertise, technical capabili-
ties, and talent as well as imagines a future human society in a 
broad sense including social problem-solving. I expect KDDI to 
make this strategy a reality through investments at the right 
time and scale with associated responsibilities in mind, thereby 
becoming a trusted platform in a sustainable human society. 

2.	 Using a third party’s perspective to boost management capa-
bilities and make profits fairly is of top priority. In addition, I 
would like to participate in honest discussions to enhance the 

Company’s value through diverse viewpoints, including topics 
such as reflecting social perspectives on our business from an 
outsider’s eyes. 

3.	 Since KDDI undertakes the infrastructure mandatory for digita-
lization, our roles and possibilities are expanding. This means 
that risk and responsibility are expanding as well. How should 
we navigate the company with awareness and tension as a 
company with a highly public nature, and at the same time 
never stop progressing to achieve management goals? I would 
like to serve my role so I can appropriately prioritize matters 
and make high-level decisions.

Junko Okawa (Newly Appointed)  	
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The President of the KDDI serves as the chair with the remaining committee members made up of the executive directors and general 
managers of all the businesses and corporate sectors, the Audit & Supervisory Board members of KDDI, and the President of the KDDI 
Foundation. The committee considers sustainability to be a pillar of company-wide business strategies. Improvements in sustainability 
are incorporated into company-wide KPIs and are linked to executive remuneration and bonuses for all employees.

Sustainability Promotion Framework

Sustainability Committee (convenes twice a year)

Board of Directors

Chair
President, Representative Director

Permanent Members
Executive Directors and General Managers of All Businesses and Corporate Sectors, 

President of the KDDI Foundation, Audit & Supervisory Board members

Details of Sustainability Committee activities
• Formulation of sustainability action policies
• Sustainability promotion framework maintenance
• Confirmation of progress on KPIs

Approval Report

Energy 
Conservation 

Working 
Group

New 
Business 
Working 
Group

Renewable 
Energy 

Working 
Group

Stakeholders NPO/NGO

Local
Communities

Administrative 
Organizations 

/Industry 
Groups

Shareholders 
 and 

Investors

Employees 
and Their 
Families

Service
Users

Business
Partners

(Suppliers)

Sustainability Management Division

Secretariat

As of September 1, 2022

Human Rights Subcommittee 
(convened biannually)

Set targets, consider measures, and monitor 
progress related to social values, including the 

promotion of respect for human rights

Carbon Neutral Subcommittee 
(convened quarterly)

Set targets, consider measures, and monitor 
progress toward achieving carbon neutrality

Business Sector
Corporate Sector

Regional Offices in Japan
General managers (e.g., KDDI 
executives) of divisions and 

general branch offices in charge 
of sustainability activities and 

general administration and human 
resources related matters in each 

region

Group Companies
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As a telecommunications operator that provides social infra-
structure, the Company has the important social mission of 
providing stable communications services on an ongoing basis, 
24 hours a day and 365 days a year, regardless of conditions. 
Furthermore, our telecommunications business derives from 
utilizing radio waves—an important asset shared by all citizens. 
Accordingly, we recognize that we have the social responsibility 
to address the issues society faces and seek to resolve them 
through telecommunications. Attaining sustainable growth and 
increased corporate value over the medium to long term is 
essential to achieving this social mission and social responsibili-
ty. Furthermore, we strive to engage in dialogue with all our 
stakeholders (including customers, shareholders, business 
partners, employees, and local communities), and work in 
cooperation to proactively address societal issues. In this man-
ner, we aim to contribute to the development of a safe, secure, 
and truly connected society. We recognize reinforcing corporate 
governance as important to achieving sustainable growth and 
increasing corporate value over the medium to long term. Ac-

cordingly, we are in accordance with the tenets of the “Corpo-
rate Governance Code” defined by the financial instruments 
exchanges. While maintaining transparency and fairness, we 
endeavor to enhance our structures for ensuring timely and 
decisive decision-making. In addition to our corporate credo and 
mission statement, we have formulated the “KDDI Group Philos-
ophy,” which defines perspectives, values, and a code of con-
duct that executives and employees should share. We conduct 
activities to promote awareness of this philosophy throughout 
the Company.

By proactively adhering to Japan’s Corporate Governance 
Code and practicing the KDDI Group Philosophy, from the 
standpoint of corporate management, we will endeavor to 
enhance corporate governance throughout the KDDI Group, 
including its subsidiaries, to achieve sustainable growth and 
increase corporate value over the medium to long term.

KDDI’s Approach and Guidelines on Corporate Governance

*1 Number of people at the conclusion of each Annual General Meeting of Shareholders
*2 Number of people at the launch of KDDI in October 2000
*3 Independent directors pursuant to Rule 436-2 of the Securities Listing Regulations of Tokyo Stock Exchange, Inc.
*4 Outside director Shin Honto passed away on April 28, 2021 and his position as an Audit & Supervisory Board member concluded that day.

 Corporate Governance Report

■ Changes in the Corporate Governance Framework

2000 — 2005 — 2010 — 2015 — 2020 —

President Yuusai 
Okuyama From June 2001 Tadashi Onodera From December 2010 Takashi Tanaka From April 2018 Makoto 

Takahashi

Directors*1

Number of directors 53*2 13 12 11 10 13 12 13 14 12

Outside directors 2 3 4 3 2 3 4 5 6

Assurance of 
diversity*1

Number of female 
directors 1 2

Audit & Supervisory 
Board members*1

Number of Audit & 
Supervisory Board members 5 4 5 4 *4 5

Ensure 
independence

Number of independent 
directors*3 2 1 3 4 5 6 7

Advisory Committee

Transparency in executive remuneration

The KDDI Group Philosophy

Nomination Advisory Committee established 
in 2015

Introduction of a stock option system in 2002

Remuneration Advisory Committee established in 2011

Introduction of a performance-based bonus system for executives 
in 2011

Introduction of stock compensation plan for 
directors in 2015

Enactment in 
October 2000 Revised, continued promotion activities from 2013

Introduction of stock 
price-linked bonuses 
in 2019

Corporate Governance
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We believe strengthening corporate governance to be one of the 
most vital issues in enhancing corporate value, and we are working 
to improve management efficiency and transparency. 

KDDI is currently a company with board of company auditors, 
and in order to properly manage business execution, we have 
introduced an executive officer system to assign authority, clarify 
responsibilities and ensure effective and efficient business opera-
tions. We are also working to establish a framework for internal 
decision making to ensure timely management decisions.The 
number of directors is 12 (10 male and 2 female), including 6 outside 
directors, 4 of whom are independent directors, meeting the criteria 
for the ratio of independent outside directors (1/3 or more) required 
of companies listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange Prime Market 
under the Corporate Governance Code. The Audit & Supervisory 
Board members consist of 5 members (all male), including 3 Outside 
Audit & Supervisory Board members, who are designated as inde-
pendent directors. Regarding independent directors, the Company 
has a total of 7 independent directors and Audit & Supervisory 
Board members, ensuring a high degree of independence. 

For the outside directors/auditors, we also provide a wide range 
of information outside the board meetings, including on business 
strategies, management status, R&D, and technology. Specifically, 
the heads and general managers of each business headquarters 
explain overall picture of business and issues, and regularly report 
on the management status of subsidiaries. In addition, we provide 

opportunities to visit in-house exhibitions of R&D achievements as 
well as the telecommunication facilities and network monitoring 
center and other workplaces. 

We report twice a year on corporate ethics and risk management 
activities. Moreover, in order for outside directors to strengthen their 
ability to gather information, they are invited to attend meetings of the 
Audit & Supervisory Board members when the auditing firm reports the 
results of the second-quarter review and the year-end audit, and liaison 
meetings with Audit & Supervisory Board members are held twice a 
year. In addition to the above, to strengthen information exchange and 
sharing between outside directors, we hold liaison meetings exclusively 
for outside directors and liaison meetings for outside directors and 
part-time outside Audit & Supervisory Board members. 

We aim to raise the effectiveness of the Board of Directors’ 
supervision of management and invigorate discussions of manage-
ment strategies at board meetings by providing a deeper under-
standing of our business through these initiatives.

Criteria for Independence of Outside Directors/Auditors
In addition to the requirements in the Companies Act and the 
standards provided financial instruments exchanges we have 
formulated our own standards for judging the independence of 
outside directors/auditors. Specifically, we consider those belonging 
to business partners that account for 1% or more of the company’s 
consolidated operating revenue or orders placed not independent.

Corporate Governance Promotion Framework

Corporate Governance

■ Corporate Governance Framework (As of Oct. 1, 2022)

Advisory 
Committees

Internal Audit

Internal Committees

General Meeting of Shareholders

Representative Directors

Corporate Management 
Committee

Full-Time Directors

Executive Officers (37) *5
(Business execution)

Election/
Dismissal

Election/Dismissal Report Election/
Dismissal

Instruct actions

Financial information

Instruct actions

Audit

Nomination 
Advisory 

Committee

Remuneration 
Advisory 

Committee

*5 �Excludes the 4 directors 
who double as execu-
tive officers

Corporate Risk Management 
Division

Report

Report

Report

Judgment on appropriateness 
of accounting audit

Instruct actionsPropose / Deliberate

Report

Report
Report

Audit

Audit

Audit & Supervisory Board 
Members’ Office

Audit & Supervisory Board
Audit & Supervisory Board 

Members (5) (Outside Audit & 
Supervisory Board Members (3))

Election/Dismissal

Consult Deliberate/Report on 
important matters

Deliberate/Report on 
important matters

Advise
Election/
Dismissal/
Supervision

Instruct/
Supervision

Board of Directors
Directors (12)

(Outside Directors (6))
Accounting Auditors

Internal Control Division

Internal Audit Division

Disclosure Committee

Information Security Committee

Business Ethics Committee

Sustainability Committee

Business Divisions / Group Companies
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Evaluation of the Board of Directors’ Effectiveness
Purpose of Conducting
We conduct a self-evaluation of the Board of Directors regularly 
every year in order to correctly understand its situation and 
continuously improve its operation.

Evaluation Process
We assess the effectiveness of the Board of Directors based on 
an evaluation by all the directors and Audit & Supervisory Board 
members themselves. The evaluation questionnaire combines a 
four-grade rating scale and free writing so that the effectiveness 
of the board’s initiatives are assessed and matters to be im-
proved are identified from two perspectives: quantitative and 
qualitative.

The evaluation covers the most recent one year and is 
conducted annually. The results of the evaluation are reported 
back to the Board of Directors to discuss future measures.

The main evaluation items are as follows:
• �Operation of the Board of Directors (composition of mem-

bers, documents and explanations, provision of information, 
etc.)

• �Supervision of Executives (conflict of interest, risk manage-
ment, management of subsidiaries, etc.)

• �Medium- to long-term discussions (participation in mid-term 
management strategies, monitoring plan execution, etc.)

Evaluation Results
Summary

The evaluation confirmed that KDDI’s Board of Directors is 
operating properly and functioning effectively. The following two 
points received particular praise: 
• �Management of the Board of Directors meetings utilizing the 

knowledge of outside directors 
The Company has fostered a culture in which outside directors 
can actively speak up at Board of Directors meetings. 
In addition, executives are responding sincerely to the opinions 
and questions of outside directors, and the Board of Directors 
is managed in a manner that takes advantage of the knowl-
edge of outside directors from various backgrounds. 

The Board of Directors is composed of directors, including 
independent outside directors. They determine important legal 
matters and supervise the business execution of directors, etc., 
to ensure the appropriateness.

• �Discussions focused on sustainable growth and the medium- 
to long-term enhancement of corporate value 
Discussions are being held from a medium- to long-term 
perspective on themes such as the sustainable growth of the 
mainstay domestic telecommunications business, full-scale 
rollout of 5G, and value creation through the integration of 
telecommunications and life design, the previous mid-term 
management strategy. 

Improvements from Previous Evaluation

In the previous meetings, each director and Audit & Supervisory 
Board member proposed various themes to be discussed in the 
process of formulating new Mid-term Management Strategy to 
ensure KDDI’s sustainable growth in a rapidly changing business 
environment, by holding discussions among directors and Audit 
& Supervisory Board members utilizing their diverse experiences 
and knowledge.

Based on this challenge, in 2021, we ensured time for the 
active and constructive exchange of opinions among executives 
and sufficient time for deliberations, and discussed various 
issues, including the proposed themes, for the formulation of the 
new Mid-Term Management Strategy.

Moving Forward

Through proactive initiatives based on the “Satellite Growth 
Strategy” with telecommunications at its core, KDDI continues to 
diversify its business domains and expand its business scale 
through an increase in the number of group companies.

In this environment, we believe that in order for the KDDI 
Group to fulfill its social responsibilities and achieve sustainable 
growth while appropriately responding to various risks, it is 
important to further strengthen corporate governance, which 
serves as the foundation for such efforts.

The Group as a whole will strive to further disseminate the 
“KDDI Group Philosophy,” which serves as the foundation of its 
corporate activities, as well as strengthen its governance sys-
tem, including risk management, while enhancing the effective-
ness of risk management through timely and appropriate super-
vision by the Board of Directors.

Directors and Board of Directors

■ Board of Directors FY22.3 Meetings

Number of  
meetings held

Internal direc-
tors’attendance 

rate

Outside directors’ 
attendance rate

Outside auditors’ 
attendance rate

12 100% 100% 100%

 NOTICE OF THE 38TH ANNUAL SHAREHOLDERS MEETING

 Business Report Video (Initiatives of the 38th Year)  (Japanese only)
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■ Audit & Supervisory Board FY22.3 Meetings

Number of  
meetings held

Full-time Audit & 
Supervisory Board 

members’ attendance rate

Part-time Outside Audit & 
Supervisory Board  

members’ attendance rate

12 100% 100%

To ensure the transparency and fairness of systems and stan-
dards for nomination of directors and Audit & Supervisory Board 
members and their executive remuneration, we have established 
the Nomination Advisory Committee and the Remuneration 
Advisory Committee, which deliberates and provides advice to 
the Board of Directors based on discussions thereof. The chair, 
vice-chair and more than half of the members of these commit-
tees are independent outside directors.

Nomination Advisory Committee Composition
Chair: �Riyo Kano (Independent Outside Director)
Vice Chair: �Shigeki Goto (Independent Outside Director)
Members of Committee: 
Tsutomu Tannowa (Independent Outside Director) 
Junko Okawa (Independent Outside Director) 
Takashi Tanaka 
Makoto Takahashi

Remuneration Advisory Committee Composition
Chair: Shigeki Goto (Independent Outside Director)
Vice Chair: Riyo Kano (Independent Outside Director)
Members of Committee: 
Tsutomu Tannowa (Independent Outside Director) 
Junko Okawa (Independent Outside Director) 
Takashi Tanaka 
Makoto Takahashi

Meetings Held FY22.3
The Nomination Advisory Committee met three times, and all 
members attended each time. The committee discussed the 
nomination of executives candidates at Annual Shareholders 
Meeting and other matters. The Remuneration Advisory Commit-
tee met twice, and all members attended each time. The com-
mittee discussed the payment of performance-linked remunera-
tions and stock price-linked remunerations and executive 
remuneration levels and other matters.

The KDDI Audit & Supervisory Board is composed of 5 members, 
including 3 outside members. Audit & Supervisory Board members 
conduct audits in accordance with the audit policy, execution plans 
for auditing, audit methods and work assignments determined by 
the Audit & Supervisory Board. All 3 outside Audit & Supervisory 
Board members are independent directors. 

Full-Time Audit & Supervisory Board members attend meet-
ings of the Board of Directors, as well as the Corporate Manage-
ment Committee and other major meetings (Management Strate-
gy Meeting, Monthly Profitability Review Meeting, KDDI Group 
Business Ethics Committee, etc.) to perform their audit duties, 
and express their opinions, as necessary.

In addition, in order to ensure sufficient communication with 
Representative Directors and to deepen mutual recognition and 
trust, they exchange opinions with Representative Directors 
twice a year on important audit issues, improvement of the 
auditing environment for Audit & Supervisory Board members, 
audit results, and requests related to audits.

Part-time outside Audit & Supervisory Board members receive 
reports on and discuss the auditing methods and results of the 
full-time Audit & Supervisory Board members at the Board of Auditors 
meetings, receive explanations of management policies and growth 
strategies at Board of Directors meetings, and express their opinions 
as appropriate from their standpoint as independent auditors. In 
addition, to promote communication with Representative Directors, 
roundtable meetings are held twice a year to exchange opinions. 

In addition, Audit & Supervisory Board members obtain a 
written explanation of the audit plan, which includes the audit 
policy, audit plan, and audit system of the accounting auditors, 
and they also receive explanations and exchange opinions on the 
content of the explanation. Furthermore, the Company receives 
quarterly reports from the accounting auditors on the methods 
and results of audits (including quarterly reviews) and holds 

discussions with them. In addition, the Company communicates 
with the accounting auditors as necessary and exchanges opin-
ions to contribute to the formation of mutual audit opinions. 

The Audit & Supervisory Board Member’s Office has been 
established as a department to assist the Audit & Supervisory 
Board members in their duties. The Audit & Supervisory Board 
Member’s Office has dedicated employees, and each Audit & 
Supervisory Board member has the right to direct and order 
these employees, with the prior consent of the Audit & Supervi-
sory Board or a full-time Audit & Supervisory Board member as 
determined by the Audit & Supervisory Board.

Internal Audits
We established the Audit Department in the Corporate Risk 
Management Division, which is in charge of risk management of 
the KDDI Group. It conducts internal audits of overall KDDI 
Group operations on the important risks identified through risk 
management activities. The results of internal audits are reported 
to the Company President and Audit & Supervisory Board 
members together with requests and recommendations con-
cerning improvements and corrective measures to address 
highlighted issues, and the status and results of internal audits 
are also reported to the Board of Directors every quarter. In 
FY22.3, a total of 34 audits were carried out to monitor the 
progress of corrective / improvement measures and to prevent 
risks from materializing.

Nomination Advisory Committee and Remuneration Advisory Committee

Audit & Supervisory Board and Auditors
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KDDI aims to transform ourselves into a “human resources first 
company” that regards human resources as its most significant 
resource and places their development and enhancement at the 
core of its management, and we consider including diverse 
human resources and utilizing their various knowledge, experi-
ences, and skills to be an important growth driver. We believe 
that also ensuring diversity in the Board of Directors can lead to 

better management decision making. 
KDDI appoints people who meet the following criteria regard-

less of gender, age, nationality, race or ethnicity to ensure a 
diversity of opinions and highly specialized knowledge within the 
Board of Directors as a whole when making decisions including 
important management matters and implementing oversight as 
required by law.

Items Related to Organizational Structure and Operations

Approach to Composition of Board of Directors

Organizational form Company with board of company auditors

Number of independent directors/auditors 7 (including 2 female)

■ Items Related to Directors

Number of directors prescribed in the articles of incorporation 20

Tenure period of directors prescribed in the articles of incorporation 1 year

Presiding Chair of Board of Directors Chairman (President and Chairman are separate posts)

Number of directors 12 (including 2 female)

Outside directors Appointed

Number of outside directors 6 (including 2 female)

Number of outside directors designated as independent directors 4 (including 2 female)

■ Items Related to Audit & Supervisory Board Members

Number of members prescribed in the articles of incorporation 5

Number of members 5 (all male)

Outside members Appointed

Number of outside members 3 (all male)

Number of outside members designated as independent members 3 (all male)

■ Others

Number of executive officers 36 (34 male, 2 female)  * Excludes the 4 directors who double as executive officers

Implementation of anti-takeover measure Not implemented

President and Representative Director remuneration/ 
average KDDI employee annual salary 23 times

We have established the Business Ethics Committee, a delibera-
tive and decision-making body for compliance-related items, 
and the Disclosure Committee, a deliberative body for releasing 
information. We also have established the Sustainability Com-

mittee, which deliberates the promotion of sustainability. We 
collaborate with our group companies to manage their gover-
nance through various systems and frameworks in order to 
enforce the governance of the whole KDDI Group.

Other Committees

 Corporate Governance Framework Changes in the Corporate Governance Framework
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Appointment and Selection Standards

For both types of candidates: Have the character suitable for 
being a Board member, have high ethical standards and not be 
self-serving
Director candidates: Meet one or more of the following criteria:
• �Have specialized knowledge and experience in each business 

field
• �Have specialized knowledge or management knowledge 

suitable for a supervisor
• �Have a high degree of independence
Audit & Supervisory Board member candidates: Have a wealth of 
experience and broad knowledge that will enable more appropri-
ate audits and oversight of overall management from a position 
that is independent from directors

Nomination and Election Procedures for Directors

(1) Select candidates based on the above criteria
(2) Deliberate them at a Nomination Advisory Committee 
(3) Approve them at a Board of Directors
(4) Elect them at the Annual Shareholders Meeting

Nomination and Election Procedures for Audit & Supervisory Board Members

(1) Select candidates based on the left criteria
(2) Deliberate them at a Nomination Advisory Committee meeting
(3) Gain approval from the Audit & Supervisory Board
(4) Approve them at a Board of Directors meeting
(5) Elect them at the Annual Shareholders Meeting

Consideration Criteria for Termination

• �When the performance of a business that a director is respon-
sible for or the achievements of a department a director is 
responsible for are exceptionally poor

• �When the company is harmed by a major misstep or intentional 
violation of a law, regulation or the Articles of Incorporation in 
their execution of duties

• �When the company’s credibility and reputation are significantly 
damaged by the inappropriate seeking of personal gain 
through the abuse of position or authority

• �When the company determines that keeping a director is not 
appropriate

Termination Procedures for Directors

• �After deliberations at the Nomination Advisory Committee 
meeting, the Board of Directors deliberates the matter as 
needed and implements necessary measures for termination

Policies and Procedure for Nomination of Director and Audit & Supervisory Board Member Candidates

Diversity and Expertise of the Directors and Audit & Supervisory Board Members
From the perspective of achieving sustainable growth for the KDDI Group, KDDI has defined six skills in areas of expertise and experi-
ence that we believe are important for our directors and Audit & Supervisory Board members. The skills possessed by each director and 
Audit & Supervisory Board member are as follows. 

Name of director Corporate 
management Sales and marketing Global Digital technology Finance and 

accounting
Legal affairs and risk 

management

Internal 
Directors

Takashi Tanaka ● ● ● ● ●

Makoto Takahashi ● ● ● ● ●

Shinichi Muramoto ● ● ●

Keiichi Mori ● ● ●

Toshitake Amamiya ● ● ●

Kazuyuki Yoshimura ●

Outside 
Directors

Goro Yamaguchi ● ● ● ●

Keiji Yamamoto ● ● ●

Riyo Kano ●

Shigeki Goto ● ●

Tsutomu Tannowa ● ● ● ●

Junko Okawa ● ●

Audit & 
Supervisory 

Board 
Member

Kenichiro Takagi ● ●

Noboru Edagawa ● ● ●

Yukihiro Asahina ●

Toshihiko Matsumiya ● ●

Jun Karube ● ● ● ●

Corporate Governance

91

Introduction     Vision     Material Issues    Governance     Data

Board Members     Messages from Outside Directors     Sustainability Promotion Framework     Corporate Governance     Intellectual Property Management
Risk Management and Internal Controls     Compliance     



2. Policy on the Content of Director Remuneration

(1)Basic remuneration
It’s monetary remuneration for which a fixed amount for each position is paid on a monthly basis.

(2)Performance-linked bonus
Calculate the amount of payment for each individual by following formula, and pay money in the first June after the end of each 
business year.

Performance-linked bonus: Basic amount by position multiplied by the Company’s operating performance and KPI achievement rate

(3)Stock price-linked bonus
Calculate the amount of payment for each individual by following formula, and pay money in the first June after the end of each 
business year.

Stock price-linked bonus : Basic amount by position multiplied by coefficient*
* �Coefficient: (EPS growth rate x 50%) + (stock price fluctuation rate x 50%) 

A) EPS growth rate : EPS at the end of current fiscal year divided by EPS at the end of previous fiscal year 
B) �Stock price fluctuation rate (TOPIX growth rate): (KDDI’s stock price at the end of current fiscal year / KDDI’s stock price at the end of previous fiscal year) divided by (TOPIX at the 

end of current fiscal year / TOPIX at the end of previous fiscal year)

(4)Performance-linked stock compensation
For performance-linked stock compensation, points for each individual are calculated by following formula. Points will be awarded in 
the first June after the end of each fiscal year, and when the director retires, KDDI’s shares will be delivered according to the cumula-
tive number of points. 

Performance-linked stock compensation: Basic points by position multiplied by the Company’s operating performance and KPI achievement rate

1. Remunerations for Directors
• �The compensation of directors engaged in business execu-

tion is based on the KDDI Group’s business performance for 
each fiscal year, progress toward the goals of the mid-term 
management strategy, and a compensation system linked to 
shareholder value in order to increase the willingness to 
contribute to the improvement of corporate value over the 
medium to long term.

• �Outside directors who perform management supervising 
functions without involvement in the execution of business-
es receive only fixed amount remuneration that does not 
vary with the Company’s business performance.

• �The Company has established the Remuneration Advisory 
Committee to ensure transparency and objectivity in the pro-
cess of determining the system and levels of executive remu-
neration, along with the remuneration amounts based on these. 
This committee has a chair, and vice-chair, and at least half of 
the committee members are independent outside directors.

• �The decision of the amounts of basic remuneration, perfor-
mance-linked bonus, performance-linked stock compensation, 
and stock price-linked bonus are not delegated to the repre-
sentative director, but the amounts are decided by resolution of 
the Board of Directors based on the advice of this committee.

• �KDDI’s executive remuneration levels are decided through 
comparison with sector peer companies, or with other 
companies of the same scale, in Japan, and take into 
account factors that include KDDI’s management status. 
The appropriateness of the remuneration levels is also 
validated by the Remuneration Advisory Committee every 
year, with reference to objective survey data from an exter-
nal specialized organization.

• �For those who have made serious violations of the duties of 
directors, contrary to the delegation contract between KDDI 
and the directors, we may suspend the payment of perfor-
mance-linked remuneration or demand the return of such 
remuneration.

Remuneration for Directors and Audit & Supervisory Board Members

■ Breakdown of Executive Remuneration

Note: �The graph was created based on the actual remuneration of the 
President in FY22.3.

Fixed 
remuneration 
About 40%(1)

Basic 
remuneration

(3)
Stockprice- 

linked 
bonus

(4)
Performance- 
linked stock 

compensation

(2)
Perfor-
mance- 
linked
bonus

Performance-
linked 
remuneration 
About 60%

■ Example of Compensation for Directors

Note: The graph was created based on the remuneration model for the President.
*1 �Because stock price-linked bonuses change in line with EPS growth rate and 

stock price changes, the graph is only an example.

Annual income

KPI achievement levels, etc.

(3)�Stock price-linked  
bonus *1

(4)�Performance-linked  
stock compensation

(2)�Performance-linked  
bonus

(1)Basic remuneration
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KPI achievement rate
Reasons for selection

KPI achievement rate is to measure the achievement rate of 
each business strategy under the mid-term management strate-
gy, and therefore linked to the business growth and performance 
improvement.
Result

ESG-related items are also set as indicators along with indica-
tors in each business strategy. In consideration of the impor-
tance of ESG, in FY23.3, one of the calculation criteria for (2) 
performance-linked bonus and (4) performance-linked stock 
remuneration in variable remuneration has been increased to 
approximately 30% of the total KPI.

Reasons for selecting each evaluation metric and results are as follows:

The Company’s operating performance
Reasons for selection

A basic numerical value clearly showing a company’s business 
performance.
Result 

As stated on page 184. →P184

EPS growth rate
Reasons for selection

To provide a strong incentive to achieve the target of the mid-
term management strategy by using an indicator set as a target 
under the plan.
Result

1.06

Stock price fluctuation rate
Reasons for selection 

To enhance a correlation between remunerations for directors 
and the shareholders value by using an indicator that is directly 
linked with an increase/decrease in shareholders value.
Result

1.18

3. Remuneration for Audit & Supervisory Board Members
Remuneration for Audit & Supervisory Board members is decided by the consensus of the members of Audit & Supervisory Board. 
These members receive flat-rate remuneration that is not affected by fluctuations in the company’s operating performance.

Unit: million yen

Executive classification Total remuneration
Total remuneration by type Number of eligible 

membersBasic remuneration Bonus Stock compensation

Directors (excluding outside directors) 939 378 375 186 9

Outside directors 84 84 — — 5

Audit & Supervisory Board members  
(excluding outside members) 63 63 — — 2

Outside Audit & Supervisory Board members 53 53 — — 4

1. �The number and amount of auditors paid above include 1 outside Audit & Supervisory Board member who passed away on April 28, 2021.
2. �In addition to the above, adjustment payments to directors in lieu of retirement allowance were resolved at the 20th Annual Shareholders Meeting held on June 24, 2004 in connection 

with the cancellation of the executive retirement bonus system. 

4. Remuneration for Directors and Audit & Supervisory Board Members (FY22.3)

5. Total Remunerations and Bonuses of Board Members Who Receive Over 100 Million Yen (4 people)
Unit: million yen

Name Executive classification Total remuneration
Total remuneration by type

Basic remuneration Bonus Stock compensation

Takashi Tanaka Director 162 52 85 25

Makoto Takahashi Director 219 78 94 47

Takashi Shoji Director 110 45 45 21

Shinichi Muramoto Director 110 45 45 21
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To ensure active discussions in the Board of Directors meetings, 
we inform outside directors and Audit & Supervisory Board 
members at least 3 days in advance of the dates and agenda 
items and provide agenda materials for upcoming meetings to 
help them gain a deeper understanding of the agenda in ad-
vance. In addition, we make the deliberations more substantial 
by accepting questions beforehand and preparing more exten-
sive explanations for the meetings based on the questions.

We also provide a wide range of information outside the 
board meetings, including on business strategies, management 
status, R&D and technology. Specifically, each division’s general 
manager and Director provide detailed explanations of the 
general overview of the business and issues and regularly report 
on the management status of subsidiaries, we provide opportu-
nities to visit in-house exhibitions of R&D achievements as well 
as the telecommunications equipment and network monitoring 
center and other workplaces. We also provide two reports every 
year on corporate ethics and risk management activities.

One of KDDI’s subsidiaries, Okinawa Cellular Telephone Compa-
ny (hereafter “Okinawa Cellular”), is listed on the Tokyo Stock 
Exchange Standard Market.

Being committed to “growth as a group,” KDDI aims to 
maximize mutual synergies and expand and strengthen new 
growth foundations for the entire group by maximizing the use of 
our assets and supporting the growth of group companies.

Okinawa Cellular was established with the cooperation of 
several prominent local companies, making it a community-based 
company that contributes strongly to the local community.

Based on this background, we believe that there are the 
following advantages to having Okinawa Cellular as a publicly 
traded company, and we believe that it continues to be signifi-
cant to have Okinawa Cellular as a listed subsidiary.

1. Returns to investors
By implementing shareholder return measures as a listed 
company, Okinawa Cellular will be able to return profits to its 
investors, including local companies that cooperated in the 
company’s establishment and investors who have supported 
the company since its listing.

Okinawa Cellular’s shareholder return policy should be 
determined in consideration of the interests of all sharehold-
ers, taking into account the balance between medium- and 
long-term business growth and shareholder returns, and its 
implementation will be determined at the company’s discre-
tion as an independent listed company.

2. �Contributing to employment in Okinawa prefecture and 
securing talented human resources
Currently, many people from Okinawa prefecture have joined 
Okinawa Cellular and are playing an active role in the company. 
Given the geographical characteristics of Okinawa Cellular, we 

In addition, to enable outside directors to strengthen their 
ability to gather information, they are invited to attend meetings 
of the Audit & Supervisory Board when the auditing firm reports 
the results of the second quarter review and the year-end audit, 
and liaison meetings with Audit & Supervisory Board members 
are held twice a year.

To promote cooperation among outside directors, we hold 
liaison meetings exclusively for outside directors and liaison 
meetings for outside directors and part-time Audit & Supervisory 
Board members.

We aim to raise the effectiveness of the Board of Directors 
supervision of management and to invigorate discussions of 
management strategies at board meetings by providing a deeper 
understanding of our business through these initiatives. 

We established the Audit & Supervisory Board Member’s 
Office, which supports Audit & Supervisory Board members, 
including part-time outside members.

believe that the fact that its business area is limited to Okinawa 
prefecture meets the needs of people from Okinawa who wish 
to work locally, and the fact that Okinawa Cellular is a publicly 
listed company also helps us recruit talented personnel.

3. �Promote the use of Okinawa Cellular’s services and increase 
subscriptions by earning the trust of Okinawa residents
In addition to KDDI’s similar services, Okinawa Cellular also 
offers unique services based on local conditions. As a com-
munity-based listed company, we believe that we have earned 
the trust of people in Okinawa by operating our business  in 
line with the expectations of the local community, and this has 
led to the promotion of Okinawa Cellular’s service use and 
increased subscriptions.

For transactions that may cause conflicts of interest, Okinawa 
Cellular determines whether to implement the transaction after 
multifaceted discussions by independent outside directors 
and independent outside auditors. Okinawa Cellular has also 
established a voluntary committee led by an independent out-
side director as an Advisory Committee to the Board of Directors 
to discuss director nominations and compensation, and deci-
sions regarding management nominations and compensation are 
made after discussions by Okinawa Cellular’s independent 
directors/auditors to ensure transparency.

Through these efforts, we will ensure management trans-
parency from the perspective of protecting minority share-
holders, and at the same time meet the expectations of our 
shareholders by increasing corporate value and returning 
profits to shareholders.

KDDI will continue to respect independence and autono-
my while mutually cooperating with Okinawa Cellular in 
business operations and development as a group.

Outside Director/Auditor Support System

Policies on Parent and Subsidiary Listings
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KDDI believes that participating in tie-ups with a variety of 
companies is essential to providing our customers with increas-
ingly diverse and advanced services. KDDI possesses strategic 
shareholdings if such possession will contribute to the sustain-
able growth of KDDI’s business and the medium- to long-term 
increase of corporate value. 

Every year, the Board of Directors reviews all the pros and 
cons of continuing the possession of each individual strategic 
holding by judging its significance and economic rationale. When 

We consider our shareholders and investors to be especially 
important stakeholders who fully understand and strongly 
support our business sustainability. Accordingly, we put the 
highest emphasis on building trust-based relationships with 
them in our management and strive to practice value-oriented 
corporate management, active information disclosure and 
enhanced communication. As part of our ongoing effort to 
improve communication, we hold quarterly presentation ses-

a strategic shareholding is found to have only tenuous signifi-
cance, KDDI will sell as promptly as possible. 

KDDI calculates the ratio of the contribution by the issuing 
company to the KDDI’s profits within the most recent fiscal year. 
The economic rationale is verified by comparing the ratio with 
the valuation of each strategic shareholding at the end of the 
most recent fiscal year, and confirming whether the ratio satisfies 
the capital cost standard established by KDDI.

sions, where the management team presents KDDI’s financial 
results directly. In addition, we organize private meetings and 
small-scale meetings with investors from both Japan and 
abroad and attend various conferences hosted by securities 
firms.

Policy on Strategic Shareholdings

Communication with Shareholders

Vitalizing the General Meeting of Shareholders and Facilitating the Exercise of Voting Rights

Measures Content

Early disclosure of General Meeting of Shareholders Notice
We send a notice around one week before the stipulated day by mail. 
Prior to that, the whole notice is disclosed on our website.

Scheduling to avoid days when many other companies hold their 
shareholders’ meetings

We schedule the shareholders’ meetings to avoid days when many other companies 
hold their shareholders’ meetings.

Electronic voting system

Shareholders can exercise their voting rights via an online voting site. From the 2019 
General Meeting of Shareholders, we introduced a system where shareholders can log 
in to the online voting site using a QR code in an effort to make things more conve-
nient.

Participating in an electronic voting platform We have joined the electronic voting platform.

English version of convocation notice
We publish a full English translation of the convocation notice on our website, online 
electronic voting site and voting platform.

Others * Extracted from the Corporate Governance Report

Shareholders can see the notice with their smartphone. In addition, to encourage the 
participation of more diverse shareholders in the General Meeting of Shareholders, we 
offer sign language interpretation as well as a hearing loop.
The video of the meeting is available to anyone on demand on our website.
We also are livestreaming so that shareholders can watch the proceedings and ques-
tions and answers on the day from a remote location.
We also received “advance questions” on the Internet. By using this, we are striving to 
revitalize communication with our shareholders even under the situation of COVID-19.

 Corporate Governance Report

 NOTICE OF THE 38TH ANNUAL SHAREHOLDERS MEETING

 Disclosure and IR
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Name Reason for selection as an outside director of the Company 
(if designated as an independent director includes reason for this designation) Principal activities in FY22.3

Goro Yamaguchi
Male

Mr. Yamaguchi has a wealth of corporate management experience and excellent knowledge cultivated as 
the President and representative director of one of the world’s leading electronic component and equip-
ment manufacturers. On the Board of Directors, he expressed  broad opinions related to business admin-
istration and operations from a medium- to long-term perspective, and has thus contributed to improving 
the corporate value of the Company. He has again been appointed as an outside director because the 
Company expects him to contribute to enhancing the supervising function of business execution based on 
his management experience of the other company and provide advice from a wide range of management 
perspectives.

Board of Directors (Attended 
12 of 12 meetings)

Keiji Yamamoto
Male

Mr. Yamamoto has excellent knowledge cultivated in IT development and electronics engineering divisions 
and abundant management experience as a management at the one of the world’s leading automobile 
manufacturers. On the Board of Directors, he expressed broad opinions on promoting KDDI’s 5G/IoT strat-
egy, etc., from a medium- to long-term perspective, and has thus contributed to improving KDDI’s corpo-
rate value. He has again been appointed as an outside director because the Company expects him to 
contribute to enhancing the supervising function of business execution and provide advice in the telecom-
munications field from technical perspectives.

Board of Directors (Attended 
12 of 12 meetings)

Riyo Kano 
(Independent director)
Female

Ms. Kano has abundant experience and superior knowledge, cultivated as a partner at a law firm and a 
committee member of government committees. On the Board of Directors, she expressed technical opin-
ions related to legal risk management from a medium- to long-term perspective independent of the man-
agement team, and has thus contributed to improving KDDI’s corporate value. She has again been 
appointed as an outside director because the Company expects her to contribute to enhancing the super-
vising function of business execution and provide advice from technical perspectives as a lawyer. 

Board of Directors (Attended 
12 of 12 meetings)

Shigeki Goto 
(Independent director)
Male

Mr. Goto has a superior knowledge in information processing, telecommunications and network engineer-
ing, which is directly relevant to KDDI’s business, as well as a deep understanding of cyber security that is 
valuable for the operation of our business. On the Board of Directors, he expressed technical opinions 
related to operational policy as an information communications operator providing social infrastructure, 
from a medium- to long-term perspective independent of the management team, and has thus contributed 
to improving KDDI’s corporate value. He has again been appointed as an outside director because the 
Company expects him to contribute to enhancing the supervising function of business execution and pro-
vide advice in the telecommunications field from technical perspectives. 

Board of Directors (Attended 
12 of 12 meetings)

Tsutomu Tannowa
(Independent director)
Male

Mr. Tannowa has a wealth of corporate management experience cultivated as the Chairman of the Board 
and Representative Director of a major chemical manufacturer, while also offering excellent insight from a 
global perspective. He has been appointed as an outside director with the expectation that he will contrib-
ute to enhancing KDDI’s corporate value by providing advice from a medium- to long-term perspective 
based on his management experience at the other company and by helping to strengthen the supervisory 
function of business execution. 

—

Junko Okawa
(Independent director)
Female

Ms. Okawa has a wealth of corporate management experience, in addition to excellent insight cultivated 
from her work experience at a major airline company, especially in practical aspects such as customer ser-
vice, corporate revitalization, and diversity promotion. She has been appointed as an outside director with 
the expectation that she will contribute to enhancing KDDI’s corporate value by providing advice from a 
medium- to long-term perspective based on her management experience at other companies and by help-
ing to strengthen the supervisory function of business execution. 

—

* Mr. Tsutomu Tannowa and Ms. Junko Okawa are new directors who were appointed at the 38th Annual Shareholders Meeting.

Name Reason for selection as an outside Audit & Supervisory Board member of the company 
(if designated as an independent member includes reason for this designation) Principal activities in FY22.3

Yukihiro Asahina 
(Independent auditor) 
Male

Mr. Asahina has cultivated abundant experience and knowledge gained from many years of practical 
experience in the public sphere and involvement in the execution of business at various organizations. 
From the perspective of leveraging this knowledge and experience to monitor general management and to 
engage in appropriate audit activities, he has been appointed as an Audit & Supervisory Board member. 

Board of Directors (Attended 
10 of 10 meetings)
Audit & Supervisory 
Board(Attended 10 of 10 
meetings)

Toshihiko Matsumiya  
(Independent auditor) 
Male

Mr. Matsumiya has abundant experience and knowledge as a Certified Public Accountant, as an employee 
of an auditing company, as the representative of an accountancy firm and as an auditor for other compa-
nies. From the perspective of leveraging this primarily accounting-related knowledge and experience to 
monitor general management and to engage in appropriate audit activities, he has been appointed as an 
Audit & Supervisory Board member. 

Board of Directors (Attended 
12 of 12 meetings)
Audit & Supervisory 
Board(Attended 12 of 12 
meetings)

Jun Karube  
(Independent auditor) 
Male

Mr. Karube has cultivated abundant experience and knowledge as a representative director of a listed 
company. From the perspective of leveraging this knowledge and experience to monitor general manage-
ment and to engage in appropriate audit activities, he has been appointed as an Audit & Supervisory 
Board member. 

Board of Directors (Attended 
12 of 12 meetings)
Audit & Supervisory 
Board(Attended 12 of 12 
meetings)

* �Mr. Yukihiro Asahina was appointed as an Audit & Supervisory Board member at the 37th Annual Shareholders Meeting held on June 23, 2021. The attendance was counted after the 
appointment.

■ Outside Directors

■ Outside Audit & Supervisory Board Members

Principal Activities of Outside Directors and Outside Audit & Supervisory Board Members

* For independent members, we reappointed them as independent directors or auditors, judging from their background that there is no risk of a conflict of interest with general shareholders.
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*� �The Patent Asset IndexTM is calculated using LexisNexis’ PatentSightⓇ, a patent analysis tool.  The overall evaluation index of a patent is calculated by multiplying the “Technology Relevance,” 
which is itself calculated based on the number of citations of the patent, and the “Market Coverage,” which is calculated based on the country of application and other factors. 

■ Number of New Businesses and Services and Change in the Number of Patents 
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Patent Asset IndexTM*
Cumulative number of patents (Japan)

KDDI regards our intellectual property (IP) as an important resource for sustainable business growth and promotes IP activities that are 
integrated into our business strategies. 

[Basic Policy]

1. �We promote innovation in line with short, medium, and long-term business strategies and obtain IP strategically and utilize it effectively. 
2. �We support the IP activities of all companies to help develop collaborative projects with KDDI’s Group companies and partners,  

including the start-ups in which we invest. 
3. We respect the IP rights of third parties and minimize the risk of infringing IP rights in our business. 
4. We contribute to the planning and promotion of business strategies through the analysis of IP information using IP landscaping. 

1. Promotion of Innovation Centered on Telecommunications and Improvement of Brand Value
KDDI promotes the innovation of telecommunications networks from the short, medium, and long-term perspectives to improve the quality of 
telecommunications services. These efforts include applying for patents for ideas that will be exclusive to our business. Additionally, ideas for 
which infringement is difficult to detect externally are kept secret and used as know-how. In recent years, the number of patents held by KDDI 
and its Patent Asset IndexTM (PAI) has increased as a result of enhanced innovation related to 5G and Beyond 5G. Looking ahead to the 
Beyond 5G era, we will further promote the innovation of telecommunications networks, which are the core of our business. 

KDDI is also entering peripheral areas centered on telecommunications to provide new services through business collaborations with our partners. 
When entering new markets, we conduct a complete risk analysis and take measures to avoid infringing the IP rights of third parties. Additionally, 
to provide new experiential value from the customer’s perspective, we are promoting innovation in collaboration with Group companies and 
start-ups and working to create a competitive patent portfolio. Furthermore, the entire company is united in its efforts to improve the brand value of 
“KDDI,” “au,” “UQ mobile,” and “povo.” The “au” brand recently placed 12th (brand value: $4.478 billion) in the Best Japan Brands 2022*. 
* Ranked by Interbrand Japan, Inc. based on a calculation of the monetary value of Japanese brands that operate globally.

Basic Policy on Intellectual Property

Intellectual Property Management

■ Research and Technology Development Themes, Number of Patents, and Change in Patent Asset Index
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3. Intellectual Property-Related  Activities in Line with Sustainability Management
In response to social issues such as the declining birthrate, the 
aging population, and labor shortages, in the future, drones are 
expected to provide services in place of humans in the fields of 
logistics, inspection, monitoring, and surveying. 

To realize this, KDDI is promoting innovation in the use of 
drones in the medium-to-long term. 

IP landscaping is being used to conduct a comprehensive 
analysis of trends in the drone industry and related policies, regula-
tions, and markets, as well as to examine our strengths and weak-
nesses in comparison with our competitors based on our patent 
information. These activities have led us to focus on “flight control 
and flight monitoring” using “telecommunication,” which is one of 
our strengths, as a priority area for 
promoting innovation, and we are 
working to expand our patent portfolio. 

As a result of our efforts to obtain 
patents ahead of our competitors, 
according to our research, our Technol-
ogy Relevance (patent quality) has 
exceeded the average of that of our 
competitors. We have thus developed a 
patent portfolio with a competitive 
advantage. 

We will continue to promote IP 
activities for business growth as well as 
innovation to solve social issues.

2. Strengthening of IP Activities and Governance for the Business Growth of the KDDI Group
The Intellectual Property Division holds 
regular discussions with business 
divisions and KDDI Research, Inc. on 
IP activities based on an analysis of 
industry trends in each business and 
information on KDDI’s and other 
companies’ IP. 

It is necessary for collaboration 
partners to appropriately implement 
their IP activities for the growth of 
co-creation projects with Group 
companies and start-ups. Thus, we 
support Group companies that face 
challenges in their IP management 
systems and start-ups in which we have invested to ensure that the most appropriate IP activities are conducted*. As the number of Group 
companies and companies in which we have invested has increased, so has the number of companies we support. 

In recognition of this support, we received the Economy, Trade and Industry Minister’s Prize for companies that use IP (“open innovation 
promotion company” category) at the 2018 Intellectual Property Achievement Awards held by the Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry 
and the Japan Patent Office. This was the first award for an open innovation promotion company. 

Additionally, to improve the understanding of IP company-wide, we educate our employees on the use of IP, how to minimize the risk of 
infringing IP rights, and the management of know-how. The training content is tailored to the job description and role of the target audience, 
such as all employees, researchers, new employees, and service planning divisions. The status of these IP initiatives is reported to the Corpo-
rate Management Committee and the Board of Directors to strengthen their governance. 

Intellectual Property Achievement 
Awards

■ �Number of Group Companies and Companies We Have Invested in,  
and Change in the Number of IP Activities We Support

18.3 19.3 20.3 21.3 23.3*22.3
0

5

10

15

20

25

30

250

260

270

280

290

300

310

320

(FY)

Number of Group companies and 
companies we invest in

Number of companies whose IP 
activities we support  

N
um

ber of G
roup com

panies and
 com

panies w
e invest in

N
um

ber of com
panies 

w
hose IP

 activities w
e support 

*As of the end of June 2022.

2016 2017 2018 2019 20212020
0

50

100

150

200

250

0

40

80

120

160

(year)

■ �Number of Patents Related to Smart Drones and Change in the Patent 
Asset Index

Patent Asset IndexTM
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Cumulative number of patents (Japan)
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Cumulative number of patents* �Technology Relevance is calculated using LexisNexis’ PatentSightⓇ, a patent analysis tool. The index is calculated based 
on the number of citations a patent receives in comparison with other patents in the same technical field in the same year. 

 Approach to the handling of intellectual property and intangible assets to support start-ups (Japanese only)*
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new business fields such as e-commerce, finance and accounting, 
and energy as a result of the integration of telecommunications and 
life design, by the previous mid-term management strategy. In order 
to minimize information security risks, we have also established 
a common standard applicable group-wide to improve the level 
of information security across the group.

The status of these significant risks is also reflected on 
business risks that are revealed in the Securities Report* since it 
relates to the finance as well.
*�For details, please see the Business Risks section of the Securities Report for FY23.3. 
(Japanese only)

We regularly examine information about risks to identify significant risks 
that seriously influence corporations, and discuss measures to reduce 
such risks and their impacts as much as possible in case we face them.

In order to ensure the achievement of our business goals, in 
FY22.3, we selected 31 significant risks based on issues that 
manifested in the past and changes in the business environment, 
and held internal audits centered on risk prediction, the reduction of 
significant risks and risk approach. The selected significant risks 
include cyber-attacks, an area that is becoming increasingly com-
plex, global businesses, and issues arising from the expansion of 

In order to prevent critical events for the company, we at 
KDDI consider that it is important to recognize signs of 
danger and implement preventive measures before the 
situation worsens. Based on this idea, we follow the PDCA 
cycle for risk management. We also have an organizational 
framework for risk management in place to ensure any 
risks we find will be addressed promptly and appropriately.

We have established a system to centralize the 
management of risks with the Corporate Risk 
Management Division at the core.

Furthermore, we are promoting risk manage-
ment throughout the KDDI Group, in order to realize 
the continuous growth of the entire group. We have 
appointed 39 Internal Control System Managers 
within KDDI and 46 at group companies, as well as 
5 Internal Control System Directors to oversee their 
activities. Under their leadership, we introduce and 
run internal control systems, carrying out risk 
management activities and run operational quality 
improvement activities to foster a company culture 
in which risks are less likely to arise.

In the ever-changing business environment, the risks that companies face are increasingly diverse and complicated.
We define factors and events that negatively influence the achievement of our business goals as risks and consider enforcing risk 

management as material business challenge. In order to be sustainable and responsible to society, we promote risk management 
initiatives throughout the KDDI Group.

Risk Identifying Process 

Risk Management Activity Cycle

KDDI’s Risk Management and Internal Control

KDDI’s Approach (Risk Management and Internal Control)

Based on the provision of Article 362, Paragraph 5 of the Com-
panies Act, we passed the Basic Policy for Constructing an 
Internal Control System at a meeting of the Board of Directors. In 
addition, we publicly announce resolutions and our operational 

status to ensure the fair, transparent and efficient execution of 
our corporate duties and maintain an effective system for inter-
nal controls to raise the company’s quality level.

Basic Policy for Constructing an Internal Control System

Management 
level

Risk management
 by sectors 

and subsidiaries

Present  
significant risks

Report the  
situations

Collect and analyze 
information and 
assess risks

Execute 
intradivisional 

monitoring and 
internal audits

Implement  
countermeasures

Improve and 
adopt P

C

A D

Risk Management and Internal Controls

Accounting 
Auditors Audit evaluations by 

managers

Audit in accordance 
with laws and the arti-
cles of incorporation 
relating to directors’ 
business execution

Decide basic policies for building 
internal control framework

Evaluate internal control and 
announce the results

Board of Directors

Corporate Management 
Committee (President)

Subsidiaries

Individual 
Organizational Units

Offices

KDDI Corporate and 
Support Divisions

Individual 
Organizational Units

Offices

KDDI Business 
Divisions

Individual 
Organizational Units

Offices

Internal Control System Directors (5)
Internal Control System Managers (KDDI: 39, Group companies: 46)

KDDI Group
(As of April 1, 2022)

Corporate Risk Management Division
Internal Control Department
• Formulate implementation plans
• Manage overall progress
• �Support operations of implement-

ing divisions

■ Personnel in Charge of Internal Control

Audit & 
Supervisory 

Board 
Members
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In response to the internal control reporting system based on the 
Financial Instruments and Exchange Law implemented in FY09.3, 
we conducted evaluations of the internal controls at KDDI and 10 
major group subsidiaries (totaling 11 companies) in and outside 

Japan to ensure reliability of our financial reporting. The results of 
these evaluations were compiled in an internal control report, which 
was submitted to Japan’s Prime Minister in June 2022, as well as 
disclosed to investors.

Initiatives in Response to the Internal Control Reporting System (J-SOX)

In conjunction with the response to the internal control reporting 
system, we established an Internal Control Department that promotes 
initiatives for improving the overall operational quality of the whole 
Company, and Internal Control System Managers in each department 
facilitate initiatives that enhance the efficiency and standardization of 
operations to do so.  Business improvement projects through this 
activity are added to a database, enabling all employees to utilize  
activities to enhance operational quality in their own departments.

Furthermore, to further raise each employee’s awareness and 
motivation regarding the quality of operations, we have introduced 
the Operational Quality Improvement Prize to recognize excellent and 

ambitious initiatives. In addition, we have started working on the 
introduction of robotic process automation (RPA) across the Compa-
ny as a way of improving operational quality, productivity, and 
efficiency at the same time, starting with the preparation of the RPA 
system environment and education programs.

Activities to Enhance Operational Quality
• �e-learning training
• �Sharing messages from executives and good examples of 

initiatives in e-mail newsletters and internal magazines
• �Implementation of Operational Quality Improvement Prize (Once a year)

Activities to Enhance Operational Quality

Risk Competitors, rival technologies and 
rapid market shifts

Protection of confidentiality of com-
munications and customer privacy 
(personal and corporate information)

Natural disasters and other unforeseen 
events

Laws, regulations, and government 
policies relating to the telecommu-
nications sector

Acquisition of human 
resources, training and 
personnel management

Risk 
background

• �The need to provide user support for prod-
uct defects problems attributable to the 
rapid expansion of the commerce business

•�Inability to acquire needed bandwidth 
we need

• �Increase in competition due to new 
high-speed wireless data technology

• �Possible rise in connection fees with 
other telecommunications operators

• �Intensifying competition as a result of 
changes in the business landscape due 
to partnerships with other industries, 
sales packages that include other prod-
ucts (such as telecommunications + 
power), the emergence of MNOs and 
MVNOs in the market and other compa-
nies expanding their business fields

• Internal privacy breaches
• �Unauthorized access from exter-

nal networks

• �Natural disasters, such as earthquakes, 
tsunamis, typhoons, or floods, as well 
as secondary damage from the spread 
of toxic substances caused by natural 
disasters

• �Worldwide spread of an infectious dis-
ease (pandemic)

• �War, terrorism, accidents, or other 
unforeseen events

• �Power brownouts or blackouts
• �Computer viruses or other forms of 

cyber-attack and hacking
• �Operation system hardware or software 

failures
• �Flaws in communication equipment and 

services

• �Revisions to the calculation formula 
for inter-operator connection fees and 
/ or accounting methods

• �Revisions to designated telecommuni-
cations facilities system and / or the 
regulations on prohibited activities

• �Revisions to the universal service 
systems

• �The emergence of MNOs and MVNOs 
in the mobile communication market

• �Revisions to the frequency allocation sys-
tem and / or spectrum user fee system

• �Changes in rules regarding electricity 
retail and financial business, etc.

• �Changes in rules regarding the usage 
of personal data, etc.

• �Rise in human 
resources invest-
ment costs in 
the future

Potential 
impact on 
KDDI

• �Negative impacts on the financial 
position and operations of the 
KDDI Group

• �Could seriously damage the 
brand image of the KDDI Group. 
In addition to a possible loss of 
customer trust, we could also be 
forced to pay substantial com-
pensation or surcharge

• �In the future, we may face higher 
costs to develop the framework 
necessary to protect the confi-
dentiality of communications and 
customer privacy

• �Could have a negative impact on 
the financial position and / or 
earnings performance of the 
KDDI Group

• �Service outages or interruptions as a result 
of large-scale natural disasters or acci-
dents caused by climate change, etc.

• �Loss of opportunities to offer products and 
services due to service outages as a result 
of failures in network systems or communi-
cation equipment, substantial billing errors, 
closing of distributors, or suspension of dis-
tribution and reputational damages through 
media such as SNS could damage the 
brand image of the KDDI Group and lead to 
loss of customer trust and decreased cus-
tomer satisfaction, which could have a neg-
ative impact on the earnings performance

• �The Company’s future business activities and 
earnings performance could be affected by 
customers’ lost opportunities to use au 
Shops due to shortened store operating 
hours, reduced mobile data usage due to 
increased Wi-Fi usage at home, and the vari-
ous influences on our life design business 
and solution services for corporate customers

• �The KDDI Group’s earnings 
performance could be nega-
tively impacted by the revision 
or abolishment of laws and reg-
ulations or formulation of gov-
ernment policies relating to 
telecommunications and 
finance business

• �The KDDI Group’s earnings 
performance could be nega-
tively impacted if the compa-
ny’s competitive advantage is 
relatively diminished as a result 
of competition

• �If we are unable 
to handle mat-
ters appropriate-
ly in the future, 
the KDDI 
Group’s brand 
image could be 
damaged, lead-
ing to loss of 
customer trust 
and a negative 
impact on our 
earnings perfor-
mance

KDDI’s 
response

• �The creation of new value and the 
achievement of sustainable 
growth in the 5G / IoT era domes-
tically and globally with a busi-
ness strategy that focuses on the 
previous mid-term management 
strategy “integration of telecom-
munications and life design,” 
which centers on telecommunica-
tions and expands peripheral 
businesses

• �Establishment of the KDDI Code of 
Business Conduct, KDDI Security 
Policy, and KDDI Privacy Policy

• �Establishment of the Business Ethics 
Committee

• �Reinforcement of various technical, 
organizational and human safety man-
agement measures

• �Educating all employees on the protec-
tion of confidentiality of communica-
tions and customer privacy

• �Working with our external partners, par-
ticularly with our retail network of au 
Shops, to strengthen management 
through the improvement of shop oper-
ations, monitoring and training

• �Establishing Information Security 
Committee

• �Acquiring external authentication (ISMS) 
in the whole company

• �24 / 7 monitoring of external attacks by 
specialists

• �Initiatives to improve reliability of our 
network and prevent service outages by 
implementing Business Continuity 
Planning

• �Establishing a disaster response head-
quarters as early as possible in the 
event of an emergency or disaster

• �Contract procedures available online 24 
hours a day

• �Initiatives to ensure the safety of cus-
tomers and employees

• �Taking appropriate actions 
based on laws, regulations and 
government policies

• �Advocating measures for fair 
competition with other telecom-
munications operators through 
various deliberation councils 
and study sessions as well as 
the public comment system of 
the Japan’s Ministry of Internal 
Affairs and Communications

• �Working together 
across the entire 
company to sup-
port personnel 
training and 
career develop-
ment to keep up 
with technologi-
cal innovations

• �Appropriate per-
sonnel manage-
ment and the 
promotion of 
work style 
reforms based 
on the law

■ Main Operational Risks

Risk Management and Internal Controls
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We created the KDDI Code of Business Conduct to support 
ethical behavior and ensure that every employee cultivates a 
compliance mindset. To ensure that the Code is shared and 
practiced, it is published on the intranet and a web link to the 
Code is put in business mobile devices lent to employees, 
enabling employees to check it whenever they are unsure what 
action to take. Also, we established the KDDI Group Business 
Ethics Committee as a decision-making body for KDDI Group’s 
compliance related matters. The committee is chaired by the 
committee chair as Chairman, Representative Director, and 
members include directors and additional nominees appointed 
by the chair as required. The committee holds a meeting once 

every half-year, and in addition to assessing the conditions of 
Group companies, it builds and supports enhancement of 
compliance frameworks. The committee is also responsible for 
helpline issues, corruption prevention and compliance issues 
such as breaches of competition laws.

Under the KDDI Group Business Ethics Committee, the 
committee formulates policies on raising awareness, discusses 
countermeasures in case compliance violations occur and is 
responsible for disclosure of such information as well as the 
prevention of recurrence. In addition, the reports on their activi-
ties are made available to all employees via the intranet.

KDDI Group Compliance and Enforcement Framework

We recognize that in order to fulfill our social responsibilities through our business activities, raising compliance 
awareness throughout the Group is a fundamental issue of corporate management.

As a global corporate group, we continue to further enforce our group-wide compliance framework.

Compliance 
Policy

■ Examples of Initiatives in FY22.3

Target Examples of Initiatives

All KDDI employees Promotion of the KDDI Group Philosophy

All KDDI employees Distribution of web shortcuts related to the KDDI Code of Business Conduct to business mobile devices lent to employees

KDDI Group Business Ethics staff, etc. Explanatory Seminar on the Revised Whistleblower Protection Act

New line managers e-learning contents on compliance

Group company executives Training for learning risk management in corporate operations, legal and accounting knowledge, and labor management

Compliance Education, Training and Awareness Raising

Compliance

■ KDDI Group Compliance and Enforcement Framework

President, Representative Director

Corporate Management Committee

Report Feedback / Instruction, etc.

Report Feedback

Report Consult

Report

Contact (Anonymous)

KDDI Group Business Ethics Committee

KDDI Group Business Ethics Committee Members
Committee Chair: Chairman, Representative Director
Committee Members: Executives including Directors

Secretariat: General Administration Department, General Administration Division

• �Formulate policies for educational activities
• �Discuss countermeasures in case compliance violations 

occur
• �Disclose information outside of the Company
• �Deliberate on measures to prevent recurrence

Business Ethics Helpline

All Employees of KDDI Group
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We established the Business Ethics Helpline in 2006 to serve as 
a contact point for all employees of KDDI, KDDI Group compa-
nies and business partners who have questions or concerns 
about business ethics and legal compliance, including human 
rights issues. The helpline is available anytime and can receive 
reports through an internal or external contact point established 
in collaboration with external experts (Reports can be received 
by e-mail, phone call or letter, in multiple languages). We also 
accept anonymous consultations and declarations.

Furthermore, we  accept consultations and reports in accor-
dance with the Whistleblower Protection Act, which went into 
effect in April 2006 and was revised in June 2022.

We are actively promoting the use of the Business Ethics 
Helpline and the Sexual Harassment and Human Relationships 
Hotline by distributing whistleblowing cards. 

In FY22.3, there were 502 consultations and reports in all 
KDDI Group (as of January 2022), but there was no consultation 
or reporting of serious issues that require external announce-
ment. 

The KDDI Group Business Ethics Committee investigates the 
issues consulted on and reported as required while protecting 
privacy, and when the problems are detected, the committee 
members as well as the management team and the Audit & 
Supervisory Board members review the report and take correc-
tive actions along with measures to prevent recurrence. 

In the event that KDDI or KDDI Group company employees 
or others are found to have been affected by a violation of 
corporate ethics or legal compliance including human rights 
issues, KDDI is committed to redress the affected parties.

Business Ethics Helpline (Fraud Detection Mechanism)

■ �Compliance Consultations Received in the Last Two Years  
(KDDI Group) � Unit: case

Consultations FY21.3 FY22.3

Compliance consultations 671 502

Breakdown: harassments 220 207

Breakdown: other compliance violations 451 295

* As of January 2022 for FY22.3

Initiatives to Prevent Harassment

■ Examples of Initiatives in FY22.3

Examples of Initiatives 

Dissemination of the KDDI Code of Business Conduct and thorough implementation of actions

Training on harassment for department heads, group leaders, and line managers

Harassment reporting questionnaire for employees

Dissemination of report counters such as the Sexual Harassment and Human Relations Hotline and the Business Ethics Helpline by distributing whistleblowing cards to employees

Responses to take when reported harassment cases have been substantiated

Compliance

Report / 
consultation

Report back /
response

Investigation / analysis / improvement / 
recurrence prevention

Report / 
consultation

Report back /
response

Whistleblowers
(Employees of KDDI, KDDI Group and partner companies)

Relevant department’s managers

* Consultations that the external contact point received are relayed to the internal contact point, keeping anonymity for the whistleblowers

Notification of 
receiving a report*

Report back /response

KDDI Group
Business Ethics Committee

Internal contact point

Legal offices contact point for overseas subsidiaries

External contact point

■ Business Ethics Helpline
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Basic Approach to Anti-corruption
To prevent corrupt practices, the KDDI Code of Business Con-
duct defines the principles of promoting fair business activities 
and the conscientious performance of duties and prohibits 
activities such as bribing politicians and public officials, along 
with other similar types of corruption. 

Specifically, this includes any business entertainment, gift 
and invitation given to a public official in the course of business 
with governmental agencies that is prohibited under the National 
Public Service Act and other applicable laws and regulations. 
KDDI has established that, when dealing with overseas govern-
ments and companies, employees will not provide any business 
entertainment, gift or invitation as stipulated in the UN Conven-
tion against Corruption as well as the laws and regulations of the 
relevant countries against foreign corrupt practices and unfair 
competition.

In addition to the above, we also stipulate the elimination of 
organized crime groups and prohibition of insider trading and 
anti-competitive behavior, and any violations will be punished in 
accordance with internal regulations. In order to prevent these 

The KDDI Code of Business Conduct defines rules that prohibit 
anticompetitive behaviors, and we make efforts to ensure that all 
employees comply with competition laws.

In addition to competition laws, we stipulate that local laws 
and regulations in each country and region on labor, tax, the 
environment, consumer protection and data protection must be 
examined thoroughly to ensure full compliance. 

Furthermore, under the KDDI Sustainable and Responsible 
Procurement Guidelines, we demand our business partners to 
not engage in any activities that inhibit fairness, transparency or 
freedom of competition.

However, in an undercover survey conducted by the Ministry 
of Internal Affairs and Communications (hereafter MIC), a certain 
number of cases were found in which distributors violated the 
spirit of Article 27-3 of the Telecommunications Business Law by 
refusing to sell mobile devices to non-wireline subscribers. 
Therefore, in May 2021 and June 2022, KDDI received requests 
from MIC to take thorough measures to ensure that no inappro-
priate actions are taken. KDDI is in the process of reviewing its 
supervision system for distributors to ensure thorough compli-
ance with the discipline.

violations, we use e-learning courses and e-mails to inform all 
employees and raise their awareness. In FY22.3, there were no 
employees subject to disciplinary dismissal for violating the 
anti-corruption provisions of the KDDI Code of Business Conduct.

Sustainable Procurement
We also urge business partners to comply with the KDDI Sus-
tainable and Responsible Procurement Guidelines, which defines 
rules for prohibition of corruption, bribery, abuse of power and 
giving or receiving illicit funds.

Political Contributions
For any political donations we make, we observe the Political 
Funds Control Act and follow the KDDI Code of Business Con-
duct and the KDDI Sustainable and Responsible Procurement 
Guidelines. 

In FY22.3, we made political donations totaling 6 million yen 
in Japan, and there were no cases of legal action against us 
concerning corruption or bribery.

In September 2021, following the compilation of the “2021 
Report on Verification of Competition Rules” by MIC, KDDI 
received a request from MIC in the same month to quickly 
terminate existing contracts and to make it known that the 
handset purchase program is available without a wireline sub-
scription. KDDI is striving to take appropriate measures, such as 
eliminating contract cancellation fees at the end of March 2022 
to eliminate existing contracts and displaying easy-to-under-
stand advertisements for handset purchase programs.

In June 2021, the Japan Fair Trade Commission (hereafter 
JFTC) released a follow-up study report titled “Competition 
Policy Issues in the Mobile Phone Market (FY2021 Study).” 
Based on the antimonopoly law and competition policy ap-
proach identified in the report, KDDI reported to the JFTC in 
October 2021 on changes to the handset purchase program 
offering method, the evaluation system for distributors, and the 
handling of proprietary merchandise, as well as other improve-
ments, and also announced the improvements publicly.

We fully adhere to the related regulations and continue the 
appropriate business operations.

Anti-Corruption Measures

Preventing Anti-competitive Behaviors

Our Basic Policy for the Creation of Internal Systems takes a firm 
stand on countering organized crime groups. 

In addition to rules defining initiatives for blocking off any 
relations with such groups, the KDDI Code of Business Conduct, 

which defines basic principles to be followed and enforced by all 
executives and employees, takes a firm stance against orga-
nized crime groups, rejecting any requests for illicit funds and 
refusing to comply with any demands.

Elimination of Organized Crime Groups (Basic Approach and Implementation Status)

Compliance

103

Introduction     Vision     Material Issues    Governance     Data

Board Members     Messages from Outside Directors     Sustainability Promotion Framework     Corporate Governance     Intellectual Property Management
Risk Management and Internal Controls     Compliance     



■ Amount of Tax Paid� Unit: 100 million yen

FY21.3

Japan 3,224 98.0%

UK 24 0.7%

France 9 0.3%

Mongolia 7 0.2%

China 6 0.2%

Others 19 0.6%

Total 3,289 100.0%

Basic Tax Policy
We at KDDI Group pursue the satisfaction of our customers and 
benefits customers while fulfilling our social responsibilities not 
only by complying with international rules and applicable tax 
laws and regulations in all operating countries and regions, but 
also by complying with and following the spirit of the law and 
paying tax appropriately to engage in tax fairness, and thereby 
strive to maximize corporate value.

In FY22.3, we paid 331,957 million yen of corporate income 
tax, which accounts for 31.2% of gross income. KDDI Group 
submits the Securities Report after undergoing accounting 
audits by external independent accounting auditors and obtain-
ing approval of the CFO (Executive Vice President, Representa-
tive Director / Executive Director, Corporate Sector) and the 
President.

Tax Governance Structure
The KDDI Group Tax Management Regulations have been 
established to ensure that the KDDI Group steadily implements 
the Basic Tax Policy in its actual business activities. KDDI Group 
companies are required to comply with the regulations.
The regulations were established by KDDI and are overseen by 
the Chief Financial Officer.

Practical operations are transferred to KDDI’s tax division, 
which reports to the CFO and the necessary meetings bodies 
when it becomes aware of significant events or risks related to 
the KDDI Group’s tax affairs.

Initiatives to Maintain and Improve Tax Governance
As KDDI Group businesses become increasingly multinational 
and have more international transactions, our top management, 
including the President, is working to develop and promote a tax 
strategy that properly recognizes international tax risks and 
regards such risk as an important issue that is directly linked to 
management, while utilizing external specialists to have a deeper 
understanding of the latest tax updates. In addition, the head 
office is engaged in education for employees across the world 
and receives tax practice support from external specialists. With 
these initiatives, we strive to maintain and improve tax gover-
nance. 

Also, with regard to the tax returns it prepares, KDDI has 
them reviewed by an external tax accountant corporation and 
obtains approval of the CFO before submitting them to the tax 
authorities.

Tax Transparency and Relations with Tax Authorities
To maintain the transparency of tax affairs, we prepare and 
submit an annual report on our activities by country in accor-
dance with tax laws in Japan. We also work to build trust rela-
tionship with tax authorities in each country by conducting timely 
and appropriate disclosure of tax-related information, such as a 
business summary report on the overall status of the Group’s 
activities in line with the relevant laws, regulations and disclosure 
standards of each country and region in which we operate. With 
these initiatives and prior inquiries as required, we strive to 
reduce tax risks.

Efforts to Prevent Tax Avoidance
In accordance with OECD’s Action Plan on Base Erosion and 
Profit Shifting (BEPS), we are committed to ensuring proper tax 
payment in all operating countries including Japan, by aligning 
tax payments with the location of our economic activity and 
value creation, in line with the revision of tax regulations to tackle 
BEPS. 

In particular, we handle transfer pricing taxation and anti-tax 
haven taxation, which are critical international taxation issues.

Transfer Pricing Tax Compliance
The KDDI Group’s business is primarily in telecommunications 
and ancillary businesses in Japan, and its foreign-related trans-
actions are few compared with those of other multinationals of 
similar size. 

Where foreign-related transactions are conducted, the 
prudence of the foreign-related transaction is confirmed in 
compliance with the laws and regulations of the relevant coun-
tries, and transfer pricing documentation is prepared. Additional-
ly, depending on the size of the foreign-related transaction, we 
pay the appropriate taxes by utilizing various systems in consul-
tation with the tax authorities.

Tax Haven Tax Compliance
We do not use tax-free or low-tax jurisdictions (so-called “tax 
haven jurisdictions”) for tax avoidance. When an investment is 
made in a tax haven area for business reasons, the anti-tax 
haven taxation system is applied following the laws and regula-
tions of the relevant countries. If the company is subject to 
anti-tax haven taxation, it will file the appropriate tax return and 
pay the tax due.

Responsible Tax Practice
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Consolidated Financial Highlights (Years ended March 31)

Japanese GAAP IFRS

Millions of yen

Consolidated FY12.3 FY13.3 FY14.3 FY15.3 FY15.3 FY16.3 FY17.3 FY18.3 FY19.3 FY20.3 FY21.3 FY22.3

Operating Revenues/Net Sales  →P107 3,572,098 3,662,289 4,333,628 4,573,142 4,270,094 4,466,135 4,748,259 5,041,978 5,080,353  5,237,221 5,312,599 5,446,708

Operating Income  →P107 477,648 512,669 663,245 741,299 665,719 832,583 912,976 962,793 1,013,729  1,025,237 1,037,395 1,060,592

Operating Margin 13.4% 14.0% 15.3% 16.2% 15.6% 18.6% 19.2% 19.1% 20.0%  19.6% 19.5% 19.5%

EBITDA*2 908,499 959,571 1,186,069 1,292,597 1,284,553 1,410,971 1,524,207 1,560,061 1,598,670  1,750,861 1,786,170 1,813,436

EBITDA Margin 25.4% 26.2% 27.4% 28.3% 30.1% 31.6% 32.1% 30.9% 31.5%  33.4% 33.6% 33.3%

Net Income/Profit for the Year Attributable to Owners of the Parent  →P107 238,605 241,470 322,038 427,931 395,805 494,878 546,658 572,528 617,669  639,767 651,496 672,486

Capital Expenditures  →P110 421,568 467,020 571,799 576,197 667,714 531,434 519,365 560,831 601,757  615,054 627,907 676,461

Depreciation and Amortization 417,886 406,726 470,098 494,570 518,708 532,442 545,177 546,609 562,282  689,473 727,438 727,779

Interest-Bearing Debt  →P108 1,046,754 977,563 1,084,966 1,002,214 1,154,116 1,235,287 1,151,650 1,118,616 1,275,711  1,680,367 1,645,481 1,600,104

Equity Ratio/Ratio of Equity Attributable to Owners of the Parent 51.5% 55.1% 55.1% 57.3% 54.5% 56.3% 56.7% 57.4% 57.1% 45.8% 45.2% 45.0%

Return on Equity/Ratio of Return on Equity Attributable to Owners of 
the Parent (ROE)

11.5% 11.2% 13.0% 14.9% 13.5% 15.5% 15.9% 15.6% 15.5% 14.9% 14.2% 13.8%

Return on Assets/Ratio of Return on Total Assets (ROA) 12.3% 12.7% 14.7% 14.5% 12.1% 14.5% 15.0% 15.0% 14.6% 12.1% 10.3% 9.8%

Earnings per Share/Basic Earnings per Share*3 (yen) 96.86 105.30 132.87 170.84 158.01 197.73 221.65 235.54 259.10  275.69 284.16 300.03

Dividends per Share*3 (yen)  →P108 26.67 30.00 43.33 56.67 56.67 70.00 85.00 90.00 105.00  115.00 120.00 125.00

Dividend Payout Ratio 27.5% 28.5% 32.6% 33.2% 35.9% 35.4% 38.3% 38.2% 40.5% 41.7% 42.2% 41.7%

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities 725,886 523,908 772,207 962,249 968,752 884,538 1,161,074 1,061,405 1,029,607  1,323,356 1,682,166 1,468,648

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Investing Activities (484,507) (472,992) (546,257) (674,520) (635,745) (667,917) (637,225) (633,847) (714,578)  (610,950) (658,925) (761,593)

Free Cash Flows*4  →P110 241,379 50,916 225,950 287,729 333,006 216,621 523,849 427,558 315,028  712,406 1,023,241 707,056

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities (225,931) (140,249) (105,643) (224,862) (310,528) (299,003) (485,784) (453,168) (310,951)  (546,381) (585,571) (727,257)

*1 �Terminology differences between Japanese GAAP and IFRS (adopted from FY16.3) will be presented as “Japanese GAAP/IFRS.”
*2 �From FY13.3 and in FY15.3, the EBITDA calculation formula has been changed. 

Until FY12.3 (JGAAP): EBITDA = Operating income + depreciation + noncurrent assets retirement cost 
Until FY15.3 (JGAAP): EBITDA = Operating income + depreciation + amortization of goodwill + noncurrent assets retirement cost 
Since FY15.3 (IFRS): EBITDA = Operating income + depreciation and amortization + noncurrent assets retirement cost + impairment loss

Financial and Non-Financial Data
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Japanese GAAP IFRS

Millions of yen

Consolidated FY12.3 FY13.3 FY14.3 FY15.3 FY15.3 FY16.3 FY17.3 FY18.3 FY19.3 FY20.3 FY21.3 FY22.3

Operating Revenues/Net Sales  →P107 3,572,098 3,662,289 4,333,628 4,573,142 4,270,094 4,466,135 4,748,259 5,041,978 5,080,353  5,237,221 5,312,599 5,446,708

Operating Income  →P107 477,648 512,669 663,245 741,299 665,719 832,583 912,976 962,793 1,013,729  1,025,237 1,037,395 1,060,592

Operating Margin 13.4% 14.0% 15.3% 16.2% 15.6% 18.6% 19.2% 19.1% 20.0%  19.6% 19.5% 19.5%

EBITDA*2 908,499 959,571 1,186,069 1,292,597 1,284,553 1,410,971 1,524,207 1,560,061 1,598,670  1,750,861 1,786,170 1,813,436

EBITDA Margin 25.4% 26.2% 27.4% 28.3% 30.1% 31.6% 32.1% 30.9% 31.5%  33.4% 33.6% 33.3%

Net Income/Profit for the Year Attributable to Owners of the Parent  →P107 238,605 241,470 322,038 427,931 395,805 494,878 546,658 572,528 617,669  639,767 651,496 672,486

Capital Expenditures  →P110 421,568 467,020 571,799 576,197 667,714 531,434 519,365 560,831 601,757  615,054 627,907 676,461

Depreciation and Amortization 417,886 406,726 470,098 494,570 518,708 532,442 545,177 546,609 562,282  689,473 727,438 727,779

Interest-Bearing Debt  →P108 1,046,754 977,563 1,084,966 1,002,214 1,154,116 1,235,287 1,151,650 1,118,616 1,275,711  1,680,367 1,645,481 1,600,104

Equity Ratio/Ratio of Equity Attributable to Owners of the Parent 51.5% 55.1% 55.1% 57.3% 54.5% 56.3% 56.7% 57.4% 57.1% 45.8% 45.2% 45.0%

Return on Equity/Ratio of Return on Equity Attributable to Owners of 
the Parent (ROE)

11.5% 11.2% 13.0% 14.9% 13.5% 15.5% 15.9% 15.6% 15.5% 14.9% 14.2% 13.8%

Return on Assets/Ratio of Return on Total Assets (ROA) 12.3% 12.7% 14.7% 14.5% 12.1% 14.5% 15.0% 15.0% 14.6% 12.1% 10.3% 9.8%

Earnings per Share/Basic Earnings per Share*3 (yen) 96.86 105.30 132.87 170.84 158.01 197.73 221.65 235.54 259.10  275.69 284.16 300.03

Dividends per Share*3 (yen)  →P108 26.67 30.00 43.33 56.67 56.67 70.00 85.00 90.00 105.00  115.00 120.00 125.00

Dividend Payout Ratio 27.5% 28.5% 32.6% 33.2% 35.9% 35.4% 38.3% 38.2% 40.5% 41.7% 42.2% 41.7%

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities 725,886 523,908 772,207 962,249 968,752 884,538 1,161,074 1,061,405 1,029,607  1,323,356 1,682,166 1,468,648

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Investing Activities (484,507) (472,992) (546,257) (674,520) (635,745) (667,917) (637,225) (633,847) (714,578)  (610,950) (658,925) (761,593)

Free Cash Flows*4  →P110 241,379 50,916 225,950 287,729 333,006 216,621 523,849 427,558 315,028  712,406 1,023,241 707,056

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities (225,931) (140,249) (105,643) (224,862) (310,528) (299,003) (485,784) (453,168) (310,951)  (546,381) (585,571) (727,257)

*3 �Values are adjusted following stock splits conducted with effective dates of October 1, 2012, April 1, 2013, and April 1, 2015. Figures for previous fiscal years have been retroactively 
adjusted.

*4 �Free cash flows = Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities + net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
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¥5,446.7 billion

¥672.5 billion

Financial and Non-Financial Highlights (Years ended March 31)

(Billions of yen)
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Higher Handset revenues and increased revenue from 
the Business Services segment and the financial and 
energy businesses resulted in net sales increased 2.5% 
year-on-year to ¥5,446.7 billion.

In addition to the increase in operating income, the 
increase in net financial income contributed to the 3.2% 
year-on-year increase in profit for the year attributable 
to owners of the parent, to ¥672.5 billion.

The decrease in Multi-Brand communications ARPU 
revenues was offset by an increase in MVNO and 
roaming revenues, as well as higher income from the 
Business Services segment and financial and energy 
businesses, which are the Company’s focus areas. 
Operating income increased 2.2% year-on-year to 
¥1,060.6 billion.

Personal Services 
segment

85
Business Services 
segment

46
Consolidation 
adjustment, etc. +3

Operating Revenues/Net Sales

Net Income/Profit for the Year Attributable to Owners of the Parent

Operating Income
■ Operating Income (left)     ● Operating Margin (right)

Financial

YOY  2.5%

YOY  3.2%

¥1,060.6 billion

YOY  2.2%

Personal Services segment 3
Business Services segment 19
Consolidation adjustment, etc. +2
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¥125.00

The annual dividend was ¥125, an increase of ¥5 
year-on-year, and the consolidated dividend payout 
ratio was 41.7%. Regarding the dividend policy from 
FY23.3 to FY25.3, we will maintain a consolidated 
dividend payout ratio of over 40%, in parallel with our 
efforts toward sustainable growth, including capital 
investment in 5G and focus areas and strategic busi-
ness investment.

YOY  ¥5.00
(yen) (%)

13 14 15 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22
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Japanese GAAP IFRS
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Dividends per Share
■ Dividends per Share (left)     ● Dividend Payout Ratio (right)

Interest-bearing debt dropped by ¥45.4 billion year-on-
year to ¥1,600.1 billion, mainly due to a decrease in 
lease obligations and borrowings.

In addition to a decrease in interest-bearing debt, an 
increase in retained earnings led to an increase in the 
parent company’s equity attributable to the owners of 
the parent. As a result, the D/E ratio was 0.32, a de-
crease of 0.03 year-on-year.

¥1,600.1 billion

YOY  ¥45.4 billion

0.32 times

YOY  0.03

Interest-Bearing Debt

D/E Ratio
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¥5,510.7billion

Despite the acquisition of treasury stock, the increase in 
retained earnings due to higher profit for the period and 
an increase in non-controlling interests contributed to 
the increase in capital. Total equity amounted to 
¥5,510.7 billion, up ¥251.2 billion year-on-year.

YOY  ¥251.2 billion

¥11,084.4billion

Total assets increased by ¥549.1 billion year-on-year to 
¥11,084.4 billion, mainly due to an increase in loans for 
the financial business because of the securitization of 
mortgage loan receivables.

YOY  ¥549.1 billion

(Billions of yen)

2021 2022

11,084

10,535

others
+200Property, 

plant and 
equipment

+92

Securities 
and loans for 

financial 
business

+270

Cash and cash 
equivalents
▲13

YOY

5.2%

(Billions of yen)

YOY

4.8%

2021 2022

5,511

5,259

others
+27

Non-controlling 
interests

+28
Retained 
earnings

+409

Treasury stock
▲213

Total Equity

Total Assets

Financial and Non-Financial Highlights (Years ended March 31) Financial
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¥404.2 billion

In the mobile business, while 4G investment decreased, 5G 
investment expanded, resulting in an increase of ¥26.2 billion 
year-on-year to ¥404.2 billion.

YOY  ¥26.2 billion

¥272.2 billion

Regarding the fixed lines, and others, net sales increased ¥22.4 
billion year-on-year to ¥272.2 billion because some payments for 
FY21.3, were delayed to FY22.3, and in addition to the increase in 
voice, network, and other shared infrastructure facilities, etc.

YOY  ¥22.4 billion

¥707.1 billion

Net cash provided by operating activities amounted to 
¥1,258.4 billion*, a decrease of ¥154 billion year-on-year 
due to an increase in income taxes paid as well as other 
factors.

On the other hand, cash flow from investing activi-
ties increased by ¥65.1 billion year-on-year to ¥699.5 
billion* due to an increase in capital expenditure for the 
promotion of 5G investment etc. 

As a result, free cash flow, the sum of net cash 
provided by operating activities and net cash used in 
investing activities, amounted to ¥558.9 billion*, down 
¥219.1 billion year-on-year.
* Excluding financial business (au Financial Holdings)

YOY  ¥316.2 billion

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

■ FTTH 24 28 26 22 22 22

■ Others 170 173 199 219 228 250

Total 194 201 225 241 250 272

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

■ 3G 4 1 1 1 1 0

■ 4G LTE/5G 114 152 181 174 211 191

■ Common equipment 207 207 195 200 167 213

Total 325 360 377 374 378 404

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

● Free Cash Flows 524 428 315 712 1,023 707
■  Net Cash Provided by (Used in)  

Operating Activities
1,161 1,061 1,030 1,323 1,682 1,469

■ Capital Expenditures -519 -561 -602 -615 -628 -677
■  Others, Net Cash Provided by  

(Used in) Investing Activities
-118 -73 -113 4 -31 -85

● EBITDA 1,524 1,560 1,599 1,751 1,786 1,813

Capital Expenditures (Payment Basis)

Mobile Fixed-Line 
and Others

Free Cash Flows
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Boundary Unit FY18.3 FY19.3 FY20.3 FY21.3 FY22.3 Note

Number of employees Number of consolidated employees Consolidated people 38,826 41,996 44,952 47,320 48,829

*1 The number of managerial 
personnel includes KDDI 
managerial personnel as 
well as those temporarily 
transferred to other compa-
nies

*2 Figures for FY22.3 are per-
centage as of April 1, 2022.

*3 Heavy oil (crude oil), diesel, 
kerosene, city gas

*4 The CO2 emissions are cal-
culated using the emission 
factors furnished by electric 
utility operators. (Emissions 
from heat, steam and hot 
and chilled water consump-
tion are included.)

*5 Uses emission coefficients 
indicated in Japan’s Ministry 
of the Environment’s 
Overview of Basic 
Guidelines on Accounting 
for Greenhouse Gas 
Emissions throughout the 
Supply Chain.

*6 The number of subscribers 
combines subscriptions for 
au and FTTH (unit: 1,000 
contracts).

*7 Fuel consumption includes 
heavy oil, diesel and kero-
sene (but excludes city gas 
and LP gas). The emission 
coefficient applied to GHG 
emissions calculation and 
reporting and disclosure 
system specified in the Act 
on Promotion of Global 
Warming Countermeasures 
is used.

*8 Water supply, recycled 
water, well water, excluding 
waste water

*9 Nonhazardous industrial 
waste (telecommunications 
equipment, normal daily 
waste from KDDI buildings)

*10 Stated figure is corrected.
(Feb. 2023) 
Incorrect: 1,072,088 
Correct: 1,073,088

Working years Average working years Non-consolidated year 17.6 17.7 17.8 17.6 17.2

Number of managers
Number of female managers*1 Non-consolidated people 302 321 342 370 344

Percentage of female key management positions*2 Non-consolidated % — — — — 9.4

Number of hired Percentage of newly hired female graduates Non-consolidated % 31.3 36.9 31.1 32.4 33.6

t % t % t % t % t %

CO2 emissions

Scope 1*3 Direct GHG emissions Non-consolidated t, % 5,700 0.09 6,539 0.12 6,581 0.10 5,746 0.09 7,962 0.13

Scope 2*4 Indirect GHG emissions from consumption of purchased 
electricity, heat or steam Non-consolidated t, % 1,073,088 17.67 1,058,143 18.98 1,041,559 16.13 1,049,105 16.28 1,078,552 17.55

Scope 3*5

Purchased goods and services Non-consolidated t, % 3,818,806 62.89 3,347,946 60.05 3,529,472 54.65 3,581,713 55.57 3,373,587 54.88

Capital goods Non-consolidated t, % 828,675 13.65 875,318 15.70 1,584,908 24.54 1,486,988 23.07 1,367,518 22.25

Fuel- and energy-related activities not included in Scopes 1 and 2 Non-consolidated t, % 35,280 0.58 37,104 0.67 40,188 0.62 41,729 0.65 43,950 0.71

Upstream transportation and distribution Non-consolidated t, % 12,101 0.20 8,777 0.16 7,408 0.11 7,183 0.11 12,035 0.20

Waste generated in operations Non-consolidated t, % 1,043 0.02 710 0.01 413 0.01 464 0.01 485 0.01

Business travel Non-consolidated t, % 6,327 0.10 5,012 0.09 4,955 0.08 662 0.01 870 0.01

Employee commuting Non-consolidated t, % 4,332 0.07 4,034 0.07 5,043 0.08 1,897 0.03 2,153 0.04

Upstream leased assets Non-consolidated t, % 1,092 0.02 1,133 0.02 784 0.01 514 0.01 527 0.01

Downstream transportation and distribution Non-consolidated t, % 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00

Processing of sold products Non-consolidated t, % 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00

Use of sold products Non-consolidated t, % 285,294 4.70 229,913 4.12 237,008 3.67 268,754 4.17 259,227 4.22

End-of-life treatment of sold products Non-consolidated t, % 426 0.01 344 0.01 205 0.00 150 0.00 125 0.00

Downstream leased assets Non-consolidated t, % 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00

Franchises Non-consolidated t, % 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00

Investment Non-consolidated t, % 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00

Scope 3 Total Non-consolidated t, % 4,993,376 82.23 4,510,291 80.90 5,410,384 83.77 5,390,054 83.63 5,060,478 82.32

Environmental 
impact data

Power consumption Non-consolidated 1000 kWh 2,086,626 2,151,456 2,262,524 2,357,458 2,471,430

Scope 1 emissions Fuel Non-consolidated t-CO2 5,700 6,539 6,581 5,746 7,962

Scope 2 emissions*4 (market-based) Electricity, steam and hot and cold water Non-consolidated t-CO2 1,073,088 1,058,143 1,041,559 1,049,105 1,078,552

Total of Scope 1 + 2 emissions Non-consolidated t-CO2 1,078,788 1,064,683 1,048,140 1,054,850 1,086,514

Scope 3 emissions Total of categories 1-15 Non-consolidated t-CO2 4,993,376 4,510,291 5,410,384 5,390,054 5,060,478

Total of Scope 1 + 2 +3 emissions Non-consolidated t-CO2 6,072,164 5,574,974 6,548,524 6,444,904 6,146,992

Power consumption Consolidated 1000 kWh 2,992,240 2,930,568 3,079,800 3,198,506 3,638,802

Electricity consumption derived from renewable energy 
sources Consolidated 1000 kWh 143,311 158,338 169,349 338,319 374,438

Scope 1 emissions Fuel Consolidated t-CO2 22,594 25,511 25,169 25,420 27,679

Scope 2 emissions*4 (market-based) Electricity, steam and hot and cold water Consolidated t-CO2 1,504,142 1,369,942 1,352,131 1,296,381 1,496,547

Total of Scope 1 + 2 emissions (market-based) Consolidated t-CO2 1,526,737 1,395,453 1,377,300 1,321,801 1,524,226

Scope 2 emissions (location-based) Electricity, steam and hot and cold water Consolidated t-CO2 — 1,486,429 1,486,924 1,475,724 1,618,657

Environmental 
impact data 2

Electric power consumption per subscriber*6 Non-consolidated 1000 kWh 368 360 358 361 372

Fuel consumption*7 Non-consolidated kL 319 330 544 345 364

Paper usage Non-consolidated t 7,462 10,853 9,512 8,798 5,313

Water usage*8 Non-consolidated m3 746 400 395 842 397

Industrial waste*9 Non-consolidated t 2,467 1,927 1,941 2,318 1,993

Number of mobile phones and other devices collected by KDDI : 
Mobile phone main body Non-consolidated 10,000

devices 134 125 118 112 114

Number of mobile phones and other devices collected by KDDI : 
Batteries Non-consolidated 10,000

devices 123 108 98 91 87

Number of mobile phones and other devices collected by KDDI : 
Chargers Non-consolidated 10,000

devices 57 54 63 54 58

Energy usage at equipment-related facilities Non-consolidated 1000 kWh 816,904 863,416 903,111 947,613 1,009,816

Water usage (Water supply, recycled water, well water, excluding 
waste water) Consolidated m3 1,002 730 675 1,156 1,087

Water resource usage (basic unit): Consolidated water usage/
Consolidated number of employees Consolidated m3/ 

person — — 0 0 0

Industrial waste (Nonhazardous industrial waste (telecommunica-
tions equipment, normal daily waste from KDDI buildings)) Consolidated t 4,937 3,303 3,753 3,319 4,816

Renewable energy 
(business) Total generated energy (sold) Non-consolidated 18,137 17,998 17,406 17,566 17,664

Reduction of  waste 
products and paper 
resources

Material recycling volume Non-consolidated t 1,093 1,618 792 1,073 1,714

Reduction of paper by putting bills on the web Non-consolidated t 3,902 4,041 4,207 4,962 5,180

Promotion of mobile 
phone recycling Recycling rate (mobile phones) Non-consolidated % 99.8 99.8 99.8 99.8 99.8

Non-FinancialFinancial and Non-Financial Highlights (Years ended March 31)
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Boundary Unit FY18.3 FY19.3 FY20.3 FY21.3 FY22.3 Note

Number of employees Number of consolidated employees Consolidated people 38,826 41,996 44,952 47,320 48,829

Working years Average working years Non-consolidated year 17.6 17.7 17.8 17.6 17.2

Number of managers
Number of female managers*1 Non-consolidated people 302 321 342 370 344

Percentage of female key management positions*2 Non-consolidated % — — — — 9.4

Number of hired Percentage of newly hired female graduates Non-consolidated % 31.3 36.9 31.1 32.4 33.6

t % t % t % t % t %

CO2 emissions

Scope 1*3 Direct GHG emissions Non-consolidated t, % 5,700 0.09 6,539 0.12 6,581 0.10 5,746 0.09 7,962 0.13

Scope 2*4 Indirect GHG emissions from consumption of purchased 
electricity, heat or steam Non-consolidated t, % 1,073,088 17.67 1,058,143 18.98 1,041,559 16.13 1,049,105 16.28 1,078,552 17.55

Scope 3*5

Purchased goods and services Non-consolidated t, % 3,818,806 62.89 3,347,946 60.05 3,529,472 54.65 3,581,713 55.57 3,373,587 54.88

Capital goods Non-consolidated t, % 828,675 13.65 875,318 15.70 1,584,908 24.54 1,486,988 23.07 1,367,518 22.25

Fuel- and energy-related activities not included in Scopes 1 and 2 Non-consolidated t, % 35,280 0.58 37,104 0.67 40,188 0.62 41,729 0.65 43,950 0.71

Upstream transportation and distribution Non-consolidated t, % 12,101 0.20 8,777 0.16 7,408 0.11 7,183 0.11 12,035 0.20

Waste generated in operations Non-consolidated t, % 1,043 0.02 710 0.01 413 0.01 464 0.01 485 0.01

Business travel Non-consolidated t, % 6,327 0.10 5,012 0.09 4,955 0.08 662 0.01 0.01

Employee commuting Non-consolidated t, % 4,332 0.07 4,034 0.07 5,043 0.08 1,897 0.03 0.04

Upstream leased assets Non-consolidated t, % 1,092 0.02 1,133 0.02 784 0.01 514 0.01 527 0.01

Downstream transportation and distribution Non-consolidated t, % 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00

Processing of sold products Non-consolidated t, % 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00

Use of sold products Non-consolidated t, % 285,294 4.70 229,913 4.12 237,008 3.67 268,754 4.17 259,227 4.22

End-of-life treatment of sold products Non-consolidated t, % 426 0.01 344 0.01 205 0.00 150 0.00 0.00

Downstream leased assets Non-consolidated t, % 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00

Franchises Non-consolidated t, % 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00

Investment Non-consolidated t, % 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00

Scope 3 Total Non-consolidated t, % 4,993,376 82.23 4,510,291 80.90 5,410,384 83.77 5,390,054 83.63

Environmental 
impact data

Power consumption Non-consolidated 1000 kWh 2,086,626 2,151,456 2,262,524 2,357,458 2,471,430

Scope 1 emissions Fuel Non-consolidated t-CO2 5,700 6,539 6,581 5,746 7,962

Scope 2 emissions*4 (market-based) Electricity, steam and hot and cold water Non-consolidated t-CO2 1,073,088 1,058,143 1,041,559 1,049,105 1,078,552

Total of Scope 1 + 2 emissions Non-consolidated t-CO2 1,078,788 1,064,683 1,048,140 1,054,850 1,086,514

Scope 3 emissions Total of categories 1-15 Non-consolidated t-CO2 4,993,376 4,510,291 5,410,384 5,390,054 5,060,478

Total of Scope 1 + 2 +3 emissions Non-consolidated t-CO2 6,072,164 5,574,974 6,444,904

Power consumption Consolidated 1000 kWh 2,992,240 2,930,568 3,079,800 3,198,506 3,638,802

Electricity consumption derived from renewable energy 
sources Consolidated 1000 kWh 143,311 158,338 169,349 338,319 374,438

Scope 1 emissions Fuel Consolidated t-CO2 22,594 25,511 25,169 25,420 27,679

Scope 2 emissions*4 (market-based) Electricity, steam and hot and cold water Consolidated t-CO2 1,504,142 1,369,942 1,352,131 1,296,381 1,496,547

Total of Scope 1 + 2 emissions (market-based) Consolidated t-CO2 1,526,737 1,395,453 1,377,300 1,321,801 1,524,226

Scope 2 emissions (location-based) Electricity, steam and hot and cold water Consolidated t-CO2 — 1,486,429 1,486,924 1,475,724 1,618,657

Environmental 
impact data 2

Electric power consumption per subscriber*6 Non-consolidated 1000 kWh 368 360 358 361 372

Fuel consumption*7 Non-consolidated kL 319 330 544 345 364

Paper usage Non-consolidated t 7,462 10,853 9,512 8,798 5,313

Water usage*8 Non-consolidated 1,000 m3

Industrial waste*9 Non-consolidated t 2,467 1,927 1,941 2,318 1,993

Number of mobile phones and other devices collected by KDDI :
Mobile phone main body Non-consolidated 10,000

devices 134 125 118 112 114

Number of mobile phones and other devices collected by KDDI :
Batteries Non-consolidated 10,000

devices 123 108 98 91 87

Number of mobile phones and other devices collected by KDDI :
Chargers Non-consolidated 10,000

devices 57 54 63 54 58

Energy usage at equipment-related facilities Non-consolidated 1000 kWh 816,904 863,416 903,111 947,613 1,009,816

Water usage (Water supply, recycled water, well water, excluding
waste water) Consolidated 1,000 m3

Water resource usage (basic unit): Consolidated water usage/
Consolidated number of employees Consolidated 1,000 m3/ 

person — —

Industrial waste (Nonhazardous industrial waste (telecommunica-
tions equipment, normal daily waste from KDDI buildings)) Consolidated t 4,937 3,303 3,753 3,319 4,816

Renewable energy 
(business) Total generated energy (sold) Non-consolidated MWh 18,137 17,998 17,406 17,566 17,664

Reduction of  waste 
products and paper 
resources

Material recycling volume Non-consolidated t 1,093 1,618 792 1,073 1,714

Reduction of paper by putting bills on the web Non-consolidated t 3,902 4,041 4,207 4,962 5,180

Promotion of mobile 
phone recycling Recycling rate (mobile phones) Non-consolidated % 99.8 99.8 99.8 99.8 99.8

*10
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*1  The number of managerial
personnel includes KDDI 
managerial personnel as well 
as those temporarily 
transferred to other compa-

   nies

*2  Figures for FY22.3 are per-
  centage as of April 1, 2022.

*3  Heavy oil (crude oil), diesel, 
kerosene, city gas

*4 The CO2 emissions are cal-
  culated using the emission 
factors furnished by electric 
utility operators. (Emissions 
from heat, steam and hot 
and chilled water consump-

  tion are included.)

*5   Uses emission coefficients 
indicated in Japan's 
Ministry of the Environment's 
Overview of Basic Guidelines 
on Accounting for 
Greenhouse Gas Emissions 
throughout the Supply Chain.

*6  The number of subscribers 
combines subscriptions for 
au and FTTH (unit: 10,000* 
contracts).
*Stated unit is corrected.
Incorrect: 1,000 contracts
Correct: 10,000 contracts

*7  Fuel consumption includes
heavy oil, diesel and kero-

    sene (but excludes city gas 
    and LP gas). The emission 
    coefficient applied to GHG 
    emissions calculation and 
    reporting and disclosure 
    system specified in the Act 
    on Promotion of Global 
    Warming Countermeasures is 
    used. 

*8  Water supply, recycled 
water, well water, excluding 
waste water

*9  Nonhazardous industrial
waste (telecommunications 
equipment, normal daily 
waste from KDDI buildings)

*10 Stated figure is corrected.
(Feb. 2023) 
Incorrect: 1,072,088 
Correct: 1,073,088

*11 Stated figure is corrected. 
(May 2023)
Incorrect: 870
Correct: 908

*12 Stated figure is corrected. 
(May 2023)
Incorrect: 2,153
Correct: 2,430

*13 Stated figure is corrected. 
(May 2023)
Incorrect: 125
Correct: 127

*14 Stated figure is corrected. 
(May 2023)
Incorrect: 5,060,478
Correct: 5,060,794

*15 Stated figure is corrected. 
(May 2023)
Incorrect: 82.32
Correct: 82.33

*16 Stated figure is corrected. 
(May 2023)
Incorrect: 6,146,992
Correct: 6,147,308

*17 Stated figure is corrected. 
(May 2023)
Incorrect: 6,548,524
Correct: 6,458,524

908
2,430

*11

*12

127 *13

5,060,794*14 82.33 *15

6,147,308 *166,458,524 *17

745,722 399,563 395,134 841,758 397,217

1,001,926 730,259 674,869 1,156,206 1,087,106

15 24 22



i. Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Millions of yen

As of March 31 Notes FY21.3 FY22.3

Assets

  Non-current assets :

    Property, plant and equipment 5, 7 ¥  2,492,985 ¥  2,585,481

    Right-of-use assets 7, 35 396,772 387,669

    Goodwill 6, 7 540,420 540,962

    Intangible assets 6, 7 1,024,831 1,025,223

    Investments accounted for using the equity method 8 233,921 244,515

    Long-term loans for financial business 31, 32 1,148,805 1,335,111

    Securities for financial business 31, 32 276,065 338,285

    Other long-term financial assets 11, 31, 32 325,201 329,268

    Retirement benefit assets 16 38,364 44,720

    Deferred tax assets 15 11,396 12,330

    Contract costs 24 466,316 548,704

    Other non-current assets 12 21,321 25,083

    Total non-current assets 6,976,398 7,417,350

  Current assets :

    Inventories 9 69,821 74,511

    Trade and other receivables 10, 31 2,229,435 2,311,694

    Short-term loans for financial business 31, 32 233,605 255,266

    Call loans 31 33,846 45,064

    Other short-term financial assets 11, 31, 32 69,955 67,154

    Income tax receivables 7,969 2,904

    Other current assets 12 104,496 113,822

    Cash and cash equivalents 13 809,802 796,613

    Total current assets 3,558,928 3,667,028

  Total assets ¥10,535,326 ¥11,084,379

Consolidated Financial Statements
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i. Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Millions of yen

As of March 31 Notes FY21.3 FY22.3

Liabilities and Equity

Liabilities

  Non-current liabilities :

    Borrowings and bonds payable 14, 31, 32 ¥  1,151,664 ¥     921,616

    Long-term deposits for financial business 31, 32 32,850 33,240

    Lease liabilities 35 288,650 279,265

    Other long-term financial liabilities 18, 31, 32 14,172 14,198

    Retirement benefit liabilities 16 12,109 12,496

    Deferred tax liabilities 15 100,071 144,776

    Provisions 19 77,476 70,073

    Contract liabilities 24 71,669 71,083

    Other non-current liabilities 20 10,813 11,015

    Total non-current liabilities 1,759,474 1,557,762

  Current liabilities :

    Borrowings and bonds payable 14, 31, 32 92,892 286,505

    Trade and other payables 17, 31 754,345 834,496

    Short-term deposits for financial business 31, 32 1,817,240 2,184,264

    Call money 31 115,815 141,348

    Lease liabilities 35 112,275 112,719

    Other short-term financial liabilities 18, 31, 32 1,655 2,620

    Income taxes payables 200,886 126,874

    Provisions 19 38,925 25,641

    Contract liabilities 24 100,889 86,091

    Other current liabilities 20 281,461 215,397

    Total current liabilities 3,516,383 4,015,953

  Total liabilities 5,275,857 5,573,715

Equity

  Equity attributable to owners of the parent

    Common stock 22 141,852 141,852

    Capital surplus 22 278,675 279,371

    Treasury stock 22 (86,719) (299,827)

    Retained earnings 22 4,409,000 4,818,117

    Accumulated other comprehensive income 22 16,912 43,074

  Total equity attributable to owners of the parent 4,759,720 4,982,586

  Non-controlling interests 37 499,749 528,077

  Total equity 5,259,469 5,510,663

  Total liabilities and equity ¥10,535,326 ¥11,084,379
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ii. Consolidated Statement of Income

Millions of yen

For the years ended March 31 Notes FY21.3 FY22.3

Operating revenue 24 ¥5,312,599 ¥5,446,708

Cost of sales 25 2,928,175 2,984,589

Gross profit 2,384,424 2,462,119

  Selling, general and administrative expenses 25 1,364,234 1,422,539

  Other income 26 17,136 21,001

  Other expense 26 4,815 5,781

  Share of profit of investments accounted for using the equity method 8 4,884 5,791

Operating income 1,037,395 1,060,592

  Finance income 27 6,539 10,202

  Finance cost 27 8,311 7,746

  Other non-operating profit and loss 28 2,433 1,448

Profit for the year before income tax 1,038,056 1,064,497

  Income tax 15 331,451 331,957

Profit for the year ¥   706,605 ¥   732,540

Profit for the year attributable to:

  Owners of the parent ¥   651,496 ¥   672,486

  Non-controlling interests 55,109 60,054

Profit for the year ¥   706,605 ¥   732,540

Earnings per share attributable to owners of the parent 34

  Basic earnings per share (yen) ¥284.16   ¥300.03

  Diluted earnings per share (yen) 283.91 299.73
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iii. Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Millions of yen

For the years ended March 31 Notes FY21.3 FY22.3

Profit for the year ¥706,605 ¥732,540

Other comprehensive income

  Items that will not be transferred  subsequently to profit or loss

    Remeasurements of defined benefit pension plans 16, 29 46,106 5,201

    Changes measured in fair value of financial assets through other 
comprehensive income 29, 31 26,086 9,001

    Share of other comprehensive income of investments accounted 
for using the equity method 8, 29 254 (6)

      Total 72,445 14,195

  Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss

    Changes in fair value of cash flow hedge 29, 31 1,436 2,422

    Translation differences on foreign operations 29 15,174 23,891

    Share of other comprehensive income of investments accounted 
for using the equity method 8, 29 (322) 981

      Total 16,288 27,294

Total other comprehensive income 88,733 41,490

Total comprehensive income for the year ¥795,339 ¥774,029

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:

  Owners of the parent ¥736,709 ¥706,668

  Non-controlling interests 58,630 67,362

      Total ¥795,339 ¥774,029

Note: Items in the statement above are presented after income tax.
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iv. Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Millions of yen

For the year ended March 31, 2021  Equity attributable to owners of the parent

Notes
Common 

stock 
Capital  
surplus 

Treasury 
stock

Retained  
earnings

Accumulated 
other  

comprehensive 
income Total

Non-
controlling 

interests Total equity

As of April 1, 2020 ¥141,852 ¥280,591 ¥(156,550) ¥4,138,195 ¥ (19,665) ¥4,384,424 ¥474,684 ¥4,859,108

Comprehensive income

  Profit for the year — — — 651,496 — 651,496 55,109 706,605

  Other comprehensive income — — — — 85,213 85,213 3,520 88,733

  Total comprehensive income — — — 651,496 85,213 736,709 58,630 795,339

Transactions with owners and other transactions

  Cash dividends 23 — — — (276,085) — (276,085) (31,336) (307,421)

  Transfer of accumulated other comprehensive 
income to retained earnings — — — 48,636 (48,636) — — —

  Purchase and disposal of treasury stock 22 — (3,298) (80,153) — — (83,451) — (83,451)

  Retirement of treasury stock 22 — (150,000) 150,000 — — — — —

  Transfer from retained earnings to capital surplus — 153,242 — (153,242) — — — —

  Changes in interests in subsidiaries — (2,851) — — — (2,851) (2,229) (5,080)

  Other — 991 (17) — — 974 — 974

  Total transactions with owners and other 
transactions — (1,916) 69,830 (380,691) (48,636) (361,413) (33,564) (394,977)

As of March 31, 2021 ¥141,852 ¥278,675 ¥(86,719) ¥4,409,000 ¥16,912 ¥4,759,720 ¥499,749 ¥5,259,469

Millions of yen

For the year ended March 31, 2022  Equity attributable to owners of the parent

Notes
Common 

stock 
Capital  
surplus 

Treasury 
stock

Retained  
earnings

Accumulated 
other  

comprehensive 
income Total

Non-
controlling 

interests Total equity

As of April 1, 2021 ¥141,852 ¥278,675 (86,719) ¥4,409,000 ¥16,912 ¥4,759,720 ¥499,749 ¥5,259,469

Comprehensive income

  Profit for the year — — — 672,486 — 672,486 60,054 732,540

  Other comprehensive income — — — — 34,182 34,182 7,308 41,490

  Total comprehensive income — — — 672,486 34,182 706,668 67,362 774,029

Transactions with owners and other transactions

  Cash dividends 23 — — — (271,389) — (271,389) (31,864) (303,253)

  Transfer of accumulated other comprehensive 
income to retained earnings — — — 8,020 (8,020) — — —

  Purchase and disposal of treasury stock 22 — (60) (213,763) — — (213,822) — (213,822)

  Changes in interests in subsidiaries — (229) — — — (229) (7,170) (7,399)

  Other — 984 655 — — 1,639 — 1,639

  Total transactions with owners and other 
transactions — 696 (213,108) (263,369) (8,020) (483,801) (39,034) (522,835)

As of March 31, 2022 ¥141,852 ¥279,371 ¥(299,827) ¥4,818,117 ¥43,074 ¥4,982,586 ¥528,077 ¥5,510,663
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v. Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Millions of yen

For the years ended March 31 Notes FY21.3 FY22.3

Cash flows from operating activities
  Profit for the year before income tax ¥1,038,056 ¥1,064,497
  Depreciation and amortization 5, 6 727,745 728,101
  Impairment loss 7 7,395 2,689
  Share of (profit) loss of investments accounted for using the equity method 8 (4,884) (5,791)
  Loss (gain) on sales of non-current assets (2,252) (1,393)
  Interest and dividends income 27 (3,710) (7,022)
  Interest expenses 27 6,929 6,681
  (Increase) decrease in trade and other receivables (51,014) (51,616)
  Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables 75,449 16,403
  (Increase) decrease in loans for financial business (213,740) (207,966)
  Increase (decrease) in deposits for financial business 422,671 367,415
  (Increase) decrease in Call loans 17,091 (11,218)
  Increase (decrease) in Call money 43,715 25,532
  (Increase) decrease in inventories 5,495 (4,577)
  (Increase) decrease in retirement benefit assets (38,364) (6,357)
  Increase (decrease) in retirement benefit liabilities (25,120) 387
  Other 8,425 (84,111)
    Cash generated from operations 2,013,889 1,831,655
  Interest and dividends received 6,959 10,620
  Interest paid (7,300) (6,499)
  Income tax paid (335,679) (374,768)
  Income tax refund 4,297 7,641
    Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 1,682,166 1,468,648
Cash flows from investing activities
  Purchases of property, plant and equipment (414,722) (425,800)
  Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment 4,468 2,118
  Purchases of intangible assets (209,914) (249,767)
  Purchases of securities for financial business (146,519) (339,393)
  Proceeds from sales and redemption of securities for financial business 122,038 277,300
  Purchases of other financial assets (18,774) (12,822)
  Proceeds from sales and redemption of other financial assets 4,848 7,165
  Acquisitions of control over subsidiaries (428) —
  Purchases of stocks of associates (2,499) (9,974)
  Proceeds from sales of stocks of subsidiaries and associates 3,650 1,595
  Other (1,073) (12,015)
    Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (658,925) (761,593)
Cash flows from financing activities
  Net increase (decrease) of short-term borrowings 30 19,517 17
  Proceeds from issuance of bonds and long-term borrowings 30 77,500 —
  Payments from redemption of bonds and repayments of long-term borrowings 30 (153,301) (73,375)
  Repayments of lease liabilities 30 (133,226) (130,848)
  Payments from purchase of subsidiaries’equity from non-controlling interests (4,823) (12,619)
  Proceeds from the partial sales of shares of subsidiaries to  

non-contolling interests — 6,750
  Proceeds from stock issuance to non-controlling interests 9 108
  Payments from purchase of treasury stock 22 (136,087) (213,763)
  Proceeds from sale of treasury stock 52,214 —
  Cash dividends paid (275,993) (271,362)
  Cash dividends paid to non-controlling interests (31,379) (32,164)
  Other (3) (1)
    Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (585,571) (727,257)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 30 2,930 7,012
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 30 440,600 (13,189)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 13, 30 369,202 809,802
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 13, 30 ¥   809,802 ¥   796,613
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1 Reporting Entity

KDDI CORPORATION (“the Company”) was established as a limited 
company in accordance with Japanese Company Act. The location of 
the Company is Japan and the registered address of the headquarter is 
2-3-2, Nishishinjuku, Shinjuku-ku, Tokyo, Japan. The Company’s con-
solidated financial statements as of and for the year ended March 31, 
2022 comprise the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries (“the 

Group”) and the Group’s interests in associates and joint ventures. The 
Company is the ultimate parent company of the Group.

The Group’s major business and activities are “Personal Services” 
and “Business Services.” For the details, please refer to “(1) Outline of 
reportable segments” of “4. Segment information.”

2 Basis of Preparation

(1) Compliance of consolidated financial statements with IFRSs

The Group’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with IFRSs as prescribed in Article 93 of Ordinance on 
Consolidated Financial Statements as they satisfy the requirement of a 
“specific company” set forth in Article 1-2 of Ordinance on 
Consolidated Financial Statements.

(2) Basis of measurement

The Group’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared 
under the historical cost basis except for the following significant items 
on the consolidated statement of financial position:
• �Derivative assets and derivative liabilities (measured at fair value)
• �Financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
• �Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
• �Assets and liabilities related to defined benefit plan (measured at the 

present value of the defined benefit obligations, net of the fair value of 
the plan asset)

(3) Presentation currency and unit of currency

The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in 
Japanese yen, which is the currency of the primary economic environ-
ment of the Company’s business activities (“functional currency”), and 
are rounded to the nearest million yen. 

(4) Use of estimates and judgement

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
IFRSs requires management to make judgments, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The 
estimates and assumptions are based on the management’s best judg-
ments, through their evaluation of various factors that were considered 
reasonable as of the period-end, based on historical experience and by 
collecting available information. By the nature of the estimates or 
assumptions, however, actual results may differ from those estimates 
and assumptions.

The estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
The effect of adjusting accounting estimates is recognized in the fiscal 
year in which the estimates are adjusted and in the subsequent fiscal 
years. Estimates that may have a risk of significant adjustment of carry-
ing amounts of assets and/or liabilities in the subsequent fiscal years 
and the underlying assumptions are as follows:

As of the end of the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021, the Company 
had previously assumed that the impact of COVID-19 would last at least 
throughout the entire fiscal year ended March 31, 2022. However, the 
business environment surrounding the Company continues to be 

unpredictable. Based on currently available information and in light of 
current conditions, the Company has revised its assumptions used for 
the preparation of its consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year 
ended March 31, 2022, making accounting estimates that the impact of 
COVID-19 will continue at least throughout the fiscal year ending March 
31, 2023. This change on the consolidated financial statements for the 
fiscal year under review is immaterial. However, if future circumstances 
change and it becomes necessary to revise these judgments, it is possi-
ble that there could be a significant impact on the consolidated financial 
results for subsequent fiscal years.

i. �Estimates of useful lives and residual values of property, plant 
and equipment, intangible assets, and right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated primarily using the 
straight-line method, based on the estimated useful life that reflects the 
period in which the asset’s future economic benefits are expected to be 
consumed. The depreciation charge for the period could increase if an 
item of property, plant and equipment becomes obsolete or repurposed 
in the future and the estimated useful life becomes shorter.

Intangible asset with a finite useful life is amortized on a straight-line 
basis in principle to reflect the pattern in which the asset’s future eco-
nomic benefits are expected to be consumed by the Group. Estimated 
useful life of the customer relationships acquired in a business combi-
nation is determined based on the cancellation rate. The intangible 
assets related to the customer relationships are amortized over the use-
ful life. Should actual sales volumes fail to meet initial projected volumes 
due to changes in the business environment etc., or should actual use-
ful life in the future be less than the original estimate, there is a risk that 
amortization expenses for the reporting period may increase.

The content related to estimates of useful lives and residual values of 
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use 
assets are described in “3. Significant accounting policies (5) Property, 
plant & equipment, (7) Intangible asset and (8) Leases.”

ii. �Impairment of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets 
including goodwill and right-of-use assets

The Group conducts impairment tests to property, plant and equip-
ment, intangible assets including goodwill and right-of-use assets. 
Calculations of recoverable amounts used in impairment tests are 
based on assumptions set using such factors as an asset’s useful life, 
future cash flows, pre-tax discount rates and long-term growth rates. 
These assumptions are based on the best estimates and judgments 
made by management. However, these assumptions may be affected 
by changes in uncertain future economic conditions, which may have a 
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in future 
periods.

The method for calculating recoverable amounts is described in “3. 
Significant accounting policies (9) Impairment of property, plant and 
equipment, goodwill, intangible assets and right-of-use assets” and “7. 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, goodwill, intangible 
assets and right-of-use assets.”

iii. � Evaluation of inventories
Inventories are measured at historical cost. However, when the net real-
izable value (“NRV”) at the reporting date falls below the cost, invento-
ries are subsequently measured based on NRV, with the difference in 
value between the cost and NRV, booked as cost of sales. Slow-
moving inventories and those outside the normal operating cycle are 
calculated at NRV that reflects future demand and market trends. The 
Group may experience substantial losses in cases where NRV drops as 
a result of deterioration in the market environment against the forecast.

The content and amount related to evaluation of inventories are 
described in “3. Significant accounting policies (15) Inventories” and “9. 
Inventories.”

iv. �Recoverability of deferred tax assets
In recognizing deferred tax assets, when judging the possibility of the 
future taxable income, the Group estimates the timing and amount of 
future taxable income based on the business plan.

The timing when taxable income arises and the amount of such 
income may be affected by changes in uncertain future economic con-
ditions. If there are differences between the actual amounts and esti-
mated amounts, this may have a material impact on the consolidated 
financial statements in future periods.

The content and amount related to deferred tax assets are described 
in “3. Significant accounting policies (24) Income taxes” and “15. 
Deferred tax and income taxes.”

v. Measurement of defined benefit obligations
The Group has in place various post-retirement benefit plans, including 
defined benefits plans. The present value of defined benefit obligations 
on each of these plans and the service costs are calculated based on 
actuarial assumptions. These actuarial assumptions require estimates 
and judgments on variables, such as discount rates. The Group obtains 
advice from external pension actuaries with respect to the appropriate-
ness of these actuarial assumptions including these variables.

The actuarial assumptions are determined based on the best esti-
mates and judgments made by management. However, there is a pos-
sibility that these assumptions may be affected by changes in uncertain 
future economic conditions, or by the publication or the amendment of 
related laws, which may have a material impact on the consolidated 
financial statements in future periods.

These actuarial assumptions are described in “3. Significant account-

ing policies (16) Employee benefits” and “16. Employee benefits.”

vi. Collectability of trade and other receivables
The Group has estimated the collectability of trade and other receiv-
ables based on the credit risk. Fluctuations in credit risk of customer 
receivables may have a significant effect on the amounts recognized the 
allowance for receivables on the consolidated financial statements in 
future periods.

The content and amount related to collectability of trade and other 
receivables are described in “3. Significant accounting policies (12) 
Impairment of financial assets” and “31. Financial Instruments.”

vii. �Valuation technique of financial assets at fair value without 
quoted prices in active markets.

The Group has used valuation techniques to utilize the inputs unobserv-
able in the market when assessing the fair value of certain financial 
instruments. Unobservable input may be affected by changes in uncer-
tain future economic conditions, which may have a material impact on 
the consolidated financial statements in future periods if it becomes 
necessary to review.

The content and amount related to fair value of financial assets are 
described in “3. Significant accounting policies (11) Financial instru-
ments and (13) Derivatives and hedge accounting” and “32. Fair value 
of financial instruments.”

viii. Provisions
The Group recognizes provisions, including asset retirement obligations 
and provisions for point program, in the consolidated statement of 
financial position. These provisions are recognized based on the best 
estimates of the expenditures required to settle the obligations, taking 
into account risks and uncertainty related to the obligations as of the 
current year end date. Expenditures necessary for settling the obliga-
tions are calculated by taking all possible future results into account; 
however, they may be affected by unexpected events or changes in 
conditions, which may have a material impact on the Group’s consoli-
dated financial statements in future periods.

The nature and amount of recognized provisions are stated in “3. 
Significant accounting policies (17) Provisions” and “19. Provisions.”

(5) Application of new standards and interpretations

The Group does not have significant standards and interpretations 
applied from the fiscal year ended March 31, 2022.

 
(6) Standards not yet adopted

The following new standards and amendments announced by the approval date of the consolidated financial statements are not mandatory as of 
March 31, 2022. The Group did not choose to adopt them before the required adoption date.

Standard The title of Standard

Mandatory adoption
 (from the fiscal year 
beginning)

To be adopted by the 
Group from Outline of new standards and amendments

IFRS 17 Insurance contracts January 1, 2023 Fiscal year ending 
March 31, 2024

IFRS 17 will replace IFRS 4, which currently permits a wide variety of practices in 
accounting for insurance contracts. IFRS 17 will fundamentally change the accounting 
by all entities that issue insurance contracts and investment contracts with discretionary 
participation features.

Under the IFRS 17 model, entities are required to estimate total fulfillment cash flows 
for insurance contracts and contractual service margin at initial recognition. Fulfillment 
cash flows comprise estimates of future cash flows, adjustments reflecting the time 
value of money, and risk adjustments for non-financial risk. At the time of reporting, ful-
fillment cash flows are remeasured using the latest basis for measurement. Unearned 
income (contractual service margin) is recognized over the coverage period.

All the standards and amendments above will be reflected in the consolidated financial statements for the relevant fiscal year described above. 
The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the application and an estimate is currently not available.
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3 Significant Accounting Policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these 
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies 
have been consistently applied to all the reporting periods presented, 
unless otherwise stated.

(1) Basis of consolidation

i. Subsidiaries
(a) Consolidation of subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. An entity 
is consolidated as the Group controls it when the Group is exposed to, 
or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and 
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. 
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date when control is obtained 
and deconsolidated from the date when control is lost.

Intragroup balances and transactions, and unrealized gain or loss 
arising from intragroup transactions are eliminated in preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements.

The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed to con-
form to the Group’s accounting policies, when necessary.

(b) �Changes in ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in 
a change of control

The Group accounts for the transactions with non-controlling interests 
that do not result in loss of control as equity transactions. The differ-
ence between fair value of any consideration paid and the proportion 
acquired of the carrying amount of the subsidiary’s net assets is recog-
nized as equity. Gains or losses on disposals of non-controlling inter-
ests that do not result in loss of control are also recognized as equity.

(c) Disposal of a subsidiary
When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest in the 
entity is remeasured to its fair value on the date when control is lost, 
with the changes in the carrying amount recognized in profit or loss. 
The fair value will be the initial carrying amount when the retained inter-
ests are subsequently accounted for as associate, joint venture or 
financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognized in other 
comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if 
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This 
means that any components of other comprehensive income that are 
attributable to the subsidiary are reclassified from equity to profit or loss 
or directly to retained earnings.

(d) Unification of reporting period
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements 
of subsidiaries whose closing dates are different from that of the 
Company. For the preparation of the consolidated financial statements, 
such subsidiaries prepare financial statements based on the provisional 
accounts as of the Company’s closing date. 

ii. Associates
Associates are entities over which the Group does not have control but 
has significant influence over the financial and operating policies 
through participation in the decision-making of those policies. 
Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of 
accounting. Under the equity method, investment in an associate is ini-
tially recorded at cost, its amount is adjusted to recognize the Group’s 
share of the profit or loss, and other comprehensive income of the 
associate from the date on which it has significant influence until the 
date when it ceases to have the significant influence is lost.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant 
influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the amount previous-
ly recognized in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or 
loss or transfers within equity, based on how the reserve should be 

reclassified on the disposal of related assets or liabilities. When the 
Company’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its carry-
ing amount of interest in the associate, the Group does not recognize 
further losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or 
made payments on behalf of the associate. 

The Group’s investment in associates includes goodwill recognized 
on acquisition. Accordingly, goodwill is not recognized or tested for 
impairment separately. The gross amount of investments in associates 
is tested for impairment as a single asset. Specifically, the Group evalu-
ates on a quarterly basis whether there is objective evidence which indi-
cates that the investment may be impaired or not on a quarterly basis. 
When objective evidence exists that the investments in associates are 
impaired, those investments are tested for impairment. Unrealized gains 
or losses on transactions between the Group and its associates are 
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associates. The 
accounting policies of associates have been changed to conform to the 
Group’s accounting policies, when necessary. 

iii. Joint arrangements
The Group enters into joint arrangements when the Group has joint 
control of a business or entity.

Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an 
arrangement, which exists only when the decisions about the relevant 
activities that significantly affect the returns of the arrangement require 
the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

For accounting, joint arrangements are classified as either joint oper-
ations or joint ventures. A joint operation is a joint agreement whereby 
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the 
assets and obligations for the liabilities relating to the arrangement. A 
joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint 
control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the 
arrangement.

When a joint arrangement is classified as a joint operation, the 
Group’s share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses in relation 
to the arrangement are recorded directly in the financial statements. On 
the other hand, when a joint arrangement is classified as a joint venture, 
net assets related to the arrangement are recorded in the financial 
statements using the equity method.

(2) Business combination

The Group accounts for business combinations by applying the acqui-
sition method. Consideration transferred to acquire subsidiaries is the 
fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred by former 
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group. 
Consideration transferred also includes the fair values of any assets or 
liabilities resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Each 
identifiable asset acquired, liability and contingent liability assumed in a 
business combination is generally measured at its acquisition-date fair 
value.

Non-controlling interests are identified separately from those of the 
Group and are measured as the non-controlling shareholders’ propor-
tionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. For each acquisi-
tion, the Group recognizes the acquiree’s non-controlling interests either 
at fair value or as the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of 
the amount recognized for acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Acquisition-related costs, including finder’s fees, legal, due-diligence 
and other professional fees, are charged to expense when incurred.

Where the aggregate amount of consideration transferred, the 
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisi-
tion-date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the 
acquiree exceeds the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired, 
such excess is recorded as goodwill. Where the aggregate amount of 
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in 
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the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of the acquirer’s previ-
ously held equity interest in the acquire is less than the fair value of 
acquired subsidiary’s net assets, such difference is recognized directly 
in profit or loss as a bargain purchase.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is not complete by 
the end of the reporting period in which the business combination 
occurs, the Group recognizes in its financial statements provisional 
amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. 
Subsequently, the Group retrospectively adjusts the provisional 
amounts recognized on the date when control is obtained as measure-
ment period adjustments to reflect new information obtained about 
facts and circumstances that existed as of the date when control is 
obtained and, if known, would have affected the amounts recognized 
for the business combination. However, the measurement period shall 
not exceed one year from the date when control is obtained.

(3) Segment information

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the inter-
nal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief 
operating decision-maker is responsible for allocating resources and 
assessing performance of the operating segments. The board of direc-
tors that makes strategic decisions has been identified by the Group as 
the chief operating decision-maker.

(4) Foreign currency translation

i. Functional currency and presentation currency
Foreign currency transactions of each Group company have been 
translated into their functional currencies at the exchange rate prevailing 
at the dates of transactions upon preparation of their financial state-
ments. The consolidated financial statements of the Group are present-
ed in Japanese yen, which is the functional currency of the Company.

ii. Foreign currency transactions
Foreign currency transactions are translated at the spot exchange rate 
of the date of transaction or the rate that approximates such exchange 
rate. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
are translated at the exchange rate prevailing at the fiscal year end 
date. Non-monetary items at fair value denominated in foreign curren-
cies are translated at an exchange rate as of the date when their fair 
values are measured.

Exchange differences arising from the translation and settlement of 
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
recognized as profit or loss. However, exchange differences arising from 
the translation of equity instruments measured through other compre-
hensive income and qualifying cash flow hedges are recognized as 
other comprehensive income.

iii. Foreign operations
For the purpose of the presentation of the consolidated financial state-
ments, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations, 
including goodwill, identified assets and liabilities, and their fair value 
adjustments resulting from the acquisition of the foreign operations, are 
translated into presentation currency at the exchange rate prevailing at 
the fiscal year end date. Income and expenses of foreign operations are 
translated into Japanese yen, the presentation currency, at the average 
exchange rate for the period, unless the exchange rates fluctuate sig-
nificantly during the period.

Exchange differences arising from translation of foreign operations’ 
financial statements are recognized as other comprehensive income. In 
cases of disposition of whole interests of foreign operations, and certain 
interests involving loss of control or significant influence, exchange dif-
ferences are accounted for as profit or loss on disposal of foreign 
operations.

(5)  Property, plant and equipment

i. Recognition and measurement
Property, plant, and equipment of the Group is measured on a historical 
cost basis and carried at its cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses. The acquisition cost includes costs directly attribut-
able to the acquisition of the asset and the initial estimated costs relat-
ed to disassembly, retirement and site restoration, as well as borrowing 
costs eligible for capitalization.

In cases where components of property, plant, and equipment have 
different useful lives, each component is recorded as a separate prop-
erty, plant, and equipment item.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or rec-
ognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable 
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the 
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other 
repairs and maintenance are recognized as expenses during the finan-
cial period in which they are incurred.

ii. Depreciation and useful lives
Property, plant and equipment is depreciated mainly using the straight-
line method over the estimated useful lives of each component. The 
depreciable amount is calculated as the cost of an asset less its residu-
al value. Land and construction in progress are not depreciated. In 
cases where components of property, plant and equipment have differ-
ent useful lives, each component is recorded as a separate property, 
plant and equipment item.

The estimated useful lives of major components of property, plant 
and equipment are as follows:

Communication equipment
	 Machinery	  9–15 years
	 Antenna equipment 	 10–42 years
	 Toll and local line equipment 	 6–27 years
	 Other equipment 	 9–27 years

Buildings and structures	 10–38 years
Others	 5–22 years

The depreciation methods, estimated useful lives and residual values 
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, and if there are any 
changes made, those changes are applied prospectively as a change in 
an accounting estimate.

iii. Derecognition
Property, plant, and equipment is derecognized upon disposal. The gain 
or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and 
equipment is included in gain or loss when the item is derecognized.

(6) Goodwill

Goodwill is the excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the 
Group’s share of the identifiable net assets of the acquiree on the date of 
acquisition.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a busi-
ness combination is allocated to each of the cash-generating units 
(CGUs), or groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from the syner-
gies of the combination. Each unit or group of units to which the good-
will is allocated represents the lowest level within the entity at which the 
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.

Goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment loss-
es. Goodwill is not amortized. Instead, it is tested for impairment annual-
ly and if events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential 
impairment. For the impairment, please refer to “ 3. Significant account-
ing policies (9) Impairment of property, plant and equipment, goodwill, 
intangible assets and right-of-use assets.”
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(7) Intangible assets

i. Recognition and measurement
The Group applies the cost method in measuring intangible assets, 
excluding goodwill. Those assets are carried at its cost less accumulat-
ed amortization and impairment losses.

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured at cost at initial 
recognition. Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are 
recognized separately from goodwill and are measured at fair value at 
the acquisition date when such assets meet the definition of intangible 
asset and are identifiable, and their fair values can be measured reliably.

Expenditure on research activities to obtain new science technology 
or technical knowledge and understanding is recognized as an expense 
when it is incurred.

Expenditure on development is recognized as intangible asset in the 
case where the expenditure can be measured reliably, product or pro-
duction process has commercial and technical feasibility, the expendi-
ture probably generates future economic benefits, and the Group has 
intention to complete the development and use or sell the asset, and 
has enough resources for their activities. In other cases, the expenditure 
is recognized as expense when it is incurred.

ii. Depreciation and useful lives
Intangible assets are amortized using the straight-line method over their 
estimated useful lives. Estimated useful lives of major components of 
intangible assets are as follows. Intangible assets with indefinite useful 
lives are not amortized.

Software	  5 years
Customer relationships	 4–30 years
Assets related to program supply	  22 years
Spectrum migration cost 	 9–17 years
Others	  5–20 years

The amortization methods and estimated useful lives are reviewed at the 
end of each reporting period, and if there are any changes made, those 
changes are applied prospectively as a change in an accounting estimate.

(8) Leases

At the inception of the lease, the Group determines whether the lease 
includes a lease or lease. Whether or not the contract includes a lease 
is determined based on whether or not the right to control the use of 
the identified asset is transferred to the consideration and exchange for 
a certain period.

When the contract includes a lease, right-of-use assets are initially 
recognized at the amount calculated by adding or subtracting the initial 
direct cost to the initial use of the lease liability. Lease liabilities are ini-
tially recognized at the present value of lease payments that are not 
paid at the inception of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated using the straight-line method 
over the period from the inception of the lease to the end of the useful 
life of the assets or the end of the lease term, whichever is earlier.

Lease liabilities are subsequently measured at an amount that reflects 
the interest rate on the lease liability, the lease payments made and, 
where applicable, the review of the lease liability or any change in the 
terms of the lease.

(9) �Impairment of property, plant and equipment, goodwill,  
intangible assets and right-of-use assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group determines whether 
there is any indication that carrying amounts of property, plant and 
equipment, identifiable intangible assets and right-of-use assets may be 
impaired. If any indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset or 
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs is estimated. For 
goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, the impair-
ment test is undertaken annually or more frequently if events or circum-
stances indicate that they might be impaired. A cash-generating unit is 
the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely 
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets.

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of dis-
posal or value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future 
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax dis-
count rate that reflects the time value of money and the risks specific to 
the asset.

When the impairment test shows that the recoverable amount of the 
cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment 
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allo-
cated to the cash-generating unit or group of units, and then to the 
other assets of the unit or group of units pro rata on the basis of the 
carrying amount of each asset in the unit or group of units. Any impair-
ment loss for goodwill is recognized in profit or loss and is not reversed 
in subsequent periods.

For assets other than goodwill, the Group determines at the end of 
each reporting period whether there is any indication that an impairment 
loss recognized in prior years has decreased or been extinguished. An 
impairment loss is reversed when there is an indication that the impair-
ment loss may be reversed and there has been a change in the esti-
mates used to determine an asset’s recoverable amount. When an 
impairment loss recognized is reversed, the carrying amount of the 
asset or cash-generating unit is increased to its updated estimated 
recoverable amount. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized, to 
the extent the increased carrying amount does not exceed the lower of 
the recoverable amount or the carrying amount (net of depreciation and 
amortization) that would have been determined had no impairment loss 
been recognized. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized as 
other income.

(10) Non-current assets held for sale or disposal group

An asset or group of assets of which the carrying amount is expected 
to be recovered primarily through a sales transaction rather than 
through continuing use is classified into “Assets held for sale.” To qualify 
for classification as “non-current assets held for sale,” the sale of a 
non-current asset must be highly probable and it must be available for 
immediate sale in its present condition. In addition, management must 
be committed to a plan to sell the asset in which the sale is to be com-
pleted within one year from the date of classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control 
of a subsidiary, and the criteria set out above are met, all assets and lia-
bilities of the subsidiary are classified as held for sale, regardless of 
whether the Group will retain a non-controlling interest in its former sub-
sidiary after the sale.

Assets held for sale is measured at the lower of its “carrying amount” 
and “fair value less cost to sell.” Property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets classified as “assets held for sale” are not depreciated 
or amortized.
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(11) Financial instruments

i. Financial assets
(a) Recognition and measurement of financial assets
The Group recognizes a financial asset when it becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. The Group initially recognizes 
trade and other receivables on the date of transaction. At initial recogni-
tion, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the 
case of financial assets not measured at fair value through profit or loss, 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the 
financial asset. Transaction cost of a financial asset measured at fair 
value through profit or loss is recognized as profit or loss.

(b) Classification of non-derivative financial assets
The classification and measurement model of non-derivative financial 
assets are summarized as follows. The Group classifies financial assets 
at initial recognition as financial assets measured at amortized cost, 
equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income or financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss.

(i) Financial assets measured at amortized cost
A financial asset that meets both the following condition is classified as 
a financial asset measured at amortized cost.
• � The financial asset is held within the Group’s business model whose 

objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows.
• � The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified 

dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest 
on the principal amount outstanding.

A financial asset measured at amortized cost is initially recognized at 
fair value plus transaction cost directly attributable to the asset. After 
initial recognition, the carrying amount of the financial asset measured 
at amortized cost is determined using the effective interest method, net 
of impairment loss, if necessary.

(ii) �Equity instruments measured at fair value through other compre-
hensive income

The Group makes an irrevocable election to recognize changes in fair 
value of investments in equity instruments through other comprehensive 
income, not through profit or loss. A gain or loss from fair value chang-
es will be shown in other comprehensive income and will not be reclas-
sified subsequently to profit or loss.

An equity instrument measured at fair value through other compre-
hensive income is recognized initially at fair value plus transaction cost 
directly attributable to the asset. After initial recognition, the asset is 
measured at fair value with changes in fair value included as “financial 
asset at fair value through other comprehensive income” in other com-
prehensive income. Accumulated gains or losses recognized through 
other comprehensive income are directly transferred to retained earn-
ings when an equity instrument is derecognized or its fair value sub-
stantially decreased.

Dividends are recognized in profit or loss.

(iii) Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss
When any of the above-mentioned conditions for classification of finan-
cial assets is not met, a financial asset is classified as “at fair value 
through profit or loss” and measured at fair value with changes in fair 
value recognized in profit or loss.

A financial asset measured at fair value through profit or loss is rec-
ognized initially at fair value and its transaction cost is recognized in 
profit or loss when incurred. A gain or loss on a financial asset mea-
sured at fair value through profit or loss is recognized in profit or loss, 
and presented in the consolidated statement of income for the report-
ing period in which it arises.

The Group does not designate any debt instrument as at fair value 
through profit or loss to remove or significantly reduce an accounting 
mismatch.

(c) Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognizes its financial asset if the contractual rights to the 
cash flows from the investment expire, or the Group transfers substan-
tially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset. Any 
interests in transferred financial assets that are created or continuously 
retained by the Group are recognized as a separate asset or liability.

ii. Non-derivative financial liabilities
(a) Recognition and measurement of financial liabilities
The Group recognizes financial debt when the Group becomes a party 
to the contractual provisions of the instruments. The measurement of 
financial debt is explained in (b) Classification of financial liabilities.

(b) Classification of financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost

A financial liability other than those measured at fair value through 
profit or loss is classified as a financial liability measured at amortized 
cost. A financial liability at amortized cost is initially measured at fair 
value less transaction cost directly attributable to the issuance of the 
financial liability. After initial recognition, the financial liability is measured 
at amortized cost based on the effective interest rate method.

(c) Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Group derecognizes a financial liability when the financial liability is 
extinguished, i.e. when the contractual obligation is discharged, can-
celled, or expired.

iii. Presentation of financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is presented 
in the consolidated statement of financial position only when the Group 
currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognized 
amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realize the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

(12) Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognizes 12-month expected credit loss as provision for 
doubtful receivables (non-trade receivables) when there is no significant 
increase in the credit risk since initial recognition. When there is a signifi-
cant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, expected credit loss-
es for such remaining life of the financial assets are recognized as 
provision for doubtful receivables. Whether credit risk is significantly 
increased or not is determined based on the changes in default risk. To 
determine if there is a change in default risk, the following factors are 
considered. However, the Group always measures provision for trade 
receivables, which do not include any material financial component at 
an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses.
•  External credit rating of the financial asset
•  Downgrade of internal credit rating
•  �Operating results, such as decrease in sales, decrease in working 

capital, asset deterioration and increase in leverage
•  �Reduced financial support from the parent company or associated 

companies
•  Delinquencies (Overdue information)

Expected credit losses are measured based on the discounted pres-
ent value of the differences between the contractual cash flows and the 
cash flows expected to be received.
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(13)  Derivatives and hedge accounting

Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value as on the date that deriv-
ative contracts are entered into. After initial recognition, derivatives are 
remeasured at fair value at the end of each reporting period.

The Group utilizes derivatives consisting of exchange contracts, for-
eign exchange swaps and interest swaps to reduce foreign currency 
risk and interest rate risk etc.

The method of recognizing the resulting gain or loss depends on 
whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, 
the nature of the item being hedged.

The Group designates derivatives as cash flow hedge (hedges to the 
exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to a particular 
risk associated with a recognized asset or liability or a highly probable 
forecast transaction).

At the inception of the transaction, the Group documents the rela-
tionship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item, along 
with their risk management objectives and strategies to conduct various 
hedge transactions.

At the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group 
assess whether the derivative used in hedging transaction is highly 
effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged item.

Specially, when the Group assess whether the hedge relationship is 
effective, the Group assess whether all of the following requirements are 
met:
(i) �There is an economic relationship between the hedged item and 

the hedging instrument.
(ii) �The effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that 

result from that economic relationship.
(iii) �The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that 

resulting from the quantity of the hedged item that the entity actu-
ally hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the 
entity actually uses to hedge that quantity of hedged item.

Hedge effectiveness is assessed on an ongoing basis and about 
whether the hedging criteria described above are met.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that 
are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognized in other 
comprehensive income. The ineffective portion is recognized in profit or 
loss. Cumulative profit or loss recognized through other comprehensive 
income is transferred to profit or loss on the same period that the cash 
flows of hedged items affects profit or loss.

If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness 
requirement relating to the hedge ratio but the risk management objec-
tive for that designated hedging relationship remains the same, an entity 
should adjust the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship so that it 
meets the qualifying criteria again (rebalancing).

After rebalancing, hedge accounting will be discontinued in cases 
where it no longer meets the requirements of hedge accounting or 
hedging instruments are expired, sold, terminated or exercised, hedge 
accounting will be discontinued.

In the case that the hedge accounting is discontinued, the cumulative 
profit or loss on the hedging instrument that has been recognized in 
other comprehensive income when the hedge was effective will remain 
in other comprehensive income until the forecast transaction occurs. 
When forecast transactions are no longer expected to arise, the accu-
mulated amount of profit or loss recorded in equity is transferred to 
profit or loss.

Aggregated fair values of hedging instrument derivatives whose 
maturities are over 12 months are classified as non-current assets or 
liabilities, and those whose maturities are less than 12 months are clas-
sified as current assets or liabilities.

(14) Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 
consist of cash, demand deposits and short-term investments with 
maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to cash 
and subject to insignificant risk of change in value and bank overdrafts. 
In the consolidated statement of financial position, bank overdrafts are 
shown within in current liabilities.
 
(15) Inventories

Inventories mainly consist of mobile handsets and materials / work in 
progress related to construction.

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable 
value. The cost is generally calculated using the moving average meth-
od and comprises all costs of purchase and other costs incurred in 
bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. Net real-
izable value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course 
of business less any estimated cost to sell.

(16) Employee benefits

i. Post-employment benefits
The Group has adopted a defined benefit plan and a defined contribu-
tion plan as post-employment benefit plans for its employees.
(a) Defined benefit plans
The asset or liability recognized on the consolidated statement of finan-
cial position in relation to the defined benefit pension plans (defined 
benefit asset or liability) is the present value of the defined benefit obli-
gation less fair value of the plan assets at the end of the reporting peri-
od. The defined benefit obligation is determined annually by 
independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The dis-
count rates are on the basis of the market yields of high-quality corpo-
rate bonds at the end of the reporting period, that are denominated in 
the currency in which the benefit will be paid, which corresponds to the 
estimated timing and amount of future benefits are to be paid.

Defined benefit cost includes service cost, net interest on the net 
defined benefit liability (asset), and remeasurements of the net defined 
benefit liability (asset). Service cost and net interest are recognized in 
profit or loss. Net interest is determined using the discount rate 
described above. The remeasurements comprise actuarial gains and 
losses and the return on plan assets (excluding amounts included in net 
interest). Actuarial gains and losses are recognized immediately in other 
comprehensive income when incurred, and past service costs are rec-
ognized as profit or loss.

The Group recognizes remeasurements of all the net defined benefit 
liability (asset) resulting from its defined benefit plans in other compre-
hensive income and reclassifies them immediately to retained earnings.

(b)  Defined contribution plans
Contributions to the defined contribution plans are recognized as 
expenses for the period over which employees provide services.
In addition, certain subsidiaries of the Group participate in multi-em-
ployer pension plans, and recognize the payments made during the fis-
cal year as profit or loss and contribution payable as a liability.

ii. Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are measured at the amounts expected 
to be paid when the liabilities are settled and recognized as an expense. 
Bonus and paid annual leave accruals are recognized as a liability in the 
amount estimated to be paid under these plans, when the Group has 
legal or constructive obligations to pay them and reliable estimates of 
the obligation can be made.
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(17) Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has legal or constructive 
obligations as a result of past events, it is probable that outflows of 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligations, and reliable 
estimates of the obligation can be made. To determine the amount of a 
provision, the estimated future cash flows are discounted using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the liability where necessary. Unwinding of the discount over 
time is recognized in finance cost.

(18)  Share-based payment

i. Stock options
The Group has equity-settled stock option plans as incentive plans for its 
directors and employees. Stock options are measured at fair value at the 
grant date, which is calculated using the Black-Scholes or other models.

The fair value of stock options at the grant date is recognized as an 
expense over the vesting period, based on the estimated number of 
stock options that are expected to vest, with corresponding amount rec-
ognized as increase in equity.

ii. �Executive compensation BIP trust and stock-granting ESOP 
trust

The Group has introduced the executive compensation BIP (Board 
Incentive Plan) trust and a stock-granting ESOP (Employee Stock 
Ownership Plan) trust. These plans are accounted for as equity-settled 
share based payments and the shares of the Company held by the 
trust are included in treasury stock. The fair value of the shares of the 
Company at the grant date is recognized as expenses over the period 
from the grant date to the vesting date, with a corresponding increase 
in capital surplus. The fair value of the shares of the Company granted 
is determined by adjusting the market value, taking into account the 
expected dividend yield of the shares.

(19) Equity

i. Common stock
Common stock is classified as equity. Proceeds from the Company’s 
issuance of common shares are included in common stock and capital 
surplus and its direct issue costs are deducted from capital surplus.

ii. Treasury stock
When the Group acquires treasury stocks, the consideration paid, net 
of direct transaction costs and tax, is recognized as a deduction from 
equity. When the Group sells treasury stocks, differences between the 
carrying amount and the consideration received upon sale are recog-
nized as capital surplus.

(20) Revenue

i. Mobile telecommunications services
The Group generates revenue mainly from its mobile telecommunica-
tions services (including UQ mobile and MVNO services) and sale of 
mobile handsets. The Group enters into mobile telecommunications 
service agreements directly with customers or indirectly through distrib-
utors, and sells mobile handsets to its distributors.

Revenue from the mobile telecommunications services primarily con-
sists of basic monthly charges and communication fees (“the mobile 
telecommunication service fees”), and commission fees such as activa-
tion fees. Revenue from the mobile telecommunication service fees and 
commission fees are recognized on a flat-rate basis and on a mea-
sured-rate basis when the services are provided to the customers, 

which is when the service is provided to the customer in accordance 
with contract and the performance obligation is fulfilled. Discounts of 
communication charges are deducted from the mobile telecommunica-
tions service fees on a monthly basis.

Furthermore, the consideration for transactions related to revenue 
from mobile telecommunications services is received within approxi-
mately one month of the billing date.

Revenue from the sale of mobile handsets comprises proceeds from 
the sale of mobile handsets and accessories to customers or 
distributors.

The business flows of the above transactions consist of “indirect 
sales,” wherein the Company sells mobile handsets to distributors and 
enters into communications service contracts with customers through 
those distributors, and “direct sales,” wherein the Company and certain 
subsidiaries of the Company sell mobile handsets to customers and 
enter into communications service contracts directly with the custom-
ers. Revenue in each case is recognized as described below.

Revenue from the sale of mobile handsets is received within approxi-
mately one month following the sale to the distributor or other vendor.

1) Indirect sales
As the distributor has the primary obligation and inventory risk for the 
mobile handsets, the Group sells to the distributors, the Group consid-
ers distributors as the principals in each transaction. Revenue from the 
sale of mobile handsets is recognized when mobile handsets are deliv-
ered to distributors, which is when control over the mobile handsets is 
transferred to the distributor and the performance obligation is fulfilled. 
Certain commission fees paid to distributors are deducted from revenue 
from the sale of mobile handsets.

2) Direct sales
In direct sales transactions, revenue from the sale of mobile handsets 
and revenue from service fees, including mobile telecommunications 
service fees, are considered to be bundled. Therefore, contracts that 
are concluded for a bundled transaction are treated as a single contract 
for accounting purposes. The total amount of the transaction allocated 
to revenue from the sale of mobile handsets and mobile telecommuni-
cations service fees is based on the proportion of each component’s 
stand-alone selling prices. The amount allocated to mobile handset 
sales is recognized as revenue at the time of sale, which is when the 
performance obligation is determined to have been fulfilled. Stand-alone 
selling prices for mobile handsets and mobile telecommunications ser-
vice revenues are the prices that would be observable if mobile hand-
sets and mobile telecommunications service were sold to customers 
independently at the inception of the contract. The amount allocated to 
mobile telecommunications service fees is recognized as revenue when 
the service is provided to the customer, which is when the performance 
obligation is determined to have been fulfilled.

In both direct and indirect sales, activation fees and handset model 
exchange fees are deferred as contract liabilities upon entering into the 
contract. They are not recognized as a separate performance obliga-
tion, but combined with mobile telecommunications services. They are 
recognized as revenue over the period when material renewal options 
exist.

The consideration of these transactions is received in advance, when 
the contract is signed.

Points granted to customers through the customer loyalty program 
are allocated to transaction prices based on the stand-alone selling 
prices of benefits to be exchanged based on the estimated point utiliza-
tion rate, which reflects points that will expire due to future cancellation 
or other factors. The points are recognized as revenue when the cus-
tomers utilize those points and take control of the goods or services, 
which is when the performance obligation is considered fulfilled.
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ii. �Fixed-line telecommunications services (including the CATV 
business)

Revenue from fixed-line telecommunications services primarily consists 
of revenues from voice communications, data transmission, FTTH ser-
vices, CATV services and related installation fees.

The above revenue, excluding installation fee revenue, is recognized 
when the service is provided, which is when the service is provided to 
the customer in accordance with contact and the performance obliga-
tion is fulfilled. Installation fee revenue is recognized over the estimated 
average contract period based on the percentage remaining.

The consideration for these transactions is received within approxi-
mately one month of the billing date.

iii. Value-added services
Revenue from value-added services mainly comprises revenue from 
information fees, revenue from commission on transfer of receivables, 
revenue through advertising businesses, agency fees on content ser-
vices, and revenue from the energy business, etc. 

Revenue from information fees comprises the revenue from member-
ship fees for the content provided to customers on websites that the 
Group operates or that the Group jointly operates with other entities 
and the performance obligation is fulfilled over the period in which the 
service is provided. Revenue from commission on transfer of receiv-
ables comprises the revenue from fees for collecting the receivables of 
content providers from customers as the agent of content providers 
together with the telecommunication fees and the performance obliga-
tion is fulfilled when the Group collects the receivables. Electric power 
revenue comprises the revenue generated from electric power retail 
services and the performance obligation is fulfilled when the Group pro-
vides the services.

These revenues are recognized over the period in which the service 
is provided based on the nature of each contract since the performance 
obligations identified based on the contract with customer are fulfilled 
over time or when the Group provides the service.

The Group may act as an agent in a transaction. To report revenue 
from such transactions, the Group determines whether it should pres-
ent the gross amount of the consideration received from customers, or 
the net amount of the consideration received from customers less pay-
ments paid to a third party. The Group evaluates whether the Group 
has the primary obligation for providing the goods and services under 
the arrangement or contract, the inventory risk, latitude in establishing 
prices, and the credit risk. However, the presentation being on a gross 
basis or a net basis does not affect profit for the year.

The Group considers itself an agent for commission on transfer of 
receivables, advertisement services and certain content services 
described above because it earns only commission income based on 
pre-determined rates, does not have the authority to set prices and 
solely provides a platform for its customers to perform content-related 
services. The Group thus does not control the service before control is 
transferred to the customer. Therefore, revenue from these services is 
presented on a net basis.

The consideration for these transactions is received within approxi-
mately one to three months after the performance obligation has been 
fulfilled.

iv. Solution services
Revenue from solution services primarily consists of revenues from 
equipment sales, engineering and management services (“the solution 
service income”). The solution service income is recognized based on 
the consideration received from the customers when the goods or the 
services are provided to the customers and the performance obligation 
is fulfilled.

Payment for any performance obligation is received within approxi-
mately one month of the billing date.

v. Global services
Global services mainly comprise solution services, data center services 
and mobile telephone services.

Revenue from data center services comprise the service charges the 
Group receives for using space, electricity, networks or other amenities 
at its self-operated data centers in locations around the world. In gener-
al, contracts cover more than one year, and revenue is recognized for 
the period over which the services are provided.

The consideration for these transactions is billed before the perfor-
mance obligation is fulfilled and is received within approximately one 
month of billing.

Revenue from mobile telephone services comprises revenue from 
mobile handsets and mobile telecommunication services. Revenue from 
the sale of mobile handsets is recognized at the time of sale of the 
handsets, when the performance obligation is determined to have been 
fulfilled. Revenue from mobile telecommunication services is recognized 
at the time the services are provided to the customer, when the perfor-
mance obligation is determined to have been fulfilled.

(21) Finance income and costs

Finance income mainly comprises interest income, dividend income, 
exchange gains and changes in fair value of financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss. Interest income is recognized using the effective 
interest method. Dividend income is recognized when the right to 
receive payment (shareholders’ right) is established.

Finance costs mainly comprise interest expense, exchange losses 
and changes in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss. Interest expense is recognized using the effective interest 
method.

(22) Other non-operating profit and loss

Other non-operating profit and loss includes gain and loss on invest-
ment activities. Specifically, gain and loss on step acquisitions, gain and 
loss on sales of stocks of subsidiaries and associates, and gain and 
loss on deemed disposal are included.

(23) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition and construction 
of a qualifying asset, which takes a substantial period before it is ready 
for its intended use or sale, are capitalized as part of the cost of such 
asset. All other borrowing costs are recognized as expenses in the peri-
od they incurred.

(24) Income taxes

Income taxes are composed of current and deferred taxes and recognized 
in profit or loss, except for taxes related to items that are recognized directly 
in equity or in other comprehensive income.

Current tax is measured at the amount expected to be paid to or recov-
ered from the taxation authorities on the current year’s taxable income, plus 
adjustments to the amount paid in prior years. To determine the current tax 
amount, the Group uses the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the end of the fiscal year in the countries in 
which the Group operates and earns taxable income or losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are, using asset and liability method, 
recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities on the consolidated financial statements and their tax 
base, and tax loss carry forwards and tax credits. However, no deferred tax 
assets and liabilities are recognized on following temporary differences:
• �Taxable temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of 

goodwill;
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• �Temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of assets and 
liabilities related to transactions other than business combination, that 
affects neither the accounting profit nor the taxable profit (loss); and

• �Taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsid-
iaries and associates, where the Group is able to control the timing of 
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the 
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognized on all deductible temporary differ-
ences, unused tax loss carry forwards and tax credits to the extent that 
it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the 
deductible temporary differences etc. can be utilized. Deferred tax liabil-
ities are recognized on taxable temporary differences. The carrying 
amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that suffi-
cient taxable profit will be available to realize all or part of the benefit of 
the deferred tax assets.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that 
are expected to apply in the period when the temporary differences will 
reverse, based on tax laws that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset when there is 
a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax 
liabilities, and income taxes are levied by the same taxation authority on 
the same taxable entity.

(25) Dividends

For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements, dividends to 
owners of the parent company are recognized as a liability for the peri-
od over which the dividends are approved by the owners of the parent 
company.

(26) Earnings per share

The Group discloses basic and diluted earnings per share (attributable to 
owners of the parent) related to common stock.

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing profit for the year 
attributable to common stockholders of the parent by the weighted 
average number of common shares outstanding during the reporting 
period, adjusted for the number of treasury shares acquired. For the pur-
pose of calculating diluted earnings per share, net profit attributable to 
owners of the parent and the weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding, adjusted for the number of treasury shares, are fur-
ther adjusted based on the assumption that all dilutive potential com-
mon shares are fully converted. Potential common stocks of the Group 
are related to the BIP trust and ESOP trust.

4 Segment Information

(1) Outline of reportable segments

The reporting segments of the Group are units of the Group of which 
separate financial information is available, and which are periodically 
monitored for the board of directors to determine the allocation of the 
business resources and evaluate the performance results.

The Group has the two reportable segments of Personal Services 
and Business Services as well as operating segments.

The Personal Services segment provides services to individual 
customers.

In Japan, KDDI aims to provide new experience value by expanding 
and coordinating various life design services, including those related to 
commerce, finance, energy, entertainment, education, and healthcare, 
while focusing on conventional telecommunications services, such as 
those related to smartphones, cell phones, FTTH, and CATV. We 
dynamically provide services attuned to customer needs and market 
conditions through a multi-brand strategy that encompasses “au,” “UQ 
mobile,” and “povo.” In the life design domain, we provide financial, 
energy and commerce services focused on the customer contact 
points of “au PAY” and “au Smart Pass.” We aim to expand the “au 
Economic Zone” going forward by enhancing these customer points 
and circulating reward points.

Overseas, we use know-how cultivated in Japan to actively provide 
telecommunications and life design services to individual customers, 
especially those in Myanmar, Mongolia, and other Asian regions.

The Business Services segment mainly provides a wide range of cor-
porate customers in Japan and overseas with a variety of solutions 

encompassing smartphones and other devices, network and cloud ser-
vices, and TELEHOUSE brand data center services.

In collaboration with partner companies and using 5G, IoT, and other 
technology, we support customers’ digital transformation by providing 
one-stop services and solutions that help customers develop and 
expand their businesses on a global scale.

For small and medium-sized corporate customers in Japan, our con-
solidated subsidiary, the KDDI MATOMETE OFFICE GROUP is building 
a regional support network offering close contact throughout Japan.

The reportable segments for some subsidiary companies were 
changed due to organization change in the fiscal year ended March 
31,2022. Accordingly, the segment information for the fiscal year ended 
March 31,2021 is presented based on the segment classification after 
this change. 

(2) �Calculation method of revenue, income or loss, assets and 
other items by reportable segment

Accounting treatment of reported business segments is consistent with 
“3. Significant accounting policies.”

Income of the reportable segments is based on the operating 
income.

Inter segment transaction price is determined by taking into consid-
eration the price by arm’s length transactions or gross costs after price 
negotiation.

Assets and liabilities are not allocated to reportable segments.
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(3) Information related to the amount of revenue, income or loss and other items by reportable segment

The Group’s segment information is as follows:
Millions of yen

For the year ended March 31, 2021 Reportable segment

Other
(Note 1) Total

Adjustment 
 (Note 2)

Amounts on the  
consolidated 

financial  
statementsPersonal Business Sub-total

Revenue

 � Revenue from external customers ¥4,506,412 ¥784,876 ¥5,291,288 ¥21,312 ¥5,312,599 ¥         — ¥5,312,599

  Inter-segment revenue or transfers 78,704 211,754 290,458 51,791 342,249 (342,249) —

    Total 4,585,116 996,629 5,581,745 73,103 5,654,849 (342,249) 5,312,599

Segment income (loss) 862,858 167,486 1,030,343 6,545 1,036,888 507 1,037,395

Finance income and finance cost (Net) (1,772)

Other non-operating profit and loss 2,433

Profit for the year before income tax ¥1,038,056

Other items

 � Depreciation and amortization 643,732 85,342 729,074 1,964 731,038 (3,600) 727,438

  Impairment loss 6,730 659 7,389 6 7,395 — 7,395

 � Share of profit of investment 
accounted for using the equity 
method 2,593 62 2,655 2,229 4,884 — 4,884

Millions of yen

For the year ended March 31, 2022 Reportable segment

Other
(Note 1) Total

Adjustment  
(Note 2)

Amounts on the 
consolidated 

financial  
statementsPersonal Business Sub-total

Revenue

  Revenue from external customers ¥4,597,313 ¥828,038 ¥5,425,351 ¥21,357 ¥5,446,708 ¥         — ¥5,446,708

  Inter-segment revenue or transfers 72,680 214,606 287,286 62,758 350,043 (350,043) —

    Total 4,669,993 1,042,644 5,712,637 84,114 5,796,751 (350,043) 5,446,708

Segment income (loss) 865,476 186,049 1,051,525 10,229 1,061,754 (1,162) 1,060,592

Finance income and finance cost (Net) 2,457

Other non-operating profit and loss 1,448

Profit for the year before income tax ¥1,064,497

Other items

 � Depreciation and amortization 644,442 85,169 729,611 2,006 731,617 (3,838) 727,779

  Impairment loss 1,998 676 2,674 15 2,689 — 2,689

 � Share of profit of investment 
accounted for using the equity 
method 3,600 464 4,063 1,728 5,791 — 5,791

Notes: 	1. �“Other” includes construction and maintenance of facilities, research and development of leading-edge technology, and other operations that do not constitute reportable seg-
ments.

	 2. Adjustment of segment income shows the elimination of inter-segment transactions.
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(4) Information by product and service

Information by product and service is described in “Note 24. Revenue”

(5) Information by region

i. Revenue
Description is omitted as the revenue from external customers in Japan accounts for most of the revenue on the consolidated statement of income.

ii. Non-current assets (excluding financial assets, deferred income tax assets and retirement benefit assets)  
Description is omitted as non-current assets located in Japan accounts for most of these assets on the consolidated statement of financial position.

(6) Information by major customer

Description is omitted as the revenue from a specific external customer is less than 10% of the revenue on the consolidated statement of income.

5 Property, Plant and Equipment

(1) Movements of property, plant and equipment

Movements of acquisition costs, accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment loss of the property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Acquisition costs
Millions of yen

Communication 
equipment

Buildings and 
structures Land

Construction in 
progress Other Total

As of April 1, 2020 ¥5,441,403 ¥643,368 ¥287,524 ¥175,047 ¥487,109 ¥7,034,452

  Acquisition 2,958 630 7 483,070 424 487,089

  Transfer from construction in progress 313,235 66,721 788 (425,668) 44,924 —

  Acquisition by business combination — 3 — — 14 17

  Disposal (95,240) (9,944) (826) (385) (11,690) (118,084)

  Exchange differences (46) (575) 2,011 288 (5,132) (3,454)

  Other (1,392) 4,714 (1,345) (5,450) 2,574 (898)

As of March 31, 2021 5,660,918 704,918 288,161 226,901 518,224 7,399,122

  Acquisition 16,953 1,897 284 467,207 2,172 488,513

  Transfer from construction in progress 281,954 31,555 4,718 (354,341) 36,115 —

  Acquisition by business combination — — — — — —

  Disposal (100,429) (8,708) (218) (6,421) (18,020) (133,796)

  Exchange differences 2,311 4,966 939 978 8,447 17,640

  Other 354 1,193 (171) (2,674) 2,739 1,441

As of March 31, 2022 ¥5,862,061 ¥735,821 ¥293,712 ¥331,649 ¥549,676 ¥7,772,919
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Accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment loss
Millions of yen

Communication 
equipment

Buildings and 
structures Land

Construction in 
progress Other Total

As of April 1, 2020 ¥(3,897,936) ¥(405,786) ¥(4,082) ¥(1,730) ¥(318,687) ¥(4,628,221)

  Depreciation (326,490) (27,187) — — (37,733) (391,410)

  Disposal 84,375 5,994 — — 10,872 101,241

  Impairment loss (2,768) (281) — (1,610) (341) (5,000)

  Exchange differences 44 6,914 — — 10,294 17,252

As of March 31, 2021 (4,142,776) (420,345) (4,082) (3,340) (335,594) (4,906,137)

  Depreciation (317,551) (27,894) — — (39,960) (385,405)

  Disposal 88,747 7,747 — (1) 17,202 113,695

  Impairment loss (1,455) (172) — (14) (181) (1,822)

  Exchange differences (1,450) (1,219) — (359) (4,741) (7,770)

As of March 31, 2022 ¥(4,374,484) ¥(441,884) ¥(4,082) ¥(3,715) ¥(363,274) ¥(5,187,439)

Note: �The depreciation of the property, plant and equipment is included in “cost of sales” and “selling, general and administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of financial 
positions.

The carrying amounts of the property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Carrying amount
Millions of yen

Communication 
equipment

Buildings and 
structures Land

Construction in 
progress Other Total

As of April 1, 2020 ¥1,543,467 ¥237,582 ¥283,442 ¥173,317 ¥168,423 ¥2,406,231

As of March 31, 2021 ¥1,518,142 ¥284,573 ¥284,079 ¥223,561 ¥182,630 ¥2,492,985

As of March 31, 2022 ¥1,487,577 ¥293,937 ¥289,630 ¥327,934 ¥186,402 ¥2,585,481

(2) Property, plant and equipment pledged as collateral

For the amount of property, plant and equipment pledged as collateral for liabilities including borrowings, please refer to “Note 14. Borrowings and 
bonds payable.”

(3) Property, plant and equipment with limited ownership

There is no property, plant and equipment with limited ownership.

(4) Property, plant and equipment under construction

Expenditures included in the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment under construction are presented as construction in progress in the 
table above.

(5) Capitalization of borrowing costs

There are no significant borrowing costs included in the acquisition costs of the property, plant and equipment for the years ended March 31, 2021 
and 2022.
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6 Goodwill and Intangible Assets

(1) Movements of goodwill and intangible assets

The movements of the acquisition costs, accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment loss of the intangible assets are as follows:

Acquisition costs
Millions of yen

Goodwill

Intangible assets

TotalSoftware
Customer  

related
Program  

supply related
Spectrum 

migration cost Other

As of April 1, 2020 ¥554,302 ¥881,537 ¥328,972 ¥36,363 ¥  88,133 ¥663,964 ¥2,553,270

  Individual acquisition — 133,221 — — 23,380 51,765 208,366

  Acquisition by business combination 620 27 — — — — 646

  Disposal — (126,757) — — — (47,060) (173,817)

  Exchange differences 270 85 — — — 833 1,187

  Other — 55 — — (382) (7,605) (7,932)

As of March 31, 2021 555,191 888,168 328,972 36,363 111,131 661,897 2,581,721

  Individual acquisition — 168,281 — — 20,328 49,914 238,523

  Acquisition by business combination — — — — — — —

  Disposal — (95,598) — — — (41,445) (137,043)

  Exchange differences 542 567 — — — 1,831 2,940

  Other — (1,785) — — (753) (19,981) (22,518)

As of March 31, 2022 ¥555,733 ¥959,633 ¥328,972 ¥36,363 ¥130,707 ¥652,216 ¥2,663,623

Accumulated amortization and impairment
Millions of yen

Goodwill

Intangible assets

TotalSoftware
Customer  

related
Program  

supply related
Spectrum 

migration cost Other

As of April 1, 2020 ¥  (13,416) ¥(500,401) ¥  (108,482)	 ¥  (11,570) ¥(22,611) ¥(320,504) ¥   (976,985)

  Amortization — (126,913) (21,072) (1,653) (10,703) (47,790) (208,131)

  Impairment loss (1,355) (692) — — — (348) (2,395)

  Disposal — 125,020 — — — 46,533 171,553

  Exchange differences — (55) — — — (456) (511)

  Other — — — — — — —

As of March 31, 2021 (14,771) (503,041) (129,554) (13,223) (33,315) (322,566) (1,016,469)

  Amortization — (131,681) (20,820) (1,653) (13,171) (46,367) (213,693)

  Impairment loss — (858) — — — — (858)

  Disposal — 93,918 — — — 41,064 134,982

  Exchange differences — (300) — — — (1,098) (1,398)

  Other — — — — — — —

As of March 31, 2022 ¥(14,771) ¥(541,963) ¥(150,374) ¥(14,876) ¥(46,486) ¥(328,968) ¥(1,097,437)

Note: The amortization of intangible assets is included in “cost of sales” and “selling, general and administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of financial positions.
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The carrying amounts of goodwill and intangible assets are as follows: 

Carrying amount
Millions of yen

Goodwill

Intangible assets

TotalSoftware
Customer  

related
Program 

supply related
Spectrum 

migration cost Other

As of April 1, 2020 ¥540,886 ¥381,136 ¥220,489 ¥24,793 ¥65,521 ¥343,460 ¥1,576,285

As of March 31, 2021 ¥540,420 ¥385,126 ¥199,418 ¥23,140 ¥77,816 ¥339,331 ¥1,565,251

As of March 31, 2022 ¥540,962 ¥417,669 ¥178,598 ¥21,487 ¥84,220  ¥323,249 ¥1,566,186

(2) Total expenditures related to research and development expensed during the period

Research and development costs expensed as selling, general and administrative expenses for the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2022 are 
¥24,131 million and ¥25,081 million, respectively.

(3) Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives described above as of March 31, 2021 and 2022 is ¥63,379 million.
The details of intangible assets are trademark rights that were acquired through business combinations. As these trademark rights exist as long as 

businesses are continued, useful lives of these intangible assets are assumed to be indefinite. 

7 Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment, Goodwill, Intangible Assets and Right-Of-Use Assets

Impairment test of cash generating units including goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
The Group tests for impairment of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives at least annually, and whenever there is an indication of 

impairment.
The total carrying amounts of the goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives allocated to cash-generating units or cash generating 

unit groups are as follows:

Goodwill

Cash-generating unit or cash-generating unit group Millions of yen

As of March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

JCOM Co., Ltd. CATV business ¥280,709 ¥280,709

Jupiter Shop Channel Co., Ltd. 92,577 92,577

AEON HD 31,621 31,621

ENERES Co., Ltd. 14,199 14,199

BIGLOBE Inc. 14,072 14,072

Other 107,242 107,784

  Total ¥540,420 ¥540,962

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives

Cash-generating unit or cash-generating unit group Millions of yen

As of March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

BIGLOBE Inc. ¥26,374 ¥26,374

Jupiter Shop Channel Co., Ltd. 19,859 19,859

AEON HD 17,146 17,146

  Total ¥63,379 ¥63,379
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The recoverable amount of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives allocated to cash-generating units or group of cash generating 
units is calculated using value in use.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows from cash generating-units or group of cash generating unit are discounted to their 
present value. When the Group calculates the future cash flows and discount future cash flows, the business plan developed based on different type 
of forecasted revenue and cost such as cost of sales and selling, general and administrative expenses, growth rates and pre-tax discount rates are 
used as significant assumptions.

The forecast of cash flows used as a basis to estimate future cash flows is based on the recent business plan approved by the management, 
which reflects past experience and external information, and the maximum forecast is 5 years. After 5 years, a certain growth rate of profit before tax 
after consideration of a long-term average growth rate for the market is used.

The growth rates of estimated profit before tax in projection period, which are used to calculate value in use of cash-generating units, are as follows. 
 
Cash-generating unit or cash-generating unit group

As of March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

JCOM Co., Ltd. CATV business 0.0% 0.0%

Jupiter Shop Channel Co., Ltd. 0.0% 0.0%

AEON HD 0.0% 0.0%

ENERES Co., Ltd. 0.0% 0.0%

BIGLOBE Inc. 0.0% 0.0%

Other 0.0%-6.5% 0.0%-6.0%

The growth rates used in estimated cash flows of each cash-generating unit (CGU) or group of CGUs reflect the status of the country and the indus-
try to which the CGU belongs, and does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the market.

The pre-tax discount rates, which are used to calculate value in use of CGU or group of CGUs to which goodwill and intangible assets with indefi-
nite useful lives, is allocated are as follows.

Cash-generating unit or cash-generating unit group

As of March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

JCOM Co., Ltd. CATV business 5.1% 5.8%

Jupiter Shop Channel Co., Ltd. 6.7% 7.3%

AEON HD 5.3% 5.2%

ENERES Co., Ltd. 5.4% 6.5%

BIGLOBE Inc. 7.2% 8.1%

Other 5.1%-16.7% 5.2%-15.2%

Although goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives have a risk of impairment when major assumptions used for impairment test 
change, the Group has determined that a significant impairment loss is not probable in the cash generating units or cash generating unit group 
regardless of the reasonable change of business plan the growth rate and/or discount rate used for impairment test.

8 Investments Accounted for Using the Equity Method

(1) The carrying amounts of investments accounted for using the equity method

Millions of yen

As of March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Interests in associates ¥233,921 ¥244,515

  Total ¥233,921 ¥244,515

(2) The Group’s share of comprehensive income of associates accounted for using the equity method

i. Associates
Profit for the year, other comprehensive income and comprehensive income of associates accounted for using the equity method are as follows. As 
of and for the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2022, there is not individually significant associate accounted for using the equity method.

Millions of yen

For the year ended March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Profit for the year ¥4,884 ¥5,791

Other comprehensive income, net of tax (68) 975

Total comprehensive income for the year ¥4,816 ¥6,766
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9 Inventories

(1) The analysis of inventories

The analysis of inventories is as follows: 
Millions of yen

As of March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Finished goods and manufactured goods ¥66,250 ¥71,262

Work in progress 3,385 2,684

Other 186 565

  Total ¥69,821 ¥74,511

There is no inventory to be sold after more than 12 months from March 31, 2021 and 2022.
 

(2) Write down of the inventories expensed during the period

Write down of the inventories expensed during the period is as follows:
Millions of yen

For the year ended March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Write down of the inventories expensed (Note) ¥6,083 ¥7,599

Note: Write down is recognized as costs of sales.

(3) Inventories pledged as collateral

There are no inventories pledged as collateral.

10 Trade and Other Receivables

The analysis of trade and other receivables is as follows:
Millions of yen

As of March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Current

  Trade receivables

    Accounts receivable—trade and notes receivable ¥2,134,956 ¥2,182,975

  Accounts receivable—other (Note) 111,815 146,991

  Loss allowance (17,336) (18,272)

      Total ¥2,229,435 ¥2,311,694

Note: Accounts receivable-other mainly consists of the receivable related to the payment agency service.

The amounts of trade and other receivables expected to be recovered after more than twelve months from March 31, 2021 and 2022 are ¥481,835 
million and ¥340,336 million, respectively.

The amount of the trade and other receivables on the consolidated statement of financial position is presented less loss allowance.
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11 Other Financial Assets

The analysis of other financial assets is as follows:
Millions of yen

As of March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Non-current assets (Other long-term financial assets) 

  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

    Derivatives ¥       164 ¥         85

  Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

    Equity instruments

      Equities 177,224 199,608

  Financial assets at amortized cost 

    Debt instruments

      Security deposits 55,837 56,700

      Long-term accounts receivables 11,879 13,081

      Lease receivables 71,155 55,040

      Other 20,911 17,761

      Loss allowance (11,970) (13,008)

        Sub total 325,201 329,268

Current assets (Other short-term financial assets):

  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

    Derivatives 4,085 9,596

  Financial assets at amortized cost

    Debt instruments

      Lease receivables 35,597 35,122

      Short-term investment 18,671 8,500

      Other 11,601 13,937

        Sub total 69,955 67,154

        Total ¥395,155 ¥396,422
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12 Other Assets

The analysis of other non-current assets and other current assets is as follows:
Millions of yen

As of March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Non-current assets

  Long-term prepaid expenses ¥  19,617 ¥  20,635

  Other 1,704 4,447

    Sub total 21,321 25,083

Current assets

  Prepaid expenses 66,740 71,283

  Advance payments 10,131 18,355

  Other 27,625 24,184

    Sub total 104,496 113,822

    Total ¥125,817 ¥138,905

13 Cash and Cash Equivalents

The analysis of cash and cash equivalents is as follows:
Millions of yen

As of March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Cash in hand and deposits held at call with banks ¥806,770 ¥794,375

Term deposits with original maturities of three months or less 3,032 2,238

  Total ¥809,802 ¥796,613

Cash and cash equivalents in consolidated statement of cash flow ¥809,802 ¥796,613

14 Borrowings and Bonds Payable

(1) The analysis of borrowings and bonds payable

The analysis of borrowings and bonds payable is as follows:
Millions of yen Average  

interest rate  
(%) (Note) Due (Year)As of March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Non-current

  Bonds payable (excluding current portion) ¥   329,384 ¥   279,564 0.35 2023-2029

  Long-term borrowings (excluding current portion) 822,280 642,052 0.45 2023-2029

    Sub total 1,151,664 921,616 — —

Current

  Current portion of bonds payable — 49,979 0.02 —

  Current portion of long-term borrowings 73,375 180,491 0.21 —

  Short-term borrowings 19,517 56,034 0.02 —

    Sub total 92,892 286,505 — —

    Total ¥1,244,556 ¥1,208,121 — —

Note: Average interest rate represents weighted average interest rate to the ending balance of the borrowings and other debts.
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(2) Terms of issuing bonds payable

The summary of terms of issuing bonds payable is as follows:

As of March 31 Millions of yen
Interest rate 

(%) Collateral DueEntity Description Issuance date FY21.3 FY22.3

KDDI Corp. 20th series of unsecured notes December 13, 2013
29,966 29,978

0.80
 per year

Unsecured December 20, 2023

KDDI Corp. 21th series of unsecured notes September 10, 2014
29,956 29,969

0.67
 per year

Unsecured September 20, 2024

KDDI Corp. 22th series of unsecured notes July 12, 2018
29,923 29,933

0.31
 per year

Unsecured July 12, 2028

KDDI Corp. 23th series of unsecured notes November 22, 2018
39,944 39,966

0.11
 per year

Unsecured November 22, 2023

KDDI Corp. 24th series of unsecured notes November 22, 2018
29,937 29,951

0.25
 per year

Unsecured November 21, 2025

KDDI Corp. 25th series of unsecured notes November 22, 2018
19,944 19,952

0.40
 per year

Unsecured November 22, 2028

KDDI Corp. 26th series of unsecured notes April 26, 2019
29,951 29,967

0.13
 per year

Unsecured April 26, 2024 

KDDI Corp. 27th series of unsecured notes April 26, 2019
29,931 29,945

0.23
 per year

Unsecured April 24, 2026 

KDDI Corp. 28th series of unsecured notes April 26, 2019
39,889 39,903

0.36
 per year

Unsecured April 26, 2029 

KDDI Corp. 29th series of unsecured notes November 29, 2019
49,944

49,979
(49,979)

0.02
 per year

Unsecured November 29, 2022

Note: The amounts in ( ) presents the current portion of the bonds payable.

(3) Assets pledged as collateral and secured liabilities

Assets pledged as collateral are as follows:
Millions of yen

As of March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Property, plant and equipment ¥       519 ¥       519

Stocks of subsidiaries and associates (Note) 768 768

Securities for financial business 223,947 281,608

Other short-term financial assets 6,030 —

Other long-term financial assets — 6,000

 � Total ¥231,264  ¥288,895

Obligations underlying to these assets pledged as collateral are as follows:
Millions of yen

As of March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Long-term borrowings (Note) ¥   80,000 ¥  50,000

Current portion of long-term borrowings — 30,000

Short-term borrowings — 36,500

Call money 107,900 134,300

Accounts payable 200 132

 � Total ¥188,100 ¥250,932

Note: �Shares of Kagoshima Mega Solar Power Corporation, an affiliate accounted for using the equity method, are pledged as collateral for its borrowings from financial institutions. The amounts 
of borrowings as of March 31, 2021 and 2022 are ¥12,628 million and ¥11,192 million, respectively. These amounts are not included in long-term borrowings in the above table.

Certain subsidiaries of the Group have financed from financial institutions due to acquisitions and others. Except for certain loan agreements on insignificant 
amount of borrowings, these borrowings are subject to financial covenants such as maintenance of shareholder’s equity, net asset and surplus of profit as pre-
scribed in the terms of each agreement. The amounts of borrowings as of March 31, 2021 and 2022 are ¥434,087 million and ¥433,863 million, respectively. 

Except for the borrowings above, there is no financial covenant on borrowings and bonds payable, which has a significant effect on the Group’s 
financial activities. For the fair value and amounts by due dates of borrowings and bonds payable, please refer to “Note 31. Financial instruments” 
and “Note 32. Fair value of financial instruments.”
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15 Deferred Tax and Income Taxes

(1) Movement by major cause of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities

The balance of and the movement in recognized deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are as follows:

For the year ended March 31, 2021
Millions of yen

As of April 1, 
2020

Recognized
as profit or loss

Recognized 
directly in equity

Recognized as  
other 

comprehensive 
income

Acquisition by 
business 

combinations Other (Note)
As of March  

31, 2021

Deferred tax assets 

  Accrued bonuses ¥  10,350 ¥       57 ¥   — ¥        — ¥   — ¥     109 ¥  10,516

  Accrued business tax 10,068 2,282 — — — 24 12,374

  Inventories 4,884 (678) — — — 115 4,321

  Loss allowance 9,988 477 — — — 171 10,635

 � Property, plant and equipment and  
  intangible assets 42,157 11,577 — — — (37) 53,697

  Lease liabilities 94,664 7,124 — — — — 101,788

  Deferred points 21,954 (4,367) — — — 0 17,587

  Retirement benefit liabilities 11,690 38,168 — (45,982) — (122) 3,754

  Accrued expenses 5,632 340 — — — 1 5,973

  Contract liabilities 36,813 (1,401) — — — 1 35,413

  Other 42,028 (3,993) — (895) — (2,153) 34,987

    Total ¥290,228 ¥49,586 ¥   — ¥(46,877) ¥   — ¥(1,891) ¥291,045

Deferred tax liabilities

 � Retained profits of foreign related  
  companies ¥       450 ¥     775 ¥   — ¥        — ¥   — ¥       — ¥    1,225

  Special reserves 315 (140) — — — — 174

  Appraisal gain on equity instruments 8,249 111 — 11,246 — (2,257) 17,349

 � Property, plant and equipment,  
  intangible assets and right-of-use assets 103,658 2,142 — — — — 105,800

  Identifiable intangible assets 95,975 (7,874) — — — — 88,101

  Retirement benefit assets — 37,004 — (24,885) — — 12,119

  Contract costs 132,496 15,936 — — — — 148,431

  Other 23,873 (17,850) — (283) — 779 6,520

    Total ¥365,015 ¥30,104 ¥   — ¥(13,921) ¥   — ¥ (1,478) ¥379,720
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For the year ended March 31, 2022
Millions of yen

As of April 1, 
2021

Recognized 
as profit or 

loss

Recognized 
directly in 

equity

Recognized as 
other  

comprehensive 
income

Acquisition by 
business 

combinations Other (Note)
As of March 

31, 2022

Deferred tax assets 

  Accrued bonuses ¥  10,516 ¥     633 ¥  — ¥— ¥—  ¥  90 ¥ 11,239

  Accrued business tax 12,374 (4,859) — — — 2 7,518

  Inventories 4,321 19 241 — — 61 4,642

  Loss allowance 10,635 (452) (1) — — 19 10,202

 � Property, plant and equipment, intangible assets 53,697 1,512 — — — — 55,209

  Lease liabilities 101,788 27,801 — — — — 129,589

  Deferred points 17,587 (4,690) — — — 0 12,897

  Retirement benefit liabilities 3,754 (1,604) (4) 79 — 2 2,227

  Accrued expenses 5,973 81 — — — 1 6,055

  Contract liabilities 35,413 (2,079) — — — — 33,333

  Other 34,987 98 — — — — 35,085

    Total ¥291,045 ¥16,461 ¥236 ¥79 ¥— ¥175 ¥307,996

Deferred tax liabilities

 � Retained profits of foreign related  
  companies ¥    1,225  ¥     616 ¥— ¥     — ¥— ¥  — ¥    1,842

  Special reserves 174 (1) — — — — 173

  Appraisal gain on equity instruments 17,349 4,762 — 4,559 — — 26,671

 � Property, plant and equipment,  
  intangible assets and right-of-use assets 105,800 28,028 — — — — 133,828

  Identifiable intangible assets 88,101 (2,808) — — — — 85,292

  Retirement benefit assets 12,119 (1,937) — 2,444 — — 12,626

  Contract costs 148,431 25,051 — — — — 173,482

  Other 6,520 (1,426) — 1,068 — 375 6,537

    Total ¥379,720 ¥52,285 ¥— ¥8,071 ¥— ¥375 ¥440,451

Note: “Other” includes exchange differences on foreign operations.

(2) The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities on the consolidated statement of financial position are as follows:
Millions of yen

As of March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Deferred tax assets ¥ 11,396 ¥   12,330

Deferred tax liabilities 100,071 144,776

Deferred tax assets, net ¥(88,675) ¥(132,446)

The Group evaluates the recoverability of deferred tax assets at recognition by considering the possibility to utilize a part or all of deductible tempo-
rary differences or tax loss carryforwards for future taxable income. The Group considers the planned reversal of deferred tax liabilities as well as 
expected future taxable income and tax planning for evaluating the recoverability of deferred tax assets, and recognizes deferred tax assets to the 
extent that future taxable income is expected.

Deferred tax assets for tax losses in certain subsidiaries as of March 31, 2021 and 2022 are ¥5,593 million and ¥5,821 million, respectively.
All deferred tax assets related to these losses were determined recoverable as taxable income exceeding the tax losses is expected.  
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(3) �Deductible temporary differences, net operating loss carryforwards and tax credit carryforwards, unaccompanied by the recognition of 
deferred tax assets

As a result of evaluating the recoverability of the deferred tax assets above, the Group has not recognized deferred tax assets on certain deductible 
temporary differences and tax loss carryforwards. The amounts of deductible temporary differences, net operating loss carryforwards and tax credit 
carryforwards, unaccompanied by the recognition of deferred tax assets are as follows:

Millions of yen

As of March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Deductible temporary differences ¥15,087 ¥33,235

Tax loss carryforwards 55,209 48,903

  Total ¥70,296 ¥82,139

Expiration of tax loss carryforwards for which deferred tax assets have not been recognized is as follows:
Millions of yen

As of March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

1st year ¥  1,859 ¥     104

2nd year 471 188

3rd year 5,178 278

4th year 2,982 309

5th year and thereafter 44,718 48,025

  Total ¥55,209 ¥48,903

(4) Income taxes

The analysis of income taxes is as follows:
Millions of yen

For the year ended March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Current tax expenses

  Current tax expenses on the profit for the year ¥353,181 ¥301,111

  Adjustments in respect of prior years ( (  ): refund) 203 (1,393)

 � Previously unrecognized tax loss carryforwards of prior years that is used 
      to reduce current tax expenses (2,451) (3,576)

    Sub total 350,933 296,142

Deferred tax expenses

  Origination and reversal of temporary differences (18,288) 35,997

  Impact of change of tax rates (2) 1

 � Previously unrecognized tax loss carryforwards of prior years that is used  
  to reduce deferred tax expenses (1,504) 445

  Review of the collectability of deferred tax assets 312 (628)

    Sub total (19,482) 35,815

    Total ¥331,451 ¥331,957

(5) Income taxes recognized in other comprehensive income

Income taxes recognized in other comprehensive income are described in “Note 29. Other comprehensive income.”
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(6) Reconciliation of effective tax rates

Reconciliation of statutory effective tax rates and actual tax rates for the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2022 are as follows. The actual tax rate 
shows the ratio of income taxes incurred by all Group companies to the profit before income tax for the year.

For the year ended March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Statutory income tax rate 31.4% 31.4%

Non-taxable dividends received (0.3%) (2.0%)

Impact of tax differences of foreign subsidiaries (0.0%) 1.1%

Tax credit (0.1%) (0.1%)

Valuation allowance 0.7% 1.9%

Other 0.3% (1.0%)

Average actual tax rate to incur 31.9% 31.2%

16 Employee Benefits

The Group operates defined benefit pension plans and lump-sum retire-
ment plans (unfunded) as its defined benefit plans, as well as defined 
contribution pension plans.

KDDI and its certain consolidated subsidiaries adopt point system in 
their retirement benefit plans, where the amount of benefits is calculat-
ed based on the accumulated points granted in proportion to the 
employees’ entitlement and wage ranks.

Management, operation and benefit of the assets are mainly con-
trolled by legally independent KDDI Corporate Pension Fund (the 
“Fund”).

In accordance with Defined Benefit Corporate Pension Act and other 
laws, the Group is obliged to pay contributions to the Fund, which pays 
pension benefits. The trustee of the Fund is obliged to comply with 
laws, appointments by the Minister of Ministry of Health, Labour and 
Welfare or the Head of the Regional Bureau of Health and Welfare, by 
law of the Fund and resolutions of the board of representatives, as well 
as to fulfill fiduciary duties related to the management and operation of 
the funded money. The trustee is prohibited from abusing the appropri-
ate management and operation of the funded money for self-interest or 
the interest of third party other than the Fund.

(1) Defined benefit pension plans

i. The amounts on the consolidated statement of financial position
The amounts related to the defined benefit pension plans on the consolidated statement of financial position are as follows:

Millions of yen

As of March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Present value of the defined benefit obligations (funded) ¥401,044 ¥401,194

Present value of the defined benefit obligations (unfunded) 12,085 11,127

Fair value of plan assets (439,384) (444,546)

Status of the funding ¥ (26,254) ¥ (32,224)

Retirement benefit liabilities ¥  12,109 ¥  12,496

Retirement benefit assets (38,364) (44,720)

Net retirement benefit liabilities ¥ (26,254) ¥ (32,224)
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ii. Movement in the defined benefit obligations and plan assets
The movement in the defined benefit obligations is as follows:

Millions of yen

For the year ended March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

The movement in the present value of the defined benefit obligations 

Opening balance ¥433,646 ¥413,130

  Current service cost 15,492 11,163

  Interest expense 1,144 2,176

      Sub total 450,282 426,469

  Remeasurements

    Amount from change in financial assumptions (24,263) 216

    Amount from change in demographic assumptions 16 91

  Benefit payments (12,937) (14,706)

  Exchange differences 23 17

  New consolidation — —

  Other 8 235

Ending balance ¥413,130 ¥412,321

 
The movement in the plan assets is as follows:

Millions of yen

For the year ended March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Changes in fair value of the plan assets

Opening balance ¥(396,416) ¥(439,384)

  Interest income (1,408) (2,886)

  Remeasurements

    Return on plan assets (43,090) (8,092)

  Benefit payments 11,797 13,544

  Contribution to the plans

    Contribution from employers (10,267) (7,801)

  New consolidation — —

  Other — 74

Ending balance ¥(439,384) ¥(444,546)

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligations for the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2022 are 15.8 years and 15.4 years, 
respectively. 

iii. Components of plan assets
KDDI Corporate Pension Fund manages its funded money to secure 
long-term return required to cover the benefit of pensions and lump-
sum payments over the future. Based on this, our investment policy is 
to basically analyse the risk/return characteristics by asset and evaluate 
the correlation among assets in order to invest in a diversified portfolio.

Specifically, it sets policy asset allocation with the efficient combina-
tion of various assets including equities and government and corporate 
bonds, designs corresponding manager structure, selects managing 

trustee and invests. 
In accordance with the provision of the Defined Benefit Corporate 

Pension Act, bylaw of the Fund requires to the amount of contributions 
to be recalculated the amount of contributions at least every 5 years, 
with the financial year-end serving as the basis date to maintain bal-
anced finances in the future. It is reviewed, as necessary, if there is a 
significant change in the circumstances surrounding the Fund.
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The fair value of the plan assets as of March 31, 2021 and 2022 consists of the components below:
Millions of yen

As of March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

With quoted prices in 
active markets

Without quoted  
prices in active   

markets Total
With quoted prices in 

active markets

Without quoted  
prices in active  

markets Total

Equities ¥  78,277 ¥          — ¥  78,277 ¥  61,911 ¥          — ¥  61,911

Debt securities 185,050 — 185,050 185,353 — 185,353

Other (Note) 57,325 118,732 176,057 47,103 150,178 197,281

  Total ¥320,652 ¥118,732 ¥439,384 ¥294,368 ¥150,178 ¥444,546

Note: Other includes hedge funds, private equities and cash.

iv. The analysis of expenses related to defined benefit plans
The amount of expenses recognized related to defined benefit plans is as follows:

Millions of yen

For the year ended March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Current service cost ¥15,492 ¥11,163
Interest expense 1,144 2,176
Interest income (1,408) (2,886)
  Total ¥15,228 ¥10,453

The expenses above are included in the “Cost of sales” and “Selling, general and administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of income.

v. Actuarial assumptions
Major actuarial assumptions at the end of each period are as follows:

As of March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Discount rate 0.7% 0.6%

Other than the component above, actuarial assumptions also include expected salary growth rate, mortality and expected retirement rate.
 

vi. Sensitivity analysis of actuarial assumptions
The movement in the defined benefit obligations due to changes in discount rates by the ratio below at the end of each period is as follows. This 
analysis assumes that actuarial assumptions other than those subject to the analysis are constant, but in reality, the movement of other actuarial 
assumptions may change.

Discount rates
Millions of yen

As of March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

0.5% increase ¥(26,288) ¥(25,365)
0.5% decrease 27,437 25,951

vii. Contributions to the plan assets in the next financial year
The policy of the Group is to contribute the necessary amount to the plan in order to meet the minimum funding requirement, based on related regu-
lations. The Group estimates the contributions to the plan assets for the year ending March 31, 2023 to be ¥3,204 million.

(2) Defined contribution pension plans

The amount of expenses recognized related to defined contribution pension plans is as follows:
Millions of yen

For the year ended March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Expenses related to defined contribution pension plans ¥3,259 ¥5,064
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The expenses above are included in the “Cost of sales” and “Selling, 
general and administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of 
income.

Certain Group subsidiaries participate in a multiemployer plan, 
Sumisho Rengo Corporation Pension Fund.

Sumisho Rengo Corporation Pension Fund is a fund-type corporate 
pension established in accordance with Defined Benefit Corporate 
Pension Act, and co-operated by multiple Sumitomo Shoji Group com-
panies. Certain Group subsidiaries cannot reasonably calculate the 
amount of pension assets corresponding to the amount of their contri-
butions, and therefore the amount of contributions is recognized as 
retirement benefit expenses as defined contribution pension plans. The 
expenses on the consolidated statement of income for the years ended 

March 31, 2021 and 2022 are ¥1,804 million and ¥1,835 million, 
respectively.

The Group can reduce its costs and practical burden related to 
administration and finance operation by participating in this fund and 
simultaneously reduce the risk of a pension plan’s discontinuance, while 
the fund is co-operated by multiple companies and the Group cannot 
necessarily reflect its intent. 

The financial position of the fund based on the latest annual report 
(closed by pension accounting) is as follows. The fund does not accept 
or succeed other funds, and does not incur benefit obligations by other 
employers.

 

(i) Status of funding in the overall plan
Millions of yen

For the year ended March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Pension assets ¥(44,898) ¥(52,533)
Benefit obligations for the purpose of calculating pension financials 41,102 43,578
Difference (3,796) (8,955)
Ratio of the funded pension assets 109.2% 120.5%
Difference consists of
  Surplus (3,796) ¥(8,955)

(ii) Ratio of contributions by the Group to the fund	
Millions of yen

For the year ended March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Contributions by the Group ¥(1,599) ¥(1,706)

All contributions to the fund (2,663) (2,757)

Ratio to the all contributions to the fund 60.1% 61.9%

In accordance with a provision of the Defined Benefit Corporate Pension Act, a bylaw of the Fund requires the amount of contributions to be recalcu-
lated every 5 years, with the financial year-end serving as the basis date to maintain balanced finances in the future. It is reviewed, as necessary, if 
there is a significant change in the circumstances surrounding the Fund.

(iii) Contributions to the multiemployer plans in the next financial year 
The Group estimates the contributions to the multiemployer plans for the year ending March 31, 2023 to be ¥1,835 million. 

17 Trade and Other Payables

The analysis of the trade and other payables is as follows:
Millions of yen

As of March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Current liabilities

  Accounts payable (Note) ¥578,024 ¥620,656

  Accounts payable-trade 142,163 176,842

  Accrued expenses 33,778 36,557

  Other obligations 380 440

    Total ¥754,345 ¥834,496

Note: Accounts payable mainly consists of the payables for capital investments and sale commission. 

The amounts of trade and other payables expected to be settled after more than twelve months from the March 31, 2021 and 2022 are ¥6,617 mil-
lion and ¥3,218 million, respectively.
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18 Other Financial Liabilities

The analysis of other financial liabilities is as follows:
Millions of yen

As of March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Non-current liabilities (Other long-term financial liabilities) 

  Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

    Derivatives ¥  3,584 ¥  2,197

  Financial liabilities at amortized cost

    Long-term account payables 2,276 2,112

    Other 8,312 9,889

      Sub total 14,172 14,198

Current liabilities (Other short-term financial liabilities)

  Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

    Derivatives 1,655 2,620

      Sub total 1,655 2,620

      Total ¥15,827 ¥16,818

19 Provisions

(1) Movements of provisions

Changes in provisions are as follows:
Millions of yen

Asset retirement  
obligation

Provision for  
customer points Other provisions Total

As of April 1, 2020 ¥32,783 ¥34,912 ¥14,041 ¥81,736

  Increase during the year 40,597 39,583 5,838 86,017

  Decrease during the year (intended use) (483) (47,285) (3,583) (51,351)

  Decrease during the year (reversal) — — — —

As of March 31, 2021 72,896 27,210 16,296 116,401

  Increase during the year 2,182 37,667 1,846 41,695

  Decrease during the year (intended use) (10,493) (40,889) (11,001) (62,383)

  Decrease during the year (reversal) — — — —

As of March 31, 2022 ¥64,585 ¥23,988 ¥ 7,141 ¥95,713

  Non-current liabilities ¥63,826 ¥       —  ¥ 6,247 ¥70,073

  Current liabilities 759 23,988 893 25,641

(2) Components of provisions

The main components of provisions of the Group are as follows:

i. Asset retirement obligation
Asset retirement obligations are recognized using the reasonably esti-
mated amount required for the removal of equipment, such as base 
stations, certain offices, data centers and network centers. The esti-
mate is based on present assumptions and is subject to changes if 
assumptions are revised in the future.

ii. Provision for customer points
The Group operates some points programs, including the au point pro-
gram, and grants points to customers of the Group, for the purpose of 
sales promotions. In anticipation of the future use of such points by

customers, the Group has recorded these points, which are mainly
granted by using au Pay and au Pay card, apps and product sales
services provided by other companies to debt as a provision for cus-
tomer points. The Group has measured the amounts of provision for
customer point at an estimated amount to be used in the future based
on historical experience.

There is an inherent uncertainty regarding the extent of usage of such 
points by customers, and once the points expire, the customers forfeits 
the right to use them.

iii. Other provisions
Other provisions include provision for contract loss and provision for
warranties for completed construction.
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20 Other Liabilities

The analysis of other liabilities is as follows:
Millions of yen

As of March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Non-current liabilities

  Long-term deposits payable ¥    1,842 ¥    1,865

  Other 8,970 9,150

    Sub total 10,813 11,015

Current liabilities

  Deposits payable 165,231 129,059

  Accrued bonuses 32,144 34,416

  Consumption tax payable 49,605 17,664

  Other 34,481 34,258

    Sub total 281,461 215,397

    Total ¥292,273 ¥226,412

21 Share-Based Payment (Stock Grant Plans)

The Company and its certain consolidated subsidiaries have several 
stock compensation plans (hereafter, the “Plan”) for directors, executive 
officers, and administrative officers (excluding directors residing over-
seas, outside directors and part-time directors) that have entered into 
engagement agreements with the Company (hereafter, “Directors and 
Other Executives”).

For the directors, the Company and its certain consolidated subsid-
iaries have adopted the Board Incentive Plan (BIP). For the Group’s 
senior management, the Company has adopted the Employee Stock 
Ownership Plan (ESOP).

BIP (Board Incentive Plan) is being initiated in order to link compen-
sation for Directors and Other Executives with shareholder value and to 

increase their awareness of contributing to increases in operating per-
formance and corporate value over the medium to long term. This 
ESOP Trust is being introduced as an incentive plan to enhance corpo-
rate value over the medium to long term by increasing awareness 
among the Company’s managers of operating performance and stock 
price.

Under BIP and ESOP, the right (the number) for stock granted is 
vested based on achievement based of Key Performance Indicators 
(KPIs) annually.

The expenses for the stock grant plans recognized in the consolidat-
ed statement of operations for the year ended March 31, 2021 and 
2022 are ¥1,349 million and ¥1,599 million, respectively.

(1) KDDI CORPORATION 

The Company has BIP trust and ESOP trust. The stocks of the Company are granted by the institution.

For the year ended March 31, 2021
Number of  

shares granted Granted date
Fair value at granted date 

(Yen) (Note 1) Vesting conditions

BIP trust 214,068 March 12, 2020 ¥2,875.52 (Note 2)

ESOP trust 243,382 March 12, 2020 2,875.52 (Note 2)

Notes: 	1. �With respect to stock grants, fair values are measured based on observable market prices. Moreover, the expected dividends are incorporated into the measurement of fair val-
ues.

	 2. Vesting conditions are subject to continued service from grant date to vesting date.

For the year ended March 31, 2022
Number of  

shares granted Granted date
Fair value at granted date 

(Yen) (Note 1) Vesting conditions

BIP trust 194,506 March 11, 2021 ¥3,283.86 (Note 2)

ESOP trust 276,168 March 11, 2021 3,283.86 (Note 2)

Notes: 	1. �With respect to stock grants, fair values are measured based on observable market prices. Moreover, the expected dividends are incorporated into the measurement of fair values.
	 2. Vesting conditions are subject to continued service from grant date to vesting date.

147

Introduction     Vision     Material Issues    Governance     Data

Financial and Non-Financial Data     Consolidated Financial Statements     Disclosure and IR     Corporate Overview     Stock Information     



(2) Okinawa Cellular Telephone Company

Consolidated subsidiary Okinawa Cellular Telephone Company has BIP trust and ESOP trust. The shares in Okinawa Cellular Telephone Company 
are granted by the institution.

For the year ended March 31, 2021
Number of  

shares granted Granted date
Fair value at granted date 

(Yen) (Note 1) Vesting conditions

BIP trust 3,088 March 25, 2020 ¥3,446.78 (Note 2)

ESOP trust 6,738 March 25, 2020 3,446.78 (Note 2)

Notes:	1. �With respect to stock grants, fair values are measured based on observable market prices. Moreover, the expected dividends are incorporated into the measurement of fair values.
	 2. Vesting conditions are subject to continued service from grant date to vesting date.

For the year ended March 31, 2022
Number of  

shares granted Granted date
Fair value at granted date 

(Yen) (Note 1) Vesting conditions

BIP trust 2,245 March 24, 2021 ¥5,089.00 (Note 2)

ESOP trust 5,558 March 24, 2021 5,089.00 (Note 2)

Notes:	1. �With respect to stock grants, fair values are measured based on observable market prices. Moreover, the expected dividends are incorporated into the measurement of fair values.
	 2. Vesting conditions are subject to continued service from grant date to vesting date.

22 Common Stock and Other Equity Items

(1) Common stock and capital surplus

The number of authorized shares, outstanding shares, common shares and the balance of capital surplus in each consolidated fiscal year are as follows:
Stock Millions of yen

Authorized shares Outstanding shares Common stock Capital surplus

Balance as of April 1, 2020 4,200,000,000 2,355,373,600 ¥141,852 ¥280,591

  Increase and decrease during the period (Note 3) — (51,194,050) — (1,916)

Balance as of March 31, 2021 4,200,000,000 2,304,179,550 ¥141,852 ¥278,675

  Increase and decrease during the period — — — 696

Balance as of March 31, 2022 4,200,000,000 2,304,179,550 ¥141,852 ¥279,371

Notes: 	1. Common stocks has no par value.
	 2. Outstanding shares are fully paid.
	 3. The decrease in the number of outstanding shares was due to the cancellation of treasury stocks.

Under the Companies Act of Japan (the “Companies Act”), at least 50% of the proceeds upon issuance of equity instruments shall be credited to 
common stock. The remainder of the proceeds shall be credited to additional paid-in capital. The Companies Act permits, upon approval at the gen-
eral meeting of shareholders, the transfer of amounts from additional paid-in capital to common stock.
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(2) Treasury stock

Changes in the number of treasury shares during each consolidated fiscal year are as follows:
Treasury stock  

(Shares)
Amount  

(Millions of yen)

Balance as of April 1, 2020 (Note 3) 55,464,960 ¥(156,550)

  Increase and decrease during the period

    Purchase of treasury stock (Note 1) 42,968,889 (136,087)

    Cancellation of treasury stock (51,194,050) 150,000 

    Disposal of treasury stock (Note 2) (18,457,546) 55,918 

Balance as of March 31, 2021 (Note 3) 28,782,253 (86,719)

  Increase and decrease during the period

    Purchase of treasury stock (Note 1) 60,391,051 (213,763)

    Cancellation of treasury stock — — 

    Disposal of treasury stock (Note 2) (194,372) 655 

Balance as of March 31, 2022 (Note 3) 88,978,932 ¥(299,827)

Notes:	1. �The increase in the number of treasury shares in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021 and 2022, are mainly due to the purchase from the market, 42,968,800 shares, and 
60,390,800 shares, respectively.

	 2. �The decrease in the number of treasury stock in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021 and 2022 are due to the allocation to grant to beneficiaries of executive compensation 
BIP trust and stock grants ESOP trust.

	 3. �The balance of treasury stock as of March 31, 2021 and 2022 includes share of the Company owned by the executive compensation BIP trust and stock grants ESOP trust.

(3) Retained earnings

The Companies Act provides that 10% of the dividend of retained earnings shall be appropriated as legal capital surplus or as legal retained earnings 
until their aggregate amount equals 25% of common stock. The legal retained earnings may be used to eliminate or reduce a deficit or be transferred 
to retained earnings upon approval at the general meeting of shareholders.

(4) Changes in accumulated other comprehensive income

Changes in each component of accumulated other comprehensive income are as follows:

i. Changes in each component of accumulated other comprehensive income

For the year ended March 31, 2021
Millions of yen

Translation  
differences on  

foreign operations

Changes measured in 
fair value of  

financial assets at  
fair value through other 
comprehensive income

Changes in fair value of 
cash flow hedge

Remeasurements of 
benefit pension plan Total

Balance as of April 1, 2020 ¥(23,454) ¥  5,377 ¥(1,588) ¥       — ¥(19,665)

  Amount incurred during the year 12,912 25,542 (335) 45,991 84,110

 � Reclassified to consolidated  
  statement of income — — 1,103 — 1,103 

  Transferred to retained earnings — (2,645) — (45,991) (48,636) 

Balance as of March 31, 2021 ¥(10,541) ¥28,273 ¥  (820) ¥       — ¥16,912

Note: �Amounts presented above are net of tax. Income taxes related to each component of other comprehensive income are set out in “Note 29. Other comprehensive income.”
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For the year ended March 31, 2022
Millions of yen

Translation  
differences on  

foreign operations

Changes measured in 
fair value of  

financial assets at  
fair value through other 
comprehensive income

Changes in fair value of 
cash flow hedge

Remeasurements of 
benefit pension plan Total

Balance as of April 1, 2021 ¥(10,541) ¥28,273 ¥(820) ¥      — ¥16,912

  Amount incurred during the year 16,838 10,943 573 5,207 33,561

 � Reclassified to consolidated  
  statement of income  (1) — 621 — 620 

  Transferred to retained earnings — (2,813) — (5,207) (8,020) 

Balance as of March 31, 2022 ¥  6,297 ¥36,403 ¥375 ¥      — ¥43,074

Note: �Amounts presented above are net of tax. Income taxes related to each component of other comprehensive income are set out in “Note 29. Other comprehensive income.”

ii. The analysis of accumulated other comprehensive income
Accumulated other comprehensive income includes following items.

(a) Translation differences on foreign operations
This represents the exchange differences incurred upon consolidation of the foreign operations’ financial statements denominated in foreign curren-
cies.

(b) Changes in fair value of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
This represents the valuation differences on fair value of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income.

(c) Changes in fair value of cash flow hedge
This represents the effective portion of changes in fair value of derivative transactions designated as cash flow hedge, which is used by the Group to 
avoid the risk of future cash flows fluctuations. 

(d) Remeasurements of defined benefit pension plan
Remeasurements of defined benefit pension plan are mainly the effects of differences between the actuarial assumptions at the beginning of the year 
and their actual results, and the effects of changes in actuarial assumptions. 

23 Dividends

Dividends to common shareholders are as follows:

(1) Dividends paid

For the year ended March 31, 2021

Resolution Type

Aggregate amount of  
dividends  

(Millions of yen)
Dividends per share 

(Yen) Record date Effective date

June 17, 2020 
General meeting of shareholders  
  (Note 1, 2) Common stock ¥137,995 ¥60 March 31, 2020 June 18, 2020

October 30, 2020 
Board of directors (Note 1, 2) Common stock 138,004 60 September 30, 2020 December 2, 2020
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For the year ended March 31, 2022

Resolution Type

Aggregate amount of  
dividends  

(Millions of yen)
Dividends per share 

(Yen) Record date Effective date

June 23, 2021  
General meeting of shareholders 
  (Note 1, 2) Common stock ¥136,524 ¥60 March 31, 2021 June 24, 2021

October 29, 2021 
Board of directors (Note 1, 2) Common stock 134,823 60 September 30, 2021 December 1, 2021

Notes: 1. �Dividends of the Company’s shares owned by the executive compensation BIP trust and stock grants ESOP trust are not included in the aggregate amount of the dividends 
above.

	 2. �Other than that above, the Company also paid dividends to beneficiaries of the executive compensation BIP trust and stock grants ESOP trust in the year ended March 31, 
2021 and 2022. 

(2) �Dividends whose record date is in the current fiscal year but whose effective date is in the following fiscal year are as follows:

For the year ended March 31, 2021

Resolution Type

Aggregate amount  
of dividends  

(Millions of yen)
Source of  
dividends

Dividends per 
share  
(Yen) Record date Effective date

June 23, 2021
General meeting of shareholders  
  (Note 1, 2) Common stock ¥136,524

Retained  
earnings ¥60 March 31, 2021 June 24, 2021

For the year ended March 31, 2022

Resolution Type

Aggregate amount  
of dividends  

(Millions of yen)
Source of  
dividends

Dividends per 
share  
(Yen) Record date Effective date

June 22, 2022
General meeting of shareholders  
  (Note 1, 2) Common stock ¥143,988

Retained  
earnings ¥65 March 31, 2022 June 23, 2022

Notes:	1. �Dividends of the Company’s shares owned by the executive compensation BIP trust and stock grants ESOP trust are not included in the aggregate amount of the dividends 
above.

	 2. �Other than that above, the Company also paid dividends to beneficiaries of the executive compensation BIP trust and stock grants ESOP trust in the year ended March 31, 
2021 and 2022. 

24 Revenue

(1) Division of revenues

The Group divides revenues from contracts with customers into five categories depending on the contract: mobile telecommunications services and 
multi-brand value-added services, fixed-line telecommunications services, business services and other services. Profit from each segment is divided 
as follows.

 The name for some product and services were changed based on multi-brand strategy in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2022. Accordingly, 
Product / Service is presented based on the name after the change. There is no change in the numerical definition.

For the year ended March 31, 2021

Segment Product / Service Millions of yen

Personal Services ¥4,506,412

Mobile communications revenues 1,722,034

Multi-Brand value-added revenues 581,159

Fixed-line telecommunications 814,059

Others 1,389,160

Business Services 784,876

Others   21,312

  Total ¥5,312,599

  Profit from contracts with customers 5,213,762

  Profit from other sources 98,837

Note: The amounts presented exclude inter-segment transactions.
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For the year ended March 31, 2022

Segment Product / Service Millions of yen

Personal Services ¥4,597,313

Mobile communications revenues 1,710,466

Multi-Brand value-added revenues 647,961

Fixed-line telecommunications	 818,371

Others 1,420,515

Business Services 828,038

Others   21,357

  Total ¥5,446,708

  Profit from contracts with customers 5,345,235

  Profit from other sources 101,472

Note: The amounts presented exclude inter-segment transactions.

(2) Outstanding contract balances

The Group’s assets and contract liabilities from contracts with customers are as follows:

For the year ended March 31, 2021
Millions of yen 

As of April 1, 2020
Millions of yen 

As of March 31, 2021

Receivables from contracts with customers ¥1,984,185 ¥2,003,196

Contract liabilities 179,950 172,558

For the year ended March 31, 2022
Millions of yen 

As of April 1, 2021
Millions of yen 

As of March 31, 2022

Receivables from contracts with customers ¥2,003,196 ¥2,032,463

Contract liabilities 172,558 157,174

The contract liabilities are earned from activation fees related to mobile communications services and “au HIKARI” brand services. Points granted to 
customers through the customer loyalty program are allocated to transaction prices based on the stand-alone selling prices of benefits with the 
advance payment.

Regarding revenue recognized for the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2022, ¥90,428 million and ¥83,842 million were included in outstanding 
contract liabilities at the beginning of the fiscal year, respectively. 

In the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021 and 2022, the revenues recognized from performance obligation fulfilled (or partially fulfilled) in the past 
period are immaterial.
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(3) Transaction amounts allocated to remaining performance obligations

The transaction amounts allocated to remaining performance obligations in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021 and 2022 are ¥132,804 million and 
¥132,985 million, respectively. The performance obligations mainly comprise the revenues from activation fees related to mobile communications 
services and “au HIKARI” brand services and assumes to be fulfilled when the service is provided. The revenues are expected to be recognized with-
in approximately six years, from March 31, 2021 and 2022. Approximately 50% of the transaction value allocated to the performance obligation is 
expected to be recognized as revenue within one year. In addition, the Group adopts the simplified method from paragraph 121 of IFRS 15 as a 
practical expedient and has not included information related to remaining performance obligations that have an original expected duration of one 
year or less.

(4) Assets recognized from the costs to obtain or fulfill contracts with customers

The Group’s assets recognized from contract costs are as follows:
Millions of yen 

AS of March 31, 2021
Millions of yen 

AS of March 31, 2022

Costs to obtain contracts ¥410,203 ¥490,031

Costs to fulfill contracts 56,113 58,672

The portion expected to be recovered from the incremental costs to obtain contracts with customers and the costs directly related to fulfilling con-
tracts is capitalized and recorded under contract costs in the consolidated statement of financial position. Incremental costs to obtain contracts 
comprise costs to obtain contracts with customers that would not have been incurred had the contracts not been obtained.

Incremental costs to obtain contracts that are capitalized are mainly sales commissions to agencies like au shop incurred when contracts are 
obtained. Costs to fulfill contracts mainly comprise necessary set-up and other fees incurred between the receipt of an application and the start of 
services. These capitalized costs comprise incremental costs that would not have been incurred had telecommunications contracts not been 
obtained. Furthermore, when capitalizing these costs, only the amount expected to be recovered is recognized after taking into account the estimat-
ed contract period for the telecommunications contracts. The resulting assets are amortized on a straight-line basis in line with the main estimated 
contract period for users of each service.

These assets are amortized on a straight-line basis based on three to four years of estimated contract period in the fiscal year ended March 31, 
2021 and 2022.

The Group determines the recoverability of capitalized contract costs when they are capitalized and re-evaluates this each quarter. Specifically, the 
Group determines whether or not the book value of the assets exceeds the remaining amount of consideration the company expects to receive 
based on the telecommunications contract over the estimated contract period less the costs directly related to providing the service that have not 
yet been recognized as expenses. If the scenario used in estimates and assumptions changes, an impairment loss related to the asset is recognized 
in net profit or loss. This could therefore have a material impact on the value of assets capitalized from contract costs. Accordingly, the Group 
regards these estimates as material.

The amortization costs incurred from these assets in the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2022 amounted to ¥199,932 million and ¥211,812 mil-
lion, respectively, and the impairment losses are not recognized. 

25 Expenses by Nature

Expenses by nature that constitute cost of sales and selling, general and administrative expenses are as follows:
Millions of yen

For the year ended March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Handset sales cost, repair cost ¥   678,127 ¥   702,641

Depreciation and amortization 727,438 727,779

Communication equipment usage fee and rentals 324,276 332,953

Staff cost 450,831 461,176

Operations outsourcing 333,455 332,509

Sales commission 336,138 360,590

Power retail sales cost 381,983 410,175

Advertising expense 97,541 113,728

Other (Note) 962,621 965,578

  Total ¥4,292,410 ¥4,407,127

Note: Other mainly consists of maintenance costs for communication equipment and rent, etc.
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26 Other Income and Other Expense

(1) The analysis of other income

The analysis of other income is as follows:
Millions of yen

For the year ended March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Subsidy income, etc. ¥  5,044 ¥  2,902

Gain on sale of fixed assets 2,676 1,658

Compensation income, etc. 857 797

Income from recovery of bad debts 855 786

Other 7,704 14,859

  Total ¥17,136 ¥21,001

(2) The analysis of other expense

The analysis of other expense is as follows:
Millions of yen

For the year ended March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Reduction entry of land contribution for construction ¥       4 ¥     10

Loss on sale of fixed assets 425 265

Other 4,386 5,506

  Total ¥4,815 ¥5,781

27 Finance Income and Finance Cost

(1) The analysis of finance income

The analysis of finance income is as follows:
Millions of yen

For the year ended March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Interest income: 
  Financial assets at amortized cost ¥   529 ¥   537

Dividend income: 
  Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 3,148 5,989

Gain on foreign currency exchange 2,497 3,037

Other 364 639

      Total ¥6,539 ¥10,202

(2) The analysis of finance cost

The analysis of finance cost is as follows:
Millions of yen

For the year ended March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Interest expense:

  Financial liabilities at amortized cost ¥6,122 ¥6,067

  Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

    Derivatives 807 615

Other 1,382 1,065

      Total ¥8,311 ¥7,746
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28 Other Non-Operating Profit

The analysis of other non-operating profit is as follows:
Millions of yen

For the year ended March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Gain or loss on change in equity ¥1,418 ¥1,309

Gain or loss on sales of stocks of subsidiaries and affiliates 1,016 139

      Total ¥2,433 ¥1,448

29 Other Comprehensive Income

Amounts arising during the year, amounts transferred to profit and tax effect included in other comprehensive income of the Group are as follows:
Millions of yen

For the year ended March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss 

  Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability (asset)

    Gain (loss) arising during the year ¥67,203 ¥  7,566

    Tax effect (21,097) (2,365) 

    After tax effect 46,106 5,201

  Net change in financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

    Gain (loss) arising during the year 37,332 13,560

    Tax effect (11,246) (4,559) 

    After tax effect 26,086 9,001

  Share of investments accounted for using the equity method

    Gain (loss) arising during the year 254 (6)

    After tax effect 254 (6)

      Total 72,445 14,195

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss 

  Changes in fair value of cash flow hedge

    Gain (loss) arising during the year 945 2,870

    Transferred to profit for the year 1,103 621 

    Before tax effect 2,048 3,491 

    Tax effect (613) (1,068)

    After tax effect 1,436 2,422 

  Exchange differences on translating foreign operations 

    Gain (loss) arising during the year 15,174 23,892

    Transferred to profit for the year —  (1) 

    Before tax effect 15,174 23,891

    After tax effect 15,174 23,891

  Share of investments accounted for using the equity method

    Gain (loss) arising during the year (322) 1,003

    Transferred to profit for the year — (22) 

    After tax effect (322) 981 

      Total 16,288 27,294

      Total other comprehensive income ¥88,733 ¥41,490
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30 Cash Flow

An analysis of net debt and the movements in net debt for the periods presented are as follows:
Millions of yen

Cash/current 
bank account Lease liabilities

Borrowings due 
within 1 year

Borrowings due 
after 1 year Bonds

Hedge assets 
held for borrow.  
Due after 1 year

Net debt as of April 1, 2020 ¥369,202 ¥379,554 ¥       — ¥931,591 ¥369,222 ¥(4,553)

Cash flows 437,670 (133,226) 19,517 (35,801) (40,000) —

Acquisitions — 150,584 — — — —

Foreign exchange adjustments 2,930 (170) — — — —

Fair value movements — — — — — 969

Other non-cash movements — 4,183 — (135) 162 —

Net debt as of April 1, 2021 809,802 400,925 19,517 895,655 329,384 (3,584)

Cash flows (20,201) (130,848) 36,517 (73,375) — —

Acquisitions — 117,985 — — — —

Foreign exchange adjustments 7,012 (613) — — — —

Fair value movements — — — — — 1,387

Other non-cash movements — 4,536 — 264 159 —

Net debt as of  March 31, 2022 ¥796,613 ¥391,984 ¥56,034 ¥822,544 ¥329,543 ¥(2,197)

Note: Borrowings includes the liabilities generated from operating activities.
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31 Financial Instruments

(1) Risk management

The Group’s operating activities are subject to influence from the busi-
ness and financial market environment. Financial instruments held or 
assumed in the course of business are exposed to risks inherent in 
those instruments. Such risks include (i) Credit risk, (ii) Liquidity risk and 
(iii) Market risk. The Group has a risk management program in place to 
minimize effects on the Group’s financial position and results of opera-
tions through establishing an internal management system and using 
financial instruments. Specifically, the Group manages these risks by 
using methods as described below.

i Credit risk management
(a) Credit risks of financial assets owned by the Company
Credit risk is the risk that a party to the Group’s financial instrument will 
cause a financial loss for the Group by failing to discharge its contractu-
al obligation. Specifically, the Group is exposed to the following credit 
risks. Trade, lease, other receivables and loans for financial business of 
the Group are exposed to the credit risk of our customers. The debt 
securities held for surplus investment are exposed to the issuer’s credit 
risk related to the deterioration of its financial condition. In addition, 
derivatives used by the Group to hedge exchange risk and interest rate 
risk and bank balances are exposed to the credit risk of the financial 
institutions that are counterparties to these transactions.

(b) Responses to the risk owned by the Company 
With regard to credit risks to the customer, the Group has a system in 
place for assessing credit status as well as performing term administra-
tion and balance management for each counterparty based on the 
credit management guidelines of each Group company. 

With regard to lease, other receivables and loans for financial busi-
ness, the Group determines there has been a significant increase in 
credit risk of the financial assets since initial recognition in case the cash 
collection of the financial assets was delayed (as well as the case of 
request for grace period) after the trade date. However, even when late 
payment or request for grace period occurs, the Group does not deter-
mine that there has been a significant increase in credit risk if such late 
payment or request for grace period would be attributable to temporary 
cash shortage, the risk of default would be low, and the objective data 
such as external credit ratings reveals their ability to fulfil the obligation 
of contractual cash flow in the near future. 

With regard to debt securities, the Group determines there has been 
a significant increase in its credit risk since initial recognition when the 
Group evaluates the risk of default is high based upon rating informa-
tion provided by major rating agencies.

Expected credit loss is recognized and measured thorough transac-
tions and financial information available in the course of such credit risk 
management, while taking macroeconomic condition such as the num-
ber of bankruptcies and actual or expected significant changes in the 
operating results of the debtor into consideration. Regardless of the 
analysis above, a significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a 
debtor is more than 30 days past due in making a contractual payment.

A default occurs when a debtor to a financial asset fails to make con-
tractual payments within 90 days of when they fall due.

The Group directly writes off the gross carrying amount of the cred-
it-impaired financial assets when all or part of the financial assets are 
evaluated to be uncollectible and determined that it is appropriate to be 
written off as a result of credit check. 

The Group’s receivables have no significantly concentrated credit risk 
exposure to any single counterparty or any group of counterparties.

The Group considers that there is substantially low credit risk result-
ing from counterparty default because counterparties of the Group’s 
derivatives and bank transactions are limited to high credit quality finan-
cial institutions. For surplus investments and derivative transactions, the 
finance and accounting department, following internal rules of each 
Group company and accompanying regulations that prescribe details, 
arranges to have each transaction approved by an authorized person 
as designated in the authorization regulation on a transaction-to-trans-
action basis so that the Group can minimize credit risk. Counterparties 
to those transactions are limited to financial institutions with high credit 
rating.

Measurement of expected credit losses on trade receivables
As trade receivables do not contain a significant financing component, 
the Group measures loss allowance at an amount equal to the lifetime 
expected credit losses until the trade receivables are recovered. With 
regard to performing trade receivables, loss allowance is recognized by 
estimating the expected credit losses based on historical credit loss 
experience and forward-looking information for the tenor of each trade 
receivables. 

Measurement of expected credit losses on lease, other receivables 
and loans for financial business 
When credit risk related to lease and other receivables has not 
increased significantly since the initial recognition at the end of the 
reporting period, the Group calculates the amount of loss allowance of 
the financial instruments by estimating the 12-month expected credit 
losses collectively based upon both historical credit loss experience and 
forward-looking information.

On the other hand, when a significant increase in credit risk since ini-
tial recognition as of the end of fiscal year is presumed, the Group esti-
mates the lifetime credit losses on the financial instruments individually 
and measures the amount of loss allowance based on historical credit 
loss experience and forward-looking information.

Measurement of the expected credit losses on other investments 
(debt securities)
When credit risk related to debt securities has not increased significant-
ly since initial recognition at the end of the reporting period, the Group 
calculates the amount of loss allowance of the financial instruments by 
estimating the 12-month expected credit losses. 

On the other hand, when a significant increase in credit risk since ini-
tial recognition as of the end of fiscal year is presumed, the Group esti-
mates the lifetime credit losses on the financial instruments and 
measures the amount of loss allowance based on historical credit loss 
experience and forward-looking information. 
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(c)  Quantitative and qualitative information on the amounts arising from expected credit losses
Loss allowance for trade receivables

Millions of yen

Measured at the amount 
equal to the lifetime 

expected credit losses

Balance as of April 1, 2020 ¥31,521

  Increase during the year 25,465

  Decrease during the year (reversal) (13,100)

  Decrease during the year (intended use) (15,546)

  Other 809 

Balance as of March 31, 2021 29,149

  Increase during the year 28,834

  Decrease during the year (reversal) (14,957) 

  Decrease during the year (intended use) (12,072)

  Other 101

Balance as of March 31, 2022 ¥31,055 

Loss allowance and reversal of loss allowance are recorded in “selling, general and administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of 
income.

There is no contractual, uncollected balance for financial assets written off during the fiscal years ended March 31, 2021 and 2022 respectively, 
for which collecting efforts are still being made.

There are no significant loss allowances for lease receivables, other receivables, loans for financial business and other investments (debt 
securities).

(d)  Maximum exposure to credit risks
The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risks is as follows.

The Group’s maximum credit risk exposure (gross) represents the amount of the maximum exposure with respect to credit risks without taking into 
account any collateral held or other credit enhancement. 

Maximum exposure for trade receivables
For the year ended March 31, 2021

Millions of yen

Current
More than 30 days 

past due
More than 90 days 

 past due Total

Gross carrying amount ¥2,205,546 ¥11,287 ¥41,447 ¥2,258,280

Expected loss rate 0.3% 15.9% 48.4% —

Loss allowance 7,277 1,796 20,076 29,149

For the year ended March 31, 2022
Millions of yen

Current
More than 30 days 

past due
More than 90 days 

 past due Total

Gross carrying amount ¥2,235,392 ¥16,801 ¥90,855 ¥2,343,048

Expected loss rate 0.3% 9.3% 25.4% —

Loss allowance 6,410 1,564 23,081 31,055

Note: There is no collateral and other credit enhancement owned by the Group.
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ii. Liquidity risk management
The Group is exposed to liquidity risk that the Group may be unable to meet the obligations such as notes and trade payables. 

The Group finances necessary funds through bank borrowings, bond issuances and liquidation of receivables in the context of its capital expendi-
ture project mainly to conduct telecommunications businesses. Any excess funds incurred are invested in short-term deposits etc.

Most of the trade and other payables are payable within one year. The Group’s current liabilities including such trade payables are exposed to 
liquidity risk at the time of settlement, however, the Group avoids the risk using methods such as monthly financial planning review conducted by 
each Group company. In addition, to manage liquidity risk, the Group aims for continuously stable cash management through monitoring account 
activity by preparing monthly cash flow projection, and maintains liquidity at certain level. The Group has short-term deposits etc. that is considered 
to be readily convertible into cash to address liquidity risk. Please refer to “Note 13. Cash and cash equivalents” for details.

Long-term financing is conducted following approval by the Board of Directors of the annual financial plan prepared by the finance and accounting 
department. The Group minimizes its liquidity risk by entering into a number of long- and short-term unexpended commitment line contracts with 
domestic dominant financial institutions and leading financial institutions in foreign countries in addition to uncommitted credit facilities.

(a) Maturity analysis 
The following tables analyse the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities and derivative financial liabilities to be settled on a net basis by category 
based on the remaining periods to contractual maturity at the end of each fiscal year. Amounts shown in the tables below are contractual undis-
counted cash flows.

As of March 31, 2021
Millions of yen

Carrying 
amount

Contractual 
cash flow

Within  
one year

Over one year 
to two years

Over two 
years to 

three years

Over three  
years to  

four years

Over four 
years to  

five years
Over five 

years

Non-derivative financial liabilities

  Trade and other payables ¥   754,345 ¥   754,345 ¥   747,728 ¥    1,620 ¥    1,646 ¥    1,303 ¥    1,302 ¥       745

  Short-term borrowings 19,517 19,517 19,517 — — — — —

  Long-term borrowings 895,655 903,357 75,905 152,789 230,192 129,090 130,546 184,835

  Bonds payable 329,384 335,004 993 50,993 70,983 60,578 30,458 121,001

  Deposits for financial business 1,850,090 1,851,599 1,818,812 10,842 2,045 1,049 1,088 17,763

  Lease liabilities 400,925 407,593 140,307 80,218 58,752 39,828 24,439 64,049

    Sub total 4,249,916 4,271,415 2,803,262 296,461 363,618 231,849 187,833 388,393

Derivative financial liabilities (Note)

  Foreign exchange swaps 1,164 1,164 1,164 — — — — —

  Interest rate swaps 4,075 4,075 491 — 1,586 — 1,998 —

    Sub total 5,239 5,239 1,655 — 1,586 — 1,998 —

    Total ¥4,255,155 ¥4,276,655 ¥2,804,917 ¥296,461 ¥365,204 ¥231,849 ¥189,830 ¥388,393

Note: Credits and debts resulting from derivative transactions are presented on a net basis.

As of March 31, 2022
Millions of yen

Carrying 
amount

Contractual 
cash flow

Within
one year

Over one year 
to two years

Over two 
years to 

three years

Over three 
years to 

four years

Over four 
years to 

five years
Over five 

years

Non-derivative financial liabilities

  Trade and other payables ¥   834,496 ¥   834,496 ¥   831,278 ¥    2,949 ¥       165 ¥           9 ¥           5 ¥         90

  Short-term borrowings 56,034 56,034 56,034 — — — — —

  Long-term borrowings 822,544 831,251 167,820 195,462 149,633 130,988 78,534 108,814

  Bonds payable 329,543 334,011 50,993 70,983 60,578 30,458 30,348 90,653

  Deposits for financial business 2,217,505 2,219,388 2,186,136 143 3,158 145 1,329 28,476

  Lease liabilities 391,984 392,509 114,106 84,881 57,903 38,101 25,868 71,649

    Sub total 4,652,104 4,667,689 3,406,367 354,418 271,437 199,701 136,084 299,682

Derivative financial liabilities (Note)

  Foreign exchange swaps 1,275 1,275 1,275 — — — — —

  Interest rate swaps 3,542 3,542 1,345 901 — 1,296 — —

    Sub total 4,817 4,817 2,620 901 — 1,296 — —

    Total ¥4,656,922 ¥4,672,507 ¥3,408,986 ¥355,319 ¥271,437 ¥200,997 ¥136,084 ¥299,682

Note: Credits and debts resulting from derivative transactions are presented on a net basis.
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iii Market risk management
Market risk management consists of (a) Exchange risk management, (b) Interest rate risk management and (c) Price risk management of equity 
instruments. A certain subsidiaries manage market risk by measuring their market risk volume using value at risk (VaR) on a daily basis.

To calculate VaR, the subsidiaries use the historical simulation approach (six-month holding period, 99% confidence interval). As of the previous 
fiscal year-end (March 31, 2021), overall market risk amounted to ¥3,105 million. As of March 31, 2022, overall market risk amounted to ¥3,177 mil-
lion. VaR measures market risk using a certain statistically calculated probability based on past market variability. However, it is not always possible 
to ascertain risk in a market environment undergoing drastic changes that would ordinarily be inconceivable.

(a) Exchange risk 
The Group is exposed to exchange rate fluctuation risk (“exchange risk”) that results from translating foreign currency denominated trade receivables 
arising from transactions that the Group conducted using non-functional currencies into their functional currencies at the exchange rate prevailing at 
the end of reporting period.

The Group also operates in foreign countries. Currently, the Group is developing international businesses through capital contribution and estab-
lishment of joint ventures in Asia (Singapore and China etc.), North America and Europe etc. As a result of these international operating activities, the 
Group is exposed to various exchange risks primarily related to the U.S. dollar.

A certain subsidiary hedges exchange fluctuation risk by adopting forward exchange contracts as derivative transactions. The purpose is to fix the 
exchange fluctuation for broadcasting right related to foreign programs. For derivative transactions, the Company develops implementation plans on 
a transaction-to-transaction basis following internal rules approved by the Board of Directors, and obtains approval as stipulated in the authorization 
regulation, before conducting the transactions. The Group’s policy is to use derivative transactions only to avoid risk and conduct no speculative 
transactions in order to gain trading profits.

(i) Sensitivity analysis of exchange rate 
Sensitivity analysis of the impact of the 10% appreciation of the Japanese yen against the U.S. dollar, Pound and Euro at the end of each fiscal year 
against profit before tax of the Group is as follows.

This analysis assumes that all other variables (balance, interest etc.) are held constant, and the sensitivity analysis below does not contain impacts 
of translation of financial instruments denominated in functional currencies, and impacts of translation of revenues and expenses, assets and liabili-
ties of foreign operations into presentation currency.

Millions of yen

For the year ended March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Profit before tax

  U.S. dollar ¥(2,051) ¥(2,255)

  Pound (1,441) (1,789)

  Euro (1,079) (1,154)

    Total ¥(4,572) ¥(5,197)

If the Japanese yen depreciate 10% against the U.S. dollar, Pound and Euro and all other variables are held constant at the end of each fiscal year, 
the impact on the Group’s profit or loss would be the exact reserve of the figures presented above assuming. 

(ii) Derivatives (forward foreign exchange contracts, foreign exchange swaps)
Details of major exchange contracts existed at March 31, 2021 and 2022 are as follows:

Derivatives designated as hedges
Certain subsidiaries of the Group is to apply hedge accounting to foreign exchange risk

Millions of yen

FY21.3 FY22.3

Contractual amount Fair value Contractual amount Fair value 

As of March 31 Total Over one year Assets Liabilities Total Over one year Assets Liabilities

Forward foreign exchange contracts ¥22,910 ¥1,668 ¥1,028 ¥5 ¥47,007 ¥9,568 ¥3,130 ¥10

Millions of yen

As of March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Carrying amount ¥  1,023 ¥  3,120

Contractual amount 22,910 47,007

Maturity date April 2021–March 2023 April 2022-December 2027

Hedge ratio (Note 1) 1 1

Change in intrinsic value of outstanding hedging instrument 875 2,097

Change in value of hedge item used to determine hedge effectiveness (875) (2,097)

Notes: 	1. �Since the Group enters into the foreign exchange contracts in the same currency that future purchase transactions are highly likely to occur, the hedge ratio of foreign exchange 
contracts is one-to-one.

	 2. �The Group does not have a non-effective portion of the hedge.
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Derivatives not designated as hedges
Millions of yen

FY21.3 FY22.3

Contractual amount Fair value Contractual amount Fair value 

As of March 31 Total Over one year Assets Liabilities Total Over one year Assets Liabilities

Forward foreign exchange contracts ¥122,944 ¥       — ¥(835) ¥2,430 ¥         — ¥       — ¥    — ¥      —

Foreign exchange swaps 55,556 55,556 (376) 379 127,095 — (354) 4,285

(b) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is defined as the risk that market interest rate fluctuation results in changes in fair value of financial instruments or future cash flows 
arising from financial instruments. The interest rate risk exposure of the Group mainly relates to payables such as borrowings or bonds, and receiv-
ables such as interest-bearing deposits. As amount of interest is influenced by market interest rate fluctuation, the Group is exposed to interest rate 
risk resulting from changes in future cash flows of interest.

The Group finances funds through bond issuance at fixed interest rates in order to avoid future increase in interest payments, primarily resulting 
from rising interest rates.

Certain subsidiaries stabilize their cash flows by using interest rate swap transactions to minimize interest rate risk on borrowings.

(i) Sensitivity analysis of interest rate
Sensitivity analysis of the impact of a 1% increase in interest rates at the end of each fiscal year against profit before tax of the Group is as follows. 
This analysis assumes that all other variables (balance, exchange rate etc.) are held constant. 

Millions of yen

For the year ended March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Profit before tax ¥(198) ¥0

(ii) �Derivatives (interest swap contracts)
In interest swap contracts, the Group enters into agreements to exchange the differences between fixed rate and floating rate interest amounts cal-
culated by reference to an agreed notional principal amount. Using these contracts, the Group minimizes its risk of cash flows fluctuations arising 
from floating rate borrowings. 

Derivatives designated as hedges
Millions of yen

FY21.3 FY22.3

Contractual amount Fair value Contractual amount Fair value

As of March 31 Total Over one year Assets Liabilities Total Over one year Assets Liabilities

Interest rate swap ¥140,000 ¥130,000 ¥— ¥3,556 ¥130,000 ¥130,000 ¥— ¥2,197

Millions of yen

As of March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Carrying amount ¥   (3,556) ¥   (2,197)

Contractual amount 140,000 130,000

Maturity date December 2023–December 2025 December 2023–December 2025

Hedge ratio (Note 1) 1 1

Change in intrinsic value of outstanding hedging instrument 944 1,387

Change in value of hedge item used to determine hedge effectiveness (944) (1,387)

Notes: 	1. �Since the Group runs the borrowing (hedged item) and interest rate swap transaction (hedging instrument) in the same amount, hedge ratio of interest rate swap transaction is 
one-to-one.

	 2. The Group does not have any non-effective portion of the hedge.

Derivatives not designated as hedges
Millions of yen

FY21.3 FY22.3

Contractual amount Fair value Contractual amount Fair value

As of March 31 Total Over one year Assets Liabilities Total Over one year Assets Liabilities

Interest rate swap ¥— ¥— ¥— ¥— ¥76,986 ¥76,986 ¥(1,269) ¥1,278
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(c) Price risk management of equity instruments
Price risk of equity instruments is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk). The Group is exposed to such price risk as it holds equity instruments. 

To manage price risk arising from those equity instruments, the corporate finance and accounting department documents policies of investment in 
the equity instruments and the entire Group complies with those policies. For material investments, it is obliged to report to and obtain approval from 
the Board of Directors in a timely manner. To manage those equity instruments, the Group continuously reviews its holdings by monitoring market 
value and the financial condition of the issuer (counterparty) taking into account the market condition and the relationship with the counterparty.

(i) Sensitivity analysis of price of equity instruments
Sensitivity analysis of the impact of the 10% decrease in the price of equity instruments at the end of each fiscal year against other comprehensive 
income of the Group (before tax effect) is as follows:

This analysis is on presumption that all other variables (balance, exchange rate etc.) are held constant.
Millions of yen

For the year ended March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Accumulated other comprehensive income (before tax effect) ¥(11,555) ¥(13,789)

(2) Capital management

The Group seeks to realize sustainable medium- and long-term growth 
and maximize its corporate value. To achieve those objectives, the 
Group’s basic policy for equity risk management is to maintain ade-
quate equity structure while monitoring capital cost, along with 

maintaining current fund-raising capability and ensuring financial sound-
ness. Major performance benchmarks used by the Group to manage its 
equity are Ratio of equity attributable to owners of the parent and debt / 
equity ratio (“D/E ratio”).

Ratio of equity attributable to owners of the parent and D/E ratio at the end of each fiscal year are as follows: 

As of March 31 Unit FY21.3 FY22.3

Ratio of equity attributable to owners of the parent (Note 1) % 45.2 45.0

D/E ratio (debt / equity ratio) (Note 2) ratio 0.35 0.32

Notes: 	1. �Ratio of equity attributable to owners of the parent : Equity attributable to owners of the parent / Total assets ×100 
	 2. �D/E ratio (debt / equity ratio): Interest bearing debt / Equity attributable to owners of the parent

As of March 31, 2021 and 2022, the Group meets the material capital controls applicable to the Group (excluding general rules such as the 
Companies Act etc.). 

(3) Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities

Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group is as follows:

As of March 31, 2021
Millions of yen

Carrying amount

Financial assets at 
amortized cost 

Financial assets at fair 
value through other 

comprehensive income

Financial assets  
at fair value through  

profit or loss Total

Financial assets:

  Non-current assets:

    Long-term loans for financial business ¥1,148,700 ¥         — ¥   106 ¥1,148,805

    Securities for financial businesses — 276,065 — 276,065

    Other long-term financial assets 147,812 177,224 164 325,201

  Current assets:

    Trade and other receivables 2,229,435 — — 2,229,435

    Short-term loans for financial business 233,605 — — 233,605

    Call loan 33,846 — — 33,846

    Other short-term financial assets 64,668 — 5,287 69,955

    Cash and cash equivalents 809,802 — — 809,802

      Total ¥4,667,868 ¥453,289 ¥5,557 ¥5,126,714
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Millions of yen

Carrying amount

Financial liabilities at 
amortized cost 

Financial liabilities at fair 
value through other 

comprehensive income

Financial liabilities  
at fair value through  

profit or loss Total

Financial liabilities:

  Non-current liabilities:

    Borrowings and bonds payable ¥1,151,664 ¥— ¥      — ¥1,151,664

    Long-term deposits for financial business 32,850 — — 32,850

    Lease liabilities 288,650 — — 288,650

    Other long-term financial liabilities 10,588 — 3,584 14,172

  Current liabilities:

    Borrowings and bonds payable 92,892 — — 92,892

    Trade and other payables 754,345 — — 754,345

    Short-term deposits for financial business 1,817,240 — — 1,817,240

    Call money 115,815 — — 115,815

    Lease liabilities 112,275 — — 112,275

    Other short-term financial liabilities — — 1,655 1,655

      Total ¥4,376,319 ¥— ¥5,239 ¥4,381,558

As of March 31, 2022
Millions of yen

Carrying amount

Financial assets at 
amortized cost

Financial assets at fair 
value through other 

comprehensive income

Financial assets  
at fair value through 

profit or loss Total

Financial assets:

  Non-current assets:

    Long-term loans for financial business ¥1,328,363 ¥         — ¥  6,747 ¥1,335,111

    Securities for financial business — 338,285 — 338,285

    Other long-term financial assets 129,576 199,607 85 329,268

  Current assets:

    Trade and other receivables 2,311,694 — — 2,311,694

    Short-term loans for financial business 255,266 — — 255,266

    Call loans 45,064 — — 45,064

    Other short-term financial assets 53,762 — 13,392 67,154

    Cash and cash equivalents 796,613 — — 796,613

      Total ¥4,920,338 ¥537,892 ¥20,224 ¥5,478,455
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Millions of yen

Carrying amount

Financial liabilities at 
amortized cost 

Financial liabilities at fair 
value through other 

comprehensive income

Financial liabilities  
at fair value through 

profit or loss Total

Financial liabilities:

  Non-current liabilities:

    Borrowings and bonds payable ¥   921,616 ¥— ¥     — ¥   921,616

    Long-term deposits for financial business 33,240 — — 33,240

    Lease liabilities 279,265 — — 279,265

    Other long-term financial liabilities 12,001 — 2,197 14,198

  Current liabilities:

    Borrowings and bonds payable 286,505 — — 286,505

    Trade and other payables 834,496 — — 834,496

    Short-term deposits for financial business 2,184,264 — — 2,184,264

    Call money 141,348 — — 141,348

    Lease liabilities 112,719 — — 112,719

    Other short-term financial liabilities — — 2,620 2,620

      Total ¥4,805,452 ¥— ¥4,817 ¥4,810,270

Notes: �Effective from the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended March 31, 2022, au Jibun Bank Corporation has changed its management for housing loan receivables from a manage-
ment aimed at collecting receivables to a management aimed at sustainable business development and securing a stable revenue base through the collection of receivables, 
resulting in a change in business model. 
     In accordance with the change in business model, effective April 1, 2022, the measurement category of loans for financial business, which is categorized in financial assets at 
amortized cost, will be changed to financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. For details of the measurement method for each category, please refer to “3. Significant 
Accounting Policies (11) Financial Instruments.” The amount to be reclassified as of April 1, 2022 is ¥1,362,678 million.

(4) Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

The Group owns the equity instruments listed above as investment to maintain and strengthen the business relationship with investees, and there-
fore classifies them as financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income.

i. The analysis and fair value by description of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
The analysis and dividends received related to financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income are as follows:

Millions of yen

As of March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Fair value

  Listed equities ¥115,552 ¥137,893

  Unlisted equities 61,672 61,714

    Total ¥177,224 ¥199,607

Millions of yen

For the year ended March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Dividends received

  Listed equities ¥2,169 ¥2,597

  Unlisted equities 911 3,390

    Total ¥3,080 ¥5,987
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Major description of investments in financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income is as follows:
Millions of yen

As of March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Listed equities

  TOYOTA MOTOR CORPORATION ¥  68,881 ¥  88,839

  LAWSON, Inc. 11,457 9,864

  GREE, Inc. 4,472 8,696

  PIA Corporation 4,807 5,184

  JTOWER Inc. — 4,007

  gremz,Inc. 3,234 3,829

  Internet Initiative Japan Inc. 2,182 3,448

  Japan Airport Terminal Co., Ltd. 3,313 3,404

  J-Stream Inc. 7,302 2,379

  Finatext Holdings Ltd. — 2,306

  Other 9,904 5,937

    Sub total 115,552 137,893

Unlisted equities

  A-Fund, L.P. 11,965 9,406

  COMMUNITY NETWORK CENTER INCORPORATED 4,996 6,316

  Japan Platform of Industrial Transformation, Inc. 2,500 5,000

  WiL Fund II, L.P. 2,718 4,221

  Finatext Holdings Ltd. 4,600 —

  Other 34,893 36,771

    Sub total 61,672 61,714

    Total ¥177,224 ¥199,607

Notes: Finatext Holdings Ltd. was listed on December 22, 2021, and its shares were reclassified from unlisted equities to listed equities.

ii. Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income disposed during the period
The Group sells its financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income as a result of periodic review of portfolio and for the manage-
ment of risk assets. Fair value at the disposal date, accumulated gains / losses arising from sale and dividends received are as follows:

Millions of yen

For the year ended March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Fair value at the disposal date ¥4,066 ¥7,320

Accumulated gains / losses arising from sale 3,596 2,863

Dividends received 68 2

iii. Reclassification to retained earnings
The Group reclassifies accumulated gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 
income into retained earnings, when it disposes the investments, etc. Accumulated gains or losses, net of tax, reclassified from accumulated other 
comprehensive income into retained earnings are ¥2,645 million and ¥2,813 million, respectively, for the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2022.

(5) Analysis of gains and losses arising from derecognition of financial assets measured at amortized cost and the reason for derecognition

Millions of yen

Gains and losses arising from derecognition of financial 
assets measured at amortized cost ( ( ):losses)

For the year ended March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Loans for financial business ¥6,996 ¥11,647

In the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021 and 2022, au Jibun Bank Corporation derecognizes a portion of the loans for financial business listed on its 
consolidated balance sheet due to the sale of housing loan obligations.
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32 Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The financial instruments that are measured at fair value are classified into 3 levels of fair value hierarchy according to the observability and signifi-
cance of the inputs used for measurement. The levels of the fair value hierarchy are defined as follows:
• Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities	
• �Level 2: �The fair value of the asset or liability measured using inputs that are observable either directly or indirectly other than quoted prices included 

within level 1
• Level 3: The fair value of the asset or liability measured using inputs that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)

The Group determines the hierarchy of the levels based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement.

(1) The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis

i. The hierarchy of the fair value
The following table presents the classification by fair value hierarchy of the financial assets and financial liabilities recognized at fair value on the con-
solidated statement of financial position.

As of March 31, 2021
Millions of yen

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Recurring fair value measurements

Financial assets:

 � Financial assets at fair value through  
  other comprehensive income

    Securities for financial business ¥257,183 ¥18,882 ¥       — ¥276,065

    Other financial assets

      Equities 115,552 — 61,672 177,224

  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

    Loans for financial business — 106 — 106

    Other financial assets

      Derivatives

        Exchange contracts — 1,027 — 1,027

        Foreign exchange swaps — 2,755 — 2,755

        Interest rate swaps — 467 — 467

      Money trusts — — — —

      Investment trusts — 1,202 — 1,202

Financial liabilities:

  Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

    Other financial liabilities

      Derivatives

        Foreign exchange swaps — 1,164 — 1,164

        Interest rate swaps — 4,075 — 4,075
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As of March 31, 2022
Millions of yen

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Recurring fair value measurements

Financial assets:

 � Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 
income

    Securities for financial business ¥317,948 ¥20,337 ¥       — ¥338,285

    Other financial assets —

      Equities 137,893 — ¥61,714 199,607

  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

    Loans for financial business — 6,747 — 6,747

    Other financial assets

      Derivatives

        Exchange contracts — 3,121 — 3,121

        Foreign exchange swaps — 5,206 — 5,206

        Interest rate swaps — 1,355 — 1,355

      Money trusts — 1,747 — 1,747

      Investment trusts — 2,049 — 2,049

Financial liabilities:

  Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

    Other financial liabilities

      Derivatives

        Foreign exchange swaps — 1,275 — 1,275

        Interest rate swaps — 3,542 — 3,542

Any significant transfers of the financial instruments between levels are evaluated at each period end. There was no significant transfer of the financial 
instruments between levels for the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2022.

ii. �Measurement method of the fair value of financial assets and 
financial liabilities 

(a) Securities for financial business
Securities for financial business are measured using quoted prices in 
active markets for identical assets if such prices are available, and are 
classified as level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. If such prices are unavail-
able, they are measured using the prices based on available information 
like brokered markets and the valuation technique based on the dis-
counted future cash flows using discounted rates reflecting risk free 
rates and credit spreads, and are classified as level 2 of the fair value 
hierarchy according to observability of inputs.

(b) Other financial assets and liabilities
(i) Equities
Listed equities are based on the prices on exchange and within level 1 
of the fair value hierarchy.

Unlisted equities are calculated by the valuation technique based on 
the discounted future cash flows, valuation technique based on the 
market prices of the comparative companies, valuation technique 
based on the net asset value and other valuation techniques, and are 
within the level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. Unobservable input such as 
discount rates and valuation multiples are used for fair value measure-
ments of unlisted equities, adjusted for certain illiquidity discounts and 
non-controlling interest discounts, if necessary.

(ii) Derivatives
Exchange contracts
The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined 
using forward exchange rates at the end of each fiscal year, with the 
resulting value discounted back to present value. The financial assets 
and financial liabilities related to exchange contracts are classified as 

level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

Foreign exchange swaps
The fair value of forward foreign exchange swap is determined using 
forward exchange rates at the end of each fiscal year, with the resulting 
value discounted back to present value. The financial assets and finan-
cial liabilities related to exchange swap are classified as level 2 of fair 
value hierarchy.

Interest rate swaps
Interest rate swaps are calculated by the present value of the future 
cash flows discounted using the interest rate adjusted for the remaining 
period until maturity and credit risk. The financial assets and financial 
liabilities related to interest rate swaps are classified as the level 2 of the 
fair value hierarchy.

(iii) Money trusts
Money trust is principally calculated by the same method as securities 
for financial business and classified as level 2 of fair value hierarchy.

(iv) Investment trusts
Investment trusts are measured using quoted prices in inactive markets 
for identical assets based on market approach, and are classified as 
level 2 of fair value hierarchy.

(c) Loans for financial business
Loans for financial business are calculated by the present value of the 
future cash flows discounted using the interest rate adjusted for the 
remaining period until maturity and credit risk, and are classified as the 
level 2 of fair value hierarchy.
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iii. Reconciliation of level 3
The following table presents the movement of financial instruments within level 3 for the year ended March 31, 2021.

Millions of yen

Financial assets measured at 
fair value through other  
comprehensive income

Equities

As of April 1, 2020 ¥44,105

  Acquisition 8,866

  Gain recognized on other comprehensive income 6,828

  Sale (1,126)

  Other 3,000

As of March 31, 2021 ¥61,672

The following table presents the movement of financial instruments within level 3 for the year ended March 31, 2022.
Millions of yen

Financial assets measured at 
fair value through other  
comprehensive income

Equities

As of April 1, 2021 ¥61,672

  Acquisition 9,247

  Gain recognized on other comprehensive income (3,533)

  Sale (3,296)

  Other (2,376)

As of March 31, 2022 ¥61,714

iv. Evaluation process of level 3
Fair value measurements of unlisted equities are performed by a management department independent from sales departments in accordance with 
the prescribed rules. Fair value measurements including fair value models are examined for the adequacy by periodically evaluating the business 
descriptions and the availability of business plans of the companies issuing the equities, as well as comparative listed companies. 

v. Quantitative information related to assets classified as level 3
Information related to evaluation technique and significant unobservable inputs of assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis classified as 
level 3 is as follows:

As of March 31, 2021
Fair value

Millions of yen Valuation technique Unobservable inputs Range

Equities ¥61,672 Income approach Discount rate 3.2%–12.0%

As of March 31, 2022
Fair value

Millions of yen Valuation technique Unobservable inputs Range

Equities ¥61,714 Income approach Discount rate 3.0%–16.6%

vi. Sensitivity analysis related to the changes in significant unobservable inputs 
For financial instruments classified as level 3, no significant changes in fair value are expected to occur as a result of changing unobservable inputs 
to other alternative assumptions that are considered reasonable.

(2) The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value but disclosed on the fair value

i. The hierarchy of the fair value
The following are the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value but disclosed on the fair value. The finan-
cial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at amortized cost are included.
   

168KDDI  Integrated Sustainability and Financial Report 2022



As of March 31, 2021
Millions of yen

Carrying amount

Fair value 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets

  Loans for financial business ¥1,382,305 ¥         — ¥1,372,083 ¥— ¥1,372,083

  Other financial assets

    Monetary claims bought 16,881 — 16,574 — 16,574

Financial liabilities

  Borrowing and bonds payable

    Borrowings 815,655 — 821,554 — 821,554

    Bonds payables 329,384 331,120 — — 331,120

  Deposits for financial business 1,850,090 — 1,851,319 — 1,851,319

Notes: 	1. Loans for financial business in the table above include their current portion. 
	 2. Borrowings and bonds payable in the table above include their current portion. 
	 3. Financial assets and financial liabilities whose fair values are similar to the carrying amounts are not included in the table above.

As of March 31, 2022
Millions of yen

Carrying amount

Fair value 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets

  Loans for financial business ¥1,583,629 ¥— ¥1,601,404 ¥— ¥1,601,404

  Other financial assets

    Monetary claims bought 13,129 — 12,527 — 12,527

Financial liabilities

  Borrowing and bonds payable

    Borrowings 742,544 — 743,873 — 743,873

    Bonds payables 329,543 330,083 — — 330,083

  Deposits for financial business 2,217,505 — 2,219,031 — 2,219,031

Notes:	1. Loans for financial business in the table above include their current portion. 
	 2. Borrowings and bonds payable in the table above include their current portion. 
	 3. Financial assets and financial liabilities whose fair values are similar to the carrying amounts are not included in the table above.

ii. Measurement method of the fair value
(a) Loans for financial business
The fair value of loans for financial business is measured at the present 
value calculated by discounting each portion of future cash flows classi-
fied by period, for the corresponding remaining maturity using the appli-
cable interest rate considering credit risk. Loans for financial business 
are classified as level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

(b) Monetary claims bought 
The fair value of monetary claims bought is measured using quoted 
prices in inactive markets for identical assets based on market 
approach and is measured at the present value calculated by discount-
ing each portion of future cash flows classified by period, for the corre-
sponding remaining maturity using the applicable interest rate 
considering credit risk. Monetary claims bought are classified as level 2 
of the fair value hierarchy.

(c) Borrowings 
For borrowings with variable interest rates, the carrying amount is used 
as fair value, as the rates reflect the market interest rate within a short 
term and there is no significant change expected in the Group entities’ 
credit conditions after financing. For borrowings with fixed interest 
rates, fair value is estimated by discounting the total of principal and 
interest using the current interest rate adjusted for the remaining 

maturity period of the borrowings and credit risk. Borrowings are classi-
fied as level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

(d) Bonds payables
For bonds payable with quoted price, the fair value is estimated based 
on quoted price. For bonds payable without quoted price, the fair value 
is calculated by the present value of future cash flows discounted using 
the interest rate adjusted for the remaining maturity period and credit 
risk. Bonds payables with quoted price are classified as level 1 of fair 
value hierarchy and bonds payables without quoted price are classified 
as level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

(e) Deposits for financial business
For demanded deposits of the deposits for financial business, amounts 
payable on request at the year-end closing date (carrying amount) are 
considered to represent fair value. The fair value of time deposits is 
measured at the present value calculated by discounting each portion 
of future cash flows classified by period. The discount rate is the inter-
est rate used when accepting new deposits. In addition, the contract 
principal and interest of time deposits classified is measured at the 
amounts after classification. Deposits for financial business are classi-
fied as level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.
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33 Commitments

Purchase commitments
Millions of yen

For the year ended March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Property, plant and equipment ¥337,306 ¥253,953

Intangible assets 14,403 14,906

  Total ¥351,708 ¥268,859

Note: These amounts above do not reflect the contents of all contracts that the Group is expected to enter into in the future.

34 Earnings Per Share

(1) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share and its calculation basis are as follows:
Millions of yen

For the year ended March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the parent ¥   651,496 ¥   672,486

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding (Thousands of shares) 2,292,738 2,241,430

Basic earnings per share ¥     284.16 ¥     300.03

(2) Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share and its calculation basis are as follows:
Millions of yen

For the year ended March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the parent ¥651,496 ¥672,486

Adjustment of profit — —

Profit used in calculation of diluted earnings per share ¥651,496 ¥672,486

Thousands of shares

For the year ended March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 2,292,738 2,241,430

Effect of dilutive potential common shares

  BIP trust and ESOP trust 1,967 2,214

Weighted average number of common shares during the year 2,294,705 2,243,645

Yen

For the year ended March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Diluted earnings per share ¥283.91 ¥299.73

Note: �In the calculation of basic earnings per share and diluted earnings per share, shares in the Company owned by the executive compensation BIP trust and the 
stock-granting ESOP trust are included in treasury stock. Therefore, the number of these shares is deducted in calculating the number of common shares outstand-
ing at the end of the year and the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year.
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35 Lease

(1) Lease as a lessee  

The Group mainly leases office space, buildings for base stations, dark fiber and in-house customer premises equipment for CATV and communica-
tion. Lease contracts for office space, buildings for base stations and dark fiber include extension and termination options. However, the Group does 
not have any lease contracts that contain restrictions or covenants.

i. Amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of financial position
Millions of yen

As of March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Right-of-use assets

  Real estate for base stations as the underlying asset ¥164,833 ¥146,818

  Transmission lines as the underlying asset 31,922 30,949

  Real estate for office and telecommunication business as the underlying asset 112,866 117,502

  Telecommunication equipment as the underlying asset 15,099 13,850

  Other underlying assets 72,052 78,550

    Total right-of-use assets ¥396,772 ¥387,669

Millions of yen

As of March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Increase of right-of-use assets ¥150,584 ¥117,985

ii. Amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of income
Millions of yen

For the year ended March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Depreciation associated with right-of-use assets

  Real estate for base stations as the underlying asset ¥53,638 ¥  54,122

  Transmission line as the underlying asset 6,523 6,186

  Real estate for office and telecommunication business as the underlying asset 35,894 36,069

  Telecommunication equipment as the underlying asset 7,733 6,986

  Other underlying assets 24,109 24,201

    Total depreciation associated with right-of-use assets ¥127,897 ¥127,564

Interest expense associated with lease liabilities 1,799 1,968

iii. Cash flows associated with leases
Millions of yen

For the year ended March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Total cash outflows associated with leases ¥135,025 ¥132,817

(2) Lease as a lessor

i. Finance lease
KDDI Summit Global Myanmar Co., Ltd. (KSGM), one of the Group’s consolidated subsidiaries, operates the telecommunication business in 
Myanmar jointly with Myanma Posts & Telecommunications (MPT), an organization under the Ministry of Transport and Communications in Myanmar. 
KSGM mainly leases telecommunication equipment to MPT classified as finance lease in the joint operation. 

(a) Income from lease
Not applicable.
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(b) Maturity analysis  
Millions of yen

As of March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Within one year ¥  41,437 ¥  40,195

Over one year to two years 33,797 27,978

Over two years to three years 22,825 17,597

Over three years to four years 13,525 10,102

Over four years to five years 6,843 4,148

Over five years 1,561 1,098

  Total ¥119,988 ¥101,118

Unearned finance income ¥ (13,235) ¥ (10,956)

Net investment in the lease 106,753 90,162

36 Non-Cash Transactions

For the fiscal years ended March 31, 2021 and 2022, non-cash transactions (investment and finance transaction that don’t require the use of cash 
and cash equivalents) comprise acquisition of right-of-use assets resulting from new leases of ¥150,584 million and ¥117,985 million, respectively. 

37 Major Subsidiaries

(1) Organizational structure

Major subsidiaries of the Group are as follows. They have share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares that are held directly by the Group, and 
the proportion of ownership interests held equals the voting rights held by the Group. The country of incorporation or registration is also their princi-
pal place of business.

As of March 31 The proportion of voting rights (%)

Company name Segment Location Key business FY21.3 FY22.3

Okinawa Cellular Telephone Company
Personal 
Services

Naha-shi, 
Okinawa

Telecommunications services  
(au mobile phone services)

52.4 52.5

JCOM., Ltd. (Note 1)
Personal 
Services

Chiyoda-ku, 
Tokyo

Management of CATV operators and 
broadcasting service providers

50.0 50.0

J:COM West Co., Ltd.
Personal 
Services

Chuo-ku, 
Osaka

Management of CATV (broadcasting 
and telecommunication business)

92.8
(92.8)

93.1
(93.1)

UQ Communications Inc. (Note 2)
Personal 
Services

Chiyoda-ku, 
Tokyo

Wireless broadband services 32.3 32.3

BIGLOBE Inc.
Personal 
Services

Shinagawa-ku, 
Tokyo

Telecommunications services under
Telecommunications Business Act

100.0 100.0

AEON Holdings Corporation of Japan
Personal 
Services

Shinjuku-ku, 
Tokyo

Operation of language schools  
starting with English conversation

100.0 100.0

Chubu Telecommunications Co., Inc.

Personal 
Services 
Business 
Services

Naka-ku, 
Nagoya-shi, 
Aichi

Telecommunications services under
Telecommunications Business Act

80.5 80.5

Wire and Wireless Co., Ltd.
Personal 
Services

Chuo-ku, 
Tokyo

Wireless broadband services 95.2 95.2

au Financial Holdings Corporation
Personal 
Services 

Chuo-ku, 
Tokyo

Holding company for financial business 100.0 100.0

Supership Holdings, Inc
Personal 
Services 

Minato-ku, 
Tokyo

Holding company of internet service 
companies

83.6 83.6

Jupiter Shop Channel Co., Ltd.
Personal 
Services

Koto-ku,  
Tokyo

Mail order services
55.0
(50.0)

55.0
(50.0)

Jupiter Entertainment Co.,Ltd.
Personal 
Services 

Chiyoda-ku, 
Tokyo

Management of TV channels
100.0
(100.0)

100.0
(100.0)
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As of March 31 The proportion of voting rights (%)

Company name Segment Location Key business FY21.3 FY22.3

ENERES Co., Ltd.
Personal 
Services 

Chiyoda-ku, 
Tokyo

Energy information business 59.0 59.0

KDDI Matomete Office Corporation
Business 
Services

Shibuya-ku, 
Tokyo

IT support services for small and 
medium-sized companies

95.0 95.0

KDDI Evolva, Inc. 
Business 
Services

Shinjuku-ku, 
Tokyo

Call center, temporary personnel 
services

100.0 100.0

Japan Internet Exchange Co., Ltd.
Business 
Services

Chiyoda-ku, 
Tokyo

Exchange port providing services for 
intenet service providers

70.7
(6.9)

70.7
(6.9)

KDDI Engineering Corporation Other
Shibuya-ku, 
Tokyo

Construction, maintenance and 
operation support for communication 
equipment

100.0 100.0

KDDI Research, Inc. Other
Fujimino-shi, 
Saitama

Technology research and product 
development related to 
telecommunication services

91.7 91.7

Kokusai Cable Ship Co.,Ltd. Other
Kawasaki-shi, 
Kanagawa

Construction and maintenance of 
submarine cable

100.0 100.0

Japan Telecommunication 
Engineering Service Co., Ltd.

Other
Shinjuku-ku, 
Tokyo

Design, construction, operation 
support and maintenance for 
communication equipment

74.3 83.2

KDDI America, Inc.
Business 
Services

New York, 
U.S.A.

Diversified telecommunications 
services in US 

100.0 100.0

KDDI Europe Limited
Business 
Services 

London, U.K.
Diversified Telecommunications 
services in Europe 

100.0
(4.2)

100.0
(4.2)

KDDI China Corporation
Business 
Services 

Beijing, China
Sales, maintenance and operation of 
communication equipment in China 

85.1 85.1

KDDI Asisa Pacific Pte Ltd.
Business 
Services 

Singapore
Diversified Telecommunications 
services in Singapore 

100.0 100.0

TELEHOUSE International 
Corporation of America

Business 
Services 

New York, 
U.S.A.

Data center services in America
70.8
(2.3)

70.8
(2.3)

TELEHOUSE Holdings Limited
Business 
Services

London, U.K. Holding company 100.0 100.0

TELEHOUSE International 
Corporation of Europe Ltd.

Business 
Services 

London, U.K. Data center services in Europe
92.8
(92.8)

92.8
(92.8)

KDDI Summit Global  
Singapore Pte. Ltd.

Personal 
Services 

Singapore Holding company 50.1 50.1

KDDI Summit Global  
Myanmar Co., Ltd.

Personal 
Services 

Yangon, 
Myanmar

Telecommunication business in 
collaboration with Myanma Posts & 
Telecommunications (MPT)

100.0
(100.0)

100.0
(100.0)

Mobicom Corporation LLC
Personal 
Services

Ulaanbaatar, 
Mongolia

Diversified telecommunications 
services in Mongolia

98.8
(98.8)

98.8
(98.8)

Numbers in parentheses represent indirect voting rights.

Notes: 	1. �The Group does not own a majority of the voting rights in JCOM., Ltd. (“JCOM”). However, the Group owns 50% of the voting rights of JCOM and has the power to govern its 
financial and operating policies. Accordingly, JCOM is controlled by the Group and included in the consolidated financial statements.

	 2. � The Group does not own a majority of the voting rights in UQ Communications Inc. (“UQ”). However, UQ is consolidated by the Group because UQ is considered to be con-
trolled by the Group on the grounds that the Group is the largest shareholder of UQ, the director dispatched from the Group has the right of representation, the directors dis-
patched from the Group have the executive power in the UQ’s Board of Directors, and the operations of UQ are significantly dependent on the Company.
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(2) Financial statements of the Group’s subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests

JCOM., Ltd., (“JCOM”).

As of March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

The proportion of ownership interests held by non-controlling interests 50.0% 50.0%

The proportion of ownership interests held by non-controlling interests held equals the voting rights by non-controlling interests.

Amounts before adjustments to internal transactions of the Group are as follows:
(a) Consolidated statements of financial position

Millions of yen

As of March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Current assets ¥   154,139 ¥   177,096

Non-current assets 1,116,346 1,133,837

Current liabilities 184,158 212,303

Non-current liabilities 662,847 637,641

Total equity ¥   423,479 ¥   460,989

Amounts equivalent to the interests in total equity of JCOM attributable to the Group, and the non-controlling interests are as follows:
Millions of yen

As of March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Interests attributable to owners of the parent ¥189,452 ¥213,466

Non-controlling interests 234,026 247,523

  Total ¥423,479 ¥460,989

(b) Consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income
Millions of yen

For the year ended March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Revenue ¥831,719 ¥842,375

Profit for the year before income tax 117,038 115,798

Income taxes 38,070 34,068

Profit, net of tax 78,968 81,730

Other comprehensive income 2,292 1,847

Total comprehensive income ¥81,259 ¥83,577

Amounts equivalent to the profit for the year and comprehensive income attributable to the Group, and the non-controlling interests are as follows: 
Millions of yen

For the year ended March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the parent ¥40,128 ¥41,746

Profit for the year attributable to non-controlling interests 38,840 39,984

  Sub total 78,968 81,730

Other comprehensive income attributable to owners of the parent 1,144 915

Other comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interests 1,148 931

  Sub total 2,292 1,847

Total comprehensive income attributable to owners of the parent 41,271 42,662

Total comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interests 39,988 40,915

  Total ¥81,259 ¥83,577

For the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2022, dividends paid by JCOM to non-controlling interests were ¥28,523 million and ¥27,113 million, 
respectively.
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(c) Consolidated statement of cash flows
Millions of yen

For the year ended March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Cash flows from operating activities (net) ¥193,827 ¥184,369

Cash flows from investing activities (net) (93,662) (92,861)

Cash flows from financing activities (net) (87,765) (80,893)

Increase (decrease) of cash and cash equivalents 12,399 10,615

38 Related Party Transactions

(1) Related party transactions

For the year ended March 31, 2021:
There are no significant related party transactions and balances to be disclosed, and the most common terms used by other entities include some-
thing like such transactions are negotiated in the ordinary course of business. 

For the year ended March 31, 2022:
There are no significant related party transactions and balances to be disclosed, and the most common terms used by other entities include some-
thing like such transactions are negotiated in the ordinary course of business.

(2) Remuneration of key management

Remuneration of key management is as follows:
Millions of yen

For the year ended March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Short-term employee benefits ¥   878 ¥   953

Share-based payment 182 186

  Total ¥1,060 ¥1,139

Remuneration of key management represents remuneration to directors and audit & supervisory board members of the Company, including outside 
directors and audit & supervisory board members. 

39 Contingent Events

Commitment line lending contract
Certain consolidated subsidiaries are engaged in consumer lending business through cash advances and credit card loans, which are related to the 
credit cards. With regard to such loans, of the amount established in a loan contract (the contracted limit), the contract allows customers to take out 
a loan at any time within the amount of credit limit approved by these consolidated subsidiaries (the loan limit).
Since some of these contracts expire without the actual loan being drawn, in addition to the Group Companies having discretion to increase or 
decrease the loan limit, the unused balance of these loans would not necessarily be drawn in its entirety.

The balances of the unused lending commitment lines are as follows:
Millions of yen

As of March 31 FY21.3 FY22.3

Total commitment line borrowings ¥620,485 ¥704,483

Amounts lent 202,867 220,951

Unused balance of lending 417,618 483,532
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40 Subsequent Events

Repurchase of treasury stocks
The Board of Directors of KDDI at its meeting held on May 13, 2022, 
resolved that KDDI would repurchase its own shares pursuant to Article
156 of the Companies Act of Japan, which applies pursuant to Article 
165, Paragraph 3, of that law.

(1) Reason for repurchase of KDDI’s own shares

To implement flexible capital policies in response to the change in the 
business environment and to provide shareholders return.

(2) Reason for repurchase of KDDI’s own shares

(a) Type of shares to be repurchased: Shares of common stock
(b) Total number of shares to be repurchased: Up to 57,000,000 shares
(c) Repurchase period: From June 1, 2022 to May 31, 2023
(d) Total amount of repurchase price: Up to ¥200 billion

(3) Repurchase method

Market purchases : Market purchases through the Tokyo Stock 
Exchange.

41 Approval of the Consolidated Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2022 were approved by the Board of Directors on June 23, 2022.
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Value-Oriented Corporate Management

Active Information Disclosure Enhanced Communication

Maximizing 
corporate 

value

Trust-based 
relationships with 

shareholders
and investors

Enhancing Communication
Earnings presentation meetings were held quarterly to allow 
management to directly communicate KDDI’s results. KDDI also 
held individual and small group meetings with investors from 
Japan and overseas, and participated in various conferences 
sponsored by securities companies for better communication. 

KDDI takes the opinions expressed by shareholders and 
investors seriously, communicating them not only to manage-
ment but also to employees in general. Such opinions are con-
sidered an extremely valuable reference in the formation of 
business and management strategies.

In conjunction with the disclosure of quarterly financial 
results, we hold financial results briefings for analysts and 
institutional investors four times a year. Directors and others 
were supposed to visit institutional investors quarterly in Europe, 
the U.S., Asia, and other regions to explain the KDDI’s financial 
status and future strategies, however, in FY22.3, we held individ-
ual meetings via telephone and video conference due to the 
effects of COVID-19. In FY22.3, we held 570 meetings in total via 
telephone and video conference, including 11 times of participa-
tion in conferences hosted by securities companies in Japan and 
overseas.

Active Information Disclosure
KDDI provides webcasts of its results presentations on its 
website, and also posts an English-language version of its 
results presentations. 

Earnings reports, financial statements and operational data, 
information related to corporate governance, and other types of 
disclosure documents are made available. The data can also be 
viewed on our IR app and website, which are compatible with 
multiple devices.

Moreover, in our small meetings, we provide on-demand 
streaming of certain briefings on KDDI’s website. 

As a result of our IR activities, in FY22.3, KDDI has received 
excellent evaluations. KDDI was selected to receive the Daiwa 
Investor Relations Internet IR 2021 Excellence Award. We were 
also ranked Gold Prize in the “Gomez IR Site Ranking 2021” by 
Morningstar Japan K.K. In addition, we were commended for 
operating an outstanding website in the Nikko IR All Japanese 
Listed Companies’ Website Ranking 2021. In addition, the 
Integrated Report 2021, published in 2021, was selected as one 
of 77 “Excellent Integrated Reports” by GPIF’s investment 
management organizations.

IR Activities in FY22.3

IR Basic Policy Three IR Activity Guidelines

KDDI places top management priority on building a trusting 
relationship with its shareholders and investors, ensuring val-
ue-oriented corporate management, active information disclo-
sure, and enhanced communication.

Through IR based on the activity guidelines outlined below, KDDI 
strives to build long-term, trust-based relationships with share-
holders and investors, as well as maximize its corporate value.

Disclosure and IR

Open IR 

Activities

Proactive IR 

Activities

Organized IR 

Activities

The Company is fully committed to undertaking fair and timely disclosure in an easily understandable manner of 
any information that could have a material bearing on the investment decisions of investors. Such disclosure is 
conducted on an ongoing basis, and is focused on the requirements of shareholders and investors. The Company’s 
policy in this regard is in line with the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act and the Securities Listing Regula-
tions of Tokyo Stock Exchange, Inc. governing the timely disclosure of information concerning the issuers of public-
ly listed securities. KDDI discloses its IR Basic Policy* on its website, explaining such matters as fundamental 
thinking regarding IR activities and the system for disclosing pertinent information. In particular, KDDI has set up a 
Disclosure Committee that concentrates on determining what information should be disclosed in every fiscal year 
with the goal of improving business transparency and supplying appropriate information to the public.
* Matters to be decided by the Board of Directors.

Fundamental 
Thinking
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Company Name	 KDDI CORPORATION

Date of Establishment	� June 1, 1984 (The KDDI CORPORATION was established in October 2000 through the merger of 
DDI CORPORATION, KDD Corporation, and IDO CORPORATION.)

Business Objective	 Telecommunications business

Head Office	 Garden Air Tower, 10-10, Iidabashi 3-chome, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo 102-8460, Japan

Registered Place of Business	 3-2, Nishi-Shinjuku 2-chome, Shinjuku-ku, Tokyo 163-8003, Japan

President	 Makoto Takahashi

Capital	 ¥141,852 million

Number of Employees	 48,829 (consolidated)

Stock Information (As of March 31, 2022)

2,304million

Financial Institutions  
26.51%

Foreign Companies, etc  
26.72%

Other 
Companies  

32.51%

Individuals and 
Others (including 

treasury stock)
8.57%

Securities Firms  
5.69%

■ Breakdown of Shareholding by Investor Type

■ Major Shareholders

Name of Corporate Entity Number of Shares 
Held

Ratio of Voting*1 
(%)

Shareholding Ratio*2

  (%)

The Master Trust Bank of Japan, Ltd. (Trust Account) 357,949,400 16.13 15.53

KYOCERA Corporation 335,096,000 15.10 14.54

Toyota Motor Corporation 316,794,400 14.28 13.74

Custody Bank of Japan, Ltd. (Trust Account) 130,021,300 5.86 5.64

STATE STREET BANK WEST CLIENT - TREATY 505234 31,085,775 1.40 1.34

Barclays Securities Japan Limited 28,453,600 1.28 1.23

Mitsubishi UFJ Morgan Stanley Securities Co., Ltd. 24,555,562 1.11 1.06

JPMorgan Securities Japan Co., Ltd. 23,590,296 1.06 1.02

STATE STREET BANK AND TRUST COMPANY 505103 22,595,124 1.02 0.98

JP MORGAN CHASE BANK 385781 21,868,304 0.99 0.94

*1 �The ratio of voting is calculated excluding treasury stock (85,058,340 shares as of March 31, 2022). In addition, the Company’s shares held by the Executive Remuneration BIP Trust 
Account, and the Stock Grant ESOP Trust Account (3,920,592 shares as of March 31, 2022) are included in the number of shares with voting rights, but the Company does not exercise 
its voting rights on these shares. The ratio of voting is calculated by rounding off to the second decimal place.

*2 �Shareholding ratio is calculated after rounding down to the second decimal place.

SE Code 9433

Number of Shares 
Authorized 4,200,000,000 shares

Number of Shares Issued 
and Outstanding 2,304,179,550 shares

Number of Shareholders 341,622 shareholders

Corporate Overview (As of March 31, 2022)
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